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INTRODUCTION

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this annual report on Form 20-F to the “Company,” “SaverOne,” “we,” “us,” 
“our” and other similar designations refer to SaverOne 2014 Ltd. All references to “shares” or “ordinary shares” are to our ordinary shares, 
NIS 0.01 par value per share. All references to “Israel” are to the State of Israel. All references to “ADS” refer to the American Depositary 
Shares listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market (“Nasdaq”) under the symbol “SVRE,” each representing one thousand two hundred of our 
ordinary shares. Our ordinary shares have been trading on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, or TASE, under the symbol “SAVR” since June 
2020. On June 3, 2022, our ADSs and warrants began trading on the Nasdaq under the symbols “SVRE” and “SVREW”.

We report under International Financial Reporting Standards, or IFRS, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, 
or IASB. None of the financial statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, 
or U.S. GAAP. Any discrepancies in any table between totals and sums of the amounts listed are due to rounding. Unless otherwise 
indicated, or the context otherwise requires, references in this Annual Report to financial and operational data for a particular year refer to 
the fiscal year of our company ended December 31 of that year.

The term “NIS” refers to New Israeli Shekels, the lawful currency of the State of Israel and the terms “dollar” “$,” “US$” and 
“U.S. dollars” refer to U.S. dollars, the lawful currency of the United States. We prepare our financial statements in NIS. This Annual 
Report contains conversions of NIS amounts into U.S. dollars at specific rates solely for the convenience of the reader. Unless otherwise 
noted, for the purposes of the presentation of financial data, all conversions from NIS to U.S. dollars and from U.S. dollars to NIS were 
made at the rate of NIS 3.647 to $1.00, based on the representative exchange rate reported by the Bank of Israel on December 31, 2024. 
The dollar amounts presented in this Annual Report should not be construed as representing amounts that are receivable or payable in 
dollars or convertible into dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

On October 28, 2024, we effected the change in the ratio of Ordinary Shares to each ADS from one (1) ADS representing five (5) 
Ordinary Shares to one (1) ADS representing ninety (90) Ordinary Shares. This change in the ADS ratio had the effect of a reverse stock 
split on the existing ADSs on the basis of one (1) new ADS for every eighteen (18) old ADSs held by the Company’s holders (the “2024 
Reverse Stock Split”). On February 21, 2025, the Company effected a further change in the ratio of Ordinary Shares to each ADS from one 
(1) ADS representing ninety (90) Ordinary Shares, to one (1) ADS representing one thousand two hundred (1,200) Ordinary Shares. The 
most recent change in the ADS has the effect of a reverse stock split on the existing ADSs on the basis of one (1) new ADS for every 
thirteen and one third (13.33) old ADSs (the “2025 Reverse Stock Split; together with the 2024 Reverse Stock Split, the “Reverse Stock 
Splits”). Our Ordinary Shares were unaffected by the new exchange ratio for ADSs. Our ADSs are evidenced by American Depositary 
Receipts, or “ADRs.” Unless noted otherwise, all ADSs and the price per ADS numbers for all periods presented in this Annual Report 
have been retroactively adjusted for the Reverse Stock Splits.  
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EMERGING GROWTH COMPANY STATUS

We qualify as an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the U.S. Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or JOBS Act, 
and we may take advantage of certain exemptions, including exemptions from various reporting requirements that are otherwise applicable 
to public traded entities that do not qualify as emerging growth companies. These exemptions include:

● not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act; and

● not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the 
audit and the financial statements (i.e., an auditor discussion and analysis).

Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the extended transition period 
provided in Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, for complying with new or revised 
accounting standards. We have elected to irrevocably opt out of this extended transition period and, as a result, we are required to comply 
with new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for non-emerging growth 
companies. Under federal securities laws, our decision to opt out of the extended transition period is irrevocable.

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of: (i) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross 
revenues exceed $1.235 billion; (ii) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of our initial public offering 
(i.e., December 31, 2027); (iii) the date that we become a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, which 
would occur if the aggregate worldwide market value of our ordinary shares, including ordinary shares represented by warrants, held by 
non-affiliates is at least $700 million as of the prior June 30; or (iv) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-
convertible debt securities during any three-year period. 

TRADEMARKS

We own or have rights to trademarks, service marks and trade names that we use in connection with the operation of our business, 
including our corporate name, logos and website names. Other trademarks, service marks and trade names appearing in this Annual Report 
are the property of their respective owners. Solely for convenience, some of the trademarks, service marks and trade names referred to in 
this Annual Report are listed without the ® and ™ symbols, but we will assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights to our 
trademarks, service marks and trade names.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain information included or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 20-F may be deemed to be “forward-
looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other securities laws. Forward-looking 
statements are often characterized by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” 
“continue,” “believe,” “should,” “intend,” “project,” “plan,” “predict,” “potential,” or the negative of these terms or other similar 
expressions.

These forward-looking statements may include, but are not limited to, statements relating to our objectives, plans and strategies, 
statements that contain projections of results of operations or of financial condition, expected capital needs and expenses, statements 
relating to the research, development, completion and use of our products, and all statements (other than statements of historical facts) that 
address activities, events or developments that we intend, expect, project, believe or anticipate will or may occur in the future.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties. We have based 
these forward-looking statements on assumptions and assessments made by our management in light of their experience and their 
perception of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments and other factors they believe to be appropriate.

Important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from any future results expressed or implied by the 
forward-looking statements. Many factors could cause our actual activities or results to differ materially from the activities and results 
anticipated in forward-looking statements.

Such forward-looking statements include statements regarding, among other things:

● our ability to continue our business operations on a going concern

● Our ability to maintain our Nasdaq Listing;

● the ability of our technology to substantially improve the safety of drivers;

● our planned level of revenues and capital expenditures;

● our ability to market and sell our products;

● our plans to continue to invest in research and development to develop technology for both existing and new products;

● our intention to advance our technologies and commercialization efforts;

● our intention to use local distributors in each country or region that we will conduct business to distribute our products or 
technology;

● our plan to seek patent, trademark and other intellectual property rights for our products and technologies in the United States 
and internationally, as well as our ability to maintain and protect the validity of our currently held intellectual property rights;

● our expectations regarding future changes in our cost of revenues and our operating expenses;

● interpretations of current laws and the passage of future laws;

● acceptance of our business model by investors;
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● the ability to correctly identify and enter new markets;

● the impact of competition and new technologies;

● general market, political and economic conditions in the countries in which we operate;

● projected capital expenditures and liquidity

● our intention to retain key employees, and our belief that we maintain good relations with all of our employees;

● any resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on our business and industry;

● security, political and economic instability in the Middle East that could harm our business, including due to the current war 
between Israel and Hamas; and

● those factors referred to in “Item 3.D. Risk Factors,” “Item 4. Information on the Company,” and “Item 5. Operating and 
Financial Review and Prospects,” as well as in this Annual Report on Form 20-F generally.

You should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements because the matters they describe are subject to certain 
risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including in many cases decisions or actions by third parties, that are difficult to predict.

We discuss many of these risks in this Annual Report on Form 20-F in greater detail under the heading “Risk Factors” and 
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 20-F. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events.

Our forward-looking statements are based on the information currently available to us and speak only as of the date on the cover 
of this report or, in the case of forward-looking statements incorporated by reference, the date of the filing that includes the statement. Over 
time, our actual results, performance or achievements may differ from those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements, and 
such difference might be significant and materially adverse to our security holders.

Except as required by law, we are under no duty to update or revise any of the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of 
new information, future events or otherwise, after the date of this Annual Report on Form 20-F.
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MARKET, INDUSTRY AND OTHER DATA

Market data and certain industry data and forecasts used throughout this Annual Report on Form 20-F were obtained from sources 
we believe to be reliable, including market research databases, publicly available information, reports of governmental agencies, and 
industry publications and surveys. We have relied on certain data from third party sources, including industry forecasts and market 
research, which we believe to be reliable based on our management’s knowledge of the industry. While we are not aware of any 
misstatements regarding the industry data presented in this Annual Report on Form 20-F, our estimates involve risks and uncertainties and 
are subject to change based on various factors, including those discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual 
Report on Form 20-F.

Statements made in this Annual Report on Form 20-F concerning the contents of any agreement, contract or other document are 
summaries of such agreements, contracts or documents and are not a complete description of all of their terms. If we filed any of these 
agreements, contracts or documents as exhibits to this Report or to any previous filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or 
SEC, you may read the document itself for a complete understanding of its terms.
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PART I

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE

Not applicable.

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION

A. [Reserved]

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness

Not applicable.

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds

Not applicable.

D. Risk Factors 

You should carefully consider the risks described below, together with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 
20-F. The risks and uncertainties described below are those significant risk factors, currently known and specific to us, that we believe are 
relevant to an investment in our securities. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we now deem immaterial 
may also harm us. If any of these risks materialize our business, results of operations or financial condition could suffer, and the price of 
our ordinary shares could decline substantially.

Summary Risk Factors

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those highlighted in the section titled “Risk Factors” below. 
These risks include, among others, the following:

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements 

● We have a limited operating history on which to assess the prospects for our business, have incurred significant losses since 
the date of our inception, and anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losses until we are able to successfully 
commercialize our products.

● We have not generated any significant revenue from the sale of our current products and may never be profitable.

● Our independent auditors have expressed their concern as to our ability to continue our business operations as a going 
concern.

● We may not be able to continue complying with the continued Nasdaq listing requirements which could result in delisting of 
the ADSs from Nasdaq.   

● We will need to raise substantial additional capital before we can expect to become profitable from sales of our products. This 
additional capital may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. Failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed may 
force us to delay, limit or terminate our product development efforts or other operations.
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Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

● We are currently in the early commercialization stage and we depend entirely on the success of our current SaverOne systems 
that we have started to commercialize and that we may further develop.

● Defects in our SaverOne systems could give rise to product returns or product liability, warranty or other claims that could 
result in material expenses, diversion of management time and attention, and damage to our reputation. 

● We may not be able to introduce products acceptable to customers and we may not be able to improve the technology used in 
our current systems in response to changing technology and end-user needs.  

● We may not be able to successfully manage our planned growth and expansion.

● Our operating results and financial condition may fluctuate.

● The markets in which we participate are competitive. Even if we are successful in completing the development of our 
products in development, our failure to compete successfully could cause any future revenues and the demand for our 
products not to materialize or to decline over time.

● If our relationships with suppliers for our products and services were to be terminated or our manufacturing arrangements 
were to be disrupted, our business could be interrupted.

● Discontinuation of operations at our manufacturing sites could prevent us from timely filling customer orders and could lead 
to unforeseen costs for us.

● Our planned international operations will expose us to additional market and operational risks, and failure to manage these 
risks may adversely affect our business and operating results.  

● Our future success depends in part on our ability to retain our executive officers and to attract, retain and motivate other 
qualified personnel.

● Under applicable employment laws, we may not be able to enforce covenants not to compete and therefore may be unable to 
prevent our competitors from benefiting from the expertise of some of our former employees.

● We are subject to cybersecurity risks to our various systems and software and any material failure, weakness, interruption, 
cyber event, incident or breach of security could prevent us from effectively operating our business, or may cause harm to our 
business that may or may not be reparable.

● Our SaverOne system operates as a deterrent to mobile phone distracted driving, but cannot actually prevent mobile phone 
distracted driving.

● Some of our products will be subject to automotive regulations due to the global quality requirements, which could prevent us 
from marketing our products to vehicle manufacturers.

● New regulations or standards or changes in existing regulations or standards in the United States or internationally related to 
our products may result in unanticipated costs or liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results 
of operations and future sales, and could place additional burdens on the operations of our business.

● Our products are cost-sensitive and subject to customers’ aggressive target costs. Our products are subsystems of modules as 
part of full semi-autonomous or autonomous systems with low cost product expectations and we may therefore be forced to 
lower or costs or have lower margins.

● Our SaverOne solution may prevent drivers from contacting emergency services when the car is in motion.

● Increasing scrutiny of, and evolving expectations for, sustainability and environmental, social, and governance, or ESG, 
initiatives could increase our costs or otherwise adversely impact our business.

● Any resurgence of the COVID-19 or other pandemic could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property 

● If we are unable to obtain and maintain effective intellectual property rights or proprietary rights for our products, we may not 
be able to compete effectively in our markets. 

● If we are unable to maintain effective proprietary rights for our products, we may not be able to compete effectively in our 
markets.

● Intellectual property rights of third parties could adversely affect our ability to commercialize our products, and we might be 
required to litigate or obtain licenses from third parties in order to develop or market our SaverOne systems. Such litigation or 
licenses could be costly or not available on commercially reasonable terms. 

● Patent policy and rule changes could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent 
applications and the enforcement or defense of any issued patents.

● Our use of open source software could negatively affect our ability to sell our platform and subject us to possible litigation.

● We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our intellectual property, which could be expensive, time consuming, 
and unsuccessful.

● We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship of our intellectual property.

● We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Risks Related to the Ownership of our ADSs or Our Ordinary Shares

● Raising additional capital and issuance of additional ADS representing our ordinary shares would cause dilution to our 
existing shareholders and may affect the rights of existing shareholders.

● In the event that our ADSs are delisted from Nasdaq, U.S. broker-dealers may be discouraged from effecting transactions in 
the ADSs because they may be considered penny stocks and thus be subject to the penny stock rules.

● If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our market, or 
if they adversely change their recommendations or publish negative reports regarding our business or our shares, our ADSs or 
ordinary shares price and trading volume could decline.

● Sales of a substantial number of ADSs representing our ordinary shares in the public market by our existing shareholders 
could cause our share price to fall. 

● Holders of ADSs are not shareholders of ordinary shares and must act through the depositary to exercise their rights.

We are an emerging growth company and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may 
make our ordinary shares less attractive to investors.

● As a “foreign private issuer” we are permitted to and follow certain home country corporate governance practices instead of 
otherwise applicable SEC and Nasdaq requirements, which may result in less protection than is accorded to investors under 
rules applicable to domestic U.S. issuers.

● Although as a foreign private issuer we are exempt from certain corporate governance standards applicable to US issuers, if 
we cannot satisfy, or continue to satisfy, the initial listing requirements and other rules of the Nasdaq, our securities may not 
be listed or may be delisted, which could negatively impact the price of our securities and your ability to sell them.

● We may have been a “passive foreign investment company”, or PFIC, for U.S. federal income tax purposes in 2024 and may 
be a PFIC in any subsequent taxable year. There generally would be negative tax consequences for U.S. taxpayers that are 
holders of our ADSs or our ordinary shares if we are or were to become a PFIC.

● If a United States person is treated as owning at least 10% of our ordinary shares, such holder may be subject to adverse U.S. 
federal income tax consequences.

● ADSs holders may not be entitled to a jury trial with respect to claims arising under the deposit agreement, which could result 
in less favorable results to the plaintiff(s) in any such action.

● We may be subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management attention.

● If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our market, or 
if they adversely change their recommendations or publish negative reports regarding our business or our shares, our share 
price and trading volume could decline.

● Our business, operating results and growth rates may be adversely affected by current or future unfavorable economic and 
market conditions and adverse developments with respect to financial institutions and associated liquidity risk.
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Risks Related to Israeli Law and Our Incorporation, Location and Operations in Israel

● We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. 

● Provisions of Israeli law and our amended and restated articles of association, as amended (the “Articles of Association”) may 
delay, prevent or otherwise impede a merger with, or an acquisition of, our company, which could prevent a change of 
control, even when the terms of such a transaction are favorable to us and our shareholders.

● It may be difficult to enforce a judgment of a United States court against us and our officers and directors in Israel or the 
United States, to assert United States securities laws claims in Israel or to serve process on our officers and directors.

● Our headquarters, research and development and other significant operations are located in Israel, and, therefore, our results 
may be adversely affected by political, economic and military instability in Israel.

● Our operations may be disrupted as a result of the obligation of management or key personnel to perform military service.

● Your rights and responsibilities as a shareholder will be governed by Israeli law, which differs in some material respects from 
the rights and responsibilities of shareholders of U.S. companies.

● Certain of our research and development activities and programs were supported by Israeli Governmental grants, some of 
which were sold or are in the process of selling. The terms of such grants may require us to pay royalties and to satisfy 
specified conditions in order to manufacture products and transfer technologies outside of Israel. We may be required to pay 
penalties in addition to repayment of the grants.

General Risk Factors

● We incur significant increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is required to devote 
substantial time to new compliance initiatives.

● We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, and we may not be able to 
successfully implement remedial measures.

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company and a Foreign Private Issuer

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act. An emerging growth company may take advantage of 
specified reduced reporting and other burdens that are otherwise applicable generally to public companies. These provisions include:

● to the extent that we no longer qualify as a foreign private issuer, (i) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive 
compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements and (ii) exemptions from the requirement to hold a non-binding 
advisory vote on executive compensation, including golden parachute compensation;

● an exemption from the auditor attestation requirement in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting 
pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; and

● an exemption from compliance with the requirement that the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board has adopted 
regarding a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements.

We intend to take advantage of these exemptions for up to five years or until such earlier time that we are no longer an emerging 
growth company. We would cease to be an emerging growth company upon the earliest to occur of: (i) the last day of the fiscal year in 
which we have total annual gross revenues of $1.235 billion or more; (ii) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in 
nonconvertible debt during the previous three years; (iii) the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under the rules of 
the SEC; or (iv) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of our IPO (i.e., December 31, 2027). We may choose to take 
advantage of some but not all of these exemptions.

We are also considered a “foreign private issuer.” Even after we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company, as long as we 
qualify as a foreign private issuer under the Exchange Act, we will be exempt from certain provisions of the Exchange Act that are 
applicable to United States domestic public companies, including:

● the sections of the Exchange Act regulating the solicitation of proxies, consents or authorizations with respect to a security 
registered under the Exchange Act;

● the requirement to comply with Regulation FD, which restricts selective disclosure of material information;

● the sections of the Exchange Act requiring insiders to file public reports of their share ownership and trading activities and 
liability for insiders who profit from trades made in a short period of time; and

● the rules under the Exchange Act requiring the filing with the SEC of reports containing unaudited financial and other 
specified information, or current reports on Form 6-K upon the occurrence of specified significant events.
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We may take advantage of these exemptions until such time as we are no longer a foreign private issuer. We would cease to be a 
foreign private issuer at such time as more than 50% of our outstanding voting securities are held by U.S. residents and any of the following 
three circumstances applies: (i) the majority of our executive officers or directors are U.S. citizens or residents; (ii) more than 50% of our 
assets are located in the United States; or (iii) our business is administered principally in the United States.

Both foreign private issuers and emerging growth companies are also exempt from certain more stringent executive compensation 
disclosure rules. Thus, even if we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company, but remain a foreign private issuer, we will continue 
to be exempt from the more stringent compensation disclosures required of companies that are neither an emerging growth company nor a 
foreign private issuer. As a result, we do not know if some investors will find our ADSs less attractive, which may result in a less active 
trading market for our ADSs or more volatility in the price of our ADSs.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements

We have a limited operating history on which to assess the prospects for our business, have incurred significant losses since the date of 
our inception, and anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losses until we are able to successfully commercialize our 
products.

We are currently in the early commercialization stage and have not yet generated significant revenues from our sales and 
operations. We have experienced net losses in every period since our inception. We incurred net losses of NIS 34.9 million (approximately 
$9.4 million), NIS 33.8 million (approximately $9.3 million), and NIS 25 million (approximately $7.1 million) for the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of NIS 170.5 million 
(approximately $46.1 million). 

We have devoted substantially all of our financial resources to develop our SaverOne system and have begun the process to invest 
in our sales and marketing activities as we start to transition to an early commercialization stage company. We have financed our operations 
primarily through the issuance of equity securities. The amount of our future net losses will depend, in part, on completing the development 
of our products, the rate of our future expenditures and our ability to obtain funding through the issuance of our securities, strategic 
collaborations or grants. Until we can generate significant recurring revenues, we expect to satisfy our future cash needs through debt or 
equity financing. While we plan to finance its operations through sale of equity and through increasing our revenues from product sales; 
however, there can be no assurance that we will succeed in obtaining the necessary financing or generating sufficient revenues from 
product sales to meet our current obligations and to achieve its business targets.

We anticipate that our expenses will increase substantially if and as we:

● continue the development of our SaverOne system;

● establish a sales, marketing, distribution and technical support infrastructure to commercialize our products;

● seek to identify, assess, acquire, license, and/or develop other products and subsequent generations of our current products;

● seek to maintain, protect, and expand our intellectual property portfolio;

● seek to attract and retain skilled personnel; and

● create additional infrastructure to support our operations as a public company and our product development and planned 
future commercialization efforts.
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We have not generated any significant revenue from the sale of our current products and may never be profitable.

While we have commenced commercialization efforts of our Generation 1.0 and 2.0 systems, we have not generated any 
significant revenue since our inception. Our ability to generate revenue and achieve profitability depends on our ability to successfully 
complete the development of, and to commercialize, our products. Our ability to generate future revenue from product sales depends 
heavily on our success in many areas, including but not limited to:

● completing development of our next generation SaverOne systems;

● establishing and maintaining supply and manufacturing relationships with third parties that can provide adequate (in amount 
and quality) products to support market demand for our products;

● launching and commercializing our SaverOne systems, either directly or with a collaborator or distributor;

● addressing any competing technological and market developments;

● identifying, assessing, acquiring and/or developing new products;

● negotiating favorable terms in any collaboration, licensing or other arrangements into which we may enter;

● maintaining, protecting and expanding our portfolio of intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets and know-
how; and

● attracting, hiring and retaining qualified personnel.

Our independent auditors have expressed their concern as to our ability to continue as a going concern.

Our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 contain an explanatory paragraph regarding 
substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements for 2024 do not include any adjustments that 
might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. The Company’s existing operational cash flow may not be sufficient to fund presently 
anticipated operations, and the Company expects that it will need to raise additional funds through alternative sources of financing before it 
becomes profitable. Until we can generate significant recurring revenues, we expect to satisfy our future cash needs through debt or equity 
financing. There is no assurance that we will be able to obtain additional funding when it is needed, or that such funding, if available, will 
be obtainable on terms acceptable to us. In addition, should we incur significant presently unforeseen expenses or delays, we may not be 
able to accomplish our goals. If funds are not available, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate research or 
development plans for, or commercialization efforts with respect to our products. These factors, among others, raise substantial doubt about 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If the Company is unable to obtain sufficient funding, our business, prospects, 
financial condition and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected, and we may be unable to continue as a going 
concern.

We may not be able to continue complying with the continued Nasdaq listing requirements, which could result in delisting of the ADSs 
from Nasdaq.

We have in the past, and may in the future, be unable to comply with certain of the listing standards that we are required to meet to 
maintain the listing of the ADSs on Nasdaq. 

On May 17, 2024, we received notification from the we received a letter from the Listings Qualifications Department of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (the “Nasdaq Staff”) indicating that, based on the closing bid price of the ADSs for the 30 consecutive business 
days, we did not meet the minimum bid price of $1.00 per share required for continued listing on Nasdaq pursuant to Listing Rule 5550(a)
(2) (the “Minimum Bid Price Requirement”). In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), we had an initial period of 180 
calendar days from the date of the notification letter, or until November 13, 2024, to regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price 
Requirement. To regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement, on October 28, 2024, the Company effected the change in 
the ratio of each ordinary shares to each ADS from one (1) ADS representing five (5) Ordinary Shares, to one (1) ADS representing ninety 
(90) Ordinary Share (the “2024 Reverse Stock Split”). On November 12, 2024, the Company received notice from the Nasdaq Staff 
informing the Company that it regained compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement, based on the closing bid price of the 
Company’s ADS of $1.00 per share between October 28 and November 11, 2024.

However, on February 20, 2025, we received a new letter from the Nasdaq Staff, notifying us that the Company was not in 
compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement, because the price per share of our ADS was below $1.00 for 30 consecutive 
business days. Because we effected the 2024 Reverse Stock Split within the prior one-year period, under a recently amended Listing Rule 
5810(c)(3)(A)(iv), we were not eligible to receive any new compliance or a cure period by the Nasdaq Staff. Accordingly, our ADSs were 
subject to delisting from Nasdaq unless we requested an appeal of this determination. We requested an appeal, and a hearing date was set 
for April 10, 2025.

On February 21, 2025, we implemented an additional change in the ratio of each ordinary shares to each ADS from 90 ordinary 
shares to each ADS to 1,200 ordinary shares (the “2025 Reverse Stock Split”). On March 14, 2025, the Nasdaq Staff notified the Company 
that it has regained compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement and that the hearing has accordingly been cancelled.

6



Nonethless, no guarantee can be provided that we will be able to continue compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement 
or other Nasdaq Listing Rules. Pursuant to amended Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A)(iv), a company is not eligible for any compliance periods if 
it effected one or more reverse stocks in the cumulative 1-for-250 reverse stock splits ratio within a 2-year period. Accordingly, if the bid 
price of our ADS falls below $1 for another consecutive 30-day trading period, prior to October 2026, our ADS will be subject to 
immediate delisting from Nasdaq. In addition, we may in the future fail to meet other continued Nasdaq listing requirements, and if we are 
not eligible to receive any compliance period from Nasdaq, our ADS will be immediately delisted to over-the-counter market. If this were 
to occur, it would have a material adverse effect on our business. Our shareholders could face significant material adverse consequences, 
including limited availability of market quotations for ADSs and reduced liquidity for the trading of our securities. In addition, we could 
experience a decreased ability to issue additional securities and obtain additional financing in the future. There can be no assurance that an 
active trading market for ADSs will develop or be sustained. As a result of these factors, if our ADSs are delisted from Nasdaq, the price of 
our ADSs is most likely to decline. The delisting of our ADSs from Nasdaq could also have other negative results, including the potential 
loss of confidence by employees, the loss of institutional investor interest and fewer business development opportunities. If our ADSs are 
delisted from Nasdaq, we would remain a publicly traded company on the TASE and revert to being subject to full Israeli securities laws 
and disclosure requirements. Accordingly, we will need to comply with U.S. and Israeli disclosure requirements, and we expect that these 
additional reporting requirements would increase our legal and financial compliance costs and require significant management time.

We need to raise substantial additional capital before we can expect to become profitable from sales of our products. This additional 
capital may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. Failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed may force us to delay, 
limit or terminate our product development efforts or other operations.

We expect that we will require substantial additional capital to continue our commercialization of our SaverOne systems. In 
addition, our operating plans may change as a result of many factors that may currently be unknown to us, and we may need to seek 
additional funds sooner than planned. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including but not limited to:

● the scope, rate of progress, results and cost of product development, and other related activities;

● the cost of establishing commercial supplies of our SaverOne systems;

● the cost and timing of establishing sales, marketing, and distribution capabilities; and

● the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing, and other arrangements that we may establish.

Any additional fundraising efforts may divert our management from their day-to-day activities, which may adversely affect our 
ability to develop and commercialize our products. In addition, we cannot guarantee that future financing will be available in sufficient 
amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Moreover, the terms of any financing may adversely affect the holdings or the rights of our 
shareholders and the issuance of additional securities, whether equity or debt, by us, or the possibility of such issuance, may cause the 
market price of our ADSs and ordinary shares to decline. The incurrence of indebtedness could result in increased fixed payment 
obligations, and we may be required to agree to certain restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, 
limitations on our ability to acquire, sell or license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact 
our ability to conduct our business. We could also be required to seek funds through arrangements with collaborative partners or otherwise 
at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable, and we may be required to relinquish rights to some of our technologies or products or 
otherwise agree to terms unfavorable to us, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and 
prospects. Even if we believe that we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans, we may seek additional capital if 
market conditions are favorable or if we have specific strategic considerations.

If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely basis, we may be required to significantly curtail, delay or discontinue one or more 
of our research or development programs or the commercialization of our SaverOne systems or be unable to expand our operations or 
otherwise capitalize on our business opportunities, as desired, which could materially affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We are currently in the early commercialization stage and we depend entirely on the success of our current SaverOne systems that we 
have started to commercialize and that we may further develop. 

We are currently in the early commercialization stage. Until recently, we have invested most of our efforts and financial resources 
in the research and development of our SaverOne systems and we have recently begun investing additional resources in sales and marketing 
and operational activities as we transition to a commercialization stage company. As a result, our business is primarily dependent on our 
ability to successfully commercialize and further develop our SaverOne systems. The process of commercialization and development is 
long, complex, costly and uncertain of outcome. While we have started to commercialize our SaverOne systems, including the second-
generation DDPS product, which replaced Generation 1.0. we have not yet generated significant revenues from such sales and our 
operations. In addition, while some of our Generation 1.0 and Generation 2.0 systems are in various phases of pilot programs in Israel and 
abroad through which we are demonstrating our technology, we cannot assure that any of these programs or any future generations of our 
systems will result in subsequent sales of our products.
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Defects in our SaverOne systems could give rise to product returns or product liability, warranty or other claims that could result in 
material expenses, diversion of management time and attention, and damage to our reputation.

Even if we are successful in introducing our SaverOne systems to the market, our products may contain undetected defects or 
errors that, despite testing, are not discovered until after a product has been used. This could result in delayed market acceptance of those 
products, claims from distributors, end-users or others, increased end-user service and support costs and warranty claims, damage to our 
reputation and business, or significant costs to correct the defect or error. We may from time to time become subject to warranty or product 
liability claims that could lead to significant expenses as we need to compensate affected end-users for costs incurred related to product 
quality issues.

Any claim brought against us, regardless of its merit, could result in material expense, diversion of management time and 
attention, and damage to our reputation, and could cause us to fail to retain or attract customers. Currently, we do not maintain product 
liability insurance outside of Israel, which will be necessary prior to the commercialization of our products. It is likely that any product 
liability insurance that we will have in the future will be subject to significant deductibles and there is no guarantee that such insurance will 
be available or adequate to protect against all such claims, or we may elect to self-insure with respect to certain matters. Costs or payments 
made in connection with warranty and product liability claims and product recalls or other claims could materially affect our financial 
condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, the automotive industry in general is subject to litigation claims due to the nature of personal injuries that result from 
traffic accidents. The emerging technologies of advanced driver assistance systems, or ADAS, and autonomous driving have not yet been 
litigated or legislated to a point whereby their legal implications are well documented. As a potential provider of such products, we may 
become liable for losses that exceed the current industry and regulatory norms. In addition, if any of our products are, or are alleged to be, 
defective, we may be required to participate in a recall of such products if the defect or the alleged defect relates to motor vehicle safety. 
Depending on the terms under which we supply our products, an auto manufacturer or other ADAS developers to whom we sell our 
software may hold us responsible for some or all of the entire repair or replacement costs of these products.

We may not be able to introduce products acceptable to customers and we may not be able to improve the technology used in our 
current systems in response to changing technology and end-user needs.

The markets in which we operate are subject to rapid and substantial innovation, regulation and technological change, mainly 
driven by technological advances and end-user requirements and preferences, as well as the emergence of new standards and practices. 
Even if we are able to complete the development of our products in development, our ability to compete in the ADAS, semi-autonomous 
and autonomous vehicle markets will depend, in large part, on our future success in enhancing our existing products and developing new 
systems that will address the varied needs of prospective end-users, and respond to technological advances and industry standards and 
practices on a cost-effective and timely basis to otherwise gain market acceptance.

Even if we successfully introduce our existing products in development, it is likely that new systems and technologies that we 
develop will eventually supplant our existing systems or that our competitors will create systems that will replace our systems. As a result, 
any of our products may be rendered obsolete or uneconomical by our or others’ technological advances.

We may not be able to successfully manage our planned growth and expansion.

We expect to continue to make investments in our SaverOne systems in development and that we have begun to commercialize. 
We expect that our annual operating expenses will continue to increase as we invest in business development, marketing, research and 
development, manufacturing and production infrastructure, and develop customer service and support resources for future customers. 
Failure to expand operational and financial systems timely or efficiently may result in operating inefficiencies, which could increase costs 
and expenses to a greater extent than we anticipate and may also prevent us from successfully executing our business plan. We may not be 
able to offset the costs of operation expansion by leveraging the economies of scale from our growth in negotiations with our suppliers and 
contract manufacturers. Additionally, if we increase our operating expenses in anticipation of the growth of our business and this growth 
falls short of our expectations, our financial results will be negatively impacted.

If our business grows, we will have to manage additional product design projects, materials procurement processes, and sales 
efforts and marketing for an increasing number of products, as well as expanding the number and scope of our relationships with suppliers, 
distributors and end customers. If we fail to manage these additional responsibilities and relationships successfully, we may incur 
significant costs, which may negatively impact our operating results. Additionally, in our efforts to be first to market new products with 
innovative functionality and features, we may devote significant research and development resources to products and product features for 
which a market does not develop quickly, or at all. If we are not able to predict market trends accurately, we may not benefit from such 
research and development activities, and our results of operations may suffer.
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As our future development and commercialization plans and strategies develop, we expect to need additional managerial, 
operational, sales, marketing, financial and legal personnel. Our management may need to divert a disproportionate amount of its attention 
away from our day-to-day activities and devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities. We may not be able to 
effectively manage the expansion of our operations, which may result in weaknesses in our infrastructure, operational mistakes, loss of 
business opportunities, failure to deliver and timely deliver our products to customers, loss of employees and reduced productivity among 
remaining employees. Our expected growth could require significant capital expenditures and may divert financial resources from other 
projects, such as the development of additional new products. If our management is unable to effectively manage our growth, our expenses 
may increase more than expected, our ability to generate and/or grow revenue could be reduced, and we may not be able to implement our 
business strategy.

Our operating results and financial condition may fluctuate.

Even if we are successful in introducing our SaverOne systems to the market, the operating results and financial condition of our 
company may fluctuate from quarter to quarter and year to year and are likely to continue to vary due to several factors, many of which will 
not be within our control. If our operating results do not meet the guidance that we provide to the marketplace or the expectations of 
securities analysts or investors, the market price of the ADS will likely decline. Fluctuations in our operating results and financial condition 
may be due to several factors, including those listed below and those identified throughout this “Risk Factors” section:

● the degree of market acceptance of our products and services;

● the mix of products and services that we sell during any period;

● long sale cycles;

● changes in the amount that we spend to develop, acquire or license new products, technologies or businesses;

● changes in the amounts that we spend to promote our products and services;

● changes in the cost of satisfying our warranty obligations and servicing our installed base of systems;

● delays between our expenditures to develop and market new or enhanced systems and consumables and the generation of 
sales from those products;

● development of new competitive products and services by others;

● difficulty in predicting sales patterns and reorder rates that may result from a multi-tier distribution strategy associated with 
new product categories;

● litigation or threats of litigation, including intellectual property claims by third parties;

● changes in accounting rules and tax laws;

● changes in regulations and standards;

● the geographic distribution of our sales;

● our responses to price competition;

● general economic and industry conditions that affect end-user demand and end-user levels of product design and 
manufacturing;

● changes in interest rates that affect returns on our cash balances and short-term investments;

● changes in dollar-shekel exchange rates that affect the value of our net assets, future revenues and expenditures from and/or 
relating to our activities carried out in those currencies; and

● the level of research and development activities by our company.

Due to all of the foregoing factors, and the other risks discussed herein, you should not rely on quarter-to-quarter comparisons of 
our operating results as an indicator of our future performance.
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The markets in which we participate are competitive. Even if we are successful in completing the development of our SaverOne systems, 
our failure to compete successfully could cause any future revenues and the demand for our products not to materialize or to decline 
over time.

Our business is characterized by rapid changes as well as new and disruptive technologies. We believe that the market for 
solutions designed to address mobile phone-related distractions while driving is a relatively new market with increasing competition for 
similar solutions. However, we believe that our SaverOne system is superior to the products of our competitors due to the fact that our 
system can differentiate between the driver’s phone and other passenger’s phones in the vehicle. Moreover, our system does not require the 
driver to cooperate other than with the initial installation of the application on their phone. 

Many of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories and more extensive name recognition than we have 
and may also have greater financial, marketing, manufacturing, distribution and other resources than we have. Current and future 
competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer demands and to devote greater 
resources to the development, promotion and sale of their products than we can. Our current and potential competitors may develop and 
market new technologies that render our existing or future products obsolete, unmarketable or less competitive (whether from a price 
perspective or otherwise). We cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain a competitive position or to compete successfully against 
current and future sources of competition.

If our relationships with suppliers for our SaverOne systems were to terminate or our manufacturing arrangements were to be 
disrupted, our business could be interrupted.

Our SaverOne systems depend on certain third-party technology and we purchase component parts that are used in our products 
from third-party suppliers, some of whom may compete with us. While there are several potential suppliers of most of these component 
parts that we use, we currently choose to use only one or a limited number of suppliers for several of these components. Our reliance on a 
single or limited number of vendors involves several risks, including:

● potential shortages of some key components;

● product performance shortfalls, if traceable to particular product components, since the supplier of the faulty component 
cannot readily be replaced;

● discontinuation of a product on which we rely;

● potential insolvency of these vendors; and

● reduced control over delivery schedules, manufacturing capabilities, quality and costs. 

In addition, we require any new supplier to become “qualified” pursuant to our internal procedures. The qualification process 
involves evaluations of varying durations, which may cause production delays if we were required to qualify a new supplier unexpectedly. 
We generally assemble our systems and parts based on our internal forecasts and the availability of assemblies, components and finished 
goods that are supplied to us by third parties, which are subject to various lead times. If certain suppliers were to decide to discontinue 
production of an assembly, component that we use, the unanticipated change in the availability of supplies, or unanticipated supply 
limitations, could cause delays in, or loss of, sales, increased production or related costs and consequently reduced margins, and damage to 
our reputation. If we were unable to find a suitable supplier for a particular component, we could be required to modify our existing 
products or the end-parts that we offer to accommodate substitute components or compounds.

Discontinuation of operations at our manufacturing sites could prevent us from timely filling customer orders and could lead to 
unforeseen costs for us.

We plan to assemble and test the systems that we sell at subcontractors’ facilities in various locations that are specifically 
dedicated to separate categories of systems and consumables. Because of our reliance on all of these production facilities, a disruption at 
any of those facilities could materially damage our ability to supply our products to the marketplace in a timely manner. Depending on the 
cause of the disruption, we could also incur significant costs to remedy the disruption and resume product shipments. Such disruptions may 
be caused by, among other factors, pandemics, earthquakes, fire, flood and other natural disasters. Accordingly, any such disruption could 
result in a material adverse effect on our revenue, results of operations and earnings, and could also potentially damage our reputation.
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Our planned international operations will expose us to additional market and operational risks, and failure to manage these risks may 
adversely affect our business and operating results.

We expect to derive a substantial percentage of our sales from international markets. Accordingly, we will face significant 
operational risks from doing business internationally, including:

● fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;

● potentially longer sales and payment cycles;

● potentially greater difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;

● potentially adverse tax consequences;

● reduced protection of intellectual property rights in certain countries, particularly in Asia and South America;

● difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

● laws and business practices favoring local competition;

● costs and difficulties of customizing products for foreign countries;

● compliance with a wide variety of complex foreign laws, treaties and regulations;

● an outbreak of a contagious disease, such as coronavirus, which may cause us, third party vendors and manufacturers and/or 
customers to temporarily suspend our or their respective operations in the affected city or country;

● export license constraints or restrictions due to the unique technology of our products, some of which are dual use (defense 
and industry);

● tariffs, trade barriers and other regulatory or contractual limitations on our ability to sell or develop our products in certain 
foreign markets; and

● being subject to the laws, regulations and the court systems of many jurisdictions.

Our failure to manage the market and operational risks associated with our international operations effectively could limit the 
future growth of our business and adversely affect our operating results.

Our future success depends in part on our ability to retain our executive officers and to attract, retain and motivate other qualified 
personnel.

We are highly dependent on the services of both Ori Gilboa, our Chief Executive Officer, Yossi Cohen, our Chief Operating 
Officer and Omri Hagai, our Chief Financial Officer. The loss of their services without proper replacement may adversely impact the 
achievement of our objectives. Messrs. Gilboa, Cohen and Hagai may leave our employment at any time subject to contractual notice 
periods, as applicable. Also, our performance is largely dependent on the talents and efforts of highly skilled individuals, particularly our 
software engineers and computer vision professionals. Recruiting and retaining qualified employees, consultants, and advisors for our 
business, including scientific and technical personnel, will also be critical to our success. There is currently a shortage of skilled personnel 
in our industry, which is likely to continue. As a result, competition for skilled personnel is intense and the turnover rate can be high. We 
may not be able to attract and retain personnel on acceptable terms given the competition in the industry in which we operate. Moreover, 
certain of our competitors or other technology businesses may seek to hire our employees. The inability to recruit and retain qualified 
personnel, or the loss of the services of our executive officers, without proper replacement, may impede the progress of our development 
and commercialization objectives.

Under applicable employment laws, we may not be able to enforce covenants not to compete and therefore may be unable to prevent our 
competitors from benefiting from the expertise of some of our former employees.

We generally enter into non-competition agreements with our employees. These agreements prohibit our employees from 
competing directly with us or working for our competitors or clients for a limited period after they cease working for us. We may be unable 
to enforce these agreements under the laws of Israel in which our employees work, or under the laws of any other jurisdiction in which 
employees that we hire may work, and it may be difficult for us to restrict our competitors from benefiting from the expertise that our 
former employees or consultants developed while working for us. For example, Israeli courts have required employers seeking to enforce 
non-compete undertakings of a former employee to demonstrate that the competitive activities of the former employee will harm one of a 
limited number of material interests of the employer that have been recognized by the courts, such as the secrecy of a company’s 
confidential commercial information or the protection of its intellectual property. If we cannot demonstrate that such interests will be 
harmed, we may be unable to prevent our competitors from benefiting from the expertise of our former employees or consultants and our 
ability to remain competitive may be diminished.
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We are subject to cybersecurity risks to our various systems and software and any material failure, weakness, interruption, cyber event, 
incident or breach of security could prevent us from effectively operating our business, or may cause harm to our business that may or 
may not be reparable.

We are at risk for interruptions, outages and breaches of its: (a) operational systems, including business, financial, accounting, 
product development, data processing or production processes, owned by us or our potential suppliers and strategic partners; (b) facility 
security systems, owned by us or our potential suppliers and strategic partners; (c) the integrated software in our products; or (d) customer 
data that we process and/or store in our servers or our potential suppliers and strategic partners process on our behalf. Although we have 
implemented several protection systems and processes to protect our IT infrastructure and data, such incidents could: materially disrupt our 
operational systems; result in loss of intellectual property, trade secrets or other proprietary or competitively sensitive information; 
compromise certain information of employees, potential customers, potential suppliers and strategic partners, or others; jeopardize the 
security of our facilities; or affect the performance of the integrated software in our products.

We plan to include in-vehicle services and functionality that utilize cellphone connectivity to enhance on-the-road performance by 
preventing drivers from using dangerous applications while driving. The availability and effectiveness of our services depend on the 
continued operation of information technology and communications systems. Our systems will be vulnerable to damage or interruption 
from, among others, physical theft, fire, terrorist attacks, natural disasters, power loss, war, telecommunications failures, viruses, denial or 
degradation of service attacks, ransomware, social engineering schemes, insider theft or misuse or other attempts to harm our systems. We 
intend to use its in-vehicle services and functionality to log information about each vehicle’s use in order to aid our in vehicle diagnostics 
and servicing. Our potential customer base may object to the use of this data, which may limit our offering portfolio and harm our business 
prospects.

Moreover, there are inherent risks associated with developing, improving, expanding and updating our current systems, such as the 
disruption of our data management, procurement, production execution, finance, supply chain and sales and service processes. These risks 
may affect our ability to manage our data and inventory, procure parts or supplies or assemble, deploy, deliver and service its products, 
adequately protect its intellectual property or achieve and maintain compliance with, or realize available benefits under, applicable laws, 
regulations and contracts. We cannot be sure that these systems upon which it relies, including those of our potential suppliers and strategic 
partners, will be effectively implemented, maintained or expanded as planned. If we do not successfully implement, maintain or expand 
these systems as planned, its operations may be disrupted, its ability to accurately and timely report its financial results could be impaired, 
and deficiencies may arise in its internal control over financial reporting, which may impact our ability to certify our financial results. 
Moreover, our proprietary information or intellectual property could be compromised or misappropriated and its reputation may be 
adversely affected. If these systems do not operate as we expect them to, we may be required to expend significant resources to make 
corrections or find alternative sources for performing these functions.

We have developed and maintain a cybersecurity risk management program, consisting of cybersecurity policies, procedures, 
compliance and awareness programs to mitigate risk and to ensure compliance with security, availability and confidentiality trust 
principles. We also maintain a cybersecurity insurance policy. The cybersecurity process has been integrated into our overall risk 
management system and process, and is solely internally managed. See “Item 16.K—Cybersecurity” for additional information.

Our SaverOne system operates as a deterrent to mobile-phone distracted driving, but cannot actually prevent mobile phone distracted 
driving. 

Our SaverOne system operates by detecting mobile phones in the driving area of a car and emitting a loud alarm in the event such 
phones do not have the SaverOne mobile application installed. Once installed, the SaverOne mobile application blocks potentially 
distracting phone applications while the car is in use that are set by the user. While these can potentially be effective deterrent methods, the 
SaverOne system cannot actually prevent the operation of a car by someone who is unbothered by the constant alarm in the event they 
attempt to drive without the SaverOne mobile application installed on their phone, it cannot prevent drivers with the SaverOne mobile 
application installed on their phones from allowing potentially districting mobile applications to become unblocked.
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Some of our products will be subject to automotive regulations due to the global quality requirements, which could prevent us from 
marketing our products to vehicle manufacturers.

The automotive regulations are dynamic and changing and effected by the final customer quality requirements as well. Even if we 
are successful in completing the development of some of our products, our failure to comply with the different types of regulations and 
requirements could delay the transfer to production schedule and eventually time to market these products.

In order to market our products to vehicle manufacturers we may be required to meet different types of regulations requirements 
such as International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 26262 Functional Safety Regulations (ASIL), the International Standard for 
Automotive Quality Management Systems (IAFT) 16949, Automotive Software Process Improvement and Capability Determination 
(SPICE) or other common quality management standards. In order to meet the quality requirements, we will have to cooperate with vehicle 
manufacturers, to receive their customers’ quality requirements that meet the requisite regulation of such customers and implement tools, 
processes and methodologies. Such implementation will require significant resources and funds and is expected to consume significant time 
and effort. We expect that only our OEM solution, which is a solution designed for the OEM market, may require compliance with the 
foregoing regulations, whereas our Generation 1.0 and 2.0 solutions, both after-market solutions, are not required to comply with the 
foregoing regulations.

New regulations or standards or changes in existing regulations or standards in the United States or internationally related to our 
products may result in unanticipated costs or liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of 
operations and future sales, and could place additional burdens on the operations of our business.

Our products may be subject to governmental regulations in a variety of jurisdictions. In order to achieve and maintain market 
acceptance, our technology and products may have to comply with these regulations as well as a significant number of industry standards. 
In the United States, our technology and products will have to comply with various regulations defined by the Federal Communications 
Commission, or FCC, and others. We may also have to comply with similar international regulations. For example, our SaverOne system 
operates through the transmission of radio signals, and radio emissions are subject to regulation in the United States and in other countries 
in which we intend to do business. In the United States, various federal agencies including the Center for Devices and Radiological Health 
of the Food and Drug Administration, the FCC, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration and various state agencies have 
promulgated regulations that concern the use of radio/electromagnetic emissions standards. Member countries of the European Union have 
enacted similar standards concerning electrical safety and electromagnetic compatibility and emissions, and chemical substances and use 
standards.

As these regulations and standards evolve, and if new regulations or standards are implemented, we may be required to modify our 
technology or products or develop and support new versions of our technology or products, and our compliance with these regulations and 
standards may become more burdensome. The failure of technology or our products to comply, or delays in compliance, with the various 
existing and evolving industry regulations and standards could prevent or delay introduction of our technology or products, which could 
harm our business. End-customer uncertainty regarding future policies may also affect demand for communications products, including our 
products. Moreover, channel partners or end-customers may require us, or we may otherwise deem it necessary or advisable, to alter our 
technology or products to address actual or anticipated changes in the regulatory environment. Our inability to alter our technology or 
products to address these requirements and any regulatory changes may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results 
and financial condition.

Our products are cost sensitive and subject to customers’ aggressive target costs. Our products are subsystems of modules as part of full 
semi-autonomous or autonomous systems with low cost product expectations and we may therefore be forced to lower or costs or have 
lower margins.

The automotive industry is one that continuously strives for cost reduction goals and optimizing the vehicle cost to meet the end 
customers’ expectations. For example, the target cost of ADAS, semi-autonomous and autonomous systems are being continuously reduced 
and while our products are cost sensitive to various costs factors, we may fail to meet these reduced market targets costs. We are working to 
build a robust supply chain network to support our cost reduction efforts and optimize our hardware and software costs, but may not be 
successful in doing so. If we are unable to reduce our costs in line with industry target cost, our results of operations may be adversely 
impacted.

Our SaverOne solution may prevent drivers from contacting emergency services when the car is in motion.

Our SaverOne solution operates to block non-permitted applications on phones within the driving area while the vehicle is in 
motion. In an emergency situation where the car is not stopped, the driver may be unable to contact emergency services, if phone calls and 
texting are deemed as non-permitted applications on the driver’s SaverOne mobile phone application.
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Increasing scrutiny of, and evolving expectations for, sustainability and environmental, social, and governance, or ESG, initiatives 
could increase our costs or otherwise adversely impact our business.

Public companies are facing increasing scrutiny related to ESG practices and disclosures from certain investors, capital providers, 
shareholder advocacy groups, other market participants and other stakeholder groups. With this increased focus, public reporting 
regarding ESG practices is becoming more broadly expected. Such increased scrutiny may result in increased costs, enhanced compliance 
or disclosure obligations, or other adverse impacts on our business, financial condition or results of operations. If our ESG practices and 
reporting do not meet investor or other stakeholder expectations, which continue to evolve, we may be subject to investor or regulator 
engagement regarding such matters. In addition, new sustainability rules and regulations have been adopted and may continue to be 
introduced in various states and other jurisdictions. For example, the SEC has adopted rules that require companies to provide expanded 
climate-related disclosures in their periodic reporting, which may require us to incur significant additional costs to comply and impose 
increased oversight obligations on our management and board of directors. Our failure to comply with any applicable rules or regulations 
could lead to penalties and adversely impact our reputation, access to capital and employee retention. Such ESG matters may also impact 
our third-party contract manufacturers and other third parties on which we rely, which may augment or cause additional impacts on our 
business, financial condition, or results of operations.

Any resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

While the potential economic impact brought by, and the duration of, the COVID-19 pandemic may be difficult to assess or 
predict, it has already caused, and could result in further, significant disruption of global financial markets, reducing our ability to access 
capital, which could in the future negatively affect our liquidity and financial position. In addition, the trading prices for other companies 
have been highly volatile as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, we may face difficulties raising capital through sales of our 
ordinary shares or other securities and such sales may be on unfavorable terms. To the extent that future waves of COVID-19 disrupt 
normal business operations, we may face operational challenges with our services, and we likely will have to adopt remote working and 
workplace protocols for employees in accordance with government requirements and other measures to minimize such impact.

The COVID-19 pandemic and its impacts continue to evolve. We cannot predict the scope and severity of any further disruptions 
as a result of COVID-19 or their impacts on us, but business disruptions for us or any of the third parties with whom we engage, including 
the manufacturers, suppliers, customers, regulators and other third parties with whom we conduct business could materially and negatively 
impact our ability to conduct our business in the manner and on the timelines presently planned. The extent to which the COVID-19 
pandemic may continue to impact our business and financial performance will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain 
and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the scope and duration of the pandemic, the extent and effectiveness of government 
restrictions and other actions, including relief measures, implemented to address the impact of the pandemic, and resulting economic 
impacts. We are unable to determine the extent of the impact of the pandemic on our operations and financial condition going forward. 
These developments are highly uncertain and unpredictable and may materially adversely affect our financial position and results of 
operations.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain and maintain effective intellectual property rights for our products, we may not be able to compete effectively 
in our markets.

Historically, we have relied on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect the intellectual property related to 
our technologies and products. Since June 2015, we have also sought patent protection for certain of our products. Our success depends in 
large part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other intellectual property protection in the United States and in other countries 
with respect to our proprietary technology and new products.

We have sought to protect our proprietary position by filing patent applications in Israel, the United States and in other countries, 
with respect to our novel technologies and products, which are important to our business. Patent prosecution is expensive and time 
consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely 
manner. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development output before it is too late to 
obtain patent protection.

We have a growing portfolio of seven issued U.S. patents and four pending U.S. applications, two granted European patents 
validated in United Kingdom, Germany, France, Italy, Spain, and Sweden, two granted Chinese patents, one granted Israeli patent, four 
pending applications with the Israeli Patent Office, and three pending applications in Europe. In Israel, three of our patent applications have 
been allowed and subsequently opposed by a third-party. Further to the evidence submitted by the opponent, we are now requested to 
submit evidence by March 20, 2025, and the proceedings are still ongoing. It is difficult to assess at this time the likelihood of success in 
the opposition. Opposition proceedings in Israel tend to be lengthy and very procedural.
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We cannot offer any assurances about which, if any, patent applications will issue, the breadth of any such patent or whether any 
issued patents will be found invalid and unenforceable or will be threatened by third parties. Any successful opposition to these patents or 
any other patents owned by or licensed to us after patent issuance could deprive us of rights necessary for the successful commercialization 
of any new products that we may develop.

Further, there is no assurance that all potentially relevant prior art relating to our patent applications has been found, which can 
invalidate a patent or prevent a patent from issuing from a pending patent application. Even if patents do successfully issue, and even if 
such patents cover our products, third parties may challenge their validity, enforceability, or scope, which may result in such patents being 
narrowed, found unenforceable or invalidated. Furthermore, even if they are unchallenged, our patent applications and any future patents 
may not adequately protect our intellectual property, provide exclusivity for our new products, or prevent others from designing around our 
claims. Any of these outcomes could impair our ability to prevent competition from third parties, which may have an adverse impact on our 
business. 

If we cannot obtain and maintain effective patent rights for our products, we may not be able to compete effectively, and our 
business and results of operations would be harmed. 

If we are unable to maintain effective proprietary rights for our products, we may not be able to compete effectively in our markets.

In addition to the protection afforded by any patents that may be granted, historically, we have relied on trade secret protection and 
confidentiality agreements to protect proprietary know-how that is not patentable or that we elect not to patent, processes that are not easily 
known, knowable or easily ascertainable, and for which patent infringement is difficult to monitor and enforce and any other elements of 
our product development processes that involve proprietary know-how, information or technology that is not covered by patents. However, 
trade secrets can be difficult to protect. We seek to protect our proprietary technology and processes, in part, by entering into confidentiality 
agreements with our employees, consultants, scientific advisors, and contractors. We also seek to preserve the integrity and confidentiality 
of our data, trade secrets and intellectual property by maintaining physical security of our premises and physical and electronic security of 
our information technology systems. Agreements or security measures may be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any 
breach. In addition, our trade secrets and intellectual property may otherwise become known or be independently discovered by 
competitors.

We cannot provide any assurances that our trade secrets and other confidential proprietary information will not be disclosed in 
violation of our confidentiality agreements or that competitors will not otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or independently develop 
substantially equivalent information and techniques. Also, misappropriation or unauthorized and unavoidable disclosure of our trade secrets 
and intellectual property could impair our competitive position and may have a material adverse effect on our business. Additionally, if the 
steps taken to maintain our trade secrets and intellectual property are deemed inadequate, we may have insufficient recourse against third 
parties for misappropriating any trade secret.

Intellectual property rights of third parties could adversely affect our ability to commercialize our products, and we might be required to 
litigate or obtain licenses from third parties in order to develop or market our SaverOne systems. Such litigation or licenses could be 
costly or not available on commercially reasonable terms.

It is inherently difficult to conclusively assess our freedom to operate without infringing on third party rights. Our competitive 
position may be adversely affected if existing patents or patents resulting from patent applications issued to third parties or other third-party 
intellectual property rights are held to cover our products or elements thereof, or our manufacturing or uses relevant to our development 
plans. In such cases, we may not be in a position to develop or commercialize products unless we successfully pursue litigation to nullify or 
invalidate the third-party intellectual property right concerned or enter into a license agreement with the intellectual property right holder, if 
available on commercially reasonable terms. There may also be pending patent applications that if they result in issued patents, could be 
alleged to be infringed by our new products. If such an infringement claim should be brought and be successful, we may be required to pay 
substantial damages, be forced to abandon our new products or seek a license from any patent holders. No assurances can be given that a 
license will be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.

It is also possible that we have failed to identify relevant third-party patents or applications. For example, U.S. patent applications 
filed before November 29, 2000, and certain U.S. patent applications filed after that date that will not be filed outside the United States 
remain confidential until patents issue. Patent applications in the United States and in most of the other countries are published 
approximately 18 months after the earliest filing for which priority is claimed, with such earliest filing date being commonly referred to as 
the priority date. Therefore, patent applications covering our new products or platform technology could have been filed by others without 
our knowledge. Additionally, pending patent applications which have been published can, subject to certain limitations, be later amended in 
a manner that could cover our platform technologies, our new products or the use of our new products. Third party intellectual property 
right holders may also actively bring infringement claims against us. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to successfully settle or 
otherwise resolve such infringement claims. If we are unable to successfully settle future claims on terms acceptable to us, we may be 
required to engage in or continue costly, unpredictable and time-consuming litigation and may be prevented from or experience substantial 
delays in pursuing the development of and/or marketing our new products. If we fail in any such dispute, in addition to being forced to pay 
damages, we may be temporarily or permanently prohibited from commercializing our new products that are held to be infringing. We 
might, if possible, also be forced to redesign our new products so that we no longer infringe the third party’s intellectual property rights. 
Any of these events, even if we were ultimately to prevail, could require us to divert substantial financial and management resources that 
we would otherwise be able to devote to our business.
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Patent policy and rule changes could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and 
the enforcement or defense of any issued patents.

Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the 
value of any patents that may issue from our patent applications or narrow the scope of our patent protection. The laws of foreign countries 
may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag 
behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months 
after filing, or in some cases not at all. We therefore cannot be certain that we were the first to file the invention claimed in our owned and 
licensed patent or pending applications, or that we or our licensor were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions. Assuming 
all other requirements for patentability are met, in the United States prior to March 15, 2013, the first to make the claimed invention 
without undue delay in filing, is entitled to the patent, while outside the United States, the first to file a patent application is entitled to the 
patent. After March 15, 2013, the Leahy-Smith America the United States has moved to a first to file system. Changes to the way patent 
applications will be prosecuted could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the 
enforcement or defense of any issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

Our use of open source software could negatively affect our ability to sell our platform and subject us to possible litigation.

We have included software in our platform covered by open source licenses. We do not own all of the open source technology in 
our platform and the ownership of the open-source technology in our platform may not be easily determinable by us. Rather, we rely on 
third party open-source contributors to ensure that the open source contributions to our platform are properly owned by the committers and 
contributors who contribute the open source technology and that such contributions do not infringe on other parties’ intellectual property 
rights. Moreover, the terms of certain of the open-source licenses have not been interpreted by United States or other courts, and there is a 
risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that is incompatible with our current business model, imposing unanticipated 
conditions or restrictions on our ability to market our solutions. We or our customers may in the future receive, notices that claim we have 
misappropriated, misused or infringed other parties’ intellectual property rights, and, to the extent products based on the open-source 
software gain greater market visibility, we and our customers face a higher risk of being the subject of intellectual property infringement 
claims. In addition, we or our customers could be subject to lawsuits by parties claiming ownership of (or that different license terms apply 
to) what we believe to be open source software, or seeking to enforce the terms of an open source license. By the terms of certain open-
source licenses, we could be required to release the source code of our proprietary software, and to make our proprietary software available 
under open-source licenses, if we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner. In the event that 
portions of our proprietary software are determined to be impacted by an open source license, we could be required to publicly release the 
affected portions of our source code, re-engineer all or a portion of our technologies, or otherwise be limited in the licensing of our 
technologies and services, each of which could reduce or eliminate the value of our technologies and cause us to have to significantly alter 
our current business model. These claims could also result in litigation (including litigation against our customers or partners, which could 
result in us being obligated to indemnify our customers or partners against such litigation), require us to purchase a costly license or require 
us to devote additional research and development resources to change our solutions, any of which could have a negative effect on our 
business and operating results. In addition, if the license terms for the open-source code change, we may be forced to re-engineer our 
solutions or incur additional costs to find alternative tools.

In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of open-source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party 
commercial software, as open-source licensors generally do not provide warranties, support, indemnity or assurance of title or controls on 
origin of the software. Further, some open-source projects have known vulnerabilities and architectural instabilities and are provided on an 
“as is” basis. Many of these risks associated with usage of open-source software, such as the lack of warranties or assurances of title, cannot 
be eliminated, and could, if not properly addressed, negatively affect the performance of our platform and our business. In addition, we may 
be required to absorb these risks in our customer relationships by agreeing to provide warranties, support and indemnification with respect 
to such third-party open-source software. While we have established processes intended to alleviate these risks, we cannot assure that these 
measures will eliminate or significantly reduce these risks.

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our intellectual property, which could be expensive, time consuming, and 
unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our intellectual property. If we were to initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent 
covering one of our new products, the defendant could counterclaim that the patent covering our product is invalid and/or unenforceable. In 
patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity and/or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a 
validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, or non-
enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent 
withheld relevant information from the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, or made a misleading statement, during 
prosecution. The validity of U.S. patents may also be challenged in post-grant proceedings before the USPTO. The outcome following legal 
assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable.

Derivation proceedings initiated by third parties or brought by us may be necessary to determine the priority of inventions and/or 
their scope with respect to our patent or patent applications or those of our licensors. An unfavorable outcome could require us to cease 
using the related technology or to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing party. Our business could be harmed if the prevailing 
party does not offer us a license on commercially reasonable terms. Our defense of litigation or interference proceedings may fail and, even 
if successful, may result in substantial costs and distract our management and other employees. In addition, the uncertainties associated 
with litigation could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise the funds necessary to continue our research programs, license 
necessary technology from third parties, or enter into development partnerships that would help us bring our new products to market.
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Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a 
risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. There could also be public 
announcements of the results of hearings, motions, or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive 
these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of our ADSs or ordinary shares.

In Israel, three of our patent applications have been allowed and subsequently opposed by a third-party. Further to the evidence 
submitted by the opponent, we are now requested to submit evidence by March 20, 2025, and the proceedings are still ongoing. It is 
difficult to assess at this time the likelihood of success in the opposition. Opposition proceedings in Israel tend to be lengthy and very 
procedural. 

We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship of our intellectual property.

We may be subject to claims that former employees, collaborators or other third parties have an interest in, or right to 
compensation, with respect to our current patent and patent applications, future patents or other intellectual property as an inventor or co-
inventor. For example, we may have inventorship disputes arise from conflicting obligations of consultants or others who are involved in 
developing our products. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these and other claims challenging inventorship or claiming the 
right to compensation. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual 
property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, valuable intellectual property. Such an outcome could have a material 
adverse effect on our business. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be 
a distraction to management and other employees.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting, and defending patents on products, as well as monitoring their infringement in all countries throughout the 
world would be prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual property rights in some countries can be less extensive than those in the United 
States. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws 
in the United States.

Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products 
and may also export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement is not as strong as that in 
the United States. These products may compete with our products. Future patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective 
or sufficient to prevent them from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign 
jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade 
secrets, and other intellectual property protection, which could make it difficult for us to stop the marketing of competing products in 
violation of our proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions, whether or not successful, 
could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our future patents at risk of 
being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims 
against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be 
commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to monitor and enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be 
inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license.

Risks Related to the Ownership of Our ADSs or Our Ordinary Shares

Raising additional capital and issuance of additional ADS representing our ordinary shares would cause dilution to our existing 
shareholders and may affect the rights of existing shareholders.

We have been and will continue to seek additional capital through a combination of private and public equity offerings, debt 
financing and collaborations and strategic and licensing arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the issuance of 
equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms may include liquidation or other preferences that 
adversely affect your rights as a holder of our ADSs and ordinary shares.

On July 16, 2024, we entered into the standby equity purchase agreement (the “SEPA”), with YA II PN, LTD., (“Yorkville”), 
pursuant to which Yorkville has committed to purchase up to $15.0 million of our ADSs at our direction from time to time during 3-year 
period following the date of the execution, until July 16, 2027 of the SEPA, subject to the restrictions and satisfaction of the conditions in 
the SEPA. Yorkville advanced to the Company the principal amount of $3,000,000 (the “Pre-Paid Advance”), evidenced by the Promissory 
Notes, which are convertible into Company’s ADSs. Unless converted by Yorkville or redeemed by the Company. the principal, interest 
and any other payments due under the Promissory Notes shall be paid in cash on January 16, 2026.
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As of the date of this report, we have sold and issued an aggregate of 445,803,290 ordinary shares represented by 371,503 ADSs 
(after giving retroactive effect to the new ratio of 1,200 ordinary shares for each ADS) to YA as Advance Shares for aggregate gross 
proceeds of approximately $5.84 million. The purchase price for the ADSs that we may sell to YA will fluctuate based on the price of our 
ADSs. Depending on market liquidity at the time, sales of such ADSs may cause the trading price of our ADSs to fall. After YA has 
acquired the ADSs, YA may resell all, some, or none of those shares at any time or from time to time in its discretion. Therefore, our sales 
to YA could result in substantial dilution to the interests of other holders of our ordinary shares and ADSs. Additionally, the sale of a 
substantial number of shares of our ADSs to YA, or the anticipation of such sales, could make it more difficult for us to sell equity or 
equity-related securities in the future at a price that we might otherwise wish to effect sales.

In the event that our ADSs are delisted from Nasdaq, U.S. broker-dealers may be discouraged from effecting transactions in the ADSs 
because they may be considered penny stocks and thus be subject to the penny stock rules.

The SEC has adopted a number of rules to regulate “penny stock” that restrict transactions involving stock which is deemed to be 
penny stock. Such rules include Rules 3a51-1, 15g-1 through 15g-7, and 15g-9 under the Exchange Act. These rules may have the effect of 
reducing the liquidity of penny stocks. “Penny stocks” generally are equity securities with a price of less than $5.00 per share (other than 
securities registered on certain national securities exchanges or quoted on Nasdaq if current price and volume information with respect to 
transactions in such securities is provided by the exchange or system). Following a delisting from NASDAQ, the ADSs may constitute 
“penny stock” within the meaning of these rules. The additional sales practice and disclosure requirements imposed upon U.S. broker-
dealers may discourage such broker-dealers from effecting transactions involving the ADSs, which could severely limit the market liquidity 
of the ADSs and impede their sale in the secondary market.

A U.S. broker-dealer selling penny stock to anyone other than an established customer or “accredited investor” (generally, an 
individual with net worth in excess of $1,000,000 or an annual income exceeding $200,000, or $300,000 together with his or her spouse) 
must make a special suitability determination for the purchaser and must receive the purchaser’s written consent to the transaction prior to 
sale, unless the broker-dealer or the transaction is otherwise exempt. In addition, the “penny stock” regulations require the U.S. broker-
dealer to deliver, prior to any transaction involving a “penny stock”, a disclosure schedule prepared in accordance with SEC standards 
relating to the “penny stock” market, unless the broker-dealer or the transaction is otherwise exempt. A U.S. broker-dealer is also required 
to disclose commissions payable to the U.S. broker-dealer and the registered representative and current quotations for the securities. 
Finally, a U.S. broker-dealer is required to submit monthly statements disclosing recent price information with respect to the “penny stock” 
held in a customer’s account and information with respect to the limited market in “penny stocks”.

Securities holders should be aware that, according to the SEC, the market for “penny stocks” has suffered in recent years from 
patterns of fraud and abuse. Such patterns include (i) control of the market for the security by one or a few broker-dealers that are often 
related to the promoter or issuer; (ii) manipulation of prices through prearranged matching of purchases and sales and false and misleading 
press releases; (iii) “boiler room” practices involving high-pressure sales tactics and unrealistic price projections by inexperienced sales 
persons; (iv) excessive and undisclosed bid-ask differentials and markups by selling broker-dealers; and (v) the wholesale dumping of the 
same securities by promoters and broker-dealers after prices have been manipulated to a desired level, resulting in investor losses.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our market, or if they 
adversely change their recommendations or publish negative reports regarding our business or our shares, our ADSs or ordinary shares 
price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our ADSs or our ordinary shares will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities 
analysts may publish about us, our business, our market or our competitors. We do not have any control over these analysts and we cannot 
provide any assurance that analysts will cover us or provide favorable coverage. If any of the analysts who may cover us adversely change 
their recommendation regarding our ADSs or ordinary shares, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, 
our ADSs or ordinary shares price would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease coverage of our company or fail to 
regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our ADSs or ordinary shares 
price or trading volume to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of ADSs representing our ordinary shares in the public market by our existing shareholders could cause 
our share price to fall.

Sales of a substantial number of ADSs representing our ordinary shares in the public market, or the perception that these sales 
might occur, could depress the market price of our ADSs and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity 
securities. We are unable to predict the effect that sales may have on the prevailing market price of our ADSs and our ordinary shares.

Holders of ADSs are not shareholders of ordinary shares and must act through the depositary to exercise their rights.

Holders of our ADSs do not have the same rights as holders of ordinary shares and may only exercise the voting rights with 
respect to the underlying ordinary shares in accordance with the provisions of the deposit agreement. Under Israeli law, the minimum 
notice period required to convene a shareholders meeting is generally no less than 35 calendar days, but in some instances, 21 or 14 
calendar days. When a shareholder meeting is convened, holders of our ADSs may not receive sufficient notice of a shareholders’ meeting 
to permit them to withdraw their ordinary shares to allow them to cast their vote with respect to any specific matter. In addition, the 
depositary and its agents may not be able to send voting instructions to holders of our ADSs or carry out their voting instructions in a 
timely manner. We will make all reasonable efforts to cause the depositary to extend voting rights to holders of our ADSs in a timely 
manner, but we cannot assure holders that they will receive the voting materials in time to ensure that they can instruct the depositary to 
vote their ADSs. Furthermore, the depositary and its agents will not be responsible for any failure to carry out any instructions to vote, for 
the manner in which any vote is cast or for the effect of any such vote. As a result, holders of our ADSs may not be able to exercise their 
right to vote and they may lack recourse if their ADSs are not voted as they requested. In addition, in the capacity as a holder of ADSs, they 
will not be able to call a shareholders’ meeting unless they first redeem their ADSs and become holders of the underlying ordinary shares 



held in the Israeli market in order to allow them to submit to us a request to call a meeting with respect to any specific matter, in accordance 
with the applicable provisions of the Israeli Companies Law 5759-1999, or the Companies Law, and our Articles of Association.
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We are an emerging growth company and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make our 
ordinary shares less attractive to investors.

For so long as we remain an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act, we intend to take advantage of certain 
exemptions from various requirements that are applicable to public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including:

● the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requiring that our independent registered public accounting firm provide an 
attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting; and

● any rules that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or 
a supplement to the auditor’s report on the financial statements.

We intend to take advantage of these exemptions until we are no longer an “emerging growth company.” We will remain an 
emerging growth company until the earliest of: (i) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenues exceed $1.235 
billion; (ii) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of our initial public offering (i.e., December 31, 2027); 
(iii) the date that we become a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, which would occur if the 
aggregate worldwide market value of our ordinary shares, including ordinary shares represented by warrants, held by non-affiliates is at 
least $700 million as of the prior June 30; or (iv) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities 
during any three-year period.

We cannot predict if investors will find our ADSs or our ordinary shares less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. 
If some investors find our ADSs or our ordinary shares less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our ADSs or 
our ordinary shares, and our market prices may be more volatile and may decline.

As a “foreign private issuer” we are permitted to and follow certain home country corporate governance practices instead of otherwise 
applicable SEC and Nasdaq requirements, which may result in less protection than is accorded to investors under rules applicable to 
domestic U.S. issuers.

Our status as a foreign private issuer also exempts us from compliance with certain SEC laws and regulations and certain 
regulations of Nasdaq, including the proxy rules, the short-swing profits recapture rules, and certain governance requirements such as 
independent director oversight of the nomination of directors and executive compensation. In addition, we are not required, under the 
Exchange Act, to file current reports and financial statements with the SEC as frequently or as promptly as U.S. domestic companies whose 
securities are registered under the Exchange Act and we are generally exempt from filing quarterly reports with the SEC. Also, although the 
Companies Law requires us to disclose the annual compensation of our five most highly compensated senior officers on an individual basis, 
this disclosure is not as extensive as that required of a U.S. domestic issuer. For example, the disclosure required under Israeli law would be 
limited to compensation paid in the immediately preceding year without any requirement to disclose option exercises and vested stock 
options, pension benefits or potential payments upon termination or a change of control. Furthermore, as a foreign private issuer, we are 
also not subject to the requirements of Regulation FD (Fair Disclosure) promulgated under the Exchange Act.

These exemptions and leniencies will reduce the frequency and scope of information and protections to which you are entitled as 
an investor.

Although as a foreign private issuer we are exempt from certain corporate governance standards applicable to US issuers, if we cannot 
satisfy, or continue to satisfy, the initial listing requirements and other rules of the Nasdaq, our securities may not be listed or may be 
delisted, which could negatively impact the price of our securities and your ability to sell them.

Our securities are listed on Nasdaq; however, , we cannot assure you that we will be able to meet continued Nasdaq listing 
requirements and that our securities will continue to be listed on Nasdaq.

In order to maintain our listing on the Nasdaq, we are required to comply with the continued Nasdaq listing requirements, 
including maintaining the required standards of shareholders’ equity, the Minimum Bid Price Requirement, minimum market value of 
publicly held shares, and various additional requirements. While we were able to comply with the initial listing requirements and other 
applicable rules of the Nasdaq, we may not be able to continue to satisfy these requirements and applicable rules. If we are unable to satisfy 
the Nasdaq criteria for maintaining our listing, our securities could be subject to delisting.

If Nasdaq delists our securities from trading, we could face significant consequences, including:

● limited availability for market quotations for our securities;
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● reduced liquidity with respect to our securities;

● a determination that our ADSs are a “penny stock,” which will require brokers trading in our ADS to adhere to more stringent 
rules and possibly result in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for our ADSs;

● limited amount of news and analyst coverage; and

● a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

We may have been a “passive foreign investment company”, or PFIC, for U.S. federal income tax purposes in 2024 and may be a PFIC 
in any subsequent taxable year. There generally would be negative tax consequences for U.S. taxpayers that are holders of our ADSs or 
our ordinary shares if we are or were to become a PFIC.

Based on the projected composition of our income and valuation of our assets, we may have been a PFIC for our 2024 taxable year 
and we may be a PFIC for 2025 and in the future, although there can be no assurance in this regard. The determination of whether we are a 
PFIC is made on an annual basis and will depend on the composition of our income and assets from time to time. We will be treated as a 
PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes in any taxable year in which either (1) at least 75% of our gross income is “passive income” or 
(2) on quarterly average at least 50% of our assets by value produce passive income or are held for the production of passive income. 
Passive income for this purpose generally includes, among other things, certain dividends, interest, royalties, rents and gains from 
commodities and securities transactions and from the sale or exchange of property that gives rise to passive income. Passive income also 
includes amounts derived by reason of the temporary investment of funds, including those raised in a public offering. In determining 
whether a non-U.S. corporation is a PFIC, a proportionate share of the income and assets of each corporation in which it owns, directly or 
indirectly, at least a 25% interest (by value) is taken into account. The tests for determining PFIC status are applied annually and it is 
difficult to make accurate projections of future income and assets which are relevant to this determination. In addition, our PFIC status may 
depend in part on the market value of our ADSs or our ordinary shares. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will not be a PFIC 
in subsequent years. If we were a PFIC in 2024, or are a PFIC in any subsequent taxable year during which a U.S. taxpayer holds our ADSs 
or our ordinary shares, such U.S. taxpayer would be subject to certain adverse U.S. federal income tax rules. In particular, if the U.S. 
taxpayer did not make an election to treat us as a “qualified electing fund”, or QEF, or make a “mark-to-market” election, then “excess 
distributions” to the U.S. taxpayer, and any gain realized on the sale or other disposition of our ADSs or our ordinary shares by the U.S. 
taxpayer: (1) would be allocated ratably over the U.S. taxpayer’s holding period for our ADSs or ordinary shares; (2) the amount allocated 
to the current taxable year and any period prior to the first day of the first taxable year in which we were a PFIC would be taxed as ordinary 
income; and (3) the amount allocated to each of the other taxable years would be subject to tax at the highest rate of tax in effect for the 
applicable class of taxpayer for that year, and an interest charge for the deemed deferral benefit would be imposed with respect to the 
resulting tax attributable to each such other taxable year. In addition, if the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, or the IRS, determines that we 
are a PFIC for a year with respect to which we have determined that we were not a PFIC, it may be too late for a U.S. taxpayer to make a 
timely QEF or mark-to-market election. A U.S. taxpayer that has held our ADSs or our ordinary shares during a period when we were a 
PFIC will generally be subject to the foregoing rules unless we cease to be a PFIC and such U.S. taxpayer makes a “deemed sale” election 
with respect to our ADSs or our ordinary shares. If we are a PFIC in any year, U.S. taxpayers may be subject to additional IRS filing 
requirements, including the filing of IRS Form 8621, as a result of directly or indirectly owning stock of a PFIC. We do not intend to notify 
U.S. taxpayers that hold our ADSs or our ordinary shares if we believe we will be treated as a PFIC for any taxable year in order to enable 
U.S. taxpayers to consider whether to make a QEF election or a mark-to-market election. In addition, we do not intend to furnish such U.S. 
taxpayers annually with information needed in order to complete IRS Form 8621 and to make and maintain a valid QEF election for any 
year in which we are a PFIC. U.S. taxpayers that hold our ADSs or our ordinary shares are strongly urged to consult their tax advisors 
about the PFIC rules, including tax return filing requirements and the eligibility, manner, and consequences to them of making a QEF or 
mark-to-market election with respect to our ADSs or our ordinary shares in the event that we are a PFIC. See “Item 10.E. 
Taxation—Certain Material United States Federal Income Tax Considerations—Passive foreign investment company considerations” for 
additional information.
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If a United States person is treated as owning at least 10% of our ordinary shares, such holder may be subject to adverse U.S. federal 
income tax consequences.

If a United States person is treated as owning (directly, indirectly or constructively) at least 10% of the value or voting power of 
our ordinary shares, such person may be treated as a “United States shareholder” with respect to each “controlled foreign corporation” in 
our group (if any). A United States shareholder of a controlled foreign corporation may be required to annually report and include in its 
U.S. taxable income its pro rata share of “Subpart F income,” “global intangible low-taxed income” and investments in U.S. property by 
controlled foreign corporations, whether or not we make any distributions, and may be subject to tax reporting obligations. An individual 
that is a United States shareholder with respect to a controlled foreign corporation generally would not be allowed certain tax deductions or 
foreign tax credits that would be allowed to a United States shareholder that is a U.S. corporation. A failure to comply with these reporting 
obligations may subject you to significant monetary penalties and may prevent the statute of limitations with respect to your U.S. federal 
income tax return for the year for which reporting was due from starting. We cannot provide any assurances that we will assist any holder 
of our ordinary shares or ADSs in determining whether such holder is treated as a United States shareholder with respect to any “controlled 
foreign corporation” in our group (if any) or furnish to any United States holders of our ordinary shares or ADSs information that may be 
necessary to comply with the aforementioned reporting and tax paying obligations. A United States holder of our ordinary shares or ADSs 
should consult its tax advisors regarding the potential application of these rules to its investment in our ordinary shares or ADSs.

ADSs holders may not be entitled to a jury trial with respect to claims arising under the deposit agreement, which could result in less 
favorable results to the plaintiff(s) in any such action.

The deposit agreement governing our ADSs representing our ordinary shares provides that holders and beneficial owners of ADSs 
irrevocably waive the right to a trial by jury in any legal proceeding arising out of or relating to the deposit agreement or our ADSs, 
including claims under federal securities laws, against us or the depositary to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. If this jury trial 
waiver provision is prohibited by applicable law, an action could nevertheless proceed under the terms of the deposit agreement with a jury 
trial. To our knowledge, the enforceability of a jury trial waiver under the federal securities laws has not been finally adjudicated by a 
federal court. However, we believe that a jury trial waiver provision is generally enforceable under the laws of the State of New York, 
which govern the deposit agreement, by a court of the State of New York or a federal court, which have non-exclusive jurisdiction over 
matters arising under the deposit agreement, applying such law. In determining whether to enforce a jury trial waiver provision, New York 
courts and federal courts will consider whether the visibility of the jury trial waiver provision within the agreement is sufficiently 
prominent such that a party has knowingly waived any right to trial by jury. We believe that this is the case with respect to the deposit 
agreement and our ADSs. In addition, New York courts will not enforce a jury trial waiver provision in order to bar a viable setoff or 
counterclaim sounding in fraud or one which is based upon a creditor’s negligence in failing to liquidate collateral upon a guarantor’s 
demand, or in the case of an intentional tort claim (as opposed to a contract dispute), none of which we believe are applicable in the case of 
the deposit agreement or our ADSs. No condition, stipulation or provision of the deposit agreement or ADSs serves as a waiver by any 
holder or beneficial owner of ADSs or by us or the depositary of compliance with any provision of the federal securities laws. If you or any 
other holder or beneficial owner of ADSs brings a claim against us or the depositary in connection with matters arising under the deposit 
agreement or our ADSs, you or such other holder or beneficial owner may not be entitled to a jury trial with respect to such claims, which 
may have the effect of limiting and discouraging lawsuits against us and / or the depositary. If a lawsuit is brought against us and / or the 
depositary under the deposit agreement, it may be heard only by a judge or justice of the applicable trial court, which would be conducted 
according to different civil procedures and may result in different results than a trial by jury would have had, including results that could be 
less favorable to the plaintiff(s) in any such action, depending on, among other things, the nature of the claims, the judge or justice hearing 
such claims, and the venue of the hearing.

We may be subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management attention.

In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action 
litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Litigation of this type could result in substantial costs and diversion 
of management’s attention and resources, which could seriously hurt our business. Any adverse determination in litigation could also 
subject us to significant liabilities.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our market, or if they 
adversely change their recommendations or publish negative reports regarding our business or our shares, our share price and trading 
volume could decline.

The trading market for our ordinary shares will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts may 
publish about us, our business, our market or our competitors. We do not have any control over these analysts and we cannot provide any 
assurance that analysts will cover us or provide favorable coverage. If any of the analysts who may cover us adversely change their 
recommendation regarding our shares, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, our share price would 
likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could 
lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.

Our business, operating results and growth rates may be adversely affected by current or future unfavorable economic and market 
conditions and adverse developments with respect to financial institutions and associated liquidity risk.

Our business depends on the economic health of the global economies. If the conditions in the global economies remain uncertain 
or continue to be volatile, or if they deteriorate, including as a result of the impact of military conflict, such as the wars between Russia and 
Ukraine and in the Middle East, terrorism or other geopolitical events, our business, operating results and financial condition may be 
materially adversely affected. Economic weakness, inflation and increases in interest rates, limited availability of credit, liquidity shortages 
and constrained capital spending have at times in the past resulted, and may in the future result, in challenging and delayed sales cycles, 
slower adoption of new technologies and increased price competition, and could negatively affect our ability to forecast future periods, 
which could result in an inability to satisfy demand for our products and a loss of market share.

In addition, increases in inflation raise our costs for commodities, labor, materials and services and other costs required to grow 
and operate our business, and failure to secure these on reasonable terms may adversely impact our financial condition. Additionally, 
increases in inflation, along with the uncertainties surrounding geopolitical developments and global supply chain disruptions, have caused, 
and may in the future cause, global economic uncertainty and uncertainty about the interest rate environment, which may make it more 
difficult, costly or dilutive for us to secure additional financing. A failure to adequately respond to these risks could have a material adverse 
impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

There can be no assurance that future credit and financial market instability and a deterioration in confidence in economic 
conditions will not occur. Our general business strategy may be adversely affected by any such economic downturn, liquidity shortages, 
volatile business environment or continued unpredictable and unstable market conditions. If the current equity and credit markets 
deteriorate, or if adverse developments are experienced by financial institutions, it may cause short-term liquidity risk and also make any 
necessary debt or equity financing more difficult, more costly, more onerous with respect to financial and operating covenants and more 
dilutive. Failure to secure any necessary financing in a timely manner and on favorable terms could have a material adverse effect on our 
growth strategy, financial performance and stock price and could require us to alter our operating plans. In addition, there is a risk that one 
or more of our service providers, financial institutions, manufacturers, suppliers and other partners may be adversely affected by the 
foregoing risks, which could directly affect our ability to attain our operating goals on schedule and on budget.

Risks Related to Israeli Law and Our Incorporation, Location and Operations in Israel

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates.

A major portion of our business is conducted, and a material portion of our operating expenses is incurred, outside the United 
States, mainly in NIS. Therefore, we are exposed to currency exchange fluctuations in other currencies, particularly in NIS and the risks 
related thereto. Our primary expenses paid in NIS are employee salaries, fees for consultants and subcontractors and lease payments on our 
Israeli facilities. As a result, we are affected by foreign currency exchange fluctuations through both translation risk and transaction risk. 
Thus, we are exposed to the risks that: (a) the NIS may appreciate relative to the dollar; (b) the NIS devalue relative to the dollar; (c) the 
inflation rate in Israel may exceed the rate of devaluation of the NIS; or (d) the timing of such devaluation may lag behind inflation in 
Israel. In any such event, the dollar cost of our operations in Israel would increase and our dollar-denominated results of operations would 
be adversely affected. Our operations also could be adversely affected if we are unable to effectively hedge against currency fluctuations in 
the future.
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Provisions of Israeli law and our Articles of Association may delay, prevent or otherwise impede a merger with, or an acquisition of, our 
company, which could prevent a change of control, even when the terms of such a transaction are favorable to us and our shareholders.

Israeli corporate law regulates mergers, requires tender offers for acquisitions of shares above specified thresholds, requires 
special approvals for transactions involving directors, officers or significant shareholders and regulates other matters that may be relevant to 
such types of transactions. For example, a merger may not be consummated unless at least 50 days have passed from the date on which a 
merger proposal is filed by each merging company with the Israel Registrar of Companies and at least 30 days have passed from the date on 
which the shareholders of both merging companies have approved the merger. In addition, a majority of each class of securities of the 
target company must approve a merger. Moreover, a tender offer for all of a company’s issued and outstanding shares can only be 
completed if the acquirer receives positive responses from the holders of at least 95% of the issued share capital. Completion of the tender 
offer also requires approval of a majority of the offerees that do not have a personal interest in the tender offer, unless, following 
consummation of the tender offer, the acquirer would hold at least 98% of the company’s outstanding shares. Furthermore, the 
shareholders, including those who indicated their acceptance of the tender offer, may, at any time within six months following the 
completion of the tender offer, claim that the consideration for the acquisition of the shares does not reflect their fair market value, and 
petition an Israeli court to alter the consideration for the acquisition accordingly, unless the acquirer stipulated in its tender offer that a 
shareholder that accepts the offer may not seek such appraisal rights, and the acquirer or the company published all required information 
with respect to the tender offer prior to the tender offer’s response date.

In addition, February 17, 2025, we further amended our Articles of Association to include provisions that may discourage 
unsolicited takeover proposals that shareholders may consider to be in their best interests. These provisions include a staggered board of 
directors, and an additional provision providing that such e staggered board provision would require the approval of holders of at least 75% 
of the outstanding shares. These provisions may make it more difficult the removal of management and may discourage transactions that 
otherwise could involve payment of a premium over prevailing market prices for our securities.

Israeli tax considerations also may make potential transactions unappealing to us or to our shareholders whose country of 
residence does not have a tax treaty with Israel exempting such shareholders from Israeli tax. See “Item 10.E. Taxation—Israeli Tax 
Considerations and Government Programs” for additional information.

It may be difficult to enforce a judgment of a United States court against us and our officers and directors in Israel or the United States, 
to assert United States securities laws claims in Israel or to serve process on our officers and directors.

We were incorporated in Israel. All of our executive officers and directors reside outside of the United States, and all of our assets 
and most of the assets of these persons are located outside of the United States. Therefore, a judgment obtained against us, or any of these 
persons, including a judgment based on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws, may not be collectible in the United 
States and may not necessarily be enforced by an Israeli court. It also may be difficult to affect service of process on these persons in the 
United States or to assert U.S. securities law claims in original actions instituted in Israel. Additionally, it may be difficult for an investor, 
or any other person or entity, to initiate an action with respect to United States securities laws in Israel. Israeli courts may refuse to hear a 
claim based on an alleged violation of United States securities laws reasoning that Israel is not the most appropriate forum in which to bring 
such a claim. In addition, even if an Israeli court agrees to hear a claim, it may determine that Israeli law and not United States law is 
applicable to the claim. If United States law is found to be applicable, the content of applicable United States law must be proven as a fact 
by expert witnesses, which can be a time consuming and costly process. Certain matters of procedure will also be governed by Israeli law. 
There is little binding case law in Israel that addresses the matters described above. As a result of the difficulty associated with enforcing a 
judgment against us in Israel, you may not be able to collect any damages awarded by either a United States or foreign court.

Our headquarters, research and development and other significant operations are located in Israel, and, therefore, our results may be 
adversely affected by political, economic and military instability in Israel.

Our executive office is located in Petah Tikvah, Israel. In addition, the majority of our key employees and all of our officers and 
directors are residents of Israel. Accordingly, political, economic and military conditions in the Middle East may affect our business 
directly. Since the establishment of the State of Israel in 1948, a number of armed conflicts have occurred between Israel and its 
neighboring countries and terrorist organizations active in the region, including Hamas (an Islamist militia and political group in the Gaza 
Strip) and Hezbollah (an Islamist militia and political group in Lebanon).
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In particular, in October 2023, Hamas terrorists infiltrated Israel’s southern border from the Gaza Strip and conducted a series of 
attacks on civilian and military targets. Hamas also launched extensive rocket attacks on the Israeli population and industrial centers located 
along Israel’s border with the Gaza Strip and in other areas within the State of Israel. These attacks resulted in thousands of deaths and 
injuries, and Hamas additionally kidnapped many Israeli civilians and soldiers. Following the attack, Israel’s security cabinet declared war 
against Hamas and commenced a military campaign against Hamas and these terrorist organizations in parallel continued rocket and terror 
attacks. As a result of the events of October 7, 2023, the Israeli government declared that the country was at war and the Israeli military 
began to call-up reservists for active duty. As a result, one member of management and a few employees were called for military reserve 
duty. To date, our member of management and the majority of employees who were initially called for active duty have since been 
released. The remaining employees that are still in military reserve duty do not perform critical functions for us. It is possible that there will 
be further or longer military reserve duty call-ups in the future, which may affect our business due to a shortage of skilled labor and loss of 
institutional knowledge, and necessary mitigation measures we may take to respond to a decrease in labor availability, such as overtime and 
third-party outsourcing, for example, which may have unintended negative effects and adversely impact our results of operations, liquidity 
or cash flows.

In addition, since the commencement of these events, there have been continued hostilities along Israel’s northern border with 
Lebanon (with the Hezbollah terror organization) and southern border (with the Houthi movement in Yemen). It is possible that hostilities 
with Hezbollah in Lebanon will escalate, and that other terrorist organizations, including Palestinian military organizations in the West 
Bank as well as other hostile countries, such as Iran, will join the hostilities. Such clashes may escalate in the future into a greater regional 
conflict. In addition, Iran has threatened to attack Israel and is widely believed to be developing nuclear weapons. Iran is also believed to 
have a strong influence among extremist groups in the region, such as Hamas in Gaza, Hezbollah in Lebanon, the Houthi movement in 
Yemen and various rebel militia groups in Syria and Iraq. These situations may potentially escalate in the future to more violent events 
which may affect Israel and us. Any hostilities, armed conflicts, terrorist activities involving Israel or the interruption or curtailment of 
trade between Israel and its trading partners, or any political instability in the region could adversely affect business conditions and our 
results of operations and could make it more difficult for us to raise capital and could adversely affect the market price of our ordinary 
share. An escalation of tensions or violence might result in a significant downturn in the economic or financial condition of Israel, which 
could have a material adverse effect on our operations in Israel and our business. Parties with whom we do business have sometimes 
declined to travel to Israel during periods of heightened unrest or tension, forcing us to make alternative arrangements when necessary in 
order to meet our business partners face to face. In addition, the political and security situation in Israel may result in parties with whom we 
have agreements involving performance in Israel claiming that they are not obligated to perform their commitments under those agreements 
pursuant to force majeure provisions in such agreements. Our business interruption insurance may not adequately compensate us for losses, 
if at all, that may occur as a result of an event associated with a security situation in the Middle East, and any losses or damages incurred by 
us could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Since the war broke out on October 7, 2023, our operations have not been adversely affected by this situation, and we have not 
experienced disruptions to our business operations. As such, our product and business development activities remain on track. However, the 
intensity and duration of Israel’s current war against Hamas is difficult to predict at this stage, as are such war’s economic implications on 
our business and operations and on Israel’s economy in general. If the war extends for a long period of time or expands to other fronts, such 
as Lebanon, Syria and the West Bank, our operations may be adversely affected.

Our commercial insurance does not cover losses that may occur as a result of an event associated with the security situation in the 
Middle East. Although the Israeli government has in the past covered the reinstatement value of certain damages that were caused by 
terrorist attacks or acts of war, we cannot assure you that this government coverage will be maintained or, if maintained, will be sufficient 
to compensate us fully for damages incurred. Any losses or damages incurred by us could have a material adverse effect on our business. 
Our business interruption insurance may not adequately compensate us for losses, if at all, that may occur as a result of an event associated 
with a security situation in the Middle East, and any losses or damages incurred by us could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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Finally, political conditions within Israel may affect our operations. Israel has held five general elections between 2019 and 2022, 
and prior to October 2023, the Israeli government pursued extensive changes to Israel’s judicial system, which sparked extensive political 
debate and unrest. To date, these initiatives have been substantially put on hold. Actual or perceived political instability in Israel or any 
negative changes in the political environment, may individually or in the aggregate adversely affect the Israeli economy and, in turn, our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

Our operations may be disrupted as a result of the obligation of management or key personnel to perform military service.

Our employees and consultants in Israel, including members of our senior management, may be obligated to perform one month, 
and in some cases longer periods, of military reserve duty until they reach the age of 40 (or older, for citizens who hold certain positions in 
the Israeli armed forces reserves) and, in the event of a military conflict, may be called to active duty. In response to increases in terrorist 
activity, there have been periods of significant call-ups of military reservists. It is possible that there will be similar large-scale military 
reserve duty call-ups in the future. Our operations could be disrupted by the absence of a significant number of our officers, directors, 
employees and consultants. Such disruption could materially adversely affect our business and operations.

Your rights and responsibilities as a shareholder will be governed by Israeli law, which differs in some material respects from the rights 
and responsibilities of shareholders of U.S. companies.

The rights and responsibilities of the holders of our ordinary shares (and therefore indirectly, our ADSs) are governed by our 
Articles of Association and by Israeli law. These rights and responsibilities differ in some material respects from the rights and 
responsibilities of shareholders in typical U.S.-based corporations. In particular, a shareholder of an Israeli company has certain duties to 
act in good faith and fairness toward the company and other shareholders and to refrain from abusing its power in the company, including, 
among other things, in voting at the general meeting of shareholders on certain matters, such as an amendment to the company’s articles of 
association, an increase of the company’s authorized share capital, a merger of the company, and approval of related party transactions that 
require shareholder approval. In addition, a shareholder who is aware that it possesses the power to determine the outcome of a shareholder 
vote or to appoint or prevent the appointment of a director or executive officer in the company has a duty of fairness toward the company 
with regard to such vote or appointment. There is limited case law available to assist us in understanding the nature of this duty or the 
implications of these provisions. These provisions may be interpreted to impose additional obligations on holders of our ordinary shares 
that are not typically imposed on shareholders of U.S. corporations.

Certain of our research and development activities and programs were supported by Israeli Governmental grants, some of which were 
sold or are in the process of selling. The terms of such grants may require us to pay royalties and to satisfy specified conditions in order 
to manufacture products and transfer technologies outside of Israel. We may be required to pay penalties in addition to repayment of 
the grants.

Our research and development efforts relating to our products have been financed in part through royalty-bearing grants in an 
aggregate amount of approximately NIS 1.7 million (approximately $0.5 million) received from the Israel Innovation Authority, or the IIA, 
as of December 31, 2024. With respect to the royalty-bearing grants we are committed to pay royalties at a rate of 3% on sales proceeds 
from our products that were developed under IIA programs up to the total amount of grants received, linked to the U.S. dollar and bearing 
interest at an annual London Interbank Offered Rate applicable to U.S. dollar deposits. Regardless of any royalty payment, we are further 
required to comply with the requirements of the Israeli Encouragement of Research, Development and Industrial Initiative Technology 
Law, 5744-1984, as amended, and related regulations, or the Research Law, with respect to those past grants. When a company develops 
know-how, technology or products using IIA grants, the terms of these grants and the Research Law restrict the transfer of such know-how, 
and the transfer of manufacturing or manufacturing rights of such products, technologies or know-how outside of Israel, without the prior 
approval of the IIA. Therefore, the discretionary approval of an IIA committee would be required for any transfer to third parties inside or 
outside of Israel of know-how or manufacturing or manufacturing rights related to those aspects of such technologies. We may not receive 
those approvals. Furthermore, the IIA may impose certain conditions on any arrangement under which it permits us to transfer technology 
or development out of Israel.
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The transfer of IIA-supported technology or know-how outside of Israel may involve the payment of significant amounts, 
depending upon the value of the transferred technology or know-how, our research and development expenses, the amount of IIA support, 
the time of completion of the IIA-supported research project and other factors. These restrictions and requirements for payment may impair 
our ability to sell or otherwise transfer our technology assets outside of Israel or to outsource or transfer development or manufacturing 
activities with respect to any product or technology outside of Israel. Furthermore, the consideration available to our shareholders in a 
transaction involving the transfer outside of Israel of technology or know-how developed with IIA funding (such as a merger or similar 
transaction) may be reduced by any amounts that we are required to pay to the IIA.

We have also received a grant from the Israeli Ministry of Economy, or MOE, with respect to certain consulting and marketing 
activities conducted outside of Israel. For information, see Note 11b to our audited financial statements.

General Risk Factors

We incur significant increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is required to devote substantial 
time to new compliance initiatives.

As a public company whose ADSs are listed in the United States, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we 
did not incur as a private company. We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the other rules and regulations of the 
SEC, and the rules and regulations of Nasdaq and provisions of the Companies Law that apply to public companies such as us. The 
expenses that are required in order to be a public company are material and compliance with the various reporting and other requirements 
applicable to public companies require considerable time and attention of management. For example, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules 
of the SEC and national securities exchanges have imposed various requirements on public companies, including requiring establishment 
and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls. Our management and other personnel devote a substantial amount of time to 
these compliance initiatives. These rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make 
some activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, we expect these rules and regulations to make it more difficult and more 
expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced policy limits on coverage or 
incur substantial costs to maintain the same or similar coverage. The impact of these events could also make it more difficult for us to 
attract and retain qualified personnel to serve on our board of directors, our board committees, or as executive officers.

We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, and we may not be able to successfully 
implement remedial measures.

We have identified control deficiencies in our financial reporting process that constitute material weaknesses for the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 (which were primarily due to the fact that we were a private company prior to June 2, 2022). In 2024, 
the material weakness was related to the segregation of duties and consequent lack of sufficient internal controls. For additional information 
see “Item 15 – Controls And Procedures”.

Although we have taken certain measures to address the identified material weakness such as appointing in 2024 a SOX consultant 
to assist us with assessment of Sarbanes-Oxley compliance requirements and improvement of overall internal controls, implementing 
internal policies and procedures related to internal control over financial reporting and hiring additional internal accounting and financial 
staff with appropriate public company experience and technical accounting knowledge, we will need to retain additional qualified personal 
in order to fully address our material weakness. However, we cannot assure you that these measures may fully address the material 
weakness in our internal control over financial reporting or that we may conclude that it has been fully remediated.

Further, there can be no assurance that we will not suffer from other material weakness or significant deficiencies in the future. If 
we fail to remediate the identified material weakness or fail to otherwise maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting in the 
future, such failure could result in a material misstatement of our annual or quarterly financial statements that would not be prevented or 
detected on a timely basis and which could cause investors and other users to lose confidence in our financial statements, limit our ability to 
raise capital and have a negative effect on the trading price of our ADSs. Additionally, failure to remediate the material weakness or 
otherwise maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting may also negatively impact our operating results and financial 
condition, impair our ability to timely file our periodic and other reports with the SEC, subject us to additional litigation and regulatory 
actions and cause us to incur substantial additional costs in future periods relating to the implementation of remedial measures.

26



ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

A. History and Development of the Company

We were incorporated in Israel on November 16, 2014 under the name Saverone 2014 Ltd. Our principal executive offices are 
located at Em Hamoshavot Rd. 94, Petah Tikvah, 4970602 Israel. Our telephone number in Israel is +972-39094177. Our website address 
is https://saver.one/. Information contained on or accessible through our website is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 20-F, and the 
inclusion of our website address herein is an inactive textual reference only. Puglisi & Associates, or Puglisi, serves as our authorized 
representative in the United States for certain limited matters. Puglisi’s address is 850 Library Avenue, Newark, Delaware 1971.

The SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers 
that file electronically with the SEC at http://sec.gov. We use our website (https://saver.one/), LinkedIn 
(https://www.linkedin.com/company/saver1) and Facebook (https://www.facebook.com/Saver.One.Official/) as channels of distribution of 
Company information. The information we post through this channel may be deemed material. Accordingly, investors should monitor our 
website, in addition to following our press releases, SEC filings and public conference calls and webcasts. The contents of our website are 
not, however, a part of this Annual Report on Form 20-F.

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as implemented under the JOBS Act. As 
such, we are eligible to, and intend to, take advantage of certain exemptions from reporting requirements that generally apply to public 
companies, including the auditor attestation requirements with respect to internal control over financial reporting under Section 404 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, compliance with new standards adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board which may require 
mandatory audit firm rotation or auditor discussion and analysis, exemption from say on pay, say on frequency, and say on golden 
parachute voting requirements, and reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy 
statements. We will be an emerging growth company until the earliest of: (i) the last day of the fiscal year during which we had total annual 
gross revenues of $1.235 billion or more, (ii) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first sale of the 
ordinary shares pursuant to an effective registration statement (i.e., December 31, 2027), (iii) the date on which we have, during the 
previous three-year period, issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt, or (iv) the date on which we are deemed a “large 
accelerated filer” as defined in Regulation S-K under the Securities Act, which means the market value of our ordinary shares that is held 
by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the prior June 30th.

As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from certain rules and regulations under the Exchange Act that are applicable to other 
public companies that are not foreign private issuers. For example, although we intend to report our financial results on a quarterly basis, 
we will not be required to issue quarterly reports, proxy statements that comply with the requirements applicable to U.S. domestic reporting 
companies, or individual executive compensation information that is as detailed as that required of U.S. domestic reporting companies. We 
will also have four months after the end of each fiscal year to file our annual report with the SEC and will not be required to file current 
reports as frequently or promptly as U.S. domestic reporting companies. Our senior management, directors, and principal shareholders will 
be exempt from the requirements to report transactions in our equity securities and from the short-swing profit liability provisions 
contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act. As a foreign private issuer, we will also not be subject to the requirements of Regulation FD 
(Fair Disclosure) promulgated under the Exchange Act.

B. Business Overview

Overview

We are a technology company engaged in the design, development and commercialization of transportation and safety solutions, 
designed to save lives by preventing car accidents based on our patented technology of detecting, analyzing and locating cellular phone 
radio frequency, or RF, Signals. Our strategy is to is to provide our technology for installation to customers in the aftermarket as well as to 
address OEM vehicle manufacturers, to install the Company’s protection technologies during the vehicle manufacturing process. Using this 
core technology, we are developing two product lines. The first is an In Cabin Driver Distraction Prevention Solution, or DDPS, which 
comprises an aftermarket product for vehicles (i.e., vehicles already supplied to customers) that is in a commercial phase and an original 
equipment manufacturer, or OEM, product targeting vehicle manufacturers which is in development. The second is an Advanced Driver-
Assistance System, or ADAS, product that detects vulnerable road users, or VRUs, and provides warning to the vehicle regarding potential 
collision.
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Our DDPS, known also as the SaverOne system, provides an advanced driver safety solution that can identify and monitor mobile 
phones located in the driver’s vicinity and selectively block use of life-threatening applications. Our technology is based on our proprietary 
hardware, software and algorithms, and we believe it has significant advantages over our competitors’ because our solution meets the 
National Highway Traffic Safety Administration’s, or NHTSA, guidelines for a complete solution for distracted driving. Our DDPS 
solution can be utilized in commercial vehicles, buses, vehicles owned or leased by companies that are provided to employees, private 
vehicles and other forms of transportation.

The first-generation DDPS product was for the aftermarket vehicle market and was intended for private vehicles, trucks and buses. 
This Generation 1.0 was launched in late 2019, initially for private cars, and thereafter was made commercially available to trucks and 
buses. It is currently marketed in Israel as part of our pre-commercialization/early user campaign. We are working on pilot programs with 
various fleet and system integrators in the United States, Europe, Asia and APAC. As of March 19, 2025, about 5,400 systems have been 
ordered (which includes about 1,000 systems ordered as part of our ongoing Generation 1.0 and Generation 2.0 pilot program and about 
4,400 systems purchased in commercial orders by our Generation 1.0 and Generation 2.0 customers) and about 4,000 of these systems have 
been installed.

The second-generation DDPS product, which was released in the fourth quarter of 2022, replaced Generation 1.0, which we 
phased out in the first quarter of 2023. This Generation 2.0 is intended for the global automobile market. It includes significant 
improvements to our Generation 1.0 solution for maximal performance, compatibility with automobiles and cellular networks, market 
penetration and profitability. We are targeting the global aftermarket automobile market starting with the U.S. and Europe.

With respect to our DDPS OEM solution, we plan to integrate it into the vehicle manufacturing process, to be offered directly to 
customers by the vehicle manufacturer as part of the vehicle. We are currently working with one of the leading global OEMs in order to 
have the SaverOne technology integrated into vehicles during the manufacturing process. The OEM solution is in the early stage of 
development, and we expect to launch it during the second half of 2025. Since the development of our OEM solution is still in an early 
stage, it is too early to estimate the cost of development. 

In the past several years, we believe that public awareness and demand for driver safety technologies have grown substantially. 
While there are currently many driver-assistant products on the market, we believe that the safety of drivers will be substantially improved 
with our technology. Our mission is to enhance driver safety by providing a solution that is highly reliable and able to prevent certain driver 
distractions related to mobile phone usage while driving, which we believe is a major cause for driver distraction related to automobile 
accidents. Mobile phone distracted driving is a leading cause of traffic accidents in the United States. According to a survey done by the 
NHTSA, 660,000 drivers in the United States attempt to use their mobile phones while driving at any given moment. The National Safety 
Council, or NSC reports that mobile phone use during driving causes approximately 1.6 million traffic accidents annually in the United 
States alone, leading to the death of approximately 4,600 people and injuring an additional 391,000 people. Moreover, the Federal Motor 
Carrier Safety Administration, or FMCSA, reported that 71% of commercially driven large-truck crashes occurred because of driver 
distraction.

Distracted driving due to mobile phone usage is not just a problem in the United States. A number of surveys conducted across 
Europe and Oceania have revealed troubling statistics about its prevalence across nations. In the Czech Republic, 36% of drivers admitted 
to using their phone almost every time they get behind the wheel. In both Spain and Ireland, 25% of drivers admitted to using their phone 
while driving. In Germany, at any given moment an average of 7% of all drivers are distracted while driving. This problem of distracted 
driving extends to Australia as well, where one-quarter of drivers admitted to using their phone while driving.

As of the second quarter of 2024, there were an estimated 291 million cars and trucks on the road in the United States and 
approximately 345 million cars and trucks on the road in Europe. In addition, it is estimated that approximately 77 million new cars were 
sold worldwide in 2024.
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The ramifications of mobile phone distracted driving exceed the bounds of just physical damage, as they can be exceedingly costly 
for drivers as well. For example, expressed on a per death basis, the cost of all motor-vehicle crashes (fatal, nonfatal injury, and property 
damage) was $11,880,000 according to the NSC. In addition, the total societal and economic costs of distracted driving crashes in the 
United States was estimated at $871 billion according to the NHTSA. Specifically with regard to commercial vehicle crashes, the average 
total costs of commercial motor vehicle crashes for the years of 2012-2015 was over $11 billion per year according to the FMCSA. 
Accordingly, we believe that there is a tremendous financial incentive for a solution to this grave problem.

In response to the need for a solution to distracted driving resulting from the use of mobile phones, the NHTSA has published a 
comprehensive study suggesting that a complete solution must contain the following features: (i) the ability to distinguish between the 
driver’s area of the vehicle and the rest of the vehicle, (ii) does not depend on the cooperation of the driver, and (iii) selective blocking of 
cell phone applications. Our SaverOne system has been designed with these features in mind, and it is for this reason that we believe that it 
is significantly better than the existing product solutions sold in the market.

The NHTSA’s driving guidelines do not constitute U.S. law and compliance does not result in compliance with U.S. driving safety 
regulations. In order to market our products to vehicle manufacturers we may be required to meet different types of regulations 
requirements such as International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 26262 Functional Safety Regulations (ASIL), the International 
Standard for Automotive Quality Management Systems (IAFT) 16949, Automotive Software Process Improvement and Capability 
Determination (SPICE) or other common quality management standards. In order to meet the quality requirements, we will have to 
cooperate with vehicle manufacturers, to receive their customers’ quality requirements that meet the requisite regulation of such customers 
and implement tools, processes and methodologies. Such implementation will require significant resources and funds and is expected to 
consume significant time and effort. We expect that only our OEM solution, which is a solution designed for the OEM market, may require 
compliance with the foregoing regulations, whereas our Generation 1.0 and 2.0 solutions, both after-market solutions, are not required to 
comply with the foregoing regulations.

The SaverOne system currently has achieved safety and radiation certifications from Hermon Laboratories, an internationally 
approved testing and certification lab. SaverOne’s solution is certified for operating in Israel, the United States, Europe, Japan and Mexico. 
These certifications assure that SaverOne product complies with the regulations/legislations in these countries/regions. 

Market Opportunity

DDPS System

Motor vehicles are omnipresent throughout the world. As of 2015, there were over 263 million motor vehicles in the United States 
according to the U.S. Federal Highway Administration. In Europe, there are over 340 million motor vehicles in use according to the 
European Automobile Manufacturers’ Association, or ACEA. In New Zealand and Australia, there are a combined near 25 million vehicles 
on the road according to statistics from their governments’ departments of transportation. To add to this large number, according to the 
ACEA, there are over 80 million new motor vehicles registered each year. The prevalence of motor vehicles globally presents the risk of 
countless drivers who drive while being distracted.

Traffic accidents and their resulting injuries remain a major unresolved problem worldwide, where driving distractions are a major 
contributing factor. As a result, many states in the United States have enacted laws to help prevent distracted driving. These include 
banning texting while driving, implementing hands-free laws (laws prohibiting the use of cellphone while driving), and limiting the number 
of young passengers who can ride with teen drivers, due to the fact that teen drivers with two or more young passengers in the car can more 
than triple the risk of a fatal crash. As to date, all but two states (Montana and Missouri) have banned texting while driving, according to 
the Insurance Institute for Highway Safety. In addition to state laws, Federal laws have also been implemented in the United States 
prohibiting texting while driving for federal employees.

The NHTSA has issued voluntary guidelines to promote safety by discouraging the introduction of both original, in-vehicle and 
portable/aftermarket electronic devices in vehicles. Similarly, in 2019, the European Union (EU) published an amendment to the EU’s 
“General Safety” Regulations, according to which it is expected that as of mid-2022, the European Union will require every new vehicle, 
truck or bus on the road to meet the European Standards that require the installation of internal sensors in the vehicle that will warn or 
prevent the driver from certain distractions (a phone call, for example). By 2024, only vehicles meeting the mandatory automotive safety 
technology requirement will be allowed to register for the first time. We believe that these types of initiatives by the NHTSA and other 
agencies will advance further awareness for the need of products like the SaverOne system.

According to a study by the Governors Highway Safety Association in the United States, driver distractions resulting from the use 
of smartphones contribute to about a quarter of all car accidents. The findings of the study indicate that more than 1,600,000 car accidents 
that occur annually in the United States are caused by sending text messages while driving or other dangerous use of cell phones. Such 
accidents take a heavy toll, resulting in the death of about 4,600 people and injuring an additional 391,000 people each year. The 
phenomenon known as texting while driving is the number one cause of death for young people in car accidents caused by mobile phone 
use.
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The National Safety Council reported that cell phone use while driving leads to 1.6 million crashes each year in the United States. 
The NHTSA reported that there were over 6.75 million police-reported motor vehicle traffic crashes in the United States in 2019, meaning 
that cell phone usage while driving can account for around 24% of all motor vehicle crashes in the united states. In addition, the study 
found that the risk of accidents by frequently distracted drivers, is six times higher than that of a driver who is not distracted at all.

In a report published in February 2023 by the NHTSA titled “The Economic and Societal Impact of Motor Vehicle Crashes, 2019 
(Revised)”, the total societal and economic costs of distracted driving crashes in the United States was estimated at $1.37 trillion in 2019.

VRU System

Improving the safety of pedestrians, bicyclists, and other VRUs is of critical importance to achieving the objectives of DOT’s 
National Roadway Safety Strategy (NRSS), and DOT’s vision of zero fatalities and serious injuries across our transportation system. 
According to data from the NHTSA, in 2020 there were 10,626 traffic fatalities in the United States at roadway intersections, including 
1,674 pedestrian and 355 bicyclist fatalities. These fatalities at intersections represent 27% of the total of 38,824 road traffic deaths 
recorded in 2020. 

According to global market research firm Lucintel, emerging trends, which have a direct impact on the dynamics of the industry, 
include increasing usage of sensors in ADAS application, development of advanced magnetic position sensors in electric power steering 
application, advancement of silicon-based sensors and development of wireless sensing for automotive applications.

The automotive sensors market was valued at USD 27.51 billion in 2021 and is expected to register a value of USD 59.12 billion 
in 2027 and is expected to record a CAGR of 13.60% during 2022-2027.

Automotive sensors are an integral part of a vehicle, which are designed to detect, transmit, analyze, record, and display vehicle 
performance information of the internal and external environment of the vehicle. With the increasing popularity of vehicle automation and 
the growing demand for connected cars across the world, the demand for automotive sensors is expected to grow significantly during 2022-
2027. The increasing demand for safety and security in automobiles is the main factor driving the market’s growth, according to Mordor 
Intelligence.

Strategy

Our objective is to develop and commercialize technologies and applications designed to save lives by preventing car accidents, by 
detecting, analyzing and locating cellular phone RF Signals. We are targeting two business segments in development of the technology 
necessary to create a life-saving system that prevents certain uses of cell phones while driving a motor vehicle. The first is the DDPS which 
targets two product lines: an aftermarket product that is in a commercial phase, and an OEM product which is in development. The second 
business segment is the ADAS segment for which we offer a sensor that is dealing with the detection of VRUs by providing a warning to 
the vehicle regarding potential collision. We plan to market our products worldwide, targeting vehicle manufacturers and Tier-1 companies 
(that integrate solutions and products into the vehicle manufacturing process) with our OEM integrated solutions, and the commercial fleets 
(trucks and other vehicles) and public transportation companies with our aftermarket solutions.
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In order to expand the commercialization of our technologies and solutions, we intend to:

● Increase the marketing and sales efforts of our SaverOne Generation 2.0 solution, which is aftermarket solution that is 
deployed for private vehicles, commercial trucks and buses.

● Complete the development of our OEM solution. The aim of our OEM solution is that it will be directly integrated into the 
vehicle manufacturing process for seamless integration in the driving experience.

● Advance our commercialization efforts and infrastructure. We are advancing our commercialization efforts and infrastructure, 
including increasing our sales presence globally. As we have completed the development of our Generation 2.0 and advance 
our OEM solution, we intend to enlarge the production process, and to turn to potential customers, directly and/or through 
third-party distributors.

● Complete the development of our ADAS VRU solution. The aim of our VRU solution is that it will be directly integrated into 
the vehicle manufacturing process for seamless integration in the driving experience, assisting with preventing collisions 
between vehicles and pedestrians or other road users.

● Form alliances with industry leaders (e.g. vehicle integrators, components manufacturers) and OEMs. We plan to expand our 
collaboration with OEMs and Tier-1 companies in order to integrate the SaverOne solution directly into the vehicle 
manufacturing process for seamless integration in the driving experience.

● Monitor and assist governmental regulatory initiatives for enforcing implementation of driver distraction prevention systems 
in the vehicle. We intend to approach regulators around the globe such as the United Nations Economic Commission for 
Europe (UN-ECE) and the NHTSA in the US, in order to present the SaverOne solution, which we believe will help advance 
broad adoption of regulations that will require vehicles to implement our solution.

We are currently engaged in a campaign to promote our SaverOne system in selected jurisdictions around the world. Our previous 
efforts mainly entail pilot programs and collaborations with what we believe are potential strategic partners and customers. As of March 19, 
2025, we have conducted, or are in the process of conducting, more than 110 pilot programs for the evaluations of our solution. These 
pilots and collaborations allow the customers to test and evaluate the performance of our technology. After testing and evaluating our 
solution, 35 of our pilot program participants have placed, or are in process of placing, commercial orders for their vehicle fleet, while most 
of the remaining participants are still in the process of piloting our solution.

As of March 19, 2025, we have installed about 1,100 systems in large fleets in Israel as part of pilot programs and more than 3,000 
SaverOne systems pursuant to commercial orders. In addition, we have commercial orders for about 1,440 systems, in addition to these 
installations.

We intend to build a global commercial infrastructure to support the commercialization of our products. During the fourth quarter 
of 2022, we released our Generation 2.0 solution for sale. We are targeting the global aftermarket automobile market starting with the U.S. 
and Europe. We intend to distribute our solution through local distributors in each country or region who are familiar in the logistics, 
automotive installation and support activities, as well as having links to our potential customers.

In March 2023, we joined the European Union’s (EU) Regulatory Committee on Driver Distraction, as an observing member. This 
committee is responsible for setting EU regulations for OEMs for in-vehicle technologies that help detect driver distractions and improve 
road safety. As an observing member, we have the opportunity to contribute our strong expertise and insights to help shape the future of in-
vehicle technology, to reduce driver distractions and better protect vulnerable road users and will participate in discussions, provide 
feedback, and help craft regulations that promote safer driving habits and promote technologies to reduce accidents on the road. The EU 
Regulatory Committee on Driver Distraction aims to promote regulations that oblige OEMs that launch new vehicle models in the EU 
starting from July 2024 to integrate solutions into the vehicle systems that will tackle driver distraction. From July 2026, the integration of 
driver distraction systems will become a requirement for all new vehicles sold in the EU.

For more information, please see “Pilot Programs” below.
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Our Product

DDPS System

In developing the SaverOne DDPS system, we sought out to accomplish the criteria set forth by the NHTSA in its August 2019 
report. Accordingly, the SaverOne system:

1. Disables the use of distracting and potentially life-threatening applications for the driver;

2. Does not require the driver’s cooperation; and

3. Distinguishes between a device in the driver’s area and devices in other areas of the vehicle, so that only a device in the 
driver’s area is affected.

Our solution utilizes sensors that we place in the vehicle in a concealed manner to detect the location of any mobile device in the 
vehicle. Our Phone Location Unit (a unit that is concealed under the vehicle’s dashboard) runs statistical algorithms that can evaluate the 
location of a mobile devices in the vehicle, based on various algorithms (e.g. relative strength of the signals received from the mobile 
device).

Any driver that enters a vehicle equipped with SaverOne system will not be able to operate dangerous applications on his mobile 
phone while driving, while permitted applications are not blocked. If a mobile phone is identified in the driver’s area without the SaverOne 
application on it, an alarm is triggered while driving. The alarm function works by identifying mobile phones in the driver area of a car 
without the SaverOne mobile application properly installed, and then activating a loud irritating alarm. The alarm only ceases if the device 
is removed from the driver’s area or upon re-installing the SaverOne application on the mobile device, thus returning to “safe mode”.

When installing the SaverOne mobile application, the system defaults to blocking every application on your phone, or the non-
permitted applications, except for a “white list” of applications on the phone that the SaverOne system will not block. The default “white 
list” consists of phone calls, navigation apps, and music apps. The fleet manager in each organization (or the insurer in the case of private 
users) can modify the “white list” for his organization according to the organization safety policy. The remaining, non-permitted apps will 
be blocked.

If a mobile device is found in the driver’s area with the SaverOne mobile application installed, then as long as the vehicle is in 
motion, a “safe mode” is activated for this device and prevents the driver from opening non-permitted applications on his/her mobile phone. 
Other passengers in the vehicle will not be affected by the SaverOne System and can use their mobile phones freely.

Moreover, the driver will not receive incoming messages. Also, as a courtesy to the sender of the message, our system automates 
an automatic text response to the sender, notifying them that the driver is currently driving and cannot read or respond to their message.

If the driver tries to remove the SaverOne application from his/her mobile device, the SaverOne system promptly identifies the 
device as a device in the driver’s area and would activate the system’s alarm. The alarm only ceases if the device is removed from the 
driver’s area or upon re-installing the SaverOne application in the mobile device.

Our SaverOne solution does not perform any kind of signal jamming that interferes with authorized radio communications, and 
therefore is compliant with the Federal Communications Commission’s anti-jamming law. Furthermore, since the solution only blocks non-
permitted applications on the driver’s phone while actually driving, in an emergency situation, the car be stopped and the driver will be 
fully free to use his mobile device to call for help if needed.

At the heart of our technology are our proprietary algorithms which begins to identify and evaluate the location of all mobile 
devices in the vehicle and precisely determine whether a mobile device is inside of the driver’s area. The algorithms’ analyze various 
parameters and indicate if a mobile device is in the driver’s area. In such a case, the driver’s mobile device is automatically switched to 
“safe-mode”, leading to a safer driver experience for the driver and passengers. This operation starts upon the initial movement of the 
vehicle.
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Our SaverOne technology employs passive sensors that receive the signals from the cellphones and do not emit any energy. As a 
result, our system does not cause any interference with other systems in the vehicle and complies with the regulatory safety and emission 
standards.

Our SaverOne system is also customizable, allowing for fleet managers to implement predefined policies for which mobile 
application will or will not be restricted for use by the vehicle’s driver. In addition, the fleet manager can receive reports from the server 
and different analysis about drivers’ behavior and the systems installed in the fleets. 

For private vehicles, the permitted applications could be controlled by a third party, such as a parent, guardian or an insurance 
company that could offer incentives for compliance with the product. 

VRU System

We are also developing a solution for detection of VRUs (Vulnerable Road Users) based on our second-generation technology. 
SaverOne’s VRU technology significantly enhances the performance of current ADAS sensors (i.e. camera, lidar and radar) through its 
superior abilities to deal with NLoS hazards, adverse weather conditions and low visibility. SaverOne’s solution is designed to detect VRUs 
ahead of the vehicle, providing the driver enough time to avoid and prevent collisions. It does this by detecting the exact location and 
direction of movement of the VRU via their RF footprint from their cellphone signals, under all visibility conditions. Since the 
development of our VRU solution targets the vehicle manufacturers (a.k.a. the OEM market) and is still at an early stage, it is too early to 
estimate the cost of development.

During 2024, we retained the services of a top-tier global consultancy firm to analyze the market for the VRU (Vulnerable Road 
Users) detection solution and assess the potential of this solution, its value proposition and market potential within the automotive industry. 
The results of the analysis projected a growing market for the global automotive RF-sensor market for VRU detection, potentially reaching 
$1.5 billion annually by 2035. The results also indicated the relative advantage of SaverOne’s solution (detecting VRUs through RF-
ADAS-Sensor) over other ADAS safety solutions, as our solution can detect VRUs in non-line of sight such as pedestrians and cyclists, a 
problem that no existing sensor (e.g. camera, radar or LIDAR), can currently solve. Based on these results we have determined that we will 
establish a new subsidiary company dedicated to advancing the development, commercialization and broad adoption of our VRU detection 
solution which leverages the RF ADAS (Advanced Driver Assistance System) sensor technology. We have started working with OEMs and 
Tier-1 suppliers to promote our ADAS solution, which as of the date of this prospectus is in the development stage.

Competition

Our business is characterized by rapid changes as well as new and disruptive technologies. We believe that the market for 
solutions designed to address mobile phone-related distractions while driving is a relatively new market with increasing competition for 
similar solutions. However, we believe that our SaverOne system is superior to the products of our competitors due to the fact that our 
system can differentiate between the driver’s phone and other passenger’s phones in the vehicle. Moreover, our system does not require the 
driver to cooperate other than on initial installation of the application on their phone.

We believe that the following companies are offering competing products to the DDPS SaverOne solution:

● TRUCE Software (formerly Cellcontrol, Inc.) offers a driver distraction prevention system primarily designed for 
workplace safety. The solution requires manual activation by the driver and can be removed at any time. Additionally, it 
applies broadly to the driver’s side of the vehicle and does not differentiate between the actual driver and passengers seated 
behind them

● Katasi, Inc. offers Groove, a system that blocks messages sent to the driver’s mobile device but only activates while the 
vehicle is in motion. It does not prevent usage at stops (e.g., red lights) and can be deactivated by the driver. Furthermore, the 
system does not differentiate between the driver’s mobile phone and other mobile devices in the vehicle, potentially affecting 
all occupants.  

● Cipia has developed Driver Sense, a driver monitoring system that detects distraction and drowsiness. While it provides real-
time alerts, it does not actively prevent mobile device usage
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● Lytx provides video-based telematics solutions that analyze driver behavior, including distraction and risky driving habits. 
However, it does not prevent driver actions, nor does it differentiate between the use of permitted and non-permitted mobile 
applications.

In addition, Android Auto by Google and CarPlay by Apple both mirror some of the cellphone’s applications onto the vehicle’s 
main display but do not prevent or alert on the use of the cellphone.

We believe that the following companies are offering competing products to the proposed VRU SaverOne solution:

● Innoviz provides a solid-state lidar sensor that detects VRUs and provides alerts to the vehicle. The performance of this 
solution is affected by adverse weather conditions and situations where there is NLoS between the vehicle and the VRU. In 
addition, its ability to detect distracted pedestrians ahead of the vehicle (vs. a non-distracted pedestrian that is focused on the 
road) is poor.

● Arbe provides a radar sensor that detects VRUs and provides alerts to the vehicle. The performance of this solution is affected 
by adverse weather conditions and situations where there is NLoS between the vehicle and the VRU. In addition, its ability to 
detect distracted pedestrians ahead of the vehicle (vs. a non-distracted pedestrian that is focused on the road) is poor.

● Brightwayvision provides a camera that detects VRUs and provides alerts to the vehicle. The performance of this solution is 
affected by adverse weather conditions and situations where there is NLoS between the vehicle and the VRU. In addition, its 
ability to detect distracted pedestrians ahead of the vehicle (vs. a non-distracted pedestrian that is focused on the road) is poor. 
In addition, poor lightning conditions (e.g., during nighttime) also affect its performance and ability to accurately detect the 
VRUs.

Many of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories and more extensive name recognition than we have 
and may also have greater financial, marketing, manufacturing, distribution and other resources than we have. Current and future 
competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer demands and to devote greater 
resources to the development, promotion and sale of their products than we can. Our current and potential competitors may develop and 
market new technologies that render our existing or future products obsolete, unmarketable or less competitive (whether from a price 
perspective or otherwise). We cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain a competitive position or to compete successfully against 
current and future sources of competition.

Sales and Marketing

We are currently engaged in a campaign to promote our SaverOne system in selected jurisdictions around the world. Our pre-
commercialization efforts mainly entail pilot programs and collaborations with what we believe are potential strategic partners and 
customers. As of March 19, 2025, we have conducted, or are in the process of conducting, more than 110 pilot programs for the evaluations 
of our solution. These pilots and collaborations allow the customers to test and evaluate the performance of our technology. After testing 
and evaluating our solution, 35 of our pilot program participants have placed, or are in process of placing, commercial orders for their 
vehicle fleet, while most of the remaining participants are still in the process of piloting our solution.

As of March 19, 2025, we have installed about 1,100 systems in large fleets in Israel as part of pilot programs and about 3,000 
SaverOne systems pursuant to commercial orders. In addition, we have commercial orders for about 1,440 systems, in addition to these 
installations.

We intend to build a global commercial infrastructure to support the commercialization of our products. During the fourth quarter 
of 2022, we released our Generation 2.0 solution for sale. We are targeting the global aftermarket automobile market starting with the U.S. 
and Europe. We intend to distribute our solution through local distributors in each country or region who are familiar in the logistics, 
automotive installation and support activities, as well as having links to our potential customers.
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For more information, please see “Pilot Programs” below.

Our current business model is:

● For our DDPS system:

1. For the aftermarket product line: a one-time fee for the hardware device and installation plus a monthly subscription fee 
for the safety service, Value-added services (such as an in-depth analysis of driver safety based on driver activity) will 
have additional subscription fee.

2. For the OEM product line: a one-time fee for the hardware device plus a monthly subscription fee for the safety service, 
Value-added services (such as an in-depth analysis of driver safety based on driver activity) will have additional 
subscription fee.

● For our VRU solution (in the ADAS segment): a monthly subscription fee and a monthly subscription for value-added-
services;

In addition, we are exploring a revenue sharing collaboration with one of our partners, Eye-Net Mobile Ltd., or Eye-Net. As part 
of our collaboration with Eye-Net, we plan to present the Eye-Net Protect Solution (as more fully described below) to certain companies 
with which we have business relations, in exchange for a 10% share in the revenues from these transactions.

We have achieved a number of significant milestones to date, which include:

Pilot Programs

We have installed about 1,110 systems in large fleets in Israel as part of our pilot programs. The pilot customers are offered a 
reduced price on their SaverOne system installations (usually 25% - 40% of our listed price) and enjoy full operational support from our 
technical team at no additional cost.

Commercial Agreements

To date, we have installed about 3,000 SaverOne systems pursuant to commercial orders. In addition, we have commercial orders 
for about 1,440 systems, in addition to these installations. The commercial orders are priced based on negotiations with individual 
customers, and then a small discount is added (this discount differs from the 25-40% discount we offer for our pilot program installations). 
We have entered into agreements and received commercial orders from the following customers:

Collaboration Agreements and Recent International Expansion 

As our business grows, we are currently targeting to expand our customer base, operations and presence in Europe, North America 
and Israel.

Our strategy in Europe is to first increase our presence in Italy and Spain as we plan to expand throughout the rest of Europe. To 
further support and grow our sales efforts in the region, in October 2023, we announced that we signed a distribution agreement with GVZ 
Company, or GVZ, based in Milan, Italy, a specialist in the distribution of automotive components. GVZ will market, sell, install and 
provide local support for SaverOne’s DDPS products in the region. In addition, to further support and expand our sales efforts in the region, 
we appointed Mr. Tal Yihie as our Italian Country Partner. Based in Milan, Mr. Yihie is a seasoned business development executive with 
over 14 years of extensive sales, marketing, and distribution expertise in Italy, in addition to having an extensive global business network. 
Having been a key figure in several international companies, Mr. Yihie brings proven acumen in shaping market development and EU go-
to-market strategies to us. A number of our strategic agreements in Europe include:

● During 2021, the Italian truck manufacturer Iveco S.p.A, or IVECO, one of the largest truck manufacturers in Europe, 
requested the company to examine the integration of our SaverOne solution into its trucks. Accordingly, we started 
collaborating with IVECO towards integrating our technology as an integral part of the safety system in IVECO vehicles 
worldwide. During the fourth quarter of 2021, we successfully completed a demonstration of our solution at IVECO’s 
headquarters in Italy and during the fourth quarter of 2022, we entered into a memorandum of understanding with IVECO for 
integrating its solution within IVECO trucks. We expect to start the integration of SaverOne technology in IVECO’s trucks 
during 2025. In addition, we have agreed with IVECO to examine the implementation of the SaverOne system on IVECO’s 
buses in the future. In June 2023, we announced that we and IVECO entered into a side letter related to the memorandum of 
understand to document the agreed upcoming plans, which includes providing IVECO with an exclusivity period of up to six 
months during which we agreed not to sell, develop or manufacture our OEM solution for our innovative in-cabin DPPS with 
any other truck manufacturer.
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● In September 2023, we announced that we launched our first European pilot with Cemex Group in Spain, which covers ten of 
Cemex’s trucks in two regions. This pilot follows the installation of the SaverOne solution across Cemex Israel’s full fleet of 
employee vehicles and operational trucks that we announced in July 2023.

● In November 2023, we announced our first strategic pilot in Italy with Tecne Autostrade, the engineering company of Gruppo 
Autostrade per l’Italia, which is one of Europe’s leading concessionaries for the construction and management of toll 
motorways, responsible for 3,000 km of road network in Italy. The pilot will involve the integration of our DPPS into an 
initial 10 vehicles within Tecne Autostrade’s fleet.

● Also in November 2023, we announced a second pilot in Italy with Milan-based System Logistics, a designer, manufacturer 
and provider of automated warehousing, with customers in Europe, America and Asia and a fleet of over 100 vehicles. The 
pilot will take place on a number of vehicles from the customer’s fleet.

● In In March 2024, we announced entering into an OEM agreement with IVECO, a leading European vehicle manufacturer, 
the brand of Iveco Group N.V. (EXM: IVG) that designs, manufactures and markets light, medium and heavy commercial 
vehicles. The agreement seals the collaboration to develop a solution to prevent driver distraction from cellphone use and 
covers the integration of SaverOne’s safety technology within IVECO’s vehicles through their manufacturing line. Under this 
Agreement, SaverOne’s solution will be provided to IVECO’s customers under a software-as-a-service model and will be 
included in IVECO’s services portfolio and will be delivered to customers under IVECO’s commercial responsibility. 
Technical development and integration will be delivered by SaverOne.

● In May 2024, we announced that following the agreement we entered in March with IVECO to integrate SaverOne’s in-cabin 
safety technology within IVECO’s vehicles, we received a purchase order for a vulnerable road user (VRU) proof-of-concept 
(POC) from IVECO, will present SaverOne’s radio frequency (RF)-based solution that could be integrated in the vehicle 
Advanced Driver-Assistance System (ADAS) logics to enhance vehicle safety.

● In September 2024, we announced that Froneri, a UK-headquartered and leading manufacturer of ice cream with global sales. 
The company is jointly owned by Nestle Worldwide and R&R Ice Cream, extended its agreement with SaverOne and will 
update and equip SaverOne systems across its entire fleet of employee vehicles and distribution trucks in Israel. Froneri was 
among the first companies to install the SaverOne System within its fleet to counteract driver distraction, back in 2021. 

● In October 2024, we announced the signing of a new distribution agreement in Spain and Portugal with Sistemas ADAS, a 
leading distributor in transportation safety solutions, advanced driver assistance systems (ADAS) and telematics. This new 
distribution agreement marks a further step in SaverOne’s global expansion strategy, following its recent market entry into 
Italy and Mexico, and distribution agreement covering several US states.

● In December 2024, we announced the launch of a new pilot project with a globally renowned Italian luxury and sports car 
manufacturer. The pilot project involves the installation of SaverOne’s distracted driving prevention system in an initial group 
of employee vehicles, potentially a first step in the installation of SaverOne’s systems across the manufacturer’s broader 
employee fleet of approximately 200 vehicles. This new pilot marked a milestone for SaverOne, highlighting SaverOne’s 
further growing momentum in the Italian market. Following strong recent traction in the Italian market, it demonstrates a 
further successful step in SaverOne’s European expansion strategy and its commitment to enhancing road safety and driving 
adoption of its cutting-edge technology.

● In December 2024, we announced an expansion of our deployment within another division of a global food manufacturer’s 
subsidiary in Israel. This follows the successful implementation of SaverOne Systems in various trucks and vehicles earlier in 
2024. This new deployment will be in the fleet of cars used by the employees of the division.
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● In January 2025, we announced a new distribution agreement with uniSmart Vertriebs GmbH (“uniSmart”), a prominent 
German-based distributor specializing in fleet safety and technology integration. uniSmart, headquartered in Wendendelstein, 
provides solutions for logistics and transportation companies across Germany and abroad. The company resells, installs, and 
provides support for advanced fleet management and safety systems, including Webfleet technology, for a variety of fleet 
sizes and industries. uniSmart’s client base includes major national German transport operators and many medium-sized 
fleets.

We have also recently started to gain further traction in the North American market. While we recently signed an agreement with a 
strategic OEM in the North America, we are also actively seeking opportunities for various pilot projects in North America as part of our 
“land and expand” strategy with our goal of expanding sales to cover entire fleets following the successful pilot completion. Below are a 
few of our recent highlights in our North American expansion efforts:

● In February 2024, we announced that we had launched a new pilot project in the United States with Motor Supply, Inc., a 
trucking company based in Columbia, South Carolina that is focusing on leveraging the latest technology to efficiently 
transport goods across the United States. The initial pilot will take place on Motor Supply’s fleet of sixteen trucks and is 
expected to run over a period of 12 months.

● In March 2024, we announced that we entered into an OEM agreement with Volvo Bus Corporation, a subsidiary of the 
global automotive company, Volvo Group, to install our DDPS in new Volvo buses that are manufactured for the Mexican 
market. Our DDPS will be integrated into Volvo’s assembly line. In addition, the OEM agreement also allows for a retrofit of 
existing buses covered under Volvo’s maintenance agreement, which will install our DDPS as an aftermarket installation. The 
OEM agreement further provides Volvo with two years of exclusivity in the OEM market in Mexico and that Volvo bus 
customers will receive twelve months of service and support from us. Following such period, Volvo bus customers will be 
able to receive our comprehensive service package for an on-going monthly fee that we plan to offer as a software-as-a-
service (SaaS) model.

●  In September 2024, we announced the launch of four new pilot projects with customers of Volvo Buses Mexico, a subsidiary 
of the major Swedish vehicle maker Volvo Group, is one of the world’s largest bus manufacturers, This follows the OEM 
agreement signed with Volvo Group in March 2024, which allows for the SaverOne Safety Solution to be pre-installed 
following integration into Volvo’s assembly line as well as an aftermarket retrofit installation. The pilots cover a total of 20 
buses which will be retrofitted with SaverOne’s innovative technology, which is designed to actively prevent bus drivers from 
being distracted by their mobile phones. The pilots will be conducted in two regions: Mexico City, focusing on intercity 
buses, and Monterrey, focusing on city buses.

On December 30, 2024, we announced the award by the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) of a new 
patent. The patent, bearing the number 12,174,309 and issued on December 24, 2024, is entitled System and Methods for 
classifying a type of interaction between a human user and a mobile communication device in a volume based on sensor 
fusion.

On February 4, 2025, we announced the award of a new contract with Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd. (Teva), to install 
the SaverOne System across its entire fleet of 50 pharmaceutical delivery trucks. This follows the successful initial 
deployment of 14 trucks. Headquartered in Israel, Teva is a multinational pharmaceutical company and one of the world’s 
largest generic drug manufacturers. Teva operates a global fleet supporting its supply chain across more than 60 countries.
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While we are currently focusing our international expansion efforts in Europe and North America, we continue our expansion 
activities across the public and private vehicle sectors in Israel. In Israel, we have thus far seen the greatest success in our “land and 
expand” strategy with a number of sales following the successful completion of various pilot projects. In addition to a number of pilot 
programs that we are operating with public and private transportation companies in Israel, as well as a number of regional councils in Israel 
for their school bus fleets, below are a few recent strategic agreements that we have entered into as part of our Israeli strategy:

● In February 2022, we signed a collaboration agreement with the Ramot Insurance Group, or Ramot. As part of the 
collaboration, Ramot will create a unique insurance package for its customers who will install SaverOne systems in Ramot’s 
commercial vehicles. The collaboration has allocated 2,100 SaverOne systems to Ramot and its customers. The collaboration 
will be spread over 3 years.

● In January 2023, we entered into a collaboration with Colmobil, one of the largest car and truck importers in Israel and 
official importer for Mercedes-Benz, Mitsubshi & Hyundai vehicles into Israel, for the sale and installation of the SaverOne 
System into vehicles that it leases to its customers.

● In July 2023, we announced that following a successful trial on a portion of its fleet in 2022, Cemex Israel, the Israeli 
subsidiary of the global Cemex Group, decided to install SaverOne’s technology across its entire employee car fleet and 
trucks.

● In January 2024, we announced that, following a successful trial period, our DDPS will be installed across Strauss’ Group’s 
entire fleet in Israel. Strauss Group is one of the largest food manufacturers in Israel with a fleet of over 80 food delivery 
trucks. 

● In February 2024, we announced that we entered into a new contract with Egged Tours, an Israeli public and tour bus 
company that operates the largest tour bus fleet in Israel, to install our DPPS on a portion of Egged Tours fleet of buses. 

● In March 2024, we announced, in furtherance of our existing collaboration, that we signed a further agreement with GB Tours 
to install our DDPS on the full fleet of GB Tours’ fleet of public transportation and tour buses. GB Tours is a leading Israel-
based public transportation company that operates public transportation lines as well as tour buses with a fleet of about one 
hundred buses. This order followed the conclusion of a successful pilot of our DDPS on twenty of GB Tours’ buses. 

In August 2024, we announced that we will install its SaverOne system to prevent cell phone distractions by bus drivers in all 
the buses of Egged Tour’s central hub, following a successful pilot project. Egged Tours is a subsidiary of Egged 
Transportation, Israel’s largest public bus fleet with over 3,000 buses nationwide, representing significant broader sales 
potential for SaverOne.

Manufacturing 

We are performing our production in Nistec, one of the largest electronic manufacturing services contractor in Israel. Nistec 
currently manufactures the SaverOne system under purchase orders from time to time according to an agreed upon pricing arrangement and 
other terms for our Generation 2.0. SaverOne solution. As we plan to increase the volume of purchase orders to support business growth 
beyond the pilot phase program of SaverOne Generation Generation 2.0, we plan to enter into additional agreements to support our planned 
commercialization activities.

Intellectual Property

We seek patent and trademark protection as well as other effective intellectual property, or IP, rights such as design patents and 
copyright for our products and technologies in the United States and internationally. Our policy is to pursue, maintain and defend 
intellectual property rights developed internally and to protect the technology, inventions and improvements that are commercially 
important to the development of our business. Our IP portfolio cover various technological aspects of the solution to protect the solution 
technical and functional innovations. 

We have a growing portfolio consisting of five distinct patent families spanning between them 11 patent applications pending in: 
the United States, the European Patent Office, Israel, and China. In Addition, we have twelve patents already registered in the United 
States, Europe, Israel, and in China.

In Israel, three of our patent applications have been allowed and subsequently opposed by a third-party. These are: Israeli patent 
application No. 249154 titled “SYSTEM AND METHODS TO FACILITATE SAFE DRIVING”; and Israeli patent application No. 
276389 titled “SYSTEM AND METHODS TO FACILITATE SAFE DRIVING” which is a divisional patent application of the above 
application, and Israeli patent application No. 280305 titled “SYSTEM AND METHODS TO FACILITATE SAFE DRIVING” which is a 
divisional patent application of the above application. Further to the evidence submitted by the opponent, we are now requested to submit 
evidence by March 20, 2025, and the proceedings still are ongoing. It is difficult to assess at this time the likelihood of success in the 
opposition. Opposition proceedings in Israel tend to be lengthy and very procedural.
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We cannot be certain that patents will be granted with respect to any of our pending patent applications or with respect to any 
patent applications filed by us in the future, nor can we be sure that any of our existing patents or any patents granted to us in the future will 
be commercially useful in protecting our technology. Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property, any of our intellectual property 
and proprietary rights could be challenged, invalidated, circumvented, infringed or misappropriated, or such intellectual property and 
proprietary rights may not be sufficient to permit us to take advantage of current market trends or otherwise to provide competitive 
advantages. For more information, please see “Item 3.D. Risk Factors—Risks Related to our Intellectual Property.

Asset no. Country
Application

date Application No. Title (with embodiment where applicable) Registration No.
File 

status
Expiration

date
1 USA 22-06-2015 15/314,295 System and methods to facilitate safe 

driving (Estimated location is by machine 
learning)

10075581 Registered 22-06-2035

2 USA 02-08-2018 16/053,318 System and methods to facilitate safe 
driving (Multiple sensors; channel 
fingerprinting)

10412212 Registered 22-06-2035

3 USA 25-07-2019 16/522,178 System and methods to facilitate safe 
driving (Idle mode - parking)

10686929 Registered 22-06-2035

4 USA 05-05-2020 16/867,276 System and methods to facilitate safe 
driving (Idle mode - general)

11889015 Registered 22-06-2035

5 Israel 22-06-2015 249154 System and methods to facilitate safe 
driving (Estimated location is by machine 
learning)

N/A Opposed N/A

6 Israel 22-06-2015 276389 System and methods to facilitate safe 
driving (Partial blocking of functionality)

N/A Opposed N/A

7 Israel 22-06-2015 280305 System and methods to facilitate safe 
driving (Idle mode - parking)

N/A Opposed N/A

8 Europe 22-06-2015 15811688.9 System and methods to facilitate safe 
driving (Machine learning + channel 
fingerprinting)

EP3158718B Registered 22-06-2035

9 China 22-06-2015 CN201580033519.2 System and methods to facilitate safe 
driving (Estimated location is by machine 
learning)

CN106464747B Registered 22-06-2035

10 USA 28-11-2016 16/064,109 System and Methods of Locating Wireless 
Devices in a Volume (antenna Scanning)

10,557,917 Registered 28-11-2036

11 USA 28-11-2016 16/740,696 System and Methods of Locating Wireless 
Devices in a Volume (reference PDFs bank)

11,644,526 Registered 21-09-2037

12 Europe 28-11-2016 16815965.5 System and Methods of Locating Wireless 
Devices in a Volume (antenna Scanning)

EP3374784 Registered 28-11-2036

13 China 28-11-2016 2016800753516.00 System and Methods of Locating Wireless 
Devices in a Volume (antenna Scanning)

CN108474832B Registered 28-11-2036

14 Israel 28-11-2016 259933 System and Methods of Locating Wireless 
Devices in a Volume (antenna Scanning)

259933 Registered 28-11-2036

15 USA 23-09-2021 18/188,783 A system, method and unit to scan 
communication channels

N/A Pending N/A

16 Europe 23-09-2021 21806407.9 A system, method and unit to scan 
communication channels

N/A Pending N/A

17 Israel 23-09-2021 301537 A system, method and unit to scan 
communication channels

N/A Pending N/A

18 USA 28-02-2022 17/681,957 Managing access to software applications 
on a mobile communication device via a 
phone location unit

12231899 Registered 04-04-2043

19 Europe 27-02-2023 23714606.3 Managing access to software applications 
on a mobile communication device via a 
phone location unit

N/A Pending N/A

20 USA 24-02-2022 17/679,208 System and method for advanced 
classification of cellphone based on sensor 
fusion

N/A Pending N/A

21 USA 24-02-2022 17/679,204 System and method for determining user-
cellphone interaction based on sensor fusion

US12174309B2 Registered 20-04-2042

22 USA 24-02-2022 17/679,210 System and method for calibration and 
maintenance of a cellphone localization 
system within enclosed volume

N/A Pending N/A

23 Europe 20-02-2023 23712362.5 Classifying an operational mode of mobile 
communication devices or an event related 
to the communication between them

N/A Pending N/A
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Research and Development

Our investment in research and development is critical to driving our future growth. We expended approximately NIS 19.4 
(approximately $5.3 million) on research and development in 2024, NIS 22.9 million (approximately $6.3 million) in 2023, and NIS 21.5 
million (approximately $6.1 million) in 2022. Our investment in research and development reflects the following: internal research and 
development programs, pilot programs, engineering efforts that incorporate customer feedback into continuous improvement efforts for our 
products.

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses, materials and subcontractors, regulation 
and quality assurance, rent and maintenance and other related research and development expenses, net of grants from the IIA.

Our research and development expenses are highly dependent on the development phases of our products associated with our 
development projects and therefore may fluctuate highly from quarter to quarter.

Grants from the Israel Innovation Authority and the Israeli Ministry of Economy (MOE)

Our research and development efforts are financed in part through royalty-bearing grants from the Israeli Innovations Authority, or 
the IIA. As of December 31, 2024, we have received the aggregate amount of NIS 1.7 million (approximately $0.5 million) from the IIA 
for the development of our technology. With respect to such grants, we are committed to pay certain royalties up to the total grant amount. 
Regardless of any royalty payment, we are further required to comply with the requirements of the Research Law, with respect to those past 
grants. When a company develops know-how, technology or products using IIA grants, the terms of these grants and the Research Law 
restrict the transfer of such know-how, and the transfer of manufacturing or manufacturing rights of such products, technologies or know-
how outside of Israel, without the prior approval of the IIA. We do not believe that these requirements will materially restrict us in any way.

We have also received a grant from the MOE with respect to certain consulting and marketing activities conducted outside of 
Israel. For information, see Note 11b to our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 20-F.
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Employees

As of date of this report, we employed or engaged approximately 50 employees and contractors, all of which work out of our 
corporate headquarters. 4 of our employees are members of our senior management team. Approximately 68% of our employees are 
engaged in research and development, 22% are engaged in operating activity and 10% are engaged in sales and marketing. We believe that 
we maintain good relations with all of our employees.

All of our employment and consulting agreements include employees’ and consultants’ undertakings with respect to non-
competition and assignment to us of intellectual property rights developed in the course of employment and confidentiality. The 
enforceability of such provisions is limited by Israeli law.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal proceedings relating to claims arising out of our operations.

In Israel, three of our patent applications have been allowed and subsequently opposed by a third-party. We have received the 
grounds of opposition by the opponent, and the proceedings are ongoing. It is difficult to assess at this time the likelihood of success in the 
opposition. Opposition proceedings in Israel tend to be lengthy and very procedural.

Apart from the foregoing patent opposition proceeding, we are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. Regardless 
of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and 
other factors. 

C. Organizational Structure

We currently have no subsidiaries.

D. Property, Plant and Equipment

Our main business activities are conducted in Israel. Our corporate headquarters are located at Em Hamoshavot Rd. 94. Petah 
Tikvah, Israel, where we currently occupy approximately 495 square meters. We lease our facilities and our lease ends on June 30, 2027. 
Our current monthly rent payment is NIS 49,000 (approximately $13,500).

We consider that our current office space is sufficient to meet our anticipated needs for the foreseeable future and is suitable for 
the conduct of our business.

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.
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ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our 
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 20-F. This discussion and other parts of this 
Annual Report on Form 20-F contain forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. 
This discussion and other parts of this Annual Report on Form 20-F contain forward-looking statements that involve risk and uncertainties, 
such as statements of our plans, objectives, expectations, and intentions. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in 
these forward looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed 
in the section titled “Item 3.D.—Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report in Form 20-F. Our discussion and analysis for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 can be found in our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the 
SEC on March 25, 2024.

Overview

We are a technology company engaged in the design, development and commercialization of transportation and safety solutions, 
designed to save lives by preventing car accidents based on our patented technology of detecting, analyzing and locating cellular phone RF 
Signals. Using this core technology, we are developing two product lines. The first is an In Cabin DDPS which comprises an aftermarket 
product for vehicles (i.e., vehicles already supplied to customers) that is in a commercial phase and an original equipment manufacturer, or 
OEM, product targeting vehicle manufacturers which is in development. The second is an ADAS product that detects VRUs and provides 
warning to the vehicle regarding potential collision.

Our DDPS, known also as the SaverOne system, provides an advanced driver safety solution that can identify and monitor mobile 
phones located in the driver’s vicinity and selectively block use of life-threatening applications. Our technology is based on our proprietary 
hardware, software and algorithms, and we believe it has significant advantages over our competitors’ because our solution meets the 
National Highway Traffic Safety Administration’s, or NHTSA, guidelines for a complete solution for distracted driving. Our DDPS 
solution can be utilized in commercial vehicles, buses, vehicles owned or leased by companies that are provided to employees, private 
vehicles and other forms of transportation.

The first-generation DDPS product was for the aftermarket vehicle market and was intended for private vehicles, trucks and buses. 
This Generation 1.0 was launched in late 2019, initially for private cars, and thereafter was made commercially available to trucks and 
buses. It is currently marketed in Israel as part of our pre-commercialization/early user campaign. We are working on pilot programs with 
various fleet and system integrators in the United States, Europe, Asia and APAC. As of March 19, 2025, about 5,400 systems have been 
ordered (which includes about 1,000 systems ordered as part of our ongoing Generation 1.0 and Generation 2.0 pilot program and about 
4,400 systems purchased in commercial orders by our Generation 1.0 and Generation 2.0 customers) and about 4,000 of these systems have 
been installed.

The second-generation DDPS product, which was released in the fourth quarter of 2022, replaced Generation 1.0 which we are 
phasing out in the first quarter of 2023. This Generation 2.0 is intended for the global automobile market. It includes significant 
improvements to our Generation 1.0 solution for maximal performance, compatibility with automobiles and cellular networks, market 
penetration and profitability. We are targeting the global aftermarket automobile market starting with the U.S. and Europe.

With respect to our DDPS OEM solution, we plan to integrate it into the vehicle manufacturing process, to be offered directly to 
customers by the vehicle manufacturer as part of the vehicle. We are currently working with one of the leading global OEMs in order to 
have the SaverOne technology integrated into vehicles during the manufacturing process. The OEM solution is in the early stage of 
development, and we expect to launch it in the second half of 2025. Since the development of our OEM solution is still in an early stage, it 
is too early to estimate the cost of development.

We are also developing a solution for detection of VRUs based on our second-generation technology. SaverOne’s VRU 
technology significantly enhances the performance of current ADAS sensors (i.e. camera, lidar and radar) through its superior abilities to 
deal with non-line of sight, or NLoS, hazards, adverse weather conditions and low-visibility. SaverOne’s solution is designed to detect 
VRUs ahead of the vehicle, providing the driver enough time to avoid and prevent collisions. It does this by detecting the exact location, 
direction of movement and speed of the VRU analysis of their cellphone signals, under all visibility conditions. Since the development of 
our VRU solution targets the vehicle manufacturers (a.k.a. the OEM market) and is still in an early stage, it is too early to estimate the cost 
of development.

During 2024, we retained the services of a top-tier global consultancy firm to analyze the market for the VRU (Vulnerable Road 
Users) detection solution and assess the potential of this solution, its value proposition and market potential within the automotive industry. 
The results of the analysis projected a growing market for the global automotive RF-sensor market for VRU detection, potentially reaching 
$1.5 billion annually by 2035. The results also indicated the relative advantage of SaverOne’s solution (detecting VRUs through RF-
ADAS-Sensor) over other ADAS safety solutions, as our solution can detect VRUs in non-line of sight such as pedestrians and cyclists, a 
problem that no existing sensor (e.g. camera, radar or LIDAR), can currently solve. Based on these results we have determined that we will 
establish a new subsidiary company dedicated to advancing the development, commercialization and broad adoption of our VRU detection 
solution which leverages the RF ADAS (Advanced Driver Assistance System) sensor technology. We have started working with OEMs and 
Tier-1 suppliers to promote our ADAS solution, which as of the date of this report is in the development stage.
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In the past several years, we believe that public awareness and demand for driver safety technologies has grown substantially. 
While there are currently many driver assistant products on the market, we believe that the safety of drivers will be substantially improved 
with our technology. Our mission is to enhance driver safety by providing a solution that is highly reliable and able to prevent certain driver 
distractions related to mobile phone usage while driving, which we believe is a major cause for driver distraction related automobile 
accidents. Mobile phone distracted driving is a leading cause of traffic accidents in the United States. According to a survey done by the 
NHTSA, 660,000 drivers in the United States attempt to use their mobile phones while driving at any given moment. The National Safety 
Council, or NSC reports that mobile phone use during driving causes approximately 1.6 million traffic accidents annually in the United 
States alone, leading to the death of approximately 4,600 people and injuring an additional 391,000 people. Moreover, the Federal Motor 
Carrier Safety Administration, or FMCSA, reported that 71% of commercially driven large-truck crashes occurred because of driver 
distraction.

We have experienced net losses in every period since the inception of SaverOne. We have incurred losses in each year since our 
inception, including net losses of approximately NIS 34.9 million (approximately $9.4 million) NIS 33.8 million (approximately $9.3 
million) and NIS 25 million (approximately $7.1 million) for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of NIS 170.5 million (approximately $46.1 million). We anticipate that we will 
continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future as our operating expenses and capital expenditures increase substantially due 
to our continued investment in our activities and as we hire additional employees over the coming years..

A. Operating Results

Components of Operating Results

Revenues and Cost of Revenues

Our total revenue consists of selling our SaverOne system and our cost of revenues consists of the direct cost of producing and 
installing the system. Currently, our business activity is primarily in Israel while we are expanding our presence abroad through the 
engagement of various international pilot programs. Since we are still in the initial phase in rolling out our Generation 2.0 SaverOne 
systems, we cannot forecast our revenue in future periods.

Research and Development Expenses, Net

We have invested almost all of our efforts and financial resources in the research and development of our SaverOne system which 
is still in development. Research and development related activities are currently our primary expenditure. Development timelines, the 
probability of success and development costs can differ materially from expectations. In addition, we cannot forecast whether and when we 
will enter into collaboration arrangements, if at all, and to what degree such arrangements would affect our development plans and capital 
requirements.

We expect our research and development expenses to increase over the next several years as our development programs progress 
and we expect that our research and development expenses will continue to be significant in absolute dollars in future periods as we 
continue to invest in research and development activities related to the development of our solutions.

Research and development expenses include the following:

● employee-related expenses, such as salaries and share-based compensation;

● expenses relating to outsourced and contracted services, such as consulting, research and advisory services;

● supply and development costs;

● costs associated with regulatory compliance.

We recognize research and development expenses as incurred deducted by government grants in respect of research and 
development projects received from the IIA which are not reasonably assured that the amount received will not be refunded.
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Selling and Marketing Expenses, Net

Selling and marketing expenses in 2024 consisted primarily of marketing our solutions and our sales department costs. As we 
penetrate new markets, we anticipate that our selling and marketing expenses in 2025 and thereafter may increase as we expand our sales 
department and invest in the marketing of our solutions.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, including share-based compensation related to directors 
and employees, facility costs, insurance costs and maintenance expenses, as well as external professional service costs, including legal, 
audit, business development and human resource services.

We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses may increase in the future as we increase our administrative headcount 
and infrastructure to support our continued research and development programs and the potential commercialization of our products as we 
continue to increase investments to support our growth and as a result of our becoming a public company.

Finance Income (Expenses), Net

Finance expenses, net, consisted primarily of interest and discount expenses in respect of promissory notes and revaluation 
expenses incurred from partial exercise of Commitment Amount under equity line with YA. Those expenses were partly offset by 
revaluation of derivative warrant liability, exchange differences and interest in respect of bank deposits.

Income Taxes

We have yet to generate taxable income in Israel. As of December 31, 2024, our operating tax loss carry forwards was 
approximately NIS 142.3 million (approximately $38.5 million). We anticipate that we will continue to generate tax losses for the 
foreseeable future and that we will be able to carry forward these tax losses indefinitely to future taxable years. Accordingly, we do not 
expect to pay taxes in Israel until we have taxable income after the full utilization of our carry forward tax losses.

Results of Operations

Our results of operations have varied in the past and can be expected to vary in the future due to numerous factors. We believe that 
period-to-period comparisons of our operating results should not be relied upon as indications of future performance.

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023
NIS thousands

Revenues 1,683 2,720
Cost of revenues (1,069) (1,968)
Gross Profit 614 752

Operating expenses:
Research and development expenses, net (19,397) (22,861)
Selling and marketing expenses, net (4,796) (3,787)
General and administrative expenses (9,673) (8,327)

Loss from operations (33,252) (34,223)
Finance income 1,099 1,607
Finance expense (2,785) (1,219)

Finance income (expense), net (1,686) 388
Net loss (34,938) (33,835)

For a comparison of the year ended December 31, 2024, to the year ended December 31, 2023, all U.S. dollar amounts below were 
calculated using the exchange rate reported by the Bank of Israel for December 31, 2024, at the rate of one U.S. dollar per NIS 3.647. 
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Revenues

Revenues decreased by NIS 1,037 thousand (~ $284 thousand), or 38%, to NIS 1,683 thousand (~ $461 thousand) for the year 
ended December 31, 2024, compared to NIS 2,720 thousand (~ $746 thousand) for the year ended December 31, 2023. This decrease was 
mainly due to the longer decision-making processes by current and prospective customers in the home market of Israel.

Cost of revenues

Cost of sales decreased by NIS 899 thousand (~ $247 thousand), or 46%, to NIS 1,069 thousand (~ $293 thousand) for the year 
ended December 31, 2024, compared to NIS 1,968 thousand (~ $540 thousand) for the year ended December 31, 2023. This decrease was 
mainly the result of a decrease in the number of installations made in 2024.

Research and development expenses, net

Research and development expenses, net decreased by NIS 3,464 thousand (~ $950 thousand), or 15%, to NIS 19,397 thousand (~ 
$5,319 thousand) for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to NIS 22,861 thousand (~ $6,268 thousand) for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. This decrease is primarily attributable to our efforts to streamline and optimize our research and development 
expenses.

Selling and marketing expenses, net

Selling and marketing expenses increased by NIS 1,009 thousand (~ $277 thousand), or 27%, to NIS 4,796 thousand (~ $1,315 
thousand) for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to NIS 3,787 thousand (~ $1,038 thousand) for the year ended December 31, 
2023. The increase is attributable mainly to higher marketing expenses in light of the efforts of achieving a footprint in the global markets. 

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by NIS 1,346 thousand (~ $369 thousand), or 16%, to NIS 9,673 thousand (~ 
$2,652 thousand) for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to NIS 8,327 thousand (~ $2,283 thousand) for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. The increase resulted primarily from expenses associated with capital raises conducted by the 
company during the year.

Financing income (expenses), net

Financing expenses, net, for the year ended December 31, 2024, were NIS 1,686 thousand (~ $462 thousand) and resulted mainly 
by interest and discount expenses in respect of promissory notes and revaluation expenses incurred from partial exercise of Commitment 
Amount under the equity line with YA. The expenses were partly offset by revaluation of derivative warrant liability, income from 
exchange rate differences and interest in respect with bank deposits. Financing income, net, for the year ended December 31, 2023, were 
NIS 388 thousand (~ $106 thousand) and resulted mainly from revaluation of derivative warrant liability, income from exchange rate 
differences and interest in respect with bank deposits. This income was partly offset by interest and discount expenses in respect of 
promissory notes and revaluation expenses incurred from partial exercise of Commitment Amount under the equity line with YA.

Net loss

Net loss increased by NIS 1,103 thousand (~ $302 thousand), or 3%, to NIS 34,938 thousand (~ $9,580 thousand) for the year 
ended December 31, 2024, compared to NIS 33,835 thousand (~ $9,277 thousand) for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase 
resulted primarily from expenses associated with capital raises conducted by the company during the year, as well as higher international 
marketing expenses. The increase was partly offset by our efforts to streamline and optimize our operational expenses.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements that have had or are reasonably likely to have a current or future 
effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures 
or capital resources that are material to investors.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In connection with the audit of our financial statements as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we identified control 
deficiencies in our financial reporting process that constitute a material weakness for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 
(which were primarily due to the fact that we were a private company prior to June 2, 2022). In 2024, the material weakness was related to 
lack of sufficient internal accounting personal and segregation of duties. For additional information see “Item 15 – Controls And 
Procedures”.

As defined in the standards established by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board of the United States, a “material 
weakness” is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a 
timely basis.

Although we have taken certain measures to address the identified material weakness such as appointing in 2024 a SOX consultant 
to assist us with assessment of Sarbanes-Oxley compliance requirements and improvement of overall internal controls, implementing 
internal policies and procedures related to internal control over financial reporting and hiring additional internal accounting and financial 
staff with appropriate public company experience and technical accounting knowledge, we will need to retain additional qualified personal 
in order to fully address our material weakness. However, we cannot assure you that these measures may fully address the material 
weakness in our internal control over financial reporting or that we may conclude that they have been fully remediated. For additional 
information, see “Item 3.D. Risk Factors—General Risk Factors—We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over 
financial reporting, and we may not be able to successfully implement remedial measures” in our Annual Report.

As a company with less than $1.235 billion in revenue for our last fiscal year, we qualify as an “emerging growth company” 
pursuant to the JOBS Act. An emerging growth company may take advantage of specified reduced reporting and other requirements that 
are otherwise applicable generally to public companies. These provisions include exemption from the auditor attestation requirement under 
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in the assessment of the emerging growth company’s internal control over financial 
reporting.

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview 

We have financed our operations since our inception primarily from private and public offerings, equity bridge investment fully 
converted in equity in previous years, government grants from the IIA and MOE and partial exercise of the equity line and promissory 
notes received from YA. As of December 31, 2024, we had NIS 13.3 million (approximately $3.64 million) in cash and cash equivalents.

For additional information, see below in this “Item 5B. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Recent Offerings”.

We are currently in the early commercialization stage and have not yet generated significant revenues from our operations. From 
inception date and through December 31, 2024, we have not generated significant revenues and we have reported ongoing losses. As of 
December 31, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of NIS 170.5 million (approximately $46.1 million) and we had comprehensive loss and 
negative cash flow from operating activity in amounts of NIS 34.9 million (approximately $9.4 million) and NIS 34.4 million 
(approximately $9.4 million) for the year ended December 31, 2024, respectively.
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Our primary contractual obligations consist of liabilities in respect of research and development grants received from the IIA, as 
well as lease liabilities in respect of corporate facilities. For information about our contractual obligations, see Notes 9 and 11 to our 
audited financial statements.

We anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future as we continue the development and potential 
commercialization of our products and incur additional costs associated with being a public company.

We believe that our existing funds will not be sufficient to continue our business and operations as currently conducted for 12 
months from the date of issuance of this Annual Report on Form 20-Fs. Such conditions raise substantial doubts about our ability to 
continue as a going concern. Management’s plan includes raising funds from existing shareholders and/or outside potential investors. 
However, there can be no assurance that the Company will succeed in obtaining the necessary financing or generating sufficient revenues 
from product sales to meet its current obligations and to achieve its business targets. Those conditions raise substantial doubt about the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Recent Transactions

On June 20, 2024, the Company entered in a securities purchase agreement with investors, and on June 25, 2024, it closed the 
transaction pursuant to this agreement, in which the Company sold and issued to these investors an aggregate of 12,555,555 ordinary 
shares, represented by 10,466 American Depositary Shares. Aggregate gross proceeds from the registered direct offering were 
approximately $1,130 million, before deducting the offering expenses payable by us. No placement agent commissions or fees were 
payable in the transaction. The Ordinary Shares representing ADSs and the ADSs were sold pursuant to a prospectus supplement filed by 
the Company on June 25, 2024 with the SEC in connection with a takedown from the Company’s shelf registration statement on Form 
F-3 (File No. 333-274458), declared effective by the SEC on September 27, 2023, and the base prospectus dated as of September 27, 2023 
contained in such registration statement.

On July 16, 2024, we entered into the SEPA with Yorkville, pursuant to which Yorkville has committed to purchase up to 
$15.0 million of our ADSs at our direction from time to time during a 3-year period following the date of the execution, until July 16, 2027, 
subject to the restrictions and satisfaction of the conditions in the SEPA. Pursuant to SEPA, Yorkville advanced to the Company the 
principal amount of $3,000,000 (the “Pre-Paid Advance”), evidenced by promissory notes, which are convertible into Company’s ADSs. 
Each Pre-Paid Advance was subject to a 3% discount of the principal amount of the Pre-Paid Advance. Pursuant to the SEPA, Principal, 
interest and any other payments due under the Promissory Notes are to be paid in cash on January 16, 2026 (the “Maturity Date”), unless 
converted by Yorkville or redeemed by the Company. As of the date of this Annual Report, a balance of approximately $132,000 remains 
outstanding under the Promissory Notes. 

As of the date of this Annual Report, we have issued an aggregate of 445,803,290 ordinary shares represented by 371,503 ADSs 
(after giving retroactive effect to the new ratio of 1,200 ordinary shares for each ADS) to YA as Advance Shares for aggregate gross 
proceeds of approximately $5.84 million.

On November 11, 2024, the Company issued to Yorkville, an unsecured non-convertible promissory note (the “November 24 
Promissory Note”) in the original principal amount of $1,000,000. The November 24 Promissory Note will mature on November 11, 2025, 
bears an interest at a rate of 8.0%, and was issued with a 3% original issue discount. Pursuant to the terms of the November 24 Promissory 
Note, it will be repaid in 10 equal monthly installments beginning on the 90th day from the date of the issuance. On March 19, 2025, 
Yorkville agreed to modify the November 24 Promissory Note to postpone the remaining nine monthly payment thereunder by 30 days 
from the original payment schedule such that  the maturity date is extended to December 11, 2025.
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Subsequent to December 31, 2024, on January 30, 2025, the Company entered into securities purchase agreements with several 
institutional investors (the “Purchase Agreements”), pursuant to which on January 31, 2025, at the closing the Company sold to these 
investors in the registered direct offering an aggregate of 195,428,970 ordinary shares represented by 162,899 ADSs, at an offering price of 
$9.331 per ADS. The ADSs were sold pursuant to a prospectus supplement dated January 30, 2025, in connection with a takedown from 
the Company’s shelf registration statement on Form F-3 (File No. 333-274458), which became effective by the SEC on September 27, 
2023, and the base prospectus dated as of September 27, 2023 contained in such registration statement. In addition, the Company offered 
and sold to these investors in a concurrent private placement offering (the “Private Placement Offering”) unregistered warrants to purchase 
up to an aggregate of 390,857,940 ordinary shares represented by 325,797 ADS at an exercise price of $10.664 per ADS (the “Private 
Placement Warrants”). The Company engaged H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC as its exclusive placement agent (the “Placement Agent”) for 
the registered and the Private Placement Offering. The aggregate proceeds to the Company from this offering were approximately 
$1,500,000, before deducting the placement agent fees and other offering expenses payable by the Company. In addition, at the Closing, the 
Company issued to designees of the Placement Agent, warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 13,680,000 ordinary shares represented 
by 11,403 ADSs, at an exercise price of $11.66375 per ADS (the “Placement Agent Warrants”). The Placement Agent Warrants have the 
same terms as the Private Placement Warrants, except that the term of the Placement Agent Warrants will not be longer than five (5) years 
following the commencement of the sales in that registered direct offering.

The table below presents our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023
NIS thousands

Net cash used in operating activities (34,406) (35,020)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (84) 9,942
Net cash provided by financing activities 30,535 22,490
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,955) (2,588)

For a comparison the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to year ended December 31, 2023, all U.S. dollar amounts below 
were calculated using the exchange rate reported by the Bank of Israel for December 31, 2024, at the rate of one U.S. dollar per NIS 3.647. 

Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities decreased by NIS 614 thousand (~ $168 thousand), or 2%, to NIS 34,406 thousand (~ $9,434 
thousand) for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to approximately NIS 35,020 thousand (~ $9,602 thousand) for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. This decrease resulted mainly by higher interest and discount expenses in respect of promissory notes and revaluation 
expenses incurred from partial exercise of Commitment Amount under the equity line with YA, as well as lower income from revaluation 
of derivative warrant liability.

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2024, was NIS 84 thousand (~$23 thousand), compared 
to NIS 9,942 thousand (~ $2,726 thousand) provided by investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2023. This change was 
mainly due to higher cash allocation to investments in bank deposits in the corresponding period last year.

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities increased by NIS 8,045 thousand (~ $2,206 thousand), or 36% to NIS 30,535 thousand 
(~$8,373 thousand) for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to NIS 22,490 thousand (~$6,167 thousand) for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. This increase was primarily due to higher funds raised in the current period compared to the corresponding period last 
year, mainly by proceeds received during the year from issuance of ADSs resulted from partial exercise of our equity line with YA.

C. Research and development, patents and licenses, etc.

For a description of our research and development programs and the amounts that we have incurred over the last two years 
pursuant to those programs, please see “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects— A. Operating Results— Operating 
Expenses— Research and Development Expenses, net”, “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects— A. Operating Results— 
Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2024, to the year ended December 31, 2023— Research and Development Expenses”, and 
Notes 2 and 3 to our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 20-F.
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D. Trend Information

Other than as disclosed in “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — Components of Our Results of Operations” 
and elsewhere in this Annual Report, we are not aware of any trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events for the period from 
January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024 that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our total revenues, income, profitability, 
liquidity or capital resources, or that caused the disclosed financial information to be not necessarily indicative of future operating results or 
financial condition.

E. Critical Accounting Estimates

We describe our significant accounting policies and estimates in Note 3 to our annual financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2024. We believe that these accounting policies and estimates are critical in order to fully understand and evaluate our 
financial condition and results of operations.

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make accounting estimates and 
assessments that involve use of judgment and that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities presented in the financial statements, the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements, the amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting periods and the accounting policies adopted by the Company. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recently-Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Certain recently-issued accounting pronouncements are discussed in Note 2, Summary of Material Accounting Policies, to our 
annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 included in elsewhere in this Annual Report, regarding the impact of the 
IFRS standards as issued by the IASB that we will adopt in future periods in our financial statements.

Stock-based compensation

From time to time, the Company may grant options to its employees, directors and non-employees. The Company recognizes 
stock-based compensation expense at its fair value.

Changes in the Company’s assumptions can materially affect the estimate of the fair value of stock-based compensation and, 
consequently, the related expense recognized. The assumptions used in the calculations of the fair value of stock-based payment awards is 
represented by best estimates which involve inherent uncertainties and the application of judgment when considering inherent uncertainties. 
As a result, if the Company’s assumptions change and different assumptions are used, the expense of a stock-based compensation award 
could be materially different in the future than what was originally planned for.

ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

A. Directors and Senior Management

The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers, key employees and directors as of March 19, 2025. 
Unless otherwise stated, the address of our executive officers and directors is SaverOne 2014 Ltd., Em Hamoshavot Rd. 94, Petah Tikvah.

Name Age Position
Executive Officers:

Ori Gilboa 61 Chief Executive Officer and Director
Yossi Cohen 57 Chief Operating Officer
Omri Hagai 39 Chief Financial Officer
Aviram Meidan 51 VP, Research and Development

Non-Employee Directors:
Jacob Tenenboim 67 Chairman of the Board
Sharon Schreiber (1)(2)(3) 51 External Director
Shlomo Shalev (1)(2)(3) 62 External Director
Yaron Be’eri (1)(3) 63 Director

(1) Member of the Audit Committee

(2) Member of the Compensation Committee

(3) Independent director as defined under Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5605(a)(2) and SEC Rule 10A-3(b)(1).
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Executive Officers

Ori Gilboa, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Ori Gilboa has served as our Chief Executive Officer since September 2019 and director since June 2020. From January 2017 
until August 2019, Mr. Gilboa served as the Chief Executive Officer of Negev Group, Israel’s leading home design group. From 2012 to 
2016, Mr. Gilboa served as the General Manager of Israeli operations for the James Richardson Corporation, where he oversaw the 
operation of duty-free stores in Ben Gurion Airport in Israel. Mr. Gilboa holds a B.Sc in Industrial Engineering and an MBA from Tel Aviv 
University.

Yossi Cohen, Chief Operating Officer

Yossi Cohen is our co-founder. He has served as our Chief Operating Officer since November 2014. Mr. Cohen is responsible for 
all of our operations, including managing our intellectual property portfolio and our information technology. In addition, Mr. Cohen leads 
our OEM business. Prior to that, Mr. Yossi Cohen served as Business Operations Manager at Motorola Solutions in Israel from 2007 to 
2014. Mr. Yossi Cohen has an MBA and Bsc in Electric Engineering from Tel-Aviv University.

Omri Hagai, Chief Financial Officer

Omri Hagai has served as our Chief Financial Officer since August 2023. Mr. Hagai has over 12 years of financial experience, 
including experience in finance and audit related functions of SEC reporting companies. From 2021 to 2023, Mr. Hagai served as a 
Director of Finance of BrainsWay Ltd. (Nasdaq: BWAY), where he managed its finance department and led the preparation of the 
company’s financial statements for SEC filings. From 2018 to 2021, Mr. Hagai served as the Disclosure and Reporting Controller for Israel 
Chemicals Ltd. (NYSE: ICL). Prior to this role, Mr. Hagai served as the Assistant Controller for Israel Chemicals from 2016 to 2018. Prior 
to his public company roles, Mr. Hagai served as an Assurance Senior Associate at Kesselman & Kesselman, certified public accountants in 
Israel and a member of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited. Mr. Hagai holds a Bachelor of Arts in business management and 
accounting from The Hebrew University of Jerusalem.

Aviram Meidan, VP, Research and Development

Aviram Meidan has served as our VP, Research and Development since October 2018. Prior to that, Mr. Meidan served as VP of 
Research and Development and Chief Technology Officer at Micronet Ltd from 2010 to 2018. From 2018-2010, Mr. Meidan served as 
Chief Technology Officer at Dai Telecom. Prior to that, Mr. Meidan served as Research and Development Manager at Motorola 
communication from 1999 to 2008. Mr. Meidan holds an MBA from Heriot-Watt University, BA in Computer & Mathematics from Haifa 
University and a BA in Practical Engineering from ORT College.

Non-Executive Directors

Jacob Tenenboim, Chairman of the Board of Directors

Jacob Tenenboim has served on our board of directors as Chairman since July 2015. Since 2001, Mr. Tenanboim has served as the 
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of I.T. Net Investments Ltd. In addition to his role at I.T. Net Investments, Mr. Tenenboim has 
significant directorship experience. Since 2020, Mr. Tenenboim has served as a Director of Unicorn Technology. Since 2015, Mr. 
Tenenboim has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Bobile Ltd. From September 2016 until June 2017, and then again from 
December 2017 until June 2021, Mr. Tenenboim served as a Director of Somoto BVI. Mr. Tenenboim holds an M.SC in industrial 
engineering from Tel Aviv University.
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Sharon Schreiber, External Director

Sharon Schreiber is a leading investment banker and serial entrepreneur with extensive experience in business management, 
operations, and cross-border transactions. Since 2013 Ms. Schreiber has served as a Founder at Unicorns Capital Partners, a boutique 
investment bank, where she represents European and U.S.-based clients, including family offices, private equity funds, growth funds, and 
venture capital funds in a various of financing transactions, from growth stage to pre-IPO. From 2010 to 2013, Ms. Schreiber served as the 
Co-Founder and Chief Executive Officer at Zezebra.com, an online business-to-client file transfer startup company. Prior to that, Ms. 
Schreiber held executive positions at several companies, including at S.G., an M&A advisory firm, where she served as an M&A and 
Turnaround Executive; at Xfone, Inc., a telecom operating company (AMEX:XFN), where she served as a VP of Business Development; 
and at Pillar Investments, a technology companies’ incubator, where she served as the Chief Executive Officer. In addition, Ms. Schreiber 
served as a Director of Sales and Business Development at RAD Group, which develops, manufactures, and markets solutions for diverse 
segments of the networking and telecommunications industry, and as a Sales Director at ECI Telecom Ltd., a manufacturer of 
telecommunications equipment. Ms. Schreiber also served as an external board member at DGC Group Ltd. (TASE:DGCG). Ms. Schreiber 
holds an Executive MBA (Kellogg-Recanati Program) from Northwestern University and Tel Aviv University, and a B.A. in Social Science 
from the Open University Tel Aviv. 

Shlomo Shalev, External Director

Shlomo Shalev has served on our board of directors since August 2020. Since 2020 Shlomo has served as the Chief Executive 
Officer of XTL Bio Pharmaeuticals (“XTL”) (Nasdaq: XTLB). From 2015 - 2018, Mr. Shalev served as Active Chairman of the Board of 
Intercure Ltd (Nasdaq: INCR) and chairman of the board of XTL. Prior to that Shlomo was CEO of GFC Green Fields Capital, an 
investment company publicly traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (TASE) from 2014 to 2015. From 2007 to 2014 Mr. Shalev was 
leading several companies in turn around and growth situations including as chairman of the board of Micronet (TASE). Prior to that Mr. 
Shalev served as SVP Investments at Ampal, a diversified holding company. From 1994 -1998, Mr. Shalev served as Israel’s Consul for 
Economic Affairs in the U.S Northwestern Region and as the Economic Advisor to the Director General, Ministry of Industry and Trade. 
Mr. Shalev holds an MBA from University of San Francisco, CA and a B.A. degree in Economics from Ben Gurion University, Israel.

Yaron Be’eri, Director

Yaron Be’eri has served on our board of directors since June 2020. Since 2019, Mr. Be’eri has served as the Chief Executive 
Officer of Yahad – United for Israel’s Soldiers, a nonprofit organization dedicated toward raising funds for Israeli Defense Forces soldiers. 
Prior to this, from 2017-2019, Mr. Be’eri served as the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Aura, a large real estate company in Israel. From 
2015-2017, Mr. Be’eri was the Head of the Traffic Division of the Israeli Police, and from 2011-2015, Mr. Be’eri was Head of Human 
Resources for the Israeli Police. Mr. Be’eri holds a BA in Social Sciences from the University of Haifa and an MBA in Business 
Administration from the University of Derby.

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships among any of our officers (including directors).

B. Compensation

The aggregate compensation we paid to our executive officers and directors for the year ended December 31, 2024, was 
approximately NIS 4.96 million ($1.352 million). This amount includes approximately NIS 4.47 million ($1.22 million) paid, set aside or 
accrued to provide pension, severance, retirement or similar benefits or expenses and approximately NIS 0.5 million ($0.136 million) share-
based compensation expenses, but does not include business travel, professional and business association dues and expenses reimbursed to 
office holders, and other benefits commonly reimbursed or paid by companies in our industry. As of December 31, 2024, 450,000 restricted 
shares and 870,702 options to purchase ordinary shares granted to our officers and directors were outstanding under our share option plan at 
a weighted average exercise price of NIS 8.85 ($2.43) per share.
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In accordance with the Companies Law, the table below reflects the compensation granted to our five most highly compensated 
officers during or with respect to the year ended December 31, 2024. For purposes of the table and the summary below, “compensation” 
includes base salary, bonuses, equity-based compensation, retirement or termination payments, benefits and perquisites such as car, phone 
and social benefits and any undertaking to provide such compensation.

Name and Principal Position Salary (1) Bonus (2)
Equity-Based

Compensation (3)
Other 

Compensation (4) Total
(NIS in thousands)

Ori Gilboa (Chief Executive Officer) (5) 1,465 365 430 - 2,260
Aviram Meidan (VP, Research and Development) 910 - 20 - 930
Yossi Cohen (Chief Operating Officer) 714 - 16 - 730
Omri Hagai (Chief Financial Officer) 600 - 31 70 701

(1) Salary includes the officer’s gross salary plus payment by us of social benefits on behalf of the officer. Such benefits may include 
payments, contributions and/or allocations for savings funds (e.g., Managers’ Life Insurance Policy), pension, severance, risk insurance 
(e.g., life, or work disability insurance), payments for social security and tax gross-up payments, vacation, medical insurance and 
benefits, convalescence or recreation pay and other benefits and perquisites consistent with our policies.

(2) Represents annual bonuses granted to the officer based on formulas set forth in the respective resolutions of our Compensation 
Committee and Board of Directors.

(3) Represents the equity-based compensation expenses recorded in our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024, based 
on the securities’ fair value on the grant date, calculated in accordance with applicable accounting guidance for equity-based 
compensation. For a discussion of the assumptions used in reaching this valuation, see Note 14 to our financial statements included in 
this Annual Report.

(4) Represents benefits and perquisites such as car, phone and social benefits.

(5) Mr. Gilboa is paid through a company wholly owned by him.

Employment and Consulting Agreements

Our employees are employed under the terms prescribed in their respective employment contracts. The employees are entitled to 
the social benefits prescribed by law and as otherwise provided in their agreements. These agreements each contain provisions standard for 
a company in our industry regarding non-competition, confidentiality of information and assignment of inventions. Under currently 
applicable labor laws, we may not be able to enforce covenants not to compete and therefore may be unable to prevent our competitors 
from benefiting from the expertise of some of our former employees. See “Item 3.D. Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Our Business” for a 
further description of the enforceability of non-competition clauses. We also provide certain of our employees with a company car, which is 
leased from a leasing company.

Executive officers are also employed on the terms and conditions prescribed in employment agreements. These agreements 
provide for notice periods of varying duration for termination of the agreement by us or by the relevant executive officer, during which time 
the executive officer will continue to receive base salary and benefits. See “Item 3.D. Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Our Business.”

On February 24, 2020, we entered into a consulting agreement with Mr. Ori Gilboa who has served as our chief executive officer 
since September 2019 and as a member of the board of directors since June 2020, which provides that Mr. Gilboa’s terms of office and 
services are for period of three years, subject to re-approval under the Companies Law and termination in accordance with the terms of the 
consulting agreement.

On June 21, 2023, our compensation committee and board of directors approved, and on August 14, 2023 our shareholders 
approved, the re-approval of the terms of the consulting agreement, or the Consulting Agreement, with Mr. Ori Gilboa, as follows:

Services: Mr. Gilboa shall serve as our chief executive officer on full time basis for a period of three years, such renewed period to 
begin on September 1, 2023. The Consulting Agreement may be terminated at any time by Mr. Gilboa or by us by giving the other party 90 
days advance notice in writing, provided that we may terminate the agreement forthwith for cause without advance notice.
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Consideration: In consideration for the services rendered by Mr. Gilboa, we shall pay to Mr. Gilboa a monthly consulting fee, or 
the Consulting Fee in the amount of NIS 120,000 plus VAT, if required by law. The Consulting Fee shall be indexed to the Israeli 
consumer price index and an accounting will be made accordingly every quarter.

Bonus: Mr. Gilboa shall be entitled to a contingent annual bonus of up to six (6) monthly Consulting Fees, as may be adjusted 
from time to time in accordance with the terms of the Consulting Agreement, provided that Mr. Gilboa has fulfilled the measurable 
objectives which shall be determined by our compensation committee and board of directors once a year in accordance with the provisions 
of our compensation policy that will be in existence at the relevant time.

Restricted Share Units: As previously approved by our board of directors, Mr. Gilboa shall be entitled, subject to (1) the terms of 
our 2015 Share Incentive Plan and (2)(A) the execution of a form of an award grant letter agreement , or the RSU Agreement, with respect 
to restricted share units, or RSUs, which shall be approved and adopted us and (B) the execution all other required documents and 
agreements required by us, 900,000 RSUs, representing approximately 3% of our issued and outstanding ordinary shares as of the date of 
the grant, subject to, among other things, the vesting schedule provided below:

The RSUs shall vest on quarterly basis over period of a three (3) year period, beginning on September 1, 2023, or the Vesting 
Commencement Date under the following schedule: forty percent (40%) of the RSUs shall vest by the end of the first anniversary of the 
Vesting Commencement Date, thirty percent (30%) of the RSUs shall vest by the end of the second anniversary of the Vesting 
Commencement Date and the remaining thirty percent (30%) of the RSUs shall vest by the end of the third anniversary of the Vesting 
Commencement Date, subject to Mr. Gilboa’s continued service through each such anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date and 
the potential vesting Acceleration (as defined below and as further described in the RSU Agreement).

An “Acceleration” means, in the event of (and conditional upon the completion of) any change of control, sale or merger, sale of a 
major asset or a major (each as further described in the RSU Agreement), all unvested RSUs shall vest immediately prior to the 
consummation of the sale.

The proposed to the services terms of Mr. Gilboa are consistent with our compensation policy. 

C. Board Practices 

Board of Directors

Our board of directors consists of five directors, including two directors who are deemed external directors per the requirements of 
the Companies Law (see “External directors” below). These two directors, as well as one additional director, qualify as independent 
directors under the corporate governance standards of the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules and the independence requirements of Rule 10A-3 of 
the Exchange Act.

On February 17, 2025, at the special meeting of shareholders, our shareholders approved a new amendment to our Articles of 
Association, which established the division of the Board of Directors of the Company into staggered three-year terms. Our Board is now 
divided among the three (3) classes as follows:

Yaron Beeri is classified as a Class I director and his term will expire at our annual meeting of shareholders to be held in 2025;

Ori Gilboa is classified as a Class II director and his term will expire at our annual meeting of shareholders to be held in 2026; 
and 

Jacob Tenenboim is classified as a Class III director, and his term will expire at our annual meeting of shareholders to be held in 
2027.
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Under our Articles of Association, (i) directors may only be elected at the Company’s annual shareholders’ meeting, (ii) a director 
may not be dismissed from office by shareholders or at a shareholders’ meeting prior to the expiration of their term of office under the 
staggered board provisions, (iii) any shareholder of the Company who intends to present a proposal at a shareholders’ meeting must satisfy 
the requirements of the Israeli Companies Law and must meet certain additional requirements, as will be set forth in the Articles of 
Association, and (iv) an affirmative vote of 75% of the voting power represented at a general meeting and voting thereon, disregarding 
abstentions from the count of the voting power present and voting, provided that the quorum is not less than 25% of the Company’s then 
issued and outstanding share capital, is required to amend our Articles of Association, with respect to the provisions relating to the 
staggered board, dismissal and the provisions relating to shareholder proposals.

Further, our Articles of Association state that our board of directors must consist of no less than three and no more than 12 
directors, including external directors, and that election of our directors( other than the external directors, for whom special election 
requirements apply under the Companies Law) require an affirmative vote of a simple majority of holders of our voting shares participating 
and voting at the relevant meeting. 

In addition, pursuant to our Articles of Association, our board of directors may appoint new directors to fill vacancies which can 
occur for any reason or as additional directors, provided that the number of board members shall not exceed the maximum number of 
directors mentioned above. The appointment of a director by the board shall be in effect until the following annual general meeting of the 
shareholders or until the end of his or her tenure in accordance with our Articles of Association. Our board of directors may continue to 
operate for as long as the number of directors is no less than the minimum number of directors mentioned above.

Our external directors have a term of office of three (3) years under Israeli law and may be elected for up to two additional three-
year terms, or more, under the circumstances described below. External directors may be removed from office only under the limited 
circumstances set forth in the Companies Law. See “External directors” below for a description of the procedure for the election and 
dismissal of external directors.

In addition, under the Companies Law, our board of directors must determine the minimum number of directors who are required 
to have financial and accounting expertise. Under applicable regulations, a director with financial and accounting expertise is a director 
who, by reason of his or her education, professional experience and skill, has a high level of proficiency in and understanding of business 
accounting matters and financial statements. See “— External directors.” He or she must be able to thoroughly comprehend the financial 
statements of the company and initiate discussion regarding the manner in which financial information is presented. In determining the 
number of directors required to have such expertise, the board of directors must consider, among other things, the type and size of the 
company and the scope and complexity of its operations. Our board of directors has determined that we require at least one director with 
the requisite financial and accounting expertise and Sharon Schreiber and Shlomo Shalev have such expertise.

Alternate Directors

Our Articles of Association provide, as allowed by the Companies Law, that any director may, by written notice to us, appoint 
another person who is qualified to serve as a director to serve as an alternate director. An alternate director has the same rights and 
responsibilities as a director, except for the right to appoint an alternate director. The appointment of an alternate director does not negate 
the responsibilities of the appointing director, who will continue to bear responsibility for the actions of the alternate, giving consideration 
to the circumstances of the appointment. The Companies Law specifies certain qualifications for alternate directors, and provides that one 
director may not serve as an alternate on the board of directors for another director, nor as an alternate on a committee of which he or she is 
already a member. The Companies Law stipulates that an external director may not appoint an alternate director except under very limited 
circumstances. As of March 19, 2025, no director has appointed any other person as an alternate director. 
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External Directors

As a public Israeli company, we are required by the Companies Law to have at least two external directors who meet certain 
independence criteria to ensure that they are unaffiliated with us and our controlling shareholder.

An external director must also have either financial and accounting expertise or professional qualifications, as defined in the 
regulations promulgated under the Companies Law, and at least one of the external directors is required to have financial and accounting 
expertise. An external director is entitled to reimbursement of expenses and compensation as provided in the regulations promulgated under 
the Companies Law, but is otherwise prohibited from receiving any other compensation from us, directly or indirectly, during his or her 
term and for two years thereafter.

Under the Companies Law, external directors must be elected at a shareholders’ meeting by a simple majority of the votes cast on 
the matter, provided that such majority includes a majority of the votes cast by non-controlling shareholders and shareholders who do not 
have a personal interest in the election (excluding a personal interest that did not result from the shareholder’s relationship with the 
controlling shareholder), unless the votes cast by such shareholders against the election did not exceed 2% of our aggregate voting rights. 
External directors serve for up to three terms of three years each, and our audit committee and board of directors may nominate them for 
additional terms under certain circumstances. Even if an external director is not nominated by our board of directors for re-election for a 
second or third term, shareholders holding at least 1% of our voting rights have the right to nominate the external director for reelection. In 
such a case, the reelection can be approved by a majority of the votes cast by non-controlling shareholders and shareholders who do not 
have a personal interest in the election (excluding a personal interest that did not result from the shareholder’s relationship with the 
controlling shareholder) and the votes cast by such shareholders approving the election exceed 2% of our aggregate voting rights. A term of 
an external director may be terminated prior to expiration only by a shareholder vote, by the same threshold required for election, or by a 
court, but in each case only if the external director ceases to meet the statutory qualifications for election or if the external director violates 
his or her duty of loyalty to us. If at the time of election of an external director all of the members of the board of directors (excluding 
controlling shareholders or relatives of controlling shareholders) are of the same gender, the external director to be elected must be of the 
other gender.

Under the Companies Law, each committee of a company’s board of directors that is authorized to exercise powers of the board of 
directors is required to include at least one external director, and all external directors must be members of the company’s audit committee 
and compensation committee.

We currently have two external directors: Shlomo Shalev, who was re-elected as an external director by our shareholders in 
August 2023 for an additional three-year term ending in August 2026, and Sharon Schreiber, whose first term commenced on August 18, 
2022, and ends on August 18, 2025. Our board of directors has determined that our external directors have accounting and financial 
expertise and/or possess the requisite professional qualifications as required under the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Audit Committee

Under the Companies Law, the Exchange Act and Nasdaq Marketplace Rules, we are required to establish an audit committee.

The responsibilities of an audit committee under the Companies Law include identifying and addressing flaws in the business 
management of the company, reviewing and approving related party transactions, establishing whistleblower procedures, overseeing the 
company’s internal audit system and the performance of its internal auditor, and assessing the scope of the work and recommending the 
fees of the company’s independent accounting firm. In addition, the audit committee is required to determine whether certain related party 
actions and transactions are “material” or “extraordinary” for the purpose of the requisite approval procedures under the Companies Law 
and to establish procedures for considering proposed transactions with a controlling shareholder.

In accordance with U.S. law and Nasdaq Marketplace Rules, our audit committee is also responsible for the appointment, 
compensation and oversight of the work of our independent auditors and for assisting our board of directors in monitoring our financial 
statements, the effectiveness of our internal controls and our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. 
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Under the Companies Law, the audit committee must consist of at least three directors and must include all of the company’s 
external directors. The majority of the audit committee members have to be “independent directors”. The chairman of the audit committee 
is required to be an external director.

Under the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules, we are required to maintain an audit committee consisting of at least three independent 
directors, all of whom are financially literate and one of whom has accounting or related financial management expertise. Each of the 
members of the audit committee is required to be “independent” as such term is defined in Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange Act.

Our audit committee currently consists of three, two of whom are external directors. All of the members are independent directors 
as defined in the Companies Law. All of the members are also independent as defined in SEC rules and Nasdaq listing requirements. Our 
board of directors has determined that all members of our audit committee meet the requirements for financial literacy under the applicable 
rules and regulations of the SEC and Nasdaq Marketplace Rules. Our board of directors has determined that two directors are audit 
committee financial experts as defined by the SEC rules and have the requisite financial experience as defined by the Nasdaq Marketplace 
Rules.

Compensation Committee

Under both the Companies Law and Nasdaq Marketplace Rules, we are required to establish a compensation committee.

The responsibilities of a compensation committee under the Companies Law include recommending to the board of directors, for 
ultimate shareholder approval by a special majority, a policy governing the compensation of directors and officers based on specified 
criteria, reviewing modifications to and implementing such compensation policy from time to time, and approving the actual compensation 
terms of directors and officers prior to approval by the board of directors.

The Companies Law stipulates that the compensation committee must consist of at least three directors who meet certain 
independence criteria and must include all of the company’s external directors, who are required to constitute a majority of its members. 
The chairman of the compensation committee must be an external director. The remaining members are required to meet certain 
independence criteria and be paid in accordance with the regulations governing the compensation of external directors.

Under Nasdaq Marketplace Rules, we are required to maintain a compensation committee consisting of at least two independent 
directors; each of the members of the compensation committee is required to be independent under Nasdaq Marketplace Rules relating to 
compensation committee members, which are different from the general test for independence of board and committee members.

Our compensation committee currently consists of three, including two members who are external directors or independent 
directors as defined in the Companies Law, and all of whom are independent as defined in SEC rules and regulations, and Nasdaq 
Marketplace Rules.

Internal Auditor

Under the Companies Law, the board of directors is required to appoint an internal auditor recommended by the audit committee. 
Our current internal auditor is Daniel Shapira. The role of the internal auditor is to examine, among other things, whether the company’s 
actions comply with applicable law and proper business procedures. The internal auditor may not be an interested party, a director or an 
officer of the company, or a relative of any of the foregoing, nor may the internal auditor be our independent accountant or a representative 
thereof.
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Fiduciary Duties and Approval of Related Party Transactions

Fiduciary Duties of Directors and Officers

Israeli law imposes a duty of care and a duty of loyalty on all directors and officers of a company. The duty of care requires a 
director or officer to act with the level of care with which a reasonable director or officer in the same position would have acted under the 
same circumstances. The duty of care includes, among other things, a duty to use reasonable means, under the circumstances, to obtain 
information on the advisability of a given action brought for his approval or performed by virtue of his position and other important 
information pertaining to such action. The duty of loyalty requires the director or officer to act in good faith and for the benefit of the 
company.

Approval of Related Party Transactions

Under the Companies Law, a related party transaction may be approved only if it is for the benefit of the company. A transaction 
that is not an extraordinary transaction in which a director or officer has a personal interest requires the approval of the board of directors, 
unless the articles of association of the company provide otherwise. If the transaction is an extraordinary transaction, it must be approved 
by the audit committee and the board of directors, and, under certain circumstances, by the shareholders of the company. An “extraordinary 
transaction” is a transaction other than in the ordinary course of business, other than on market terms or that is likely to have a material 
impact on the company’s profitability, assets or liabilities.

Pursuant to the Companies Law, extraordinary transactions in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest require the 
approval of the audit committee, or the compensation committee if the transaction is in connection with employment or service with the 
company, the board of directors and the shareholders of the company. The shareholder approval must be by a simple majority of all votes 
cast, provided that (i) such majority includes a simple majority of the votes cast by non-controlling shareholders having no personal interest 
in the matter or (ii) the total number of votes of shareholders mentioned in clause (i) above who voted against such transaction does not 
exceed 2% of the total voting rights in the company.

The Companies Law generally prohibits any director who has a personal interest in an extraordinary transaction from being 
present for discussion and voting pertaining to such transaction in the audit committee or board of directors. Nevertheless, a director who 
has a personal interest may be present at the meeting and vote on the matter if a majority of the directors or members of the audit committee 
have a personal interest in the approval of such transaction; in this case, however, the transaction also requires shareholder approval.

Director and Officer Compensation

Under the Companies Law, we are required to approve, at least once every three years, a compensation policy with respect to our 
directors and officers. Following the recommendation of our compensation committee, the compensation policy must be approved by our 
board of directors and a general meeting of our shareholders. The shareholder approval must be by a simple majority of all votes cast, 
provided that (i) such majority includes a simple majority of the votes cast by non-controlling shareholders having no personal interest in 
the matter or (ii) the total number of votes of shareholders mentioned in clause (i) above who voted against such transaction does not 
exceed 2% of the total voting rights in the company. In general, the terms of compensation of directors (other than cash compensation up to 
the maximum amount set forth in regulations governing the compensation of external directors), the chief executive officer and any 
employee or service provider who is considered a controlling shareholder must be approved separately by the compensation committee, the 
board of directors and the shareholders. The compensation terms of other officers who report directly to the chief executive officer require 
the approval of the compensation committee and the board of directors.

Directors’ Service Contracts

There are no arrangements or understandings between us and any of our directors providing for benefits upon termination of their 
employment or service as directors of our company. 

D. Employees.

See “Item 4.B. Business Overview—Employees.”
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E. Share Ownership.

See “Item 7.A. Major Shareholders” below.

Equity Incentive Plan

In August 2015, our board of directors adopted the SaverOne 2014 Ltd. 2015 Share Incentive Plan, or the 2015 Plan, which 
provides for the grant of options to our directors, employees, officers and consultants. A total of 3,000,000 ordinary shares are reserved but 
unissued under our 2015 Plan as of March 25, 2024, following the approval our board of directors on March 24, 2024.

The 2015 Plan is administered by our board of directors, which, on its own or upon the recommendation of a remuneration 
committee or any other similar committee of the board of directors, shall determine, subject to applicable law, the identity of grantees of 
awards and various terms of the grant. With respect to those grantees subject to Israeli taxation, the 2015 Plan provides for granting options 
in compliance with Section 102 of the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance, 1961, or the Ordinance, under the capital gains track, and for grants to 
non-employee Israeli service providers, consultants and shareholders who hold 10% or more of our total share capital or are otherwise 
controlling shareholders pursuant to section 3(9) of the Ordinance, as further detailed below.

Section 102 of the Ordinance allows employees, directors and officers who are not controlling shareholders and are considered 
Israeli residents to receive favorable tax treatment for compensation in the form of shares or options. Our non-employee service providers 
and controlling shareholders may only be granted options under section 3(9) of the Ordinance, which does not provide for similar tax 
benefits. Section 102 includes two alternatives for tax treatment involving the issuance of options or shares to a trustee for the benefit of the 
grantees and also includes an additional alternative for the issuance of options or shares directly to the grantee. Section 102(b)(2) of the 
Ordinance, the most favorable tax treatment for the grantee, permits the issuance to a trustee under the “capital gain track.” However, under 
this track we are not allowed to deduct an expense with respect to the issuance of the options or shares.

Generally, options will not be exercisable before the first anniversary of the date of grant of options, with respect to the 25.0% of 
the option shares, and with respect to each additional 6.25% of the option shares, become exercisable at the end of each three-month period 
during the second and third years from the date of grant. Generally, options that are not exercised within ten years from the grant date shall 
expire.

Other than by will or laws of descent, neither the options nor any right in connection with such options are assignable or 
transferable. If we terminate a grantee’s employment or service for any reason whatsoever, other than for cause, any options granted to such 
grantee that are not vested shall immediately expire. All of the grantee’s vested options shall be deemed expired on the earlier of: (a) the 
expiration date of such vested options as was in effect immediately prior to such termination; or (b) three months following the date of such 
termination, or if such termination is the result of death or disability of the grantee, 12 months from the date of such termination. However, 
for certain executives and other senior management, our board of directors (and shareholders where applicable) has resolved that the 
expiration date of their vested options shall be between two to four years following the date of such termination. If we terminate a grantee’s 
employment or service for cause, all of the grantee’s vested and unvested options will expire on the date of termination. Also, and subject 
to applicable law, if the grantee’s employment or services is terminated for cause, then we will have a right of repurchase against any shares 
issued pursuant to the exercise of options. In the event that we exercise such right of repurchase, we will pay such grantee for each such 
share being repurchased an amount equal to the price originally paid by the grantee for such share. Alternatively, we may assign such rights 
of repurchase to our shareholders pro rata to their respective holdings of our issued and outstanding shares.

If we are party to a merger or consolidation, outstanding options and shares acquired under the 2015 Plan will be subject to the 
agreement of merger or consolidation, which will provide for one or more of the following: (i) the assumption of such options by the 
surviving corporation or its parent, (ii) the substitution by the surviving corporation or its parent of new options, or (iii) in the event that the 
successor entity neither assumes nor substitutes all outstanding options, then each respective grantee shall have a period of 15 days to 
exercise his or her vested options, after which all remaining options, whether vested or not shall expire. For certain individuals, if their 
position is terminated within a certain period after the transaction, their options shall accelerate.
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In the event of any variation in our share capital, including a share dividend, share split, combination or exchange of shares, 
recapitalization, or any other like event, the number, class and kind of shares subject to the 2015 Plan and outstanding options, and the 
exercise prices of the options, will be appropriately and equitably adjusted so as to maintain the proportionate number of shares without 
changing the aggregate exercise price of the options.

F. Disclosure of a registrant’s action to recover erroneously awarded compensation

Not applicable.

ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A. Major Shareholders

The following table sets forth information regarding beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares as of March 19, 2025 by:

● each person, or group of affiliated persons, known to us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding 
ordinary shares;

● each of our directors and executive officers; and

● all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

The beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC. Under these rules, a person 
is deemed to be a beneficial owner of a security if that person has or shares voting power, which includes the power to vote or to direct the 
voting of the security, or investment power, which includes the power to dispose of or to direct the disposition of the security. For purposes 
of the table below, we deem ordinary shares issuable pursuant to options that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of 
March 19, 2025 to be outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding the options or warrants for the purposes of computing 
the percentage ownership of that person, but we do not treat them as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of 
any other person. The percentage of ordinary shares is based on 741,152,046 ordinary shares outstanding as of March 19, 2025.

Except where otherwise indicated, we believe, based on information furnished to us by such owners, that the beneficial owners of 
the ordinary shares listed below have sole investment and voting power with respect to such shares.

None of our shareholders has different voting rights from other shareholders. We are not aware of any arrangement that may, at a 
subsequent date, result in a change of control of our company. As of March 19, 2025, there was one holder of record of our ordinary shares 
in the United States.
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Unless indicated below, each shareholder’s address is c/o SaverOne 2014 Ltd., Em Hamoshavot Rd. 94, Petah Tikvah, Israel.

Name of Beneficial Owner

Number of 
Shares 

Beneficially 
Owned Percentage

Directors and executive officers
Jacob Tenenboim (1) 3,131,855 *%
Ori Gilboa (2) 862,875    *
Yossef Cohen (3) 370,579    *
Omri Hagai (4) 43,750    *
Aviram Meidan (5) 210,922    *
Yaron Beeri (6) 14,912    *
Shlomo Shalev (7) 2,200    *
All directors and executive officers as a group (7 persons) 4,637,093    *%

* Less than one percent (1%).

(1) Based on information contained in a Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on July 14, 2022, by Mr. Tenenboim. Includes (i) 2,676,143 
ordinary shares held directly by Mr. Tenenboim (including 1,050,000 presently exercisable warrants), and (ii) 455,712 ordinary shares 
over which Mr. Tenenboim has voting and dispositive power, comprised of (A) 115,563 ordinary shares with shared control and 
dispositive power via Unicorn Technologies Management Ltd., and (B) 340,149 ordinary shares with shared control and dispositive 
power through K.O.D.M. Investments Ltd.

(2) Includes (i) 504,875 ordinary shares (ii) options to purchase 358,000 ordinary shares exercisable within 60 days of March 19, 2025, at 
an average exercise price of NIS 16.39 (approximately $4.49) per share. Does not include 360,000 ordinary shares issuable upon 
exercise of outstanding equity instruments that are not exercisable within 60 days of March 19, 2025.

(3) Includes (i) 246,211 ordinary shares and (ii) options to purchase 124,368 ordinary shares exercisable within 60 days of March 19, 
2025, at an average exercise price of NIS 1.16 (approximately $0.32) per share. Does not include 31,250 ordinary shares issuable upon 
exercise of outstanding equity instruments that are not exercisable within 60 days of March 19, 2025.

(4) Represents options to purchase 43,750 ordinary shares exercisable within 60 days of March 19, 2025, at an average exercise price of 
NIS 1.01 (approximately $0.28) per share. Does not include 56,250 ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding equity 
instruments that are not exercisable within 60 days March 19, 2025.

(5) Represents options to purchase 210,922 ordinary shares exercisable within 60 days of March 19, 2025, at an average exercise price of 
NIS 6.1 (approximately $1.67) per share. Does not include 31,250 ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding equity 
instruments that are not exercisable within 60 days of March 19, 2025.

(6) Represents options to purchase 14,912 ordinary shares exercisable within 60 days of March 19, 2025, at an exercise price of NIS 5.73 
(approximately $1.57) per share.

(7) Includes 2,200 ordinary shares. 

Record Holders

The Bank of New York Mellon, or BNY, is the holder of record for the Company’s American Depositary Receipt program, 
pursuant to which each ADS represents 1,200 ordinary shares. As of March 19, 2025 BNY held 440,290,800 ordinary shares representing 
65% of our issued share capital held at that date. Certain of these ordinary shares were held by brokers or other nominees. As a result, the 
number of holders of record or registered holders in the United States is not representative of the number of beneficial holders or of the 
residence of beneficial holders.
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B. Related Party Transactions

The following is a description of the material transactions we entered into with related parties since January 1, 2024. We believe 
that we have executed all of our transactions with related parties on terms no less favorable to us than those we could have obtained from 
unaffiliated third parties.

We have adopted a related party transaction policy that provides that our Board of Directors, acting through our Audit Committee, 
is responsible for the review, approval, or ratification of related party transactions between us and related persons. Under Israeli law, related 
party transactions are subject to special approval requirements, see “Item 6.C. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—Board 
Practices—Fiduciary duties and approval of related party transactions.”

Employment and Service Agreements and Director Fees

We have entered into written employment agreements with each of our executive officers, which provide for notice periods of 
varying duration for termination of the agreement by us or by the relevant executive officer, during which time the executive officer will 
continue to receive base salary and benefits. These agreements also contain customary provisions regarding noncompetition, confidentiality 
of information and assignment of inventions. However, the enforceability of the noncompetition provisions may be limited under 
applicable law. See “Item 3.D. Risk Factors— Risks relating to our operations— Under applicable employment laws, we may not be able to 
enforce covenants not to compete” for a further description of the enforceability of non-competition clauses. For further information, see 
“Item 6.B. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—Compensation—Employment and Consulting Agreements.”

In addition, we pay fees to certain of our non-executive directors in return for their service on our board of directors, in accordance 
with our compensation policy. For further information, see “Item 6.C. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—Board 
Practices—Director and Officer Compensation”.

Directors and Officers Insurance Policy and Indemnification and Exculpation Agreements

In accordance with our Articles of Association, we have obtained Directors and Officers insurance for our executive officers and 
directors, and provide indemnification, exculpation and exemption undertakings to each of our directors and officers to the fullest extent 
permitted by the Companies Law.

Certain Relationships

From time to time, we do business with other companies affiliated with our principal shareholders, as described above. We believe 
that all such arrangements have been entered into in the ordinary course of business.

C. Interests of Experts and Counsel

Not applicable.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION.

A. Statements and Other Financial Information.

See “Item 18. Financial Statements.”

Legal Proceedings

See “Item 4.B. Business Overview—Legal Proceedings.”
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Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our shares and we anticipate that, for the foreseeable future, we will retain 
any future earnings to support operations and to finance the growth and development of our business. Therefore, we do not expect to pay 
cash dividends for at least the next several years.

The distribution of dividends may also be limited by the Companies Law, which permits the distribution of dividends only out of 
retained earnings or earnings derived over the two most recent fiscal years, whichever is higher, provided that there is no reasonable 
concern that payment of a dividend will prevent a company from satisfying its existing and foreseeable obligations as they become due. As 
of December 31, 2024, we did not have distributable earnings pursuant to the Companies Law. According to Companies Law, dividend 
distributions may be determined by our board of directors, as our Articles of Association do not provide that such distributions require 
shareholder approval.

B. Significant Changes 

Other than as otherwise described in this Annual Report on Form 20-F and as set forth below, no significant change has occurred 
in our operations since the date of our financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 20-F.

ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING

A. Offer and Listing Details

On June 3, 2022, our ordinary shares and warrants commenced trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbols “SVRE,” 
and “SVREW,” respectively.

B. Plan of Distribution

Not applicable.

C. Markets

Our ordinary shares and warrants are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market.

D. Selling Shareholders

Not applicable.

E. Dilution

Not applicable.

F. Expenses of the Issue

Not applicable.

ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

A. Share Capital

Not applicable.

B. Articles of Association

A copy of our current Articles of Association is attached as Exhibit 1.1 to this Annual Report. Other than as disclosed below, the 
information called for by this Item is set forth in Exhibit 2.1 to this Annual Report and is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report.
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C. Material Contracts

We have not entered into any material contracts other than in the ordinary course of business and other than those described in 
Item 4. “Information on Our Company,” Item 7B “Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions - Related Party Transactions” or 
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

D. Exchange Controls

There are currently no Israeli currency control restrictions on remittances of dividends on our ordinary shares, proceeds from the 
sale of the shares or interest or other payments to non-residents of Israel.

E. Taxation.

The following is a general summary of certain material Israeli and U.S. federal income tax considerations. The discussion is not 
intended to be, nor should it be construed as, legal or tax advice to any particular shareholder or prospective shareholder. The discussion 
is based on laws and relevant interpretations thereof in effect as of the date hereof, all of which are subject to change or different 
interpretations, possibly with retroactive effect.

Israeli tax considerations and government programs

The following is a summary of the current tax regime in the State of Israel, which applies to us and to persons who hold our 
ordinary shares or ADSs.

This summary does not discuss all the aspects of Israeli tax law that may be relevant to a particular investor in light of his or her 
personal investment circumstances or to some types of investors subject to special treatment under Israeli law. Examples of this kind of 
investor include traders in securities or persons who do not hold our ordinary shares or ADSs as a capital asset. Some parts of this 
discussion are based on a new tax legislation which has not been subject to judicial or administrative interpretation. The discussion should 
not be construed as legal or professional tax advice and does not cover all possible tax considerations.

HOLDERS AND POTENTIAL INVESTORS ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE 
ISRAELI OR OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF OUR ORDINARY 
SHARES OR ADSs, INCLUDING, IN PARTICULAR, THE EFFECT OF ANY FOREIGN, STATE OR LOCAL TAXES.

General corporate tax structure in Israel

Israeli resident companies are generally subject to corporate tax on both ordinary income and capital gains, currently at the rate of 
23% of a company’s taxable income. Capital gains derived by an Israeli resident company are subject to tax at the prevailing corporate tax 
rate. Under Israeli tax law, a corporation will be considered as an “Israeli resident” if it meets one of the following: (a) it was incorporated 
in Israel; or (b) the control and management of its business are operated from Israel.

Taxation of our shareholders

Capital gains

Capital gains tax is imposed on the disposal of capital assets by an Israeli resident, and on the disposal of capital assets by a non-
resident of Israel if those assets (i) are located in Israel, (ii) are shares or a right to shares in an Israeli resident corporation, (iii) represent, 
directly or indirectly, rights to assets located in Israel, unless a tax treaty between Israel and the seller’s country of residence provides 
otherwise, or (iv) a right in a foreign resident corporation, which in its essence is the owner of a direct or indirect right to property located 
in Israel (with respect to the portion of the gain attributed to the property located in Israel). The Israeli tax law (“ITL”) distinguishes 
between “Real Gain” and “Inflationary Surplus.” Real Gain is the excess of the total capital gain over Inflationary Surplus. The Inflationary 
Surplus is a portion of the total capital gain which is equivalent to the increase of the relevant asset’s price that is attributable to the increase 
in the Israeli consumer price index or, in certain circumstances, a foreign currency exchange rate, between the date of purchase and the date 
of sale. Inflationary Surplus is not subject to tax in Israel under certain conditions.
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Real Gain accrued by individuals on the sale of our ordinary shares or ADSs will be taxed at the rate of up to 25%. However, if the 
individual shareholder is a “Substantial Shareholder” (i.e., a person who holds, directly or indirectly, alone or together with another, 10% or 
more of one of the Israeli resident company’s means of control) at the time of sale or at any time during the preceding 12-month period, 
such gain will be taxed at the rate of 30%. In addition, capital gains generated by an individual claiming deduction of financing expenses in 
respect of such gain will be taxed at the rate of up to 30%. In addition, capital gains generated by an individual claiming deduction of 
financing expenses in respect of such gain will be taxed at the rate of up to 30%. Real Capital Gain derived by corporations will be 
generally subject to a corporate tax rate of 23% (in 2024).

Individual (that the income in his hands from the sale of the securities is in the form of income from a “business”) and corporate 
shareholders dealing in securities in Israel are taxed at the tax rates applicable to business income in 2024, a tax rate of 23% for 
corporations and a marginal tax rate of up to 47% for individuals. In addition, a 3% excess tax is levied on individuals whose total taxable 
income in Israel in 2024 exceeds NIS 721,560 (approximately $199,000). To the extent that the securities registered according to the shelf 
offer report are deleted from trading on the stock exchange, the tax rate to be deducted at source at the time of sale (after deletion) will be at 
a rate of thirty percent (30%), As long as no approval has been issued by the Assessing Officer instructing the rate of tax deduction at 
another source, including exemption from withholding tax.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, capital gain derived from the sale of our ordinary shares or ADSs by a shareholder who is a non-
resident of Israel may be exempt from Israeli taxation, provided that all of the following conditions are met: (i) the ordinary shares or ADSs 
were purchased upon or after the listing of the securities on the stock exchange, (ii) the seller does not have a permanent establishment in 
Israel to which the derived capital gain is attributable, (iii) if the seller is a corporation, no more than 25% of its means of control are held, 
directly and indirectly, by shareholders who are Israeli residents, and (iv) if the seller is a corporation, there are no Israeli residents that are 
directly or indirectly entitled to 25% or more of the revenues or profits of the corporation. In addition, the sale of ordinary shares or ADSs 
may be exempt from Israeli capital gains tax under the provisions of an applicable tax treaty. For example, the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty, or 
the Treaty, generally exempts U.S. residents from Israeli capital gains tax in connection with such sale, provided (i) the U.S. treaty resident 
did not own, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the Israeli resident company’s voting power at any time within the 12-month period 
preceding such sale; (ii) the seller, if an individual, is present in Israel for less than 183 days during the taxable year; and (iii) the capital 
gain from the sale was not derived through a permanent establishment of the U.S. resident in Israel. However, under the United States-
Israel Tax Treaty, a Treaty U.S. Resident may be permitted to claim a credit for the Israeli tax against the U.S. federal income tax imposed 
with respect to the sale, exchange or disposition of the shares, subject to the limitations under U.S. laws applicable to foreign tax credits. 
The United States-Israel Tax Treaty does not provide such credit against any U.S. state or local taxes.

Upon the sale of securities, the purchaser, the Israeli stockbroker or the Israeli financial institution through which the shares are 
held is obligated, subject to the above exemptions, to withhold tax from the Real Gain at the rate of 25% or 23% in respect of an individual 
or corporation, respectively.

Upon the sale of securities traded on a stock exchange, a detailed return, including a computation of the tax due, must be filed and 
an advance payment must be made on January 31 and July 31 of every tax year, in respect of sales of securities made within the previous 
six months by Israeli residents for whom tax has not already been deducted. However, if all tax due was withheld at source according to 
applicable provisions of the ITO and the regulations promulgated thereunder, there is no need to file a return and no advance payment must 
be paid. Capital gains are also reportable on the annual income tax return.

Regardless of whether non-Israeli shareholders may be liable for Israeli capital gains tax on the sale of our ordinary shares or 
ADSs, the payment of the consideration for such sale may be subject to withholding of Israeli tax at source and holders of our ordinary 
shares may be required to demonstrate that they are exempt from tax on their capital gains in order to avoid withholding at source at the 
time of sale. Specifically, the Israel Tax Authority may require shareholders who are not liable for Israeli capital gains tax on such a sale to 
sign declarations in forms specified by the Israel Tax Authority, provide documentation (including, for example, a certificate of residency) 
or obtain a specific exemption from the Israel Tax Authority confirming their status as non-Israeli residents (and, in the absence of such 
declarations or exemptions, the Israel Tax Authority may require the purchaser of the shares to withhold tax at source).
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Dividends

A shareholder who is an Israeli resident individual generally will be subject to income tax at a rate of 25% on dividends we pay. 
However, a 30% tax rate will apply if the dividend recipient is a Substantial Shareholder, as defined above, at the time of distribution or at 
any time during the preceding 12-month period. If the recipient of the dividend is an Israeli resident corporation, such dividend generally 
will not be included in the company’s taxable income, provided that the source of the dividend is income that was derived or accrued within 
Israel. 

Dividends distributed by an Israeli resident company to a non-resident of Israel (either individual or corporation) are generally 
subject to tax at the rate of 25% (30% if the dividend recipient is a Substantial Shareholder at the time of distribution or at any time during 
the preceding 12-month period). These rates may be reduced under the provisions of an applicable tax treaty. Under the Treaty, the 
following tax rates will apply in respect of dividends distributed by an Israeli resident company to a U.S. resident: (i) if, during that portion 
of the taxable year which precedes the payment of the dividend and during the whole of its prior taxable year (if any), the U.S. resident is a 
corporation that holds at least 10% of the outstanding voting shares of the Israeli corporation and not more than 25% of the gross income of 
the Israeli corporation for such prior taxable year (if any) consists of certain types of interest or dividends, the tax rate is 12.5%; (ii) if both 
the conditions mentioned in section (i) above are met and the dividend is paid from an Israeli resident company’s income that was entitled 
to a reduced tax rate applicable to a Benefited or Privileged Enterprise under the Encouragement Law the tax rate is 15%; and (iii) in all 
other cases, the tax rate is 25%. The reduced rates under the Treaty will not apply if the dividend income is attributable to a permanent 
establishment of the U.S. treaty resident in Israel. We are obligated to withhold tax upon the distribution of dividends.

Surtax

Subject to the provisions of an applicable tax treaty, individuals who are subject to income tax in Israel (whether any such 
individual is an Israeli resident or non-Israeli resident) are also subject to an additional tax at a rate of 3% on annual income (including, but 
not limited to, income derived from dividends, interest and capital gains) exceeding NIS 721,560 (approximately $199,000) for 2024, 
which amount is linked to the annual change in the Israeli consumer price index.

Foreign exchange regulations

Non-residents of Israel who hold our ordinary shares or ADSs are able to receive any dividends, and any amounts payable upon 
the dissolution, liquidation and winding up of our affairs, in non-Israeli currency at the prevailing rate of exchange. However, Israeli 
income tax is generally required to have been paid or withheld on these amounts. In addition, the statutory framework for the potential 
imposition of currency exchange control has not been eliminated, and these controls may be restored at any time by administrative action.

Estate and gift tax

Israeli law presently does not impose estate or gift taxes.

Certain Material United States Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following discussion describes certain material United States federal income tax considerations relating to the acquisition, 
ownership, and disposition of shares and ADSs, which we collectively refer to as securities, by a U.S. Holder (as defined below) that 
acquires our securities and holds them as a capital asset. This discussion is based on the tax laws of the United States, including the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, Treasury regulations promulgated or proposed thereunder, and administrative and judicial 
interpretations thereof and the United States-Israel Tax Treaty (the “Treaty”), all as in effect on the date hereof. These tax laws are subject 
to change, possibly with retroactive effect, and subject to differing interpretations that could affect the tax consequences described herein. 
In addition, this section is based in part upon the representations of the depositary and the assumption that each obligation in the deposit 
agreement and any related agreements will be performed in accordance with its terms. This discussion does not address the tax 
consequences to a U.S. Holder under the laws of any state, local or foreign taxing jurisdiction.

For purposes of this discussion, a “U.S. Holder” is a beneficial owner of our securities that, for United States federal income tax 
purposes, is:

● an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States; 

● a corporation (or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized under the 
laws of the United States or the District of Columbia or any political subdivision thereof; 
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● an estate the income of which is subject to United States federal income taxation regardless of its source; or 

● a trust if (1) a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the trust’s administration and one or 
more United States persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (2) a valid election under the 
Treasury regulations is in effect for the trust to be treated as a United States person. 

A “Non-U.S. Holder” is a beneficial owner of our securities that is neither a U.S. Holder nor a partnership (or other entity or 
arrangement treated as a partnership for United States federal income tax purposes). Except to the limited extent discussed below, this 
summary does not consider the U.S. federal tax considerations to a person that is a Non-U.S. Holder.

This discussion does not address all aspects of United States federal income taxation that may be applicable to U.S. Holders in 
light of their particular circumstances or status (including, for example, banks and other financial institutions, insurance companies, broker 
and dealers in securities or currencies, traders that have elected to mark securities to market, regulated investment companies, real estate 
investment trusts, partnerships or other pass-through entities, corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax, tax-
exempt organizations, pension plans, persons that hold our shares as part of a straddle, hedge or other integrated investment, persons 
subject to alternative minimum tax or whose “functional currency” is not the U.S. dollar, persons that actually or constructively own ten 
percent or more (by vote or value) of our shares, grantor trusts, persons who acquire our ordinary shares through the exercise or 
cancellation of employee stock options or otherwise as compensation for their services, certain former citizens or residents of the United 
States).

If a partnership (including any entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for United States federal income tax purposes) holds 
our securities, the tax treatment of a person treated as a partner in the partnership for United States federal income tax purposes generally 
will depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Partnerships (and other entities or arrangements so treated for 
United States federal income tax purposes) and their partners should consult their own tax advisors.

This discussion addresses only U.S. Holders (except to the limited extent discussed below with respect to Non-U.S. Holders) 
and does not discuss any tax considerations other than United States federal income tax considerations. Prospective investors are 
urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the United States federal, state, and local, and foreign tax consequences of the 
purchase, ownership, and disposition of our securities.

Ownership of ADSs

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, we expect that a holder of ADSs generally should be treated as the owner of the ordinary 
shares represented by such ADSs. As a result, gain or loss is generally not expected to be recognized on account of exchanges of ordinary 
shares for ADSs, or of ADSs for ordinary shares.

Dividends

We do not expect to make any distribution with respect to our securities. However, if we make any such distribution, under the 
United States federal income tax laws, and subject to the PFIC rules discussed below, the gross amount of any dividend we pay out of our 
current or accumulated earnings and profits (as determined for United States federal income tax purposes) will be includible in income for a 
U.S. Holder and subject to United States federal income taxation. Dividends paid to a noncorporate U.S. Holder may be taxed at the lower 
capital gain rates applicable to “qualified dividend income”, currently, 20 percent, provided that (1) our ordinary shares are readily tradable 
on an established securities market in the United States (such as Nasdaq) or we are eligible for benefits under the Treaty, (2) we are neither 
a PFIC nor treated as such with respect to such a noncorporate U.S. Holder (as discussed below) for either the taxable year in which the 
dividend was paid or the preceding taxable year, (3) certain holding period requirements are met and (4) such a noncorporate U.S. Holder is 
not under an obligation to make related payments with respect to positions in substantially similar or related property. As discussed below 
under “Passive foreign investment company considerations,” we may be a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes for 2024 and in the 
future, and, as a result, the qualified dividend rate may be unavailable with respect to dividends we pay.
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A U.S. Holder must include any Israeli tax withheld from the dividend payment in the gross amount of the dividend even though 
the holder does not in fact receive it. The dividend is taxable to the holder when the holder, in the case of shares, or the Depositary, in the 
case of ADSs, receives the dividend, actually or constructively. Because we are not a United States corporation, the dividend will not be 
eligible for the dividends-received deduction generally allowed to United States corporations in respect of dividends received from other 
United States corporations. The amount of the dividend distribution includible in a U.S. Holder’s income will be the U.S. dollar value of 
the NIS payments made, determined at the spot NIS/U.S. dollar rate on the date the dividend distribution is includible in income, regardless 
of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars. Generally, any gain or loss resulting from currency exchange fluctuations 
during the period from the date the dividend payment is included in income to the date the payment is converted into U.S. dollars will be 
treated as ordinary income or loss and will not be eligible for the special tax rate applicable to qualified dividend income. The gain or loss 
generally will be income or loss from sources within the United States for foreign tax credit limitation purposes.

To the extent a distribution with respect to our securities exceeds our current and accumulated earnings and profits, as determined 
under United States federal income tax principles, the distribution will be treated, first, as a tax-free return of the U.S. Holder’s investment, 
up to the holder’s adjusted tax basis in its securities, and, thereafter, as capital gain, which is subject to the tax treatment described below in 
“—Gain on sale, exchange or other taxable disposition.” We do not intend to calculate our earnings and profits under U.S. federal income 
tax principles. Therefore, a U.S. Holder should expect that a distribution will be reported as a dividend even if that distribution would 
otherwise be treated as a non-taxable return of capital or as capital gain under the rules described above.

Subject to certain significant conditions and limitations, including potential limitations under the Treaty, U.S. Holders may be 
entitled to a credit against their U.S. federal income tax liability or a deduction against U.S. federal taxable income in an amount equal to 
the non-refundable Israeli tax withheld on distributions on our ordinary shares. The election to deduct, rather than credit, foreign taxes, is 
made on a year-by-year basis and applies to all foreign taxes paid by a U.S. Holder or withheld from a U.S. Holder that year. Distributions 
paid on our ordinary shares will generally be treated as passive income that is foreign source for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes. As a 
result of recent changes to the U.S. foreign tax credit rules, a withholding tax may need to satisfy certain additional requirements in order to 
be considered a creditable or deductible tax for a U.S. Holder. We have not determined whether these requirements have been met and, 
accordingly, no assurance can be given that any withholding tax on dividends paid by us will be creditable. U.S. Holders should consult 
their own tax advisors to determine whether and to what extent they would be entitled to such credit.

Subject to the discussion below under “Information reporting and backup withholding,” if you are a Non-U.S. Holder, you 
generally will not be subject to United States federal income (or withholding) tax on dividends received by you on your securities, unless 
you conduct a trade or business in the United States and such income is effectively connected with that trade or business (and, if required 
by an applicable income tax treaty, the dividends are attributable to a permanent establishment or fixed base that such holder maintains in 
the United States).

Gain on sale, exchange or other taxable disposition

Subject to the PFIC rules described below under “—Passive foreign investment company considerations,” a U.S. Holder that sells, 
exchanges or otherwise disposes securities in a taxable disposition generally will recognize capital gain or loss for United States federal 
income tax purposes equal to the difference between the U.S. dollar value of the amount realized and the holder’s tax basis, determined in 
U.S. dollars, in the securities. Gain or loss recognized on such a sale, exchange or other disposition of securities generally will be long-term 
capital gain if the U.S. Holder’s holding period in the securities exceeds one year. Long-term capital gains of non-corporate U.S. Holders 
are generally taxed at preferential rates. The gain or loss generally will be income or loss from sources within the United States for U.S. 
foreign tax credit limitation purposes. A U.S. Holder’s ability to deduct capital losses is subject to limitations.
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Subject to the discussion below under “Information reporting and backup withholding,” if you are a Non-U.S. Holder, you 
generally will not be subject to United States federal income or withholding tax on any gain realized on the sale or exchange of such 
securities unless:

● such gain is effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business in the United States (or, if required by an 
applicable income tax treaty, the gain is attributable to a permanent establishment or fixed base that such holder maintains in 
the United States); or 

● you are an individual and have been present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of such sale or 
exchange and certain other conditions are met. 

For a cash basis taxpayer, units of foreign currency paid or received are translated into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on the 
settlement date of the purchase or sale. In that case, no foreign currency exchange gain or loss will result from currency fluctuations 
between the trade date and the settlement date of such a purchase or sale. An accrual basis taxpayer, however, may elect the same treatment 
required of cash basis taxpayers with respect to purchases and sales of our securities that are traded on an established securities market, 
provided the election is applied consistently from year to year. Such election may not be changed without the consent of the IRS. An 
accrual basis taxpayer who does not make such election may recognize exchange gain or loss based on currency fluctuations between the 
trade date and the settlement date. Any foreign currency gain or loss a U.S. Holder realizes will be U.S. source ordinary income or loss. 

Please consult your tax advisor regarding the proper treatment of foreign currency gains or losses and the deduction or credit for 
any Israeli tax paid or withheld with respect to a sale or other disposition of our securities.

Passive foreign investment company considerations

If we were classified as a PFIC in any taxable year, a U.S. Holder would be subject to special rules with respect to distributions on 
and sales, exchanges and other dispositions of the securities. We will be treated as a PFIC for any taxable year in which at least 75 percent 
of our gross income is “passive income” or at least 50 percent of our gross assets during the taxable year, based on the average of the fair 
market values of the assets determined at the end of each quarterly period, are assets that produce or are held for the production of passive 
income. Passive income for this purpose generally includes, among other things, dividends, interest, rents, royalties, gains from 
commodities and securities transactions, and gains from assets that produce passive income. Passive income also includes amounts derived 
by reason of the temporary investment of funds, including those raised in a public offering. However, rents and royalties received from 
unrelated parties in connection with the active conduct of a trade or business are not considered passive income for purposes of the PFIC 
test. In determining whether we are a PFIC, a pro rata portion of the income and assets of each corporation in which we own, directly or 
indirectly, at least a 25% interest (by value) is taken into account.

A foreign corporation’s PFIC status is an annual determination that is based on tests that are factual in nature, and our PFIC status 
for any year will depend on the composition of our income, fair market value of our assets, and our activities for such year. Based on our 
non-passive revenue-producing operations for the year ended December 31, 2024, we may have been a PFIC for our 2024 taxable year and 
that we may be a PFIC for 2024 and in the future, although there can be no assurance in this regard Even if we determine that we are not a 
PFIC after the close of a taxable year, there can be no assurance that the IRS or a court will agree with our conclusion.

Excess distribution rules

If we were a PFIC with respect to a U.S. Holder, then unless the holder makes one of the elections described below, a special tax 
regime would apply to the U.S. Holder with respect to (a) any “excess distribution” (generally, aggregate distributions in any year that are 
greater than 125% of the average annual distribution received by the holder in the shorter of the three preceding years or the holder’s 
holding period for the securities) and (b) any gain realized on the sale or other disposition of the securities. Under this regime, any excess 
distribution and realized gain will be treated as ordinary income and will be subject to tax as if (a) the excess distribution or gain had been 
realized ratably over the U.S. Holder’s holding period, (b) the amount deemed realized in each year had been subject to tax in each year of 
that holding period at the highest marginal rate for such year (other than income allocated to the current period or any taxable period before 
we became a PFIC, which would be subject to tax at the U.S. Holder’s regular ordinary income rate for the current year and would not be 
subject to the interest charge discussed below), and (c) the interest charge generally applicable to underpayments of tax had been imposed 
on the taxes deemed to have been payable in those years. In addition, dividend distributions would not qualify for the lower rates of 
taxation applicable to long-term capital gains discussed above under “Dividends”.
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A U.S. Holder that holds the securities at any time during a taxable year in which we are classified as a PFIC generally will 
continue to treat such securities as securities in a PFIC, even if we no longer satisfy the income and asset tests described above, unless the 
U.S. Holder elects to recognize gain, which will be taxed under the excess distribution rules as if such securities had been sold on the last 
day of the last taxable year for which we were a PFIC.

Certain elections by a U.S. Holder would alleviate some of the adverse consequences of PFIC status and would result in an 
alternative treatment of the securities, as described below. However, we do not currently intend to provide the information necessary for 
U.S. Holders to make “QEF elections,” as described below, and the availability of a “mark-to-market election” with respect to the securities 
is a factual determination that will depend on the manner and quantity of trading of our securities, as described below.

QEF election

If we were a PFIC, the rules above would not apply to a U.S. Holder that makes an election to treat our securities as stock of a 
qualified electing fund. A U.S. Holder that makes a QEF election is required to include in income its pro rata share of our ordinary earnings 
and net capital gain as ordinary income and long-term capital gain, respectively, subject to a separate election to defer payment of taxes, 
which deferral is subject to an interest charge. A U.S. Holder makes a QEF election generally by attaching a completed IRS Form 8621 to a 
timely filed United States federal income tax return for the year beginning with which the QEF election is to be effective (taking into 
account any extensions). A QEF election can be revoked only with the consent of the IRS. In order for a U.S. Holder to make a valid QEF 
election, we must annually provide or make available to the holder certain information. We do not intend to provide to U.S. Holders the 
information required to make a valid QEF election and we currently make no undertaking to provide such information. 

Mark-to-market election

If we were a PFIC, the rules above also would not apply to a U.S. Holder that makes a “mark-to-market” election with respect to 
the securities, but this election will be available with respect to the securities only if they meet certain minimum trading requirements to be 
considered “marketable stock” for purposes of the PFIC rules. Securities will be marketable stock if they are regularly traded on a national 
securities exchange that is registered with the SEC or on a non-U.S. exchange or market that meets certain requirements under the Treasury 
regulations. Securities generally will be considered regularly traded during any calendar year during which they are traded, other than in de 
minimis quantities, on at least 15 days during each calendar quarter. Any trades that have as their principal purpose meeting this 
requirement will be disregarded.

A U.S. Holder that makes a valid mark-to-market election for the first tax year in which the holder holds (or is deemed to hold) 
our securities and for which we are a PFIC will be required to include each year an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market 
value of such securities the holder owns as of the close of the taxable year over the holder’s adjusted tax basis in such securities. The U.S. 
Holder will be entitled to a deduction for the excess, if any, of the holder’s adjusted tax basis in the securities over the fair market value of 
such securities as of the close of the taxable year, but only to the extent of any net mark-to-market gains with respect to such securities 
included by the U.S. Holder under the election for prior taxable years. The U.S. Holder’s basis in such securities will be adjusted to reflect 
the amounts included or deducted pursuant to the election. Amounts included in income pursuant to a mark-to-market election, as well as 
gain on the sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of such securities, will be treated as ordinary income. The deductible portion of any 
mark-to-market loss, as well as loss on a sale, exchange or other disposition of our securities to the extent that the amount of such loss does 
not exceed net mark-to-market gains previously included in income, will be treated as ordinary loss.

The mark-to-market election applies to the taxable year for which the election is made and all subsequent taxable years, unless the 
shares cease to be treated as marketable stock for purposes of the PFIC rules or the IRS consents to its revocation. The excess distribution 
rules described above generally will not apply to a U.S. Holder for tax years for which a mark-to-market election is in effect. However, if 
we were a PFIC for any year in which the U.S. Holder owns the securities but before a mark-to-market election is made, the interest charge 
rules described above would apply to any mark-to-market gain recognized in the year the election is made.
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PFIC reporting obligations

A U.S. Holder of PFIC shares must generally file an annual information return on IRS Form 8621 (Information Return by a 
Shareholder of a Passive Foreign Investment Company or Qualified Electing Fund) containing such information as the U.S. Treasury 
Department may require. The failure to file IRS Form 8621 could result in the imposition of penalties and the extension of the statute of 
limitations with respect to U.S. federal income tax.

U.S. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors as to our status as a PFIC, and the tax consequences to them if we were 
a PFIC, including the reporting requirements and the desirability of making, and the availability of, a QEF election or a mark-to-
market election with respect to the securities.

Medicare tax

Non-corporate U.S. Holders that are individuals, estates or trusts and whose income exceeds certain thresholds generally are 
subject to a 3.8% tax on all or a portion of their net investment income, which may include their gross dividend income and net gains from 
the disposition of securities. A United States person that is an individual, estate or trust is encouraged to consult its tax advisors regarding 
the applicability of this Medicare tax to its income and gains in respect of any investment in our securities.

Information reporting with respect to foreign financial assets

Individual U.S. Holders may be subject to certain reporting obligations on IRS Form 8938 (Statement of Specified Foreign 
Financial Asset) with respect to the securities for any taxable year during which the U.S. Holder’s aggregate value of these and certain 
other “specified foreign financial assets” exceed a threshold amount that varies with the filing status of the individual. This reporting 
obligation also applies to domestic entities formed or availed of to hold, directly or indirectly, specified foreign financial assets, including 
the securities. Significant penalties can apply if U.S. Holders are required to make this disclosure and fail to do so.

Information reporting and backup withholding

Certain U.S. Holders will be required to file an IRS Form 926 (Return by a U.S. Transferor of Property to a Foreign Corporation) 
to report a transfer of cash or other property to us. Substantial penalties may be imposed on a U.S. Holder that fails to comply with this 
reporting requirement. Each U.S. Holder is urged to consult with its own tax advisor regarding this reporting obligation.

In general, information reporting, on IRS Form 1099, will apply to dividends in respect of securities and the proceeds from the 
sale, exchange or redemption of securities that are paid to a holder within the United States (and in certain cases, outside the United States), 
unless such holder is an exempt recipient such as a corporation. Backup withholding (currently at a 24% rate) may apply to such payments 
if a holder fails to provide a taxpayer identification number (generally on an IRS Form W-9) or certification of other exempt status or fails 
to report in full dividend and interest income.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. A U.S. Holder generally may obtain a refund of any amounts withheld under the 
backup withholding rules that exceed the U.S. Holder’s income tax liability by filing a refund claim with the IRS.

Payments to Non-U.S. Holders of distributions on, or proceeds from the disposition of, our securities are generally exempt from 
information reporting and backup withholding. However, a Non-U.S. Holder may be required, under certain circumstances, to establish that 
exemption by providing certification of non-U.S. status on an appropriate IRS Form W-8.

THE DISCUSSION ABOVE IS A GENERAL SUMMARY AND IS NOT INTENDED TO CONSTITUTE A COMPLETE 
ANALYSIS OF ALL TAX CONSEQUENCES RELATING TO THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF OUR 
SECURITIES. IT DOES NOT COVER ALL TAX MATTERS THAT MAY BE OF IMPORTANCE TO A PROSPECTIVE 
INVESTOR. EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR IS URGED TO CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISOR ABOUT THE TAX 
CONSEQUENCES TO IT RELATING TO THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP, AND DISPOSITION OF SECURITIES IN LIGHT 
OF THE INVESTOR’S OWN CIRCUMSTANCES.
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F. Dividends and Paying Agents

Not applicable.

G. Statement by Experts

Not applicable.

H. Documents on Display

We are subject to certain information reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, applicable to foreign private issuers and under 
those requirements will file reports with the SEC. The SEC maintains an internet site at http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and 
information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. Our filings with the SEC will also be 
available to the public through the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act related to the furnishing and content of proxy 
statements, and our officers, directors and principal shareholders will be exempt from the reporting and short-swing profit recovery 
provisions contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act. In addition, we are not required under the Exchange Act to file annual, quarterly 
and current reports and financial statements with the SEC as frequently or as promptly as U.S. domestic companies whose securities are 
registered under the Exchange Act. However, we will file with the SEC, within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year, or such 
applicable time as required by the SEC, an annual report on Form 20-F containing financial statements audited by an independent registered 
public accounting firm, and may submit to the SEC, on a Form 6-K, unaudited quarterly financial information.

I. Subsidiary Information.

Not applicable.

J. Annual Report to Security Holders.

Not applicable.

ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our 
financial position due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our current investment policy is to invest available cash in 
bank deposits with banks that have a credit rating of at least A-minus. Accordingly, some of our cash and cash equivalents is held in 
deposits that bear interest. Given the current low rates of interest we receive, we will not be adversely affected if such rates are reduced. 
Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of U.S. dollar/NIS exchange rates, which is discussed in detail in the following paragraph. 

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that we will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with our financial liabilities that are 
settled in cash. Cash flow forecasting is performed in our operating entity. We monitor forecasts of our liquidity requirements to ensure we 
have sufficient cash to meet operational needs. We may be reliant on our ability to raise additional investment capital from the issuance of 
both debt and equity securities to fund our business operating plans and future obligations.
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Credit risk

Financial instruments, which subject us to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents and trade 
receivables. Our cash and cash equivalents are held at a major financial institution located in Israel. Management regularly assesses the 
financial strength of the financial institutions that we work with and believes the financial institution that hold our cash and cash 
equivalents are financially sound and, accordingly, minimal credit risk exists with respect to cash and cash equivalents.

Our management regularly examines the quality of the customers, including an analysis of each new potential customer and 
accordingly determines the scope of the engagement with them. As of the reported periods, the balance of customers whose carrying 
amount was impaired by management, and for whom the provision for credit losses was recognized, is based mainly on specific customers 
who did not meet the payment terms. The main factors taken into account in determining the provision for impairment of such customers 
are our familiarity with the customers and our history of activity with them, the depth of arrears, the financial condition of the customers as 
known to us and the quality of the collateral granted.

Equity price risk

As we have not invested in securities riskier than short-term bank deposits, we do not believe that changes in equity prices pose a 
material risk to our holdings. However, decreases in the market price of our ordinary shares or ADSs could make it more difficult for us to 
raise additional funds in the future or require us to raise funds at terms unfavorable to us.

In addition, we are exposed to risks arising from changes in the quoted price of the warrants issued to investors as part of our IPO 
on the Nasdaq in June 2022. As the exercise price of the warrants are determined in foreign currency, and the warrants might be exercisable 
into a variable number of shares due to the cashless exercise mechanism, the warrants were accounted for as a derivative financial liability 
that is treated as financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. Accordingly, in the event that the quoted price of our warrants will 
increase, we expect to record a loss in respect of the said obligation.

Further, on July 16, 2024, we entered into the Purchase Agreement with YA pursuant to which we had the right to sell to YA up to 
$15.0 million in ADSs subject to certain limitations, from time to time during the 48-month period following the date of execution of the 
Purchase Agreement. The purchase price for the ADSs that we may sell to YA will fluctuate based on the price of our ADSs. Depending on 
market liquidity at the time, sales of such ADSs has caused and will likely continue to cause the trading price of our ADSs to fall. After YA 
has acquired the ADSs, YA may resell all, some, or none of those shares at any time or from time to time in its discretion. The sale of a 
substantial number of shares of our ADSs to YA, or the anticipation of such sales, could make it more difficult for us to sell equity or 
equity-related securities in the future at a price that we might otherwise wish to effect sales.

Inflation risk

We do not believe that inflation has had, nor will it have a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of 
operations in the reporting period. However, if our costs were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to 
fully offset such higher costs through hedging transactions. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Our results of operations and cash flow are subject to fluctuations due to changes in U.S. dollar/NIS currency exchange rates. A 
certain portion of our cash and cash equivalents is held in U.S. dollars, and the vast majority of our expenses is denominated in NIS. 
Changes of 5% and 10% in the U.S. dollar/NIS exchange rate would increase/decrease our operating expenses for the year ended December 
31, 2024 by approximately 1% and 2%, respectively. However, these historical figures may not be indicative of future exposure, as we 
expect that the percentage of our NIS denominated expenses will decrease in the near future as our operations expand globally, therefore 
reducing our exposure to exchange rate fluctuations. Currently, we do not hedge our foreign currency exchange risk. In the future, we may 
enter into formal currency hedging transactions to decrease the risk of financial exposure from fluctuations in the exchange rates of our 
principal operating currencies. These measures, however, may not adequately protect us from the material adverse effects of such 
fluctuations.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the NIS increased by 0.5%. During the 
year ended December 31, 2023, the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the NIS increased by 3%. During the year ended December 
31, 2022, the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the NIS decreased by 13.2%.

72



ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES

A. Debt Securities.

Not applicable.

B. Warrants and rights.

IPO Warrants

On June 7, 2022, we closed our U.S. IPO of 2,941,918 units, each consisting of one American Depositary Share (ADS) and one 
warrant to purchase one ADS, 208,282 pre-funded units, each consisting of one pre-funded warrant to purchase one ADS and one warrant 
to purchase one ADS, at a price to the public of $4.13 per unit ($4.129 per pre-funded unit), for gross proceeds of approximately $13 
million, before deducting underwriting discounts and offering expenses. The warrants originally had a per ADS exercise price of $5.00, 
were exercisable immediately and expire five years from the date of issuance. The pre-funded warrants have a per ADS exercise price of 
$0.001, were exercisable immediately and may be exercised at any time until exercised in full. As of December 31, 2024, after taking into 
account the changes in the Company’s ADS ratio, the number of Warrants exercisable for one ADS are 12,258 at an exercise price of 
$1,200.

The following summary of certain terms and provisions of our warrants is not complete and is subject to, and qualified in its 
entirety by, the provisions of the warrant agent agreement between us and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as warrant agent, and the 
form of warrant, both of which are filed as exhibits to this Annual Report.

Exercisability. The warrants are exercisable at any time after June 7, 2022, until the close of business on June 7, 2027. The 
warrants will be exercisable, at the option of each holder, in whole or in part by delivering to us a duly executed exercise notice and, at any 
time a registration statement registering the issuance of the ordinary shares underlying the warrants under the Securities Act is effective and 
available for the issuance of such shares, by payment in full in immediately available funds for the number of ordinary shares purchased 
upon such exercise. If a registration statement registering the issuance of the ordinary shares underlying the warrants under the Securities 
Act is not effective or available the holder may, in its sole discretion, elect to exercise the warrant through a cashless exercise, in which 
case the holder would receive upon such exercise the net number of ordinary shares determined according to the formula set forth in the 
warrant. No fractional shares will be issued in connection with the exercise of a warrant. In lieu of fractional shares, we will pay the holder 
an amount in cash equal to the fractional amount multiplied by the exercise price.

Exercise Limitation. A holder will not have the right to exercise any portion of the warrant if the holder (together with its 
affiliates) would beneficially own in excess of 4.99% of the number of ordinary shares outstanding immediately after giving effect to the 
exercise, as such percentage ownership is determined in accordance with the terms of the warrants. However, any holder may increase or 
decrease such percentage to any other percentage not in excess of 9.99%, provided that any increase in such percentage shall not be 
effective until 61 days following notice from the holder to us.

Exercise Price. The original exercise price per whole ADS purchasable upon exercise of the warrants was $5.00 per ADS. After 
taking into account the changes in the Company’s ADS ratio, the exercise price per whole ADS purchasable upon exercise of the warrants 
is $1,200. The exercise price is subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of certain stock dividends and distributions, stock splits, stock 
combinations, reclassifications or similar events affecting our ordinary shares and also upon any distributions of assets, including cash, 
stock or other property to our shareholders.

Transferability. Subject to applicable laws, the warrants may be offered for sale, sold, transferred or assigned without our consent.

Exchange Listing. Our warrants are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market, under the symbol “SVREW”.

Warrant Agent. The warrants will be issued in registered form under a warrant agent agreement between Computershare Limited, 
as warrant agent, and us. The warrants shall initially be represented only by one or more global warrants deposited with the warrant agent, 
as custodian on behalf of The Depository Trust Company, or DTC, and registered in the name of Cede & Co., a nominee of DTC, or as 
otherwise directed by DTC.
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Fundamental Transactions. In the event of a fundamental transaction, as described in the warrants and generally including any 
reorganization, recapitalization or reclassification of our ordinary shares, the sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of 
our properties or assets, our consolidation or merger with or into another person, the acquisition of more than 50% of our outstanding 
ordinary shares, or any person or group becoming the beneficial owner of 50% of the voting power represented by our outstanding ordinary 
shares, the holders of the warrants will be entitled to receive upon exercise of the warrants the kind and amount of securities, cash or other 
property that the holders would have received had they exercised the warrants immediately prior to such fundamental transaction without 
regard to any limitations on exercised contained in the warrants.

Rights as a Stockholder. Except as otherwise provided in the warrants or by virtue of such holder’s ownership of our ordinary 
shares, the holder of a warrant does not have the rights or privileges of a holder of our ordinary shares, including any voting rights, until the 
holder exercises the warrant.

Governing Law. The warrants are governed by New York law.

IPO Representative’s Warrants

As part of our IPO, we issued to the representative as compensation warrants to purchase up to 157,510 ADSs representing 
787,550 ordinary shares, which were equal to 5% of the total number of ADSs (including any ADSs underlying the pre-funded warrants) 
sold in our IPO. After taking into account the changes in the Company’s ADS ratio, there are 657 Representative’s Warrants, which are 
exercisable at a per ADS exercise price of $1,239.29. The Representative’s Warrants are exercisable at any time after December 2, 2022 
until the close of business on June 2, 2027.

January 2025 Funding

On January 30, 2025, we entered into the Purchase Agreements with certain institutional investors (collectively, the “Investors”), 
pursuant to which on January 31, 2025, at the closing, the Company sold to the Investors in the registered direct offering an aggregate of 
195,428,970 ordinary shares, represented by 162,899 ADSs at an offering price of $9.331 per ADS. The ADSs were sold pursuant to a 
prospectus supplement dated January 30, 2025, filed by the Company on January 31, 2025 with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(the “SEC”), in connection with a takedown from the Company’s shelf registration statement on Form F-3 (File No. 333-274458), which 
became effective by the SEC on September 27, 2023, and the base prospectus dated as of September 27, 2023 contained in such registration 
statement.

In addition, at the closing, the Company offered and sold to the Investors in a concurrent Private Placement Offering pursuant to 
the Purchase Agreements, unregistered warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 390,857,940 ordinary shares represented by 325,797 
ADS with each Private Placement Warrant having the right to purchase 1 Ordinary Share.

Exercisability: The Private Placement Warrants became exercisable on February 16, 2025, and continue to be exercisable through 
February 16, 2027. The warrants will be exercisable, at the option of each holder, in whole or in part by delivering to us a duly executed 
exercise notice and, at any time a registration statement registering the issuance of the ordinary shares underlying the warrants under the 
Securities Act is effective and available for the issuance of such shares, by payment in full in immediately available funds for the number of 
ordinary shares purchased upon such exercise. If a registration statement registering the issuance of the ordinary shares underlying the 
warrants under the Securities Act is not effective or available the holder may, in its sole discretion, elect to exercise the warrant through a 
cashless exercise, in which case the holder would receive upon such exercise the net number of ordinary shares determined according to the 
formula set forth in the warrant. No fractional shares will be issued in connection with the exercise of a warrant. In lieu of fractional shares, 
we will pay the holder an amount in cash equal to the fractional amount multiplied by the exercise price

Exercise Price. The exercise price of the Warrants is $10.664 per ADS, subject to customary adjustment in the event of certain 
stock dividends and distributions, stock splits, stock combinations, reclassifications or similar events affecting the Ordinary Shares and also 
upon any distributions of assets, including cash, stock or other property to the stockholders of the Company.
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Exercise Limitation. A holder will not have the right to exercise any portion of the warrant if the holder (together with its 
affiliates) would beneficially own in excess of 4.99% of the number of ordinary shares outstanding immediately after giving effect to the 
exercise, as such percentage ownership is determined in accordance with the terms of the warrants. However, any holder may increase or 
decrease such percentage to any other percentage not in excess of 9.99%, provided that any increase in such percentage shall not be 
effective until 61 days following notice from the holder to us.

Transferability. Subject to applicable laws, the warrants may be offered for sale, sold, transferred or assigned without our consent.

January 2025 Funding Representative Warrants

On January 31, 2025, the Company issued to the designees of the Placement Agent Warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 
13,680,000 ordinary shares, represented by 11,403 ADSs at an exercise price of $11.66375 per ADS. The Placement Agent Warrants have 
the same terms as the Private Placement Warrants”), except that the term of the Placement Agent Warrants is five (5) years following the 
commencement of the sales in the registered direct offering, which also closed on January 31, 2025

C. Other Securities.

Not applicable.

D. American Depositary Shares

The Bank of New York Mellon, as depositary, will register and deliver our ADSs. Each ADS will represent one thousand two 
hundred ordinary shares deposited with Bank Leumi, as custodian for the depositary in Israel. Each ADS will also represent any other 
securities, cash or other property which may be held by the depositary. The depositary’s office at which our ADSs will be administered is 
located at the depositary’s principal executive office, at 240 Greenwich Street, New York, N.Y. 10286.

You may hold ADSs either (A) directly (i) by having an ADR, which is a certificate evidencing a specific number of ADSs, 
registered in your name or (ii) by having uncertificated ADSs registered in your name or (B) indirectly by holding a security entitlement in 
ADSs through your broker or other financial institution that is a direct or indirect participant in the Depository Trust Company, or DTC. If 
you hold ADSs directly, you are a registered ADS holder, also referred to as an ADS holder. This description assumes you are an ADS 
holder. If you hold our ADSs indirectly, you must rely on the procedures of your broker or other financial institution to assert the rights of 
ADS holders described in this section. You should consult with your broker or financial institution to find out what those procedures are.

Registered holders of uncertificated ADSs will receive statements from the depositary confirming their holdings.

As an ADS holder, we will not treat you as one of our shareholders and you will not have shareholder rights. Israeli law governs 
shareholder rights. The depositary will be the holder of the ordinary shares underlying your ADSs. As a registered holder of ADSs, you will 
have ADS holder rights. A deposit agreement among us, the depositary, ADS holders and all other persons indirectly or beneficially 
holding ADSs sets out ADS holder rights as well as the rights and obligations of the depositary. New York law governs the deposit 
agreement and our ADSs.

The following is a summary of the material provisions of the deposit agreement. For more complete information, you should read 
the entire deposit agreement and the form of ADR.

Dividends and Other Distributions

How will you receive dividends and other distributions on the shares?

The depositary has agreed to pay or distribute to ADS holders the cash dividends or other distributions it or the custodian receives 
on ordinary shares or other deposited securities, upon payment or deduction of its fees and expenses. You will receive these distributions in 
proportion to the number of ordinary shares your ADSs represent.
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Cash. The depositary will convert any cash dividend or other cash distribution we pay on the ordinary shares into U.S. dollars, if it 
can do so on a reasonable basis and can transfer the U.S. dollars to the United States. If that is not possible or if any government approval is 
needed and cannot be obtained, the deposit agreement allows the depositary to distribute the foreign currency only to those ADS holders to 
whom it is possible to do so. It will hold the foreign currency it cannot convert for the account of the ADS holders who have not been paid. 
It will not invest the foreign currency and it will not be liable for any interest.

Before making a distribution, any withholding taxes or other governmental charges that must be paid will be deducted. See “Item 
10.E. Taxation.” It will distribute only whole U.S. dollars and cents and will round fractional cents to the nearest whole cent. If the 
exchange rates fluctuate during a time when the depositary cannot convert the foreign currency, you may lose some or all of the value of 
the distribution.

Shares. The depositary may distribute additional ADSs representing any ordinary shares we distribute as a dividend or free 
distribution. The depositary will only distribute whole ADSs. It will sell ordinary shares which would require it to deliver a fraction of an 
ADS (or ADSs representing those ordinary shares) and distribute the net proceeds in the same way as it does with cash. If the depositary 
does not distribute additional ADSs, the outstanding ADSs will also represent the new shares. The depositary may sell a portion of the 
distributed ordinary shares (or ADSs representing those ordinary shares) sufficient to pay its fees and expenses in connection with that 
distribution.

Rights to purchase additional shares. If we offer holders of our securities any rights to subscribe for additional ordinary shares 
or any other rights, the depositary may (i) exercise those rights on behalf of ADS holders, (ii) distribute those rights to ADS holders or (iii) 
sell those rights and distribute the net proceeds to ADS holders, in each case after deduction or upon payment of its fees and expenses. To 
the extent the depositary does not do any of those things, it will allow the rights to lapse. In that case, you will receive no value for them. 
The depositary will exercise or distribute rights only if we ask it to and provide satisfactory assurances to the depositary that it is legal to do 
so. If the depositary will exercise rights, it will purchase the securities to which the rights relate and distribute those securities or, in the case 
of ordinary shares, new ADSs representing the new ordinary shares, to subscribing ADS holders, but only if ADS holders have paid the 
exercise price to the depositary. U.S. securities laws may restrict the ability of the depositary to distribute rights or ADSs or other securities 
issued on exercise of rights to all or certain ADS holders, and the securities distributed may be subject to restrictions on transfer.

Other Distributions. The depositary will send to ADS holders anything else we distribute on deposited securities by any means it 
thinks is legal, fair and practical. If it cannot make the distribution in that way, the depositary will have a choice. It may decide to sell what 
we distributed and distribute the net proceeds, in the same way as it does with cash. Or, it may decide to hold what we distributed, in which 
case ADSs will also represent the newly distributed property. However, the depositary is not required to distribute any securities (other than 
ADSs) to ADS holders unless it receives satisfactory evidence from us that it is legal to make that distribution. The depositary may sell a 
portion of the distributed securities or property sufficient to pay its fees and expenses in connection with that distribution. U.S. securities 
laws may restrict the ability of the depositary to distribute securities to all or certain ADS holders, and the securities distributed may be 
subject to restrictions on transfer.

The depositary is not responsible if it decides that it is unlawful or impractical to make a distribution available to any ADS 
holders. We have no obligation to register ADSs, ordinary shares, rights or other securities under the Securities Act. We also have no 
obligation to take any other action to permit the distribution of ADSs, shares, rights or anything else to ADS holders. This means that you 
may not receive the distributions we make on our ordinary shares or any value for them if it is illegal or impractical for us to make them 
available to you.

Deposit, Withdrawal and Cancellation

How are ADSs issued?

The depositary will deliver ADSs if you or your broker deposits ordinary shares or evidence of rights to receive ordinary shares 
with the custodian. Upon payment of its fees and expenses and of any taxes or charges, such as stamp taxes or stock transfer taxes or fees, 
the depositary will register the appropriate number of ADSs in the names you request and will deliver our ADSs to or upon the order of the 
person or persons that made the deposit.
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How can ADS holders withdraw the deposited securities?

You may surrender your ADSs for the purpose of withdrawal at the depositary’s office. Upon payment of its fees and expenses 
and of any taxes or charges, such as stamp taxes or stock transfer taxes or fees, the depositary will deliver the ordinary shares and any other 
deposited securities underlying our ADSs to the ADS holder or a person the ADS holder designates at the office of the custodian. Or, at 
your request, risk and expense, the depositary will deliver the deposited securities at its office, if feasible. The depositary may charge you a 
fee and its expenses for instructing the custodian regarding delivery of deposited securities.

How do ADS holders interchange between certificated ADSs and uncertificated ADSs?

You may surrender your ADR to the depositary for the purpose of exchanging your ADR for uncertificated ADSs. The depositary 
will cancel that ADR and will send to the ADS holder a statement confirming that the ADS holder is the registered holder of uncertificated 
ADSs. Alternatively, upon receipt by the depositary of a proper instruction from a registered holder of uncertificated ADSs requesting the 
exchange of uncertificated ADSs for certificated ADSs, the depositary will execute and deliver to the ADS holder an ADR evidencing 
those ADSs.

Voting Rights

How do you vote?

ADS holders may instruct the depositary how to vote the number of deposited ordinary shares their ADSs represent. If we request 
the depositary to solicit your voting instructions (and we are not required to do so), the depositary will notify you of a shareholders’ 
meeting and send or make voting materials available to you. Those materials will describe the matters to be voted on and explain how ADS 
holders may instruct the depositary how to vote. For instructions to be valid, they must reach the depositary by a date set by the depositary. 
The depositary will try, as far as practical, subject to the laws of Israel and the provisions of our articles of association or similar 
documents, to vote or to have its agents vote the ordinary shares or other deposited securities as instructed by ADS holders. If we do not 
request the depositary to solicit your voting instructions, you can still send voting instructions, and, in that case, the depositary may try to 
vote as you instruct, but it is not required to do so.

Except by instructing the depositary as described above, you won’t be able to exercise voting rights unless you surrender your 
ADSs and withdraw the ordinary shares. However, you may not know about the meeting enough in advance to withdraw the ordinary 
shares. In any event, the depositary will not exercise any discretion in voting deposited securities and it will only vote or attempt to vote as 
instructed.

We cannot assure you that you will receive the voting materials in time to ensure that you can instruct the depositary to vote your 
shares. In addition, the depositary and its agents are not responsible for failing to carry out voting instructions or for the manner of carrying 
out voting instructions. This means that you may not be able to exercise your right to vote and there may be nothing you can do if your 
ordinary shares are not voted as you requested.

In order to give you a reasonable opportunity to instruct the Depositary as to the exercise of voting rights relating to Deposited 
Securities, if we request the Depositary to act, we agree to give the Depositary notice of any such meeting and details concerning the 
matters to be voted upon at least 45 days in advance of the meeting date.

Fees and Expenses

Persons depositing or withdrawing ordinary shares or
ADS holders must pay For

$5.00 (or less) per 100 ADSs (or portion of 100 ADSs) Issuance of ADSs, including issuances resulting from a distribution of 
ordinary shares or rights or other property Cancellation of ADSs for 
the purpose of withdrawal, including if the deposit agreement 
terminates

$.05 (or less) per ADS Any cash distribution to ADS holders
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Persons depositing or withdrawing ordinary shares or
ADS holders must pay For

A fee equivalent to the fee that would be payable if securities 
distributed to you had been ordinary shares and the ordinary shares 
had been deposited for issuance of ADSs

Distribution of securities distributed to holders of deposited securities 
(including rights) that are distributed by the depositary to ADS holders

$.05 (or less) per ADS per calendar year Depositary services

Registration or transfer fees Transfer and registration of ordinary shares on our share register to or 
from the name of the depositary or its agent when you deposit or 
withdraw ordinary shares

Expenses of the depositary Cable, telex and facsimile transmissions (when expressly provided in 
the deposit agreement) converting foreign currency to U.S. dollars

Taxes and other governmental charges the depositary or the 
custodian has to pay on any ADSs or ordinary shares underlying 
ADSs, such as stock transfer taxes, stamp duty or withholding 
taxes

As necessary

Any charges incurred by the depositary or its agents for servicing 
the deposited securities

As necessary

The depositary collects its fees for delivery and surrender of ADSs directly from investors depositing ordinary shares or 
surrendering ADSs for the purpose of withdrawal or from intermediaries acting for them. The depositary collects fees for making 
distributions to investors by deducting those fees from the amounts distributed or by selling a portion of distributable property to pay the 
fees. The depositary may collect its annual fee for depositary services by deduction from cash distributions or by directly billing investors 
or by charging the book-entry system accounts of participants acting for them. The depositary may collect any of its fees by deduction from 
any cash distribution payable (or by selling a portion of securities or other property distributable) to ADS holders that are obligated to pay 
those fees. The depositary may generally refuse to provide fee-attracting services until its fees for those services are paid.

From time to time, the depositary may make payments to us to reimburse us for costs and expenses generally arising out of 
establishment and maintenance of the ADS program, waive fees and expenses for services provided to us by the depositary or share 
revenue from the fees collected from ADS holders. In performing its duties under the deposit agreement, the depositary may use brokers, 
dealers, foreign currency or other service providers that are owned by or affiliated with the depositary and that may earn or share fees, 
spreads or commissions.

The depositary may convert currency itself or through any of its affiliates, or the custodian or we may convert currency and pay 
U.S. dollars to the depositary. Where the depositary converts currency itself or through any of its affiliates, the depositary acts as principal 
for its own account and not as agent, advisor, broker or fiduciary on behalf of any other person and earns revenue, including, without 
limitation, transaction spreads, that it will retain for its own account. The revenue is based on, among other things, the difference between 
the exchange rate assigned to the currency conversion made under the deposit agreement and the rate that the depositary or its affiliate 
receives when buying or selling foreign currency for its own account. The depositary makes no representation that the exchange rate used 
or obtained by it or its affiliate in any currency conversion under the deposit agreement will be the most favorable rate that could be 
obtained at the time or that the method by which that rate will be determined will be the most favorable to ADS holders, subject to the 
depositary’s obligation to act without negligence or bad faith. The methodology used to determine exchange rates used in currency 
conversions made by the depositary is available upon request. Where the custodian converts currency, the custodian has no obligation to 
obtain the most favorable rate that could be obtained at the time or to ensure that the method by which that rate will be determined will be 
the most favorable to ADS holders, and the depositary makes no representation that the rate is the most favorable rate and will not be liable 
for any direct or indirect losses associated with the rate. In certain instances, the depositary may receive dividends or other distributions 
from us in U.S. dollars that represent the proceeds of a conversion of foreign currency or translation from foreign currency at a rate that was 
obtained or determined by us and, in such cases, the depositary will not engage in, or be responsible for, any foreign currency transactions 
and neither it nor we make any representation that the rate obtained or determined by us is the most favorable rate and neither it nor we will 
be liable for any direct or indirect losses associated with the rate.
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Payment of Taxes

You will be responsible for any taxes or other governmental charges payable on your ADSs or on the deposited securities 
represented by any of your ADSs. The depositary may refuse to register any transfer of your ADSs or allow you to withdraw the deposited 
securities represented by your ADSs until such taxes or other charges are paid. It may apply payments owed to you or sell deposited 
securities represented by your ADSs to pay any taxes owed and you will remain liable for any deficiency. If the depositary sells deposited 
securities, it will, if appropriate, reduce the number of ADSs to reflect the sale and pay to ADS holders any proceeds, or send to ADS 
holders any property, remaining after it has paid the taxes.

Tender and Exchange Offers; Redemption, Replacement or Cancellation of Deposited Securities

The depositary will not tender deposited securities in any voluntary tender or exchange offer unless instructed to do by an ADS 
holder surrendering ADSs and subject to any conditions or procedures the depositary may establish.

If deposited securities are redeemed for cash in a transaction that is mandatory for the depositary as a holder of deposited 
securities, the depositary will call for surrender of a corresponding number of ADSs and distribute the net redemption money to the holders 
of called ADSs upon surrender of those ADSs.

If there is any change in the deposited securities such as a subdivision, combination or other reclassification, or any merger, 
consolidation, recapitalization or reorganization affecting the issuer of deposited securities in which the depositary receives new securities 
in exchange for or in lieu of the old deposited securities, the depositary will hold those replacement securities as deposited securities under 
the deposit agreement. However, if the depositary decides it would not be lawful and to hold the replacement securities because those 
securities could not be distributed to ADS holders or for any other reason, the depositary may instead sell the replacement securities and 
distribute the net proceeds upon surrender of our ADSs.

If there is a replacement of the deposited securities and the depositary will continue to hold the replacement securities, the 
depositary may distribute new ADSs representing the new deposited securities or ask you to surrender your outstanding ADRs in exchange 
for new ADRs identifying the new deposited securities.

If there are no deposited securities underlying ADSs, including if the deposited securities are cancelled, or if the deposited 
securities underlying ADSs have become apparently worthless, the depositary may call for surrender of those ADSs or cancel those ADSs 
upon notice to the ADS holders.

Amendment and Termination

How may the deposit agreement be amended?

We may agree with the depositary to amend the deposit agreement and the ADRs without your consent for any reason. If an 
amendment adds or increases fees or charges, except for taxes and other governmental charges or expenses of the depositary for registration 
fees, facsimile costs, delivery charges or similar items, or prejudices a substantial right of ADS holders, it will not become effective for 
outstanding ADSs until 30 days after the depositary notifies ADS holders of the amendment. At the time an amendment becomes effective, 
you are considered, by continuing to hold your ADSs, to agree to the amendment and to be bound by the ADRs and the deposit agreement 
as amended.

How may the deposit agreement be terminated?

The depositary will initiate termination of the deposit agreement if we instruct it to do so. The depositary may initiate termination 
of the deposit agreement if:

● 60 days have passed since the depositary told us it wants to resign but a successor depositary has not been appointed and 
accepted its appointment;

● we delist our ordinary shares from an exchange in the United States on which they were listed and do not list the  ADSs on 
another exchange in the United States or make arrangements for trading of ADSs on the U.S. over-the-counter market; 
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● we delist our shares from an exchange outside the United States on which they were listed and do not list the shares on 
another exchange outside the United States;

● the depositary has reason to believe the ADSs have become, or will become, ineligible for registration on Form F-6 under the 
Securities Act of 1933; 

● we appear to be insolvent or enter insolvency proceedings; 

● all or substantially all the value of the deposited securities has been distributed either in cash or in the form of securities; 

● there are no deposited securities underlying our ADSs or the underlying deposited securities have become apparently 
worthless; or

● there has been a replacement of deposited securities.

If the deposit agreement will terminate, the depositary will notify ADS holders at least 90 days before the termination date. At any 
time after the termination date, the depositary may sell the deposited securities. After that, the depositary will hold the money it received on 
the sale, as well as any other cash it is holding under the deposit agreement, unsegregated and without liability for interest, for the pro rata 
benefit of the ADS holders that have not surrendered their ADSs. Normally, the depositary will sell as soon as practicable after the 
termination date.

After the termination date and before the depositary sells, ADS holders can still surrender their ADSs and receive delivery of 
deposited securities, except that the depositary may refuse to accept a surrender for the purpose of withdrawing deposited securities, or 
reverse previously-accepted surrenders of that kind that have not settled, if it would interfere with the selling process. The depositary may 
refuse to accept a surrender for the purpose of withdrawing sale proceeds until all the deposited securities have been sold. The depositary 
will continue to collect distributions on deposited securities, but, after the termination date, the depositary is not required to register any 
transfer of ADSs or distribute any dividends or other distributions on deposited securities to our ADSs holder (until they surrender their 
ADSs) or give any notices or perform any other duties under the deposit agreement except as described in this paragraph.

Limitations on Obligations and Liability

Limits on our Obligations and the Obligations of the Depositary; Limits on Liability to Holders of ADSs

The deposit agreement expressly limits our obligations and the obligations of the depositary. It also limits our liability and the 
liability of the depositary. We and the depositary:

● are only obligated to take the actions specifically set forth in the deposit agreement without negligence or bad faith, and the 
depositary will not be a fiduciary or have any fiduciary duty to holders of ADSs;

● are not liable if we are or it is prevented or delayed by law or by events or circumstances beyond our or its  ability to prevent 
or counteract with reasonable care or effort from performing our or its obligations under the deposit agreement; 

● are not liable if we exercise or it exercises discretion permitted under the deposit agreement;

● are not liable for the inability of any holder of ADSs to benefit from any distribution on deposited securities that is not made 
available to holders of ADSs under the terms of the deposit agreement, or for any special, consequential or punitive damages 
for any breach of the terms of the deposit agreement;
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● have no obligation to become involved in a lawsuit or other proceeding related to our ADSs or the deposit agreement on your 
behalf or on behalf of any other person;

● may rely upon any documents we believe or it believes in good faith to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by 
the proper person; 

● are not liable for the acts or omissions of any securities depository, clearing agency or settlement system; and

● the depositary has no duty to make any determination or provide any information as to our tax status, or any liability for any 
tax consequences that may be incurred by ADS holders as a result of owning or holding ADSs or be liable for the inability or 
failure of an ADS holder to obtain the benefit of a foreign tax credit, reduced rate of withholding or refund of amounts 
withheld in respect of tax or any other tax benefit. 

In the deposit agreement, we and the depositary agree to indemnify each other under certain circumstances.

Requirements for Depositary Actions

Before the depositary will deliver or register a transfer of ADSs, make a distribution on ADSs, or permit withdrawal of shares, the 
depositary may require:

● payment of stock transfer or other taxes or other governmental charges and transfer or registration fees charged by third 
parties for the transfer of any ordinary shares or other deposited securities;

● satisfactory proof of the identity and genuineness of any signature or other information it deems necessary; and

● compliance with regulations it may establish, from time to time, consistent with the deposit agreement, including presentation 
of transfer documents.

The depositary may refuse to deliver ADSs or register transfers of ADSs when the transfer books of the depositary or our transfer 
books are closed or at any time if the depositary or we think it advisable to do so.

Your Right to Receive the Ordinary Shares Underlying your ADSs

ADS holders have the right to cancel their ADSs and withdraw the underlying ordinary shares at any time except:

● when temporary delays arise because: (i) the depositary has closed its transfer books or we have closed our transfer books; (ii) 
the transfer of ordinary shares is blocked to permit voting at a shareholders’ meeting; or (iii) we are paying a dividend on our 
shares;

● when you owe money to pay fees, taxes and similar charges; or

● when it is necessary to prohibit withdrawals in order to comply with any laws or governmental regulations that apply to ADSs 
or to the withdrawal of ordinary shares or other deposited securities.

This right of withdrawal may not be limited by any other provision of the deposit agreement.

Jury Trial Waiver

The deposit agreement provides that, to the extent permitted by law, ADS holders waive the right to a jury trial of any claim they 
may have against us or the depositary arising out of or relating to our shares, the ADSs or the deposit agreement, including any claim under 
the U.S. federal securities laws. If we are the depositary opposed a jury trial demand based on the waiver, the court would determine 
whether the waiver was enforceable in the facts and circumstances of that case in accordance with applicable case law.
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You will not, by agreeing to the terms of the deposit agreement, be deemed to have waived our or the depositary’s compliance 
with U.S. federal securities laws or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Direct Registration System

In the deposit agreement, all parties to the deposit agreement acknowledge that the Direct Registration System, or DRS, and 
Profile Modification System, or Profile, will apply to our ADSs. DRS is a system administered by DTC that facilitates interchange between 
registered holding of uncertificated ADSs and holding of security entitlements in ADSs through DTC and a DTC participant. Profile is 
feature of DRSs that allows a DTC participant, claiming to act on behalf of a registered holder of uncertificated ADSs, to direct the 
depositary to register a transfer of those ADSs to DTC or its nominee and to deliver those ADSs to the DTC account of that DTC 
participant without receipt by the depositary of prior authorization from the ADS holder to register that transfer.

In connection with and in accordance with the arrangements and procedures relating to DRS/Profile, the parties to the deposit 
agreement understand that the depositary will not determine whether the DTC participant that is claiming to be acting on behalf of an ADS 
holder in requesting registration of transfer and delivery as described in the paragraph above has the actual authority to act on behalf of the 
ADS holder (notwithstanding any requirements under the Uniform Commercial Code). In the deposit agreement, the parties agree that the 
depositary’s reliance on and compliance with instructions received by the depositary through the DRS/Profile system and in accordance 
with the deposit agreement will not constitute negligence or bad faith on the part of the depositary.

Shareholder communications; inspection of register of holders of ADSs

The depositary will make available for your inspection at its office all communications that it receives from us as a holder of 
deposited securities that we make generally available to holders of deposited securities. The depositary will send you copies of those 
communications or otherwise make those communications available to you if we ask it to. You have a right to inspect the register of 
holders of ADSs, but not for the purpose of contacting those holders about a matter unrelated to our business or our ADSs.
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PART II

ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES

None.

ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

There are no material modifications to the rights of security holders.

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the 
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) 
as of December 31, 2024, or the Evaluation Date. Based on such evaluation, we and those officers have concluded that, as of the Evaluation 
Date, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting 
related to lack of sufficient internal accounting personnel and segregation of duties. See “Item 5.E—Operating and Financial Review and 
Prospects—Critical Account Estimates—Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” for additional information.

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is 
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on that assessment, our 
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2024, due to ineffective 
controls over period end financial reporting, which is considered as a “material weakness”.

As defined in Regulation 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, a “material weakness” is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim 
consolidated financial statements will not be prevented, or detected on a timely basis.

As of December 31, 2024, our internal control over financial reporting was ineffective due to the lack of sufficient internal 
accounting personnel and segregation of duties. Although we have taken certain measures to address the identified material weakness such 
as appointing in 2024 a SOX consultant to assist us with assessment of Sarbanes-Oxley compliance requirements and improvement of 
overall internal controls, implementing internal policies and procedures related to internal control over financial reporting and hiring 
additional internal accounting and financial staff with appropriate public company experience and technical accounting knowledge, we will 
need to retain additional qualified personal in order to fully address our material weakness. However, we cannot assure you that these 
measures may fully address the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting or that we may conclude that they have 
been fully remediated.

While we believe the remediation actions described above improved our internal control over financial reporting, we still require 
validation and testing of the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls over a sustained period of financial reporting cycles, and 
therefore concluded that as of December 31, 2024, our internal control over financial reporting was not effective.

(c) Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal 
control over financial reporting due to an exemption for emerging growth companies provided in the JOBS Act.

(d) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except as described above, during the year ended December 31, 2024, there were no changes in our internal control over financial 
reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 16. [RESERVED]

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our board of directors has determined that all of the members of our audit committee is an audit committee financial expert, as 
defined under the rules under the Exchange Act, and. is independent in accordance with applicable Exchange Act rules and the Nasdaq 
Listing Rules. The current members of our audit committee are Sharon Schreiber, Shlomo Shalev and Yaron Be’eri, each of which our 
board of directors has determined is independent in accordance with applicable Exchange Act rules and the Nasdaq Listing Rules.

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Ethics applicable to all of our directors and employees, including our Chief 
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, controller or principal accounting officer, or other persons performing similar functions, which 
is a “code of ethics” as defined in Item 16B of Form 20-F promulgated by the SEC. The full text of the Code of Ethics is posted on our 
website at https://saver.one/. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website does not constitute a part of this a part 
of this Annual Report on Form 20-F and is not incorporated by reference herein. If we make any amendment to the Code of Ethics or grant 
any waivers, including any implicit waiver, from a provision of the Code of Ethics, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or 
waiver on our website to the extent required by the rules and regulations of the SEC. We have not granted any waivers under our Code of 
Business Conduct and Ethics.

ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Fahn Kanne & Co., the Israeli member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd., an independent registered public accounting 
firm, has served as our principal independent registered public accounting firm for the year ended December 31, 2024, and 2023.

The following table provides information regarding fees paid or to be paid by us to Fahn Kanne & Co. Grant Thornton Israel, an 
independent registered public accounting firm, for all services, including audit services, for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

(USD in thousands)
Audit fees (1) 90,800 129,000
Tax fees (2) - 414
All other fees - -

Total 90,800 129,414

(1) Audit fees consist of professional services rendered in connection with the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements, 
review of our consolidated interim financial statements, our statutory tax audits and assistance with review of documents filed with the 
SEC (including issuance of comfort and consent letters related to initial public offering transaction and subsequent filing of registration 
statements).

(2) Tax fees consist of fees for professional services for tax compliance and tax advice.

Pre-Approval of Auditors’ Compensation

Our audit committee has a pre-approval policy for the engagement of our independent registered public accounting firm to 
perform certain audit and non-audit services. Pursuant to this policy, which is designed to assure that such engagements do not impair the 
independence of our auditors, the audit committee pre-approves annually a catalog of specific audit and non-audit services in the categories 
of audit services, audit-related services and tax services that may be performed by our independent registered public accounting firm. If a 
type of service, that is to be provided by our auditors, has not received such general pre-approval, it will require specific pre-approval by 
our audit committee. The policy prohibits retention of the independent registered public accounting firm to perform the prohibited non-
audit functions defined in applicable SEC rules.
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ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES

Not applicable.

ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

Not applicable.

ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANT’S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

Not Applicable.

ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

As a foreign private issuer, we are permitted to follow certain Israeli corporate governance practices instead of the Nasdaq 
corporate governance rules, or the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules, provided that we disclose which requirements we are not following and the 
equivalent Israeli requirements. Pursuant to the “foreign private issuer exemption”:

● we will not have to comply with the requirements that we have a nominating committee composed entirely of independent 
directors with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities;

● the quorum for a meeting of shareholders will be at least two shareholders present in person, by proxy or by a voting 
instrument, who hold in the aggregate at least 25% of our issued share capital (and in an adjourned meeting any number of 
shareholders) instead of 331∕3% of our issued share capital as required under the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules;

● we may adopt equity incentive plans and approve material changes to such plans without shareholder approval;

●  in addition, we will seek shareholder approval for all corporate actions requiring such approval under the requirements of the 
Companies Law, rather than seeking approval for corporate actions in accordance with Nasdaq Stock Market Rule 5635. In 
particular, under this Nasdaq rule, shareholder approval is generally required for: (i) an acquisition of shares or assets of 
another company that involves the issuance of 20% or more of the acquirer’s shares or voting rights or if a director, officer or 
5% shareholder has greater than a 5% interest in the target company or the consideration to be received; (ii) the issuance of 
shares leading to a change of control; (iii) adoption or amendment of equity compensation arrangements (although under the 
provisions of the Companies Law there is no requirement for shareholder approval for the adoption/amendment of the equity 
compensation plan); and (iv) issuances of 20% or more of the shares or voting rights (including securities convertible into, or 
exercisable for, equity) of a listed company via a private placement (and/or via sales by directors, officers or 5% shareholders) 
if such equity is issued (or sold) at below the greater of the book or market value of shares. By contrast, under the Companies 
Law, shareholder approval is required for, among other things: (i) transactions with directors our Chief Executive Officer 
concerning the terms of their service or indemnification, exemption and insurance for their service (or for any other position 
that they may hold at a company), for which approvals of the compensation committee, board of directors and shareholders 
are all required, (ii) extraordinary transactions with controlling shareholders of publicly held companies, which require the 
special approval, and (iii) terms of employment or other engagement of the controlling shareholder of us or such controlling 
shareholder has a personal interest with, which require special approval. In addition, under the Companies Law, a merger 
requires approval of the shareholders of each of the merging companies;

● Israeli law does not require that a majority of the directors serving on our board of directors be “independent,” as defined 
under Nasdaq Stock Market Rule 5605(a)(2), and rather requires we have at least two external directors who meet the 
requirements of the Companies Law, as described below under “Management—External Directors.” The definition of 
independent director under Nasdaq Stock Market rules and external director under the Companies Law overlap to a significant 
degree such that we would generally expect the directors serving as external directors to satisfy the requirements to be 
independent under Nasdaq Stock Market rules. However, it is possible for a director to qualify as an “external director’’ under 
the Companies Law without qualifying as an “independent director’’ under the Nasdaq Stock Market rules, or vice-versa. 
Notwithstanding Israeli law, we believe that a majority of our directors are currently “independent” under the Nasdaq Stock 
Market rules. We are required, however, to ensure that all members of our Audit Committee are “independent” under the 
applicable Nasdaq and SEC criteria for independence (as we cannot exempt ourselves from compliance with that SEC 
independence requirement, despite our status as a foreign private issuer), and we must also ensure that a majority of the 
members of our Audit Committee are “independent directors” as defined in the Companies Law. Furthermore, Israeli law 
does not require, nor do our independent directors conduct, regularly scheduled meetings at which only they are present, 
which the Nasdaq Stock Market rules otherwise require ;
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● as opposed to making periodic reports to shareholders and proxy solicitation materials available to shareholders in a manner 
specified by the SEC and Nasdaq Marketplace Rules, the generally accepted practice in Israel is not to distribute such reports 
to shareholders but to make such reports available through a public website. We will mail such reports to shareholders only 
upon request;

● we will follow Israeli corporate governance practice instead of the Nasdaq requirements to obtain shareholder approval for 
certain dilutive events (such as issuances that will result in a change of control, certain transactions other than a public 
offering involving issuances of a 20% or greater interest in us and certain acquisitions of the stock or assets of another 
company); and

● all related party transactions are approved in accordance with the requirements and procedures for approval of interested party 
acts and transaction as set forth in the Companies Law, which requires the approval of the audit committee, or the 
compensation committee, as the case may be, the board of directors and shareholders, as may be applicable, for specified 
transactions, rather than approval by the audit committee or other independent body of our board of directors as required 
under the Nasdaq Stock Market rules. See “Item 6.C. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—Board 
Practices—Fiduciary duties and approval of related party transactions” for additional information.

In all other respects, we intend to comply with the rules generally applicable to U.S. domestic companies listed on the Nasdaq 
Marketplace Rules. We may in the future decide to use the foreign private issuer exemption with respect to some or all of the other Nasdaq 
Marketplace Rules. We comply with Israeli corporate governance requirements under the Companies Law applicable to public companies. 
Accordingly, our shareholders may not be afforded the same protections as provided under Nasdaq Marketplace Rules.

ITEM 16H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 16I. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.

ITEM 16J. INSIDER TRADING POLICIES

We have adopted a written insider trading policy governing the purchase, sale, and other dispositions of our securities by directors, 
senior management, and employees that are reasonably designed to promote compliance with applicable insider trading laws, rules and 
regulations, and any listing standards applicable to us. In addition, with regard to the Company’s trading in its own securities, it is our 
policy to comply with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable exchange listing requirements. A copy of the Insider Trading 
Policy is filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report.

ITEM 16K. CYBERSECURITY

We have developed and maintain a cybersecurity risk management program, consisting of cybersecurity policies, procedures, 
compliance and awareness programs to mitigate risk and to ensure compliance with security, availability and confidentiality trust 
principles. We also maintain a cybersecurity insurance policy. The cybersecurity process has been integrated into our overall risk 
management system and process, and is solely internally managed. Management is responsible for identifying risks that threaten 
achievement of the control activities stated in the management’s description of the services organizations systems. Management has 
implemented a process for identifying relevant risks that could affect the organization’s ability to provide secure and reliable service to its 
users. The risk assessment occurs annually, or as business needs change, and covers identification of risks that could act against the 
company’s objectives as well as specific risks related to a compromise to the security of data.

The oversight of cybersecurity threats is undertaken by our Vice President, Research and Development, who holds over a decade 
of experience in various technological disciplines and system design and architecture of information systems, and is supported by 
management. Our audit committee is responsible for cybersecurity oversight and monitoring risk. Management informs the audit committee 
of such risk by committee meetings.

As of the date of this report, we are not aware of any material risks from cybersecurity threats that have materially affected or are 
reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition.
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PART III

ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have elected to provide financial statements and related information pursuant to Item 18.

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements and the related notes required by this Item are included in this Annual Report on Form 20-F beginning on 
page F-1.

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS.

Exhibit No. Description 
1.1* Articles of Association of the Registrant
2.1* Description of Securities Registered under Section 12
4.1 Form of Deposit Agreement between the registrant, the Bank of New York Mellon as Depositary, and owners and holders 

from time to time of ADSs issued thereunder (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference)

4.2 Specimen American Depositary Receipt (included in Exhibit 4.1) (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Registration Statement on Form 
F-1 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.1 Form of Underwriting Agreement (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1 as filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.2 Form of Underwriter’s Warrant (included in Exhibit 4.1) (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.3 Form of Warrant Agent Agreement (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 2, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.4 Form of Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1 as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on May 2, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.5 Form of Pre-Funded Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.6 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1 as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 2, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.6 Form of Indemnification Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.7+ Saverone 2014 Ltd. 2015 Share Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1 as filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.8 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement by and between SaverOne 2014 Ltd. and the purchasers identified on the signature 
pages thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Report on Form 6-K furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
December 12, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.9 Standby Equity Purchase Agreement dated June 5, 2023, by and between SaverOne 2014 Ltd. and YA II PN, LTD. (filed as 
Exhibit 10.1 to our Report on Form 6-K furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 6, 2023, and 
incorporated herein by reference)

10.10 Promissory Note dated June 5, 2023 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Report on Form 6-K furnished to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on June 6, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.11 Amendment to Standby Equity Purchase Agreement dated December 11, 2023, by and between SaverOne 2014 Ltd. and YA 
II PN, LTD. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Report on Form 6-K furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
December 11, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference)
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10.12 Promissory Note dated December 11, 2023 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Report on Form 6-K furnished to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on December 11, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.13 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated December 13, 2023 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Report on Form 6-K 
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 13, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.14 Second Amendment to Standby Equity Purchase Agreement dated March 25, 2024, by and between SaverOne 2014 Ltd. and 
YA II PN, LTD. (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2023 furnished 
to the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 25, 2024)

10.15 Compensation Policy (filed as Exhibit 10.15 to our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2023 
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 25, 2024)

10.16 Standby Equity Purchase Agreement dated July 16, 2024 by and between Saverone 2014 Ltd. and YA II, PN, Ltd. (filed as 
Exhibit 99.1 to our Report on Form 6-K furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 17, 2024 and 
incorporated herein by reference)

10.17 Form of Convertible Promissory Note (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to our Report on Form 6-K furnished to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on July 17, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.18 Registration Rights Agreement (filed as Exhibit 99.3 to our Report on Form 6-K furnished to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on July 17, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.19 Promissory Note (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to our Report on Form 6-K furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
November 13, 2024, and incorporated herein by reference

10.20 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Report on Form 6-K furnished to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on January 31, 2025, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.21 Form of Private Placement Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Report on Form 6-K furnished to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on January 31, 2025, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.22 Form of Placement Agent Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Report on Form 6-K furnished to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on January 31, 2025, and incorporated herein by reference)

11.1* Insider Trading Policy
12.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
12.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
13.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350
13.2* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350
15.1* Consent of Fahn Kanne & Co. Grant Thornton Israel, independent registered public accounting firm with respect to financial 

statements of the Registrant
97.1+ Clawback Policy (filed as Exhibit A to Exhibit 99.1 to our Report on Form 6-K furnished to the Securities and Exchange 

Commission on July 7, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference)
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

# English translation of original Hebrew document.

* Filed herewith.

+ Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and 
authorized the undersigned to sign this Annual Report on Form 20-F filed on its behalf.

SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

Date: March 21, 2025 By: /s/ Ori Gilboa
Ori Gilboa
Chief Executive Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders 
SaverOne 2014 Ltd.

Fahn Kanne & Co.
Head Office

32 Hamasger Street
Tel-Aviv 6721118, ISRAEL

PO Box 36172, 6136101

T +972 3 7106666
F +972 3 7106660

www.grantthornton.co.il

Opinion on the financial statements 

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of SaverOne 2014 Ltd. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and 
2023, the related statements of comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results 
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Going Concern

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in 
Note 1B to the financial statements, the Company is currently in the early commercialization stage and has not yet generated significant 
revenues from its sales and operations. From its Inception and through December 31, 2024, the Company reported significant losses and 
negative cash flows from operating activity. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has an accumulated deficit of NIS 170,548 and it had 
a comprehensive loss of NIS 34,938 for the year ended December 31, 2024. In addition, as described in Note 1B, management has 
concluded that the balance of cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2024, together with other available resources may not sufficient 
for the company to realize its business plans for the 12-months period subsequent to the reporting period. These conditions, along with 
other matters as set forth in Note 1B, raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s 
plans regarding these matters are also described in Note 1B. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from 
the outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis for opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. 
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The 
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our 
audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

Certified Public Accountants 
Fahn Kanne& Co. is the Israeli member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd.
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Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or 
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ FAHN KANNE & CO. GRANT THORNTON ISRAEL

FAHN KANNE & CO. GRANT THORNTON ISRAEL

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016.

Tel Aviv, Israel

March 21, 2025

Certified Public Accountants

/s/ Fahn Kanne & Co. Grant Thornton International Israel

Fahn Kanne& Co. is the Israeli member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd.
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands)

As of December 31,
Note 2024 2023

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 13,298 17,112
Trade receivables, net 5 1,621 1,054
Other current assets 6 1,686 1,509
Inventory 7 5,013 4,534
Total current assets 21,618 24,209

Non-current assets
Trade receivables, net 5 804 1,051
Property and equipment, net 8 229 248
Restricted deposits 9 216 211
Right of usage asset, net 9 951 1,271
Total non-current assets 2,200 2,781

Total assets 23,818 26,990

Current liabilities
Current maturities of leasing liability 9 469 352
Trade payables 1,826 4,303
Other current liabilities 10 2,991 2,042
Liability in respect of government grants 11 239 694
Derivative warrants liability 13C1 - 274
Promissory notes, net 13C3 6,336 7,139
Total current liabilities 11,861 14,804

Non-current liabilities
Leasing liability, net current 9 606 980
Liability in respect of government grants 11 721 634
Total non-current liabilities 1,327 1,614

Commitments 12

Shareholders’ equity 13
Share capital and premium 169,949 135,243
Capital reserve in respect of share-based payment 11,229 10,939
Accumulated deficit (170,548) (135,610)
Total shareholders’ equity 10,630 10,572

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 23,818 26,990

March 21, 2025  /s/ Jacob Tenenboim  /s/ Ori Gilboa  /s/ Omri Hagai  
Date of approval of the Jacob Tenenboim Ori Gilboa Omri Hagai

financial statements Chairman of the Board 
of Directors

Chief Executive Officer and 
Director

Chief Financial Officer 

The accompanying notes are an integral of to these financial statements.
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands, except per share and share data)

Year Ended December 31,
Note 2024 2023 2022

Revenues 1,683 2,720 1,193
Cost of revenues (1,069) (1,968) (829)
Gross profit 614 752 364

Research and development expenses, net 15A (19,397) (22,861) (21,490)
Selling and marketing expenses, net 15B (4,796) (3,787) (1,591)
General and administrative expenses 15C (9,673) (8,327) (6,492)
Operating loss (33,252) (34,223) (29,209)

Financing expenses 16A (2,785) (1,219) (852)
Financing income 16B 1,099 1,607 5,099
Financing income (expenses), net (1,686) 388 4,247

Loss for the year (34,938) (33,835) (24,962)
Comprehensive loss for the year (34,938) (33,835) (24,962)

Loss per share attributed to shareholders of Company, par value 
NIS 0.01 each

Basic and diluted loss per share:
Basic and diluted loss per share (0.30) (1.08) (1.44)
Weighted average of number of shares used to calculate the basic and 

diluted loss per share 117,908,475 31,380,359 17,300,596

The accompanying notes are an integral of to these financial statements.
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands)

Note
Share capital 
and premium

Capital reserve 
in respect of 
share-based 

payment
Accumulated

deficit

Total
shareholders’

equity
Balance as of December 31, 2021 80,440 8,425 (76,813) 12,052
Share-based payment to employees 14 - 1,157 - 1,157
Share-based payment to service provider 13C1 - 1,056 - 1,056
Partial exercise of over-allotment option into warrants 13C1 - (158) - (158)
Expiration of over-allotment option 13C1 435 (435) - -
Net proceeds allocated to ADSs and prefunded 

warrants through initial public offering 13C1 32,268 - - 32,268
Net proceeds received from issuance of ADSs through 

private placement transaction 13C2 5,141 - - 5,141
Comprehensive loss for the year - - (24,962) (24,962)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 118,284 10,045 (101,775) 26,554
Share-based payment to employees 14 - 978 - 978
Net proceeds allocated to ADSs issued as Commitment 

Shares in transaction of equity line 13C3 87 - - 87
Issuance of ADSs resulted from partial exercise of 

Commitment Amount under equity line 13C3 9,670 - - 9,670
Repayment of first promissory note (principal and 

interest) through issuance of ADSs resulted from 
partial exercise of Commitment Amount under 
equity line 13C3 3,433 - - 3,433

Net proceeds received from issuance of ADSs as part 
of shelf prospectus through public offering 
transaction 13C4 3,685 - - 3,685

Exercise of restricted share units into ordinary shares 13C6 84 (84) - -
Comprehensive loss for the year - - (33,835) (33,835)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 135,243 10,939 (135,610) 10,572
Share-based payment to employees 14 - 598 - 598
Issuance of ADSs resulted from partial exercise of 

Commitment Amount under equity line 13C3, 13C5 17,403 - - 17,403
Repayment of promissory notes (principal and interest) 

through issuance of ADSs resulted from partial 
exercise of Commitment Amount under equity line 13C3 12,773 - - 12,773

Net proceeds received from issuance of ADSs as part 
of shelf prospectus through public offering 
transaction 13C4 4,222 - - 4,222

Exercise of restricted share units into ordinary shares 13C6 308 (308) - -
Comprehensive loss for the year - - (34,938) (34,938)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 169,949 11,229 (170,548) 10,630

The accompanying notes are an integral of to these financial statements.
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands)

Year ended December 31,
Note 2024 2023 2022

Cash flow from current operations
Comprehensive loss for the year (34,938) (33,835) (24,962)
Adjustments required to present cash flows from operating activities 

(Appendix A) 532 (1,185) (3,408)
Net cash used in operating activities (34,406) (35,020) (28,370)

Cash flows from investment activity
Change in deposits restricted as to withdrawal (5) - -
Changes in short-term deposits - 10,070 (5,058)
Purchase of property and equipment 8 (79) (128) (62)
Net cash provided by (used in) investment activity (84) 9,942 (5,120)

Cash flows from financing activity
Net proceeds received from issuance of units including put options, first 

promissory note and ADSs as Commitment Shares in transaction of 
equity line granted 13C3 - 7,170 -

Proceeds received from issuance of ADSs resulted from partial exercise 
of Commitment Amount under equity line 13C3 16,277 9,259 -

Repayment of first promissory note 13C3 - (754) -
Net proceeds received from issuance of third and fourth promissory 

notes 13C5 10,532 3,597 -
Repayment of government grants 11 (144) - -
Net proceeds received from issuance of ADSs through private 

placement transaction 13C2 - 5,141
Net proceeds received from issuance of ADSs as part of shelf prospectus 

through public offering transaction 13C4 4,222 3,685 -
Repayment of principal in respect of leasing 9 (352) (467) (467)
Net proceeds received from issuance of units consist of ADSs, pre-

funded warrants and warrants through U.S. IPO transaction 13C1 - 37,298
Exercise of restricted share units into ordinary shares 13C6 (*)- (*)- -
Net cash provided by financing activity 30,535 22,490 41,972

Change in balance of cash and cash equivalents (3,955) (2,588) 8,482

Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents 141 460 2,075

Balance of cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 17,112 19,240 8,683

Balance of cash and cash equivalents, end of year 13,298 17,112 19,240

(*) Representing amount lower than NIS 1.
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONT.)
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands)

Year ended December 31,
Note 2024 2023 2022

Appendix A - Adjustments required to present cash flows from 
operating activities

Income and expenses not involving cash flows
Depreciation 8 98 98 82
Amortization of right for usage asset 9 320 425 425
Interest expense in respect of leasing 9 95 22 43
Share-based payment to employees and service providers 14 598 978 1,157
Revaluation of derivative warrant liability 13C1 (274) (877) (2,954)
Recognition of discount, interest and exchange differences expenses 

related to promissory notes 13C3 1,246 526 -
Finance expenses incurred from partial exercise of Commitment 

Amount under equity line 13C3,13C5 1,318 531 -
Direct and incremental issuance cost allocated to derivative warrant 

liability through U.S IPO 13C1 - - 723
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalent and restricted 

deposits (141) (470) (2,085)
Changes in liability in respect of government grants 11 (224) 74 86

3,036 1,307 (2,523)

Changes in asset and liability items
Decrease (increase) in other current assets (177) (493) 143
Increase in trade receivables (320) (1,008) (596)
Increase in inventory (479) (2,508) (1,201)
Increase (decrease) in trade payables (2,477) 2,347 1,014
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities 949 (830) (245)

(2,504) (2,492) (885)

532 (1,185) (3,408)

Appendix B - Non-cash investment and financing activities

Recognition of right for usage asset against a leasing liability 9 - 1,129 -
Direct and incremental stock-based payment expenses allocated to 

ADSs and pre-fund warrants through U.S. IPO 13C2 - - 960
Classification of equity amount to derivative warrants liability due to 

partial exercise of over-allotment option into warrants 13C2 - - 158
Repayment of promissory notes (principal and interest) through issuance 

of ADSs resulted from partial exercise of Commitment Amount under 
equity line 13C3,13C5 12,581 3,313 -

Appendix C - Additional information pertaining to cash flows

Interest received 404 271 85
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands)

Note 1 - General

A. Incorporation and operations

SaverOne 2014 Ltd. (the “Company”) was founded in Israel on November 16, 2014 and commenced its business activity 
on that date (the “Inception Date”) in development of the technology necessary to create a life-saving system that 
prevents certain uses of cell phones while driving a motor vehicle (the “Saverone System”). Our principal executive 
offices are located at Em Hamoshavot Rd. 94, Petah Tikvah, 4970602 Israel.

B. The Company’s business position and going concern uncertainty

The Company is currently in the early commercialization stage and has not yet generated significant revenues from its 
sales and operations. From the Inception Date and through December 31, 2024, the Company reported significant losses 
and negative cash flows from operating activity. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has an accumulated deficit of 
NIS 170,548 and it had a comprehensive loss of NIS 34,938 for the year ended December 31, 2024. The balance of cash 
and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2024 amounted to NIS 13,298 together with other available resources may not 
be sufficient for the company to realize its business plans for the 12-months period subsequent to the reporting period.

The Company plans to finance its operations through the sales of equity and/or debts, including raising equity by an 
additional public offering through shelf registration on the Nasdaq Capital Market (the “Nasdaq”) and also through 
increasing its revenues from sales of the Saverone Systems and, if applicable, a reduction in operating expenses.

However, there can be no assurance that the Company will succeed in obtaining the necessary financing or generating 
sufficient revenues from product sales to meet its current obligations and to achieve its business targets. Those conditions 
raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

In June 2022, the Company completed an underwritten initial public offering in the United States (the “U.S. IPO”) on the 
Nasdaq under in which the Company issued and sold (i) 2,941,918 units consisting of American Depositary Shares 
(“ADS”), and warrants to purchase ADS at an offering price of $4.13 per Unit and (ii) 208,282 pre-funded units (a “Pre-
Funded Unit”), at an offering price of $4.129 per pre-funded unit. The Company received gross proceeds of 
approximately $13 million (approximately NIS 43,441), before offering expenses. The ADSs and Warrants are traded on 
the Nasdaq under the symbols “SVRE” and “SVREW”, respectively. See Note 13C1 below for further information.

As a result of the significant decrease in the ADS price during 2024, which was reflected  also in a severe increase in the 
number of shares during the year due to numerous ADS sales under the SEPA and the New SEPA during the year, on 
October 28, 2024, the Company effected the change in the ADS ratio from one (1) ADS representing five (5) Ordinary 
Shares, to one (1) ADS representing ninety (90) Ordinary Shares. Subsequent to the statement of financial position date, 
on February 21, 2025, the Company effected an additional change in the ADS ratio from one (1) ADS representing ninety 
(90) Ordinary Shares, to one (1) ADS representing one thousand two hundred (1,200) Ordinary Shares. This change in 
the ADS has the effect of a reverse stock split on the existing ADSs on the basis of one (1) new ADS for every thirteen 
and one third (13.33) old ADSs (the “Reverse Stock Split”) held by the Company’s holders. All per ADS amounts were 
adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split. 

On December 11, 2022, the Company entered into a definitive securities purchase agreement (the “PIPE Agreement”) 
with an accredited investor (the “PIPE Purchaser”), under which the Company issued 4,045,305 ordinary shares 
represented by 3,372 ADSs for total net proceeds of approximately $1.5 million (approximately NIS 5,141) (the “PIPE”). 
See Note 13C2 below for further information.
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands, except per share and share data)

Note 1 - General (Cont.)

B. The Company’s business position (Cont.)

On June 5, 2023 (the “YA Effective Date”), the Company entered into a Standby Equity Purchase Agreement (the 
“SEPA”) with YA II PN, Ltd., Cayman Islands-based hedge fund (“Yorkville” or “YA”), under which the Company has 
the right to sell to Yorkville from time to time (each such occurrence, an “Advance”) up to $10,000 thousand (the 
“Commitment Amount”) of the Company’s ADSs, during a limited period of 48-months following the execution of 
the SEPA, at a price equal to 95% of the lowest of the 3 daily VWAPs, subject to certain limitations,. Upon execution of 
the SEPA, Yorkville advanced the Company, an amount of $2,000 thousand out of the Commitment Amount in form of 
promissory note (the “First Promissory Note”) which accrues interest at an annual rate of 8%, with a 3% original issue 
discount and maturity at the 12-month anniversary of the date of issuance based on 12 equal monthly payments schedule 
settled either in cash or by issuance of Advance Shares. See Note 13C3 below.

During the period commencing on the YA Effective Date through the December 31, 2023, the Company sold 33,034,240 
Shares to Yorkville for a total purchase price of $3,394 thousand (approximately NIS 12,572 thousand) out of the 
Commitment Amount under SEPA (including as partial repayment of the first Promissory Note). See Note 13C3 below.

On December 11, 2023, the Company and Yorkville entered into a first amendment to the SEPA pursuant to which 
Yorkville, advanced the Company additional $1,000 thousand (approx. NIS 3,708 before issuance costs) of the 
Commitment Amount in the form of a promissory (the “Second Promissory Note”) with substantially the same terms as 
the First Promissory Note and that will be repaid in 5 equal monthly installments beginning on the 150th day following 
the date of the Second Promissory Note’s issuance. The Second Promissory Note may be repaid with the proceeds of an 
Advance under the SEPA or repaid in cash. See Note 13C3 below.

On December 13, 2023, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) 
pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell and issue to Yorkville through a registered direct offering (the “Registered 
Direct Offering”) 8,333,335 ordinary shares represented by 6,945 ADSs for total gross proceeds of $1,000 thousand 
(approximately NIS 3,685) See Note 13C4 below.

On March 25, 2024, the Company entered into second amendment to the SEPA, which is unconditional committed 
arrangement to raise additional capital, under which the Commitment Amount was increased to $15,000 thousand. On 
May 8, 2024 the parties agreed that the Maturity Date in respect of the Second Promissory Note shall be extended to July 
8, 2024. 

On June 25, 2024, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to 
sell and issue to two institutional investors through a registered direct offering 12,555,555 ordinary shares (represented by 
10,466 ADSs) for total gross proceeds of $1,130 thousand (approximately NIS 4,222). See Note 13C4 below.

On July 16, 2024 the Company entered into a new Standby Equity Purchase Agreement (the “New SEPA”) with 
Yorkville, under which the Company has the right to sell to Yorkville from time to time up to $15,000 thousand (the 
“Commitment Amount”) of the Company’s ADS, during a limited period of 36-months following the execution of the 
New SEPA. Under the New SEPA, Yorkville shall advance to the Company a principal amount of $3,000 thousand (the 
“Pre-Paid Advance”), which shall be evidenced by convertible promissory notes (the “Third Promissory Note”), which 
are convertible subject to Yorkville decision into Company’s ADSs. From the $3,000 thousand Pre-Paid Advance 
(approx. NIS 10,763) approx. $1,049 thousand (approx. NIS 3,860) was used to early repay the remaining amount of the 
Second Promissory Note and accordingly the net cash received amounted to $1,846 thousand (approx. NIS 6,903). Upon 
the effectiveness of the New SEPA, the previous SEPA was terminated. For further information see Note 13C5.
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands, except per share and share data)

Note 1 - General (Cont.)

B. The Company’s business position (Cont.)

On November 11, 2024, the Company issued to Yorkville, an unsecured non-convertible promissory note (the “Fourth 
Promissory Note”) in an amount of $1,000 thousand (the “Principal Amount” approx. NIS 3,629). The fourth Promissory 
Note will mature on November 11, 2025, bears an interest at a rate of 8%, and was issued with a 3% original issue 
discount. The fourth Promissory Note, will be repaid in 10 equal monthly installments beginning on the 90th day from the 
date of the issuance.

On January 30, 2025, the Company entered into securities purchase agreements with certain institutional investors of 
selling through a registered direct offering an aggregate of 195,428,970 ordinary shares (represented by 162,899 ADSs) 
together with unregistered warrants to purchase ADSs up to an aggregate of 390,857,940 ordinary shares (exercisable up 
to 325,797 ADSs, with an exercise price of $10.66 per ADS) for gross amount of $1,520 thousand (approximately NIS 
5,448 thousand). In addition, the Company issued to the Placement Agent warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 
13,680,000 ordinary shares (exercisable up to 11,403 ADS’s, with an exercise price of $11.67 per ADS).

C. The impact of Iron Sword War

On October 7, 2023, the State of Israel was attacked by the Hamas terrorist organization, and as a result, the State of 
Israel declared a state of war and a large-scale mobilization of reserves (the “War”), which is an exceptional event with 
security and economic implications, the scope and outcome of which cannot be predicted. Following the War, the State of 
Israel is taking significant steps to maintain the security of Israeli residents, which has had a significant impact on 
economic and business activity in the country.

The management regularly monitors developments and acts in accordance with the guidelines of the various authorities. 
Since this is an event beyond the Company’s control and characterized by uncertainty, inter alia as to when the War will 
end, as of the financial statements’ approval date, the Company is unable to predict the intensity of the War impact on the 
Company’s financial condition and its operations results, if any.
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands, except per share and share data)

Note 2 - Material accounting policies

A. Presentation basis of the financial statements 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for financial derivatives and financial 
liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The statements of comprehensive loss are presented in accordance with the “function of expense”.

The financial statements have prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS 
Accounting Standards”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”).

B. Use of significant accounting estimates and assumptions and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make accounting estimates and 
assessments that involve use of judgment and that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities presented in the financial 
statements, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements, the amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods and the accounting policies adopted by the Company. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates.

For information regarding significant estimates and considerations which embody significant sensitivity to future events, 
see also Note 3 below.

C. The functional currency and the presentation currency of the financial statements

1. The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with the currency of the country and principal 
economic environment in which it operates, which constitutes the functional currency from which it is primarily 
affected (the “Functional Currency”). Taking into consideration that most cash balances are held in New Israeli 
Shekels (NIS) and most of the operational expenses and income are denominated in NIS, the Functional 
Currency of the Company is the NIS.

2. The Company’s financial statements are presented in NIS.

D. Assets, liabilities and transactions linked to or in foreign currency

1. Financial assets and liabilities denominated in or linked to foreign currency are presented on the basis of the 
closing rate of exchange as of each reporting date.

2. Transactions denominated in foreign currency are recorded upon initial recognition at the representative rate of 
exchange on date of the transaction. Exchange rate differences deriving from settlement of monetary items, at 
exchange rates that are different than those used in the initial recording during the period, or than those reported 
in previous financial statements, are carried to profit and loss.

3. The following table presents data pertaining to the rate of change of the exchange rate of U.S. dollar, Euro and 
Israeli CPI (ICPI) during the reported periods:

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

% % %
ICPI (2016 base year) 3.24 2.958 5.263
Representative exchange rate of U.S dollar/NIS 0.5 3.0 13.2
Representative exchange rate of Euro/NIS (5.3) 6.9 6.6
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands, except per share and share data)

Note 2 - Material accounting policies (Cont.)

E. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments, including short-term bank deposits (with original maturity 
dates of up to three months from date of deposit) that are not restricted as to withdrawal or use.

F. Inventory

Inventory is measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of inventory comprises purchase costs, 
conversion costs and costs incurred in bringing the inventory to its present location and condition. Net realizable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of completion and estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

Cost of inventory is determined on the basis of the following:

● Raw material components - the “first-in-first-out” basis.

● Finished goods (purchased goods) - the “first-in-first-out” basis.

G. Property and equipment

Property and equipment items are presented at cost, less accumulated depreciation and net of accrued impairment losses, 
if any. Cost includes, in addition to the acquisition cost, all of the costs that can be directly attributed to the bringing of 
the item to the location and condition necessary for the item to operate in accordance with the intentions of management.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the fixed asset items or of a 
discernible component.

The annual depreciation rates are as follows:

%
Computers 20-33
Office furniture and equipment 6-7
Leasehold improvements The shorter of the contract period or the life span of 

the leasehold improvement

H. Impairment of non-monetary assets

Non-monetary depreciable assets are tested for possible impairment in value when events or circumstances occur that 
may indicate that the carrying value of the given asset is not recoverable. When the carrying value of an asset in the 
statement of financial position exceeds its recoverable value, the Company recognizes an impairment loss in an amount 
equal to the difference between the carrying value of the asset and its recoverable value, which is the higher of its fair 
value less selling costs and its value in use (the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to derive from 
the use and realization of the asset). For purposes of assessing a decline in value, the assets are allocated to the lowest 
possible level in respect of which there are separate identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands, except per share and share data)

Note 2 - Material accounting policies (Cont.)

I. Research and development expenses

Research costs are expensed when incurred. Development expenses are capitalized and recognized as an asset, 
commencing the phase in which technological feasibility is achieved, when the company has intentions and the 
capabilities to complete and use (or sell) the asset, it is probable that the developed asset will generate future economic 
benefits and the development costs are attributable in a reliable manner.

The amortization of the intangible asset commences when the asset becomes ready for its intended use.

An expense in respect of development that does not meet the conditions required to be recognized as an asset, as above, is 
carried to profit and loss when incurred.

As of the reported periods, the terms for the capitalization of the development costs as an intangible asset were not met.

J. Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with IFRS No. 15, Revenues from contracts with customers (“IFRS 
15”).

A performance obligation is satisfied over time if one of the following criteria is met: (i) the customer is receiving and 
consuming the benefits of the Company’s performance as the Company performs; (ii) the Company’s performance 
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced or (iii) the Company’s 
performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Company and the Company has an enforceable right to 
payment for performance completed to that date.

Revenues are recorded at the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring promised goods or services to a customer. Revenue is presented net of value added tax (“VAT”). Revenues 
are recognized when, or as, control of services or products is transferred to the customers at a point in time or over time, 
as applicable to each performance obligation.

For arrangements that involve the delivery of products (i.e. the Saverone System) or performance of related services (i.e. 
Post-Contract Customer Support (“PCS”) and extended warranty, if applicable), the Company analyzes whether the 
goods or services that were promised to the customer are considered ‘distinct’.

The Company recognizes revenues from sales of the Saverone System at a point in time upon delivery, which occurs 
once installation has been completed and the system is fully functional. The Company’s revenues from PCS are derived 
from annual maintenance providing for unspecified upgrades. The Company considers the PCS performance obligations 
as a distinct performance obligation that is satisfied over time and recognized on a straight-line basis over the contractual 
period (mainly over a 3-5 years) as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the 
Company’s performance.

As the Company bundles the SaverOne System together with PCS, the transaction price is allocated to the separate 
performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis.
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands, except per share and share data)

Note 2 - Material accounting policies (Cont.)

J. Revenue recognition (Cont.)

Since the Company does not sell PCS on a stand-alone basis and due to the fact that these services are usually involved 
with limited customer support, mainly based on several hours of technical support per contract (as the SaverOne System 
is considered fully functional as delivered to the costumer), the standalone selling prices of the PCS are determined based 
on the expected cost plus a margin (“cost-plus approach”). However, throughout the reported periods the consideration 
amount allocated to PCS component was insignificant.

The stand-alone selling price of the SaverOne System is estimated by management at the price that a customer in the 
market will pay for the SaverOne System on a stand-alone basis (i.e. without PCS or extended warranty).

In certain agreements, the Company provides the customer an assurance that is beyond the obligation that the item 
supplied meets the characteristics and specifications agreed upon between the parties (the “Extended Warranty”). These 
service-type warranties are sold generally bundled together with the sale of the SaverOne System. Revenue from the 
rendering of Extended Warranty services is recognized over time, during the period the customer simultaneously receives 
and consumes the benefits provided by the Company’s performance.

See Note 2K below regarding to standard warranty.

In determining the transaction price, the Company adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the effects of the 
time value of money if the payments schedule agreed between the parties to the contract (whether explicitly or implicitly) 
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the goods or services to be transferred. When it is 
determined that a contract contains a significant financing component, then revenue is recognized in an amount that 
reflects the price that a customer would have to pay for goods or services promised if the customer paid cash and the 
effects of financing are reflected in the profit or loss in the financing section as income or financing expenses, as the case 
may be.

The Company receives payments from customers based upon contractual payment schedules. Trade receivables are 
recorded when right to consideration becomes unconditional, and an invoice is issued to the customer. Unbilled 
receivables include amounts related to the Company’s contractual right to consideration for completed performance 
obligations not yet invoiced, including deduction of significant financing component estimated by the management. 
When payments are made before or after the SaverOne System is delivered or related services are rendered, the Company 
recognizes the resulting contract asset or liability as applicable.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, unbilled receivables balance amounted to NIS 1,214 and NIS 1,170, respectively, 
and are included within trade receivables balance in the statements of financial positions.

During the reported periods, costs to obtain contracts were in an insignificant amount.
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands, except per share and share data)

Note 2 - Material accounting policies (Cont.)

K. Warranty costs

The Company provides a standard warranty for its products to end-users at no extra charge. The warranty provides the 
customer with assurance that the item supplied meets the characteristics and the specification agreed upon between the 
parties, as required by law, (assurance-type warranty).

To date, warranty costs and the related liabilities related to the standard warranty period have been immaterial.

L. Leasing

At inception date of an agreement, the Company determines whether the agreement is a lease or whether it contains a 
lease.

Lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease, plus periods covered by options to extend that the lessee is 
reasonably certain to exercise, and options to terminate that the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise.

Leasing transactions are reflected as a right of usage asset against a liability in respect of leasing, which is initially 
measured at the present value of the future leasing payments, discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease, or at the 
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate if the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined.

As part of future leasing payments, the Company includes fixed payments and variable payments linked to indexes or 
rates. In subsequent periods, the lease liability is measured at the present value of the future leasing payments. If 
necessary, the balance of the leasing liability is remeasured on a regular basis in order to reflect changes in future leasing 
payments as a result of changes in the Index.

Right of usage assets are initially measured at cost, which includes the amount of the initial measurement of the liability, 
pre-paid leasing payments and direct costs incurred in the lease. In subsequent periods, usage right assets are measured by 
the cost model, less accumulated depreciation and less accrued impairment losses and also adjusted to reflect any 
remeasurements of the leasing liability. Usage right assets are depreciated on the straight-line method over the shorter of 
the leasing period or the useful lifespan of the asset (3 to 4 years).

Regarding short-term leases (leases with a leasing period of less than 12 months), the Company implemented the 
practical exception, whereby such leases are accounted for as an expense on a straight-line basis over term of the lease.
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands, except per share and share data)

Note 2 - Material accounting policies (Cont.)

M. Financial assets

The classification of financial assets is based on the Company’s business model used for the management of financial 
assets and on the forecasted cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Investments in debt instruments measured at amortized cost

Debt instruments measured at amortized cost are debt instruments that meet the following two cumulative conditions: the 
Company’s business model is to hold and collect the contractual cash flows and, the contractual characteristics of the 
financial asset define cash flows relating to payments of principal and interest, at specified dates on the principal 
outstanding. These are measured upon initial recognition at their fair value, plus transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, such assets are recognized at amortized cost, on the basis of the effective interest method, net of credit losses.

N. Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognizes a provision for loss under the “Expected Credit Loss Recognition Model” for financial debt 
assets that are not measured at fair value through profit and loss, distinguishing between the following two situations:

1. Financial instruments that there has not been a significant increase in their credit risk since the date of their 
original recognition - the provision shall take into account expected credit losses in 12-months period, or

2. Financial instruments that there has been a significant increase in their credit risk since the date of their original 
recognition - the provision shall take into account expected credit losses over the remaining life span of the 
instrument.

For purpose of implementing the above principle, the Company assesses at each reporting date whether credit risk of the 
financial instrument increased significantly from initial recognition date and, as part of the above, use is made of 
reasonable and established information that can be obtained without exaggerated cost or effort.

The amount of the forecasted credit losses is recognized in profit and loss under “general and administrative expenses”.
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SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands, except per share and share data)

Note 2 - Material accounting policies (Cont.)

O. Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognized in the statement of financial position if and only if the Company becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

1. Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are recognized initially in the financial statements on the basis of 
fair value, less direct transaction costs, if any. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are 
measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method, which also takes into account direct costs. The 
effective interest is recognized in profit and loss as financing expenses.

2. Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss

This group includes financial liabilities that are designated by the Company’s management upon initial 
recognition as financial liabilities presented at fair value through profit and loss if they are qualified to such 
designation (e.g., certain warrants and promissory notes) that are subject to settlement in variable numbers of 
shares See also Note 2R below.

Financial liabilities in this category are presented at fair value at each reporting date. Changes in fair value are 
carried to profit and loss, except for the change in fair value that can be attributed to changes in the credit risk of 
the liability which is presented as part of other comprehensive income (loss), unless such treatment will generate 
on accounting mismatching in profit and loss. Transaction costs are carried to profit and loss when incurred.

P. Derecognition and offsetting of financial instruments

1. Derecognition

Financial assets

A financial asset is derecognized when:

● The contractual rights to cash flows from the financial asset have expired; or

● The Company transfers the financial asset which qualifies for derecognition.

If the Company did not substantially transfer all of the risks and rewards deriving from ownership of the 
transferred asset, but all of the risks and rewards did not remain with the Company, and the Company retained 
control over the transferred asset, the Company continues to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of its 
continuing involvement therein.

Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the liability is settled, i.e., when the obligation defined in the contract 
has been repaid, cancelled or expired.

2. Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the statements of financial position at a net amount only 
when the Company has an enforceable legal right of offset and there exists the intention to settle the asset and 
the liability on a net or simultaneous basis. An enforceable legal right to offset exists when it can be enforced at 
any time, both during the normal course of business and in the event of insolvency, and when it is not contingent 
on any future event.
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Note 2 - Material accounting policies (Cont.)

Q. Settlement of financial liabilities through equity instruments

In cases in which partial or full settlement is made of financial liabilities through equity instruments, the equity 
instruments are measured at the fair value of the equity instrument if it is possible to estimate the fair value reliably. 
Otherwise, the measurement of the equity instruments is carried out on the basis of the fair value of the financial liability 
being settled (or a part thereof), at the date of settlement. The difference between the fair value of the equity instruments 
used to settle the financial liability being settled and the carrying value of the liability is carried to profit and loss.

R. Issuance of financial instruments as part of a package

At the closing date, the Company allocated total gross proceeds as follows: (i) first, the consideration is allocated to 
financial instruments that are under fair value through profit and loss category, (ii) second, the consideration is allocated 
to financial instruments thar are measured at amortized costs, (iii) the residual amount, if any, is allocated to instruments 
that are classified in equity.

Incremental and direct issuance costs were allocated to the components based on the same proportion as the allocation of 
the gross proceeds. The portion of issuance costs that was allocated to instruments under fair value through profit and loss 
category was recognized immediately as finance expenses and the portion of issuance costs related to equity instruments 
was deducted from additional-paid in capital.

S. Derivative Warrants Liability

Certain Warrants that were issued by the Company to investors through the U.S. IPO (see also Note 13C1) are 
exercisable into ADSs with a fixed exercise price, which is denominated in U.S. dollar currency, which is different from 
the functional currency of the Company (NIS) and also may be exercisable to a variable number of shares due to the 
existence of cashless exercise mechanism under certain circumstances. Accordingly, such Warrants are considered as a 
current financial liability classified under ‘Fair value through profit or loss’ category (FVTPL). Changes in the estimated 
fair value of the outstanding Warrants are recognized each reporting period in the profit and loss as part of the financing 
expenses, until such Warrants are exercised or expired.

T. Liability in respect of government grants

Government grants in respect of a research and development project received from the Israeli Innovation Authority 
(“IIA”) or in respect to marketing project in designed territory from the Israeli Ministry of Economy are recognized as a 
liability when received and are measured at fair value as of the receipt date, unless at that date, it is reasonably assured 
that the amount received will not be refunded. Amounts paid as royalties in subsequent periods are accounted for as 
settlement of a financial liability. The difference between the amount of grant received and the fair value of the liability 
on the recognition date is accounted for as government grant and accordingly it is carried to profit and loss under research 
and development expenses. The liability amount is reassessed in each period, with any changes in the present value of the 
expected cash flows discounted by the original interest rate carried to profit and loss. Under circumstances in which 
management determines in subsequent periods that there is reasonable assurance that the grant will not be refunded, the 
liability is derecognized on that date to profit and loss under research and development expenses.
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Note 2 - Material accounting policies (Cont.)

U. Employee benefits

1. Liability in respect of pensions and severance pay

Pursuant to Israeli labor laws and labor contracts and in accordance with Company practice, the Company is 
required to make severance payments to employees who are terminated and, under certain circumstances, to 
employees who resign or leave on their own initiative.

The liability of the Company in respect of post-employment benefits is accounted for as a defined contribution 
plan. The Company has defined contribution plan in accordance with section 14 of Israel’s Severance Pay Law – 
1963. The actuarial and economic risks in respect of this plan are not borne by the Company. Under this plan, 
during the employment period, the Company makes regular payments to an independent entity, without the 
Company having any legal or implied obligation to make any additional payments in the event that sufficient 
amounts have not been accrued in the plan. Deposits in a defined contribution plan are included as an expense 
when the amount is deposited in the plan, concurrent with the receipt of the work services from the employee 
and no additional amount need be provided for in the financial statements. The Company regularly deposits 
money in respect of its liabilities to make severance payments to part of its employees in pension funds and 
insurance companies.

The following tabular represents amounts paid under defined contribution plan:

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Expenses related in respect of defined contribution plan 1,698 1,462 1,260

2. Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits include salaries, vacation pay, recreation pay and deposits to the National 
Insurance Institute (Social Security) if they are expected to be settled within 12 months following the end of the 
annual reporting period in which the employee renders the relevant services. Such benefits are recognized as an 
expense concurrently with the receipt of the work services.

V. Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation transactions that are settled by equity instruments that were executed with employees or others 
who render similar services are measured at the date of the grant, based on the fair value of the granted equity 
instruments. The vesting conditions, except for market conditions, are not taken into consideration in estimating the fair 
value, but rather by adjusting the number of equity instruments included in the measurement of the transaction amount. 
Such amount is recognized as an expense against a concurrent recording in equity over the period in which the 
employees’ right to exercise or receive the equity instruments has vested.

The expense in respect of a share-based payment relating to grants contingent upon vesting conditions that are not market 
conditions is adjusted at the end of each reporting period in order to reflect the number of the equity instruments expected 
to vest.
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W. Loss per share

The basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributed to the shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period and, if necessary, after deducting shares held by the 
Company.

For purposes of calculating the diluted loss per share, the loss attributed to the ordinary shareholders of the Company and 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding are adjusted in respect of the possible impact of potential 
ordinary shares that may derive from the exercise or conversion of convertible financial instruments in respect of which 
there is a dilutive effect.

X. Operating cycle

The operating cycle of the Company is one year.

Y. A summary of new financial reporting standards that came into effect during the period and which are relevant to 
the Company’s activities

The Company applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 (unless otherwise stated). The Company has not early adopted any other standard, 
interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

1. Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-Current

Commencing January 1, 2024, the Company applied, in a retrospective manner, the amendments to IAS 1 - 
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the Amendments).

The amendments clarify:

The amendments replace certain requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. According to 
the amendments, a liability will be classified as non-current when the entity has the right to defer settlement for 
at least 12 months after the reporting period, and it “has substance” and is in existence at the end of the reporting 
period, this instead of the requirement that there be an “unconditional” right. According to the amendments, a 
right is in existence at the reporting date only if the entity complies with conditions for deferring settlement at 
that date. In addition. the classification as non-current is not affected by management intentions or expectations. 
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that the conversion option of a liability will affect its classification as 
current or non-current, unless when the conversion option is recognized as equity. The amendments also 
clarified that only covenants that an entity must comply with on or before the reporting period affects 
classification.

The amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024 with earlier 
application being permitted. The amendments are applicable retroactively, including an amendment to 
comparative data.

The implementation of the amendments did not have a material impact on the classification of liabilities in the 
statements of the Company’s financial position.
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Y. A summary of new financial reporting standards that came into effect during the period and which are relevant to 
the Company’s activities (Cont.)

2. Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures) 

The amendments clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of 
such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial 
statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and 
exposure to liquidity risk.

The amendments became effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024.

The implementation of the amendments did not have a material impact on the financial condition and results of 
the Company’s operations.

Z. A summary of new reporting standards not yet effective and which are relevant to the Company’s activities 

IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

In April 2024, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued IFRS 18 ‘Presentation and Disclosure in 
Financial Statements’ (IFRS 18). IFRS 18 will replace the existing IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ while 
carrying forward many of the requirements in IAS 1.

IFRS 18 requires companies to provide improved structure and content to the financial statements, in particular the profit 
and loss statement. IFRS 18 introduces three defined categories for income and expenses - operating, investing and 
financing in order to improve the structure of the income statement, and requires all companies to provide new defined 
subtotals, including operating profit.

IFRS 18 provides enhanced guidance on the principles of aggregation and disaggregation which focus on grouping items 
based on their shared characteristics. Characteristics refer for example to nature, function or measurement basis.

Where items are presented by function, an entity is required to disclose information by nature for specific expenses.

IFRS 18 requires companies to disclose explanations of company-specific measures that are related to the income 
statement, referred to as management-defined performance measures (MPMs). The information related to these measures 
will be disclosed in the financial statements in a single note, including a reconciliation between the MPM and the most 
similar specified subtotal in IFRS. The new requirements are intended to improve and transparency of management-
defined performance measures.

IFRS 18 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with earlier application permitted. 
Entities that early adopt IFRS 18 are required to disclose that fact in the notes.

The Company is examining the potential impact of implementing IFRS 18 on its financial statements. However, the new 
standard is expected to affect matters of presentation and disclosure.
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Z. A summary of new reporting standards not yet effective and which are relevant to the Company’s activities 
(Cont.)

Lack of exchangeability – Amendments to IAS 21 

In August 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates to specify 
how an entity should assess whether a currency is exchangeable and how it should determine a spot exchange rate when 
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments also require disclosure of information that enables users of its financial 
statements to understand how the currency not being exchangeable into the other currency affects, or is expected to 
affect, the entity’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows. The amendments will be effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Early adoption is permitted, but will need to be disclosed. When 
applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Note 3 - Significant accounting estimates and considerations

The accounting estimates and assumptions that were used in the preparation of the financial statements are tested on a regular 
basis and are based on past experience and other factors, including future events, the occurrence of which is reasonably expected 
to occur in view of existing circumstances. The Company makes estimates and assumptions regarding future events or conditions. 
By their very nature, it is rare that such accounting estimates will be identical to actual results. The estimates and assumptions that 
reflect the highest exposure to material changes in the amount of assets and liabilities in the following year are set out below:

A. Impairment of inventory

Inventory impairment exists when the cost exceeds the net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the 
sale.

Management estimates the net realizable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable evidence available at 
each reporting date. The future realization of these inventories may be affected by future technology, competition, 
demands or other market-driven changes that may reduce future selling prices or affect customer demand for the 
company products.

B. Research and development expenses

Development expenses are capitalized and recorded as an asset, commencing with the phase during which technological 
feasibility is achieved, when the company has intentions and the ability to complete and use (or sell) the asset, when it is 
expected that the developed asset will generate future economic benefits and when it is possible to estimate the 
development costs in a reliable manner. In determining whether an expense qualified for capitalization, management 
estimates the cash flows expected to derive from the asset, the timing of such flows, the discounting rates and the 
expected benefit period. As noted in Note 2I above, as of the reported periods, management determined that the aforesaid 
conditions were not met and thus development costs were not capitalized.
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C. Liability in respect of government grants

Government grants in respect of a research and development project and marketing project are recognized as a liability 
and are measured at their fair value as of the receipt date, unless at that date, it is reasonably assured that the amount 
received will not be refunded. In determining these assumptions, management makes use of a forecast regarding revenues 
expected to derive from the items in respect of which the grants were received and the royalties that have to be paid in 
respect thereof. There exists a degree of uncertainty in respect of the estimated future cash flows, timing of such cash 
flows and estimate of the discount rate used in determining the amount of the liability. See also Note 11 below.

D. Share-based payments

The Company evaluates the fair value of share-based payments to employees and other parties rendering similar service, 
at the grant date, using a Black and Scholes model, which include assumptions that include the Company’s share price, 
the expected share price volatility, the risk-free interest rate, the expected dividend and the expected option term. In 
addition, upon grant of options to non-employees, the Company is required to estimate the fair value of the services 
received under agreements.

For evaluating of share-based payments to be recognized, inter alia, management assess the estimated number of options 
expected to be vest, see also Note 14 below.

E. Measurement of expected credit losses

With respect to customers and contract assets, the Company measures the provision for expected credit losses in an 
amount equals to expected credit losses over the life of the instrument. Credit losses are calculated based on the present 
value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that the Company is entitled to receive under the contract and 
the cash flows the Company expects it to receive when the capitalization of such cash flows is based on the original 
effective interest rate of the financial asset. In determining the amounts of cash to be received and the timing, the 
Company is required to make assumptions and exercise discretion. See also Note 19B below.

Note 4 - Cash and cash equivalents

Composition:

As of December 31,
2024 2023

Cash in new Israeli shekels 830 505
Cash in foreign currency 12,468 16,607

13,298 17,112
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Note 5 - Trade receivables, net 

A. Composition:

As of December 31,
2024 2023

Current:
Open balances 1,105 702
Unbilled 516 352

1,621 1,054

Non-current:
Open balances 106 233
Unbilled 698 818

804 1,051

B. Trade receivables are generally non-interest bearing When the payments schedule provides the customer with a 
significant benefit of financing (i.e. when the period between the transfer of the promised good or service and the 
payment is over one year) the transaction price is discounted, using an interest rate that represents the applicable risk rate 
of the customers (7.5%).

The average credit period of trade receivables, after deducting advance payments from customers is 526 days.

For details regarding credit risk, see Note 19B below.

Note 6 - Other current assets

Composition:

As of December 31,
2024 2023

Governmental institutions 225 996
Prepaid expenses 269 484
Proceeds from issuance of ADSs (*) 1,076 -
Other 116 29

1,686 1,509

(*) Relates to SEPA advance notice under the equity line, the amount were received in cash on January 2, 2025.
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Note 7 - Inventory

Composition:

As of December 31,
2024 2023

Raw materials 3,875 2,502
Finished goods 1,138 2,032

5,013 4,534

Note 8 - Property and equipment, net

A. Composition and changes in 2024

Computers

Office 
furniture and 

equipment
Leasehold 

improvements Total

Cost
At January 1, 2024 402 89 79 570
Additions 59 10 10 79
At December 31, 2024 461 99 89 649
Accumulated depreciation
At January 1, 2024 267 31 24 322
Depreciation 83 7 8 98
At December 31, 2024 350 38 32 420

Depreciated cost:
At December 31, 2024 111 61 57 229

Composition and changes in 2023

Computers

Office 
furniture and 

equipment
Leasehold 

improvements Total

Cost
At January 1, 2023 310 66 66 442
Additions 92 23 13 128
At December 31, 2023 402 89 79 570
Accumulated depreciation
At January 1, 2023 183 25 16 224
Depreciation 84 6 8 98
At December 31, 2023 267 31 24 322

Depreciated cost:
At December 31, 2023 135 58 55 248

B. Depreciation period and depreciation method

In respect to depreciation period and the depreciation method, see Note 2G above.
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Note 9 - Leasing

A. On March 4, 2020, the Company signed a rental agreement pertaining to a building and a number of parking 
spaces for a period of 48-months, for a monthly payment of NIS 25, linked to the ICPI, plus value added tax. The 
Company was granted an option to extend the rental period for another two years. 

In accordance with the provision of IFRS 16, Leasing, the Company recognized a right of usage asset in an amount of 
NIS 1,029, measured in the accounting records at an amount equal to the leasing liability (using a discount rate of 5%).

B. In March 2021, the Company entered into an addendum to the Rental Agreement (the “First Addendum”), under 
which the Company rented additional space and a storage room, for a monthly rent of NIS 14, linked to ICPI plus 
VAT. All of the other terms of the First Addendum are identical to those of the Rental Agreement.

As First Addendum constitute an amended lease that increases the scope of the lease by adding rights to use additional 
space and consideration the first addendum was accounted for as a change in the lease related to a separate lease. 
Accordingly, the Company measured the addition to the rental liability at the present value of the payments relating to the 
new space by discounting the additional rental payments using the Company’s incremental interest rate as of the date the 
addendum went into effect, determined to be a rate of 5%. As a result, there was an increase in the rental liability in an 
amount of NIS 533 which was recognized as an increase in the right for usage asset.

C. On November 15, 2023, the Company entered into second addendum to the Rental Agreement (the “Second 
Addendum”), under which the Agreement and First Addendum were terminated on December 31, 2023, whereby 
the monthly fee for November and December 2023 will be paid in 3 equal installments linked to ICPI plus VAT, 
based on payment schedule determined in the Second Addendum. In addition, it was agreed that a new lease 
period will be commenced since January 1, 2024 over a limited period of 42-months in respect to office spaces and 
several parking spaces in return for a monthly rent of NIS 39,105 plus VAT. However, a grace period was given 
for the first 3-months (January - March 2024) for the rental fee but excluding the management fee.

In addition, as part of the terms of the Second Addendum, the Company was required to make a deposit of NIS 216 as of 
December 31, 2024, restricted as to withdrawal, in order to guarantee its compliance with the terms of the commitment.

Taking into consideration that the consequences of the Addendum constitute an amended lease that increases the scope of 
the lease by adding rights to use additional space and consideration that is in line with the scope of the increase in space, 
these consequences were accounted for as a lease modification. Accordingly, the Company measured the addition to the 
rental liability at the present value of the payments relating to the new space by discounting the additional rental 
payments using the Company’s incremental interest rate as of the date the Addendum went into effect, determined to be a 
rate of 7.8%. As a result, there was an increase in the rental liability of NIS 1,129 which was recognized as an increase in 
the right for usage asset.
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Note 9 - Leasing (Cont.)

D. Right for usage asset

Changes in 2024:

Office 
building 

and parking 
spaces

Cost
Balance as of January 1, 2024 2,691
Additions -
Balance as of December 31, 2024 2,691
Accumulated amortization
Balance as of January 1, 2024 1,420
Additions 320
Balance as of December 31, 2024 1,740

Amortized cost as of December 31, 2024 951

Changes in 2023:

Office 
building 

and parking 
spaces

Cost
Balance as of January 1, 2023 1,562
Additions 1,129
Balance as of December 31, 2023 2,691
Accumulated amortization
Balance as of January 1, 2023 995
Additions 425
Balance as of December 31, 2023 1,420

Amortized cost as of December 31, 2023 1,271
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Note 9 - Leasing (Cont.)

E. Lease liability

Changes in 2024:

Office 
building 

and parking 
spaces

Balance as of January 1, 2024 1,332
Interest expenses 95
Lease payments (352)

Balance as of December 31, 2024 1,075

Changes in 2023:

Office 
building 

and parking 
spaces

Balance as of January 1, 2023 648
Additions 1,129
Interest expenses 22
Lease payments (467)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 1,332

F. Amortization period and amortization method

In respect to amortization period and amortization method, see Note 2L above.

G. Amounts recognized in statements of cash flow:

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Amortization of the right for usage asset 320 425 425
Interest expense in respect of leasing 95 22 43
Repayment of principal in respect of leasing 352 467 467

Total negative cash flows in respect of leasing for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are 
approximately NIS 447, NIS 489 and NIS 510, respectively.
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H. Analysis of contractual payment dates of leasing liability at December 31, 2024:

Up to a year 469
1-2 years 469
2-3 years 235
Total (undiscounted) 1,173
Discount effect (98)
Net present value 1,075

Note 10 - Other current liabilities

Composition:

As of December 31,
2024 2023

Employees and salary-related institutions (*) 1,868 1,574
Accrued expenses 1,123 468
Others - -

2,991 2,042

(*) Includes balance of NIS 125 in respect of management fees to related party as of December 31, 2024 (see Note 18A below).

Note 11 - Liability in respect of government grants

A. Since the Inception Date, the Company has received grants in respect of participation in research and 
development from the IIA, in a total amount of NIS 1.7 million. In return, the Company undertook to pay 
royalties at a rate of 3% of the revenues to derive from the know-how and technology to be developed as part of 
the projects in respect of which such financing was received. The liability amount is linked to the U.S. dollar. Until 
December 31,2023 the Liability was subject to LIBOR interest rate and commencing January 1,2024 the interest 
rate was replaced with Term SOFR (Secured Overnight Financing Rate).

The Company recognized a liability in respect of these grants at the initial recognition date in an amount equal to the fair 
value of the liability, based on the present value of the royalty payments payable to the IIA as a percentage of sales, 
discounted at a discount rate of 20%, as assessed by the Company’s management on the basis of an independent third-
party valuation. The difference between the amount of the grant received and the amount recognized as a liability, as 
above, was carried to profit and loss against research and development expenses. 

F-30



SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
(New Israeli Shekels in thousands, except per share and share data)

Note 11 - Liability in respect of government grants (Cont.)

B. In October 2021, the Israeli Ministry of Economy, which oversees commerce, industry and labor, approved the 
Company’s application for participation in funding as part of a designated grants plan for the purpose of United 
States. The grant was intended to cover up to 50% from the costs of consulting and establishing marketing 
systems, exhibitions and demonstrations, logistics and hiring of employees and consultants in United States, based 
on approved budget for the plan over a period of 2-years.

The Company is obligated to repay to the Israeli Ministry of Economy royalties from the revenues derived in United 
States up to an aggregate of 100% of the total grant received linked to the ICPI and for a period of up to 5-years from the 
last year of the plan, subject to achieving growth in an amount that is equal to the lower of NIS 1,000 or 50% in 
comparison to reprehensive base year.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, an amount of NIS 299 was received and recognized in profit or loss, as grants 
(see Note 15B below). As of December 31, 2024, liability was not accrued for royalties towards Israeli Ministry of 
Economy based on estimation of management it is currently reasonably assured the amount received will not be refunded.

The following tabular represents the changes in liability in respect of government grants in the reported periods:

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Balance as of January 1, 1,328 1,254 1,168
Adjustment of the liability in respect of government grants in respect of  change in the 

expected discounted cash flows and exchange rate differentials (224) 74 86
Royalties payable to the IIA (144) - -
Balance as of December 31, 960 1,328 1,254

December 31,
2024 2023

Current liability 239 694
Non-current liability 721 634
Balance as of December 31, 960 1,328
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Note 12 - Commitments and contingencies 

A. Service agreement with the Chief Executive Officer

On February 24, 2020, a consulting agreement was signed by the Company and Mr. Ori Gilboa (the “Consulting 
Agreement” and “Mr. Gilboa”, respectively), under which Mr. Gilboa was appointed to the full-time position as the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), which includes but is not limited to, relations with investors, relations with 
various authorities regarding the Company’s operations, relations with financial institutions that the Company works with 
and with their various consultants, as well as additional activities, all as demanded from time to time by the Company’s 
board of directors (the “Services” and “Board of Directors”, respectively).

The appointment of Mr. Gilboa as the Company’s CEO became effective September 1, 2019 and the Consulting 
Agreement will continue being in effect until termination, as set forth in the Consulting Agreement.

In respect of the fulfillment of the position of CEO and Mr. Gilboa’s rending of the Services to the Company, Mr. Gilboa 
was initially entitled to (i) a monthly fee of NIS 60 plus VAT, (ii) reimbursement of reasonable expenses against receipts 
or other document in accordance with the Company’s procedures, (iii) insurance coverage, indemnification and 
exemption from liability, as is customary practice regarding senior officers and directors, (iv) an annual bonus of up to 
total amount of NIS 360 or a higher amount at the discretion of the Board of Directors and subject to provisions of the 
remuneration policy in effect from time to time and (v) a grant of 232,000 options exercisable into the same number of 
ordinary shares over 4-years period based on a vesting schedule which may be subject to acceleration upon occurrence of 
certain events set forth in the Consulting Agreement. 

On February 16, 2021, the Company’s shareholders approved to update the employment terms of Mr. Gilboa, to be 
effective from September 1, 2020 over a 3-year period. These terms included: (i) monthly compensation of NIS 90 plus 
VAT, to be updated annually by 12%, subject to the approval of the Board of Directors; (ii) an annual contingent bonus 
for each year in which Mr. Gilboa rendered management Services to the Company, in an amount of up to 6 monthly 
salaries, as shall be in effect at that time, subject to discretion of the Board of Directors and subject to provisions of the 
remuneration policy in effect from time to time; and (iii) a grant of 126,000 options exercisable into the same number of 
ordinary shares, at an exercise price of NIS 36 per share, to vest over a 4-year period. 

On August 14, 2023, the Company’s shareholders approved to update the employment terms of Mr. Gilboa, to be 
effective from September 1, 2023 over a 3-year period. These terms included: (i) monthly compensation of NIS 120 plus 
VAT, which shall be indexed on quarterly basis to the ICPI (the “Consulting Fee”); (ii) annual contingent bonus for each 
year in which Mr. Gilboa rendered management Services to the Company, in an amount of up to 6 monthly Consulting 
Fees, as shall be in effect at that time, subject to discretion of the Board of Directors and subject to provisions of the 
remuneration policy in effect from time to time; and (iii) a grant of 900,000 Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”) exercisable 
into the same number of ordinary shares, based on vesting schedule as determined in the RSU Agreement. 

For more information, see Note 14B and Note 18 below.
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Note 12 - Commitments and contingencies (Cont.)

B. Asset purchase agreement

On August 26, 2024, the Company completed an asset purchase agreement for the Generation-3 camera products and 
intellectual property (IP) of Micronet Ltd. (hereinafter - “Micronet”), an Israeli public company which is a developer of 
advanced telematics systems, cameras, and Driver Monitoring Systems (DMS). Under the terms of the agreement, the 
Company will acquire the intellectual property and inventory related to Micronet’s Generation 3 camera at no upfront 
cost. The acquisition is structured as an earn-out agreement, with future royalty payments to Micronet contingent upon 
the sale of products incorporating the acquired camera technology, if any.

As the transaction represented the acquisition of intangible assets (IP) for contingent variable consideration that depend, 
among others, on the company’s future actions, it was determined that the company’s obligation to future payment does 
not meet the definition of a financial liability. Thus, it was determined that any amounts that the company will be 
required to be pay as future royalty payments due to sales of products incorporating the acquired Micronet camera 
technology, will be recognized as expense, in the periods when such sales will be reflected as revenues.

C. Leasing transaction - see Note 9 above.

Note 13 - Share capital and reserves

A. Composition of share capital

December 31
2024 2023

Authorized
Issued and 
outstanding Authorized

Issued and 
outstanding

Ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.01 each (1) 1,000,000,000 415,103,076 1,000,000,000 69,579,231

(1) On February 17, 2025, the general meeting of shareholders of the Company approved to increase the authorized shares of the 
Company to 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares.

In June 2022, the Company completed an underwritten initial public offering in the United States (the “U.S. IPO”) on the 
Nasdaq under in which the Company issued and sold units consisting of American Depositary Shares (“ADS”), and 
warrants to purchase ADS. The ADSs and Warrants are traded on the Nasdaq under the symbols “SVRE” and 
“SVREW”, respectively.

On October 28, 2024, the Company effected the change in the ADS ratio from one (1) ADS representing five (5) 
Ordinary Shares, to one (1) ADS representing ninety (90) Ordinary Shares. Subsequent to the statement of financial 
position date, on February 21, 2025, the Company effected an additional change in the ADS ratio from one (1) ADS 
representing ninety (90) Ordinary Shares, to one (1) ADS representing one thousand two hundred (1,200) Ordinary 
Shares. This change in the ADS has the effect or a reverse stock split on the existing ADSs on the basis of one (1) new 
ADS for every thirteen and one third (13.33) old ADSs (the “Reverse Stock Split”) held by the Company’s holders. All 
per ADS amounts were adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.
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Note 13 - Share capital and reserves (Cont.)

B. Rights attached to the ordinary shares

The ordinary shares of the Company grant the holders thereof the right to participate and vote in shareholders meetings, 
the right to receive a dividend, as declared, the right to participate in distributions of bonus shares and the right to 
participate in the distribution of the assets of the Company upon liquidation.

C. Changes in the issued and outstanding share capital

2024 2023 2022
Balance as of January 1 69,579,231 27,780,896 7,984,706

Issuance of ADSs and prefunded warrants through U.S. IPO (1) - - 15,750,885
Issuance of ADSs through private placement transaction (2) - - 4,045,305
Issuance of ADSs as commitment shares for receiving an equity line (3) - 340,760 -
Issuance of ADSs resulted from partial exercise of Commitment Amount under equity 

line - SEPA (3) 17,375,000 21,530,865 -
Issuance of ADSs resulted from partial exercise of Commitment Amount under equity 

line - New SEPA(5) 240,390,000 - -
Repayment of first promissory note through issuance of ADSs resulted from partial 

exercise of Commitment Amount under equity line (3) - 11,503,375 -
Repayment of third promissory note through issuance of ADSs resulted from partial 

exercise of Commitment Amount under equity line - New SEPA(5) 74,793,290 -
Issuance of ADSs through public offering transaction as part of shelf prospectus (4) 12,555,555 8,333,335 -
Exercise of restricted share units into ordinary shares (6) 360,000 90,000 -
Issuance of ADSs to a supplier 50,000 - -
Balance as of December 31 415,103,076 69,579,231 27,780,896
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Note 13 - Share capital and reserves (Cont.)

C. Changes in the issued and outstanding capital (Cont.)

(1) As noted in Note 1B above, on June 7, 2022, the Company completed the U.S. IPO under which the Company 
received gross proceeds of approximately $13 million (approximately NIS 43,441), before deducting 
underwriting discounts and offering expenses payable by the Company, for the issuance and sale of -

A. 2,941,918 Units at a public price of $4.13 per Unit, each consisting of (i) one ADS and (ii) one Warrant 
exercisable for one ADS over a limited period of 5-years from the issuance date at an original exercise 
price of $5.00 (the Warrants are subject to a cashless exercise mechanism upon under certain events). 
After taking into account the changes in the Company’s ADS ratio, as the date of this report, the 
number of Warrants exercisable for one ADS are 12,261 at an exercise price of $1,200.

B. 208,282 Pre-Funded Units at a price to the public of $4.129 per Pre-Funded Unit, each consisting of (i) 
one Pre-Funded Warrant exercisable for one ADS, which were exercisable immediately and may be 
exercised at any time until exercised in full, at an exercise price of $0.001 (the Pre-Funded Warrants are 
subject to a cashless exercise mechanism upon under certain events) and (ii) one Warrant exercisable 
for one ADS over a limited period of 5-years from the issuance date at an exercise price of $5.00 (the 
warrants are subject to a cashless exercise mechanism upon under certain events). It is noted that all of 
the Pre-Funded Warrants were fully paid at the Closing Date and 208,259 ADSs were issued in August 
2022.

In connection with the U.S. IPO, the Company engaged a U.S. underwriter, which was granted as part of its 
compensation upon completion of the U.S. IPO the Representative’s Warrant were exercisable original for 
157,510 ADSs at an exercise price of $5.16 per ADS at any time after December 2, 2022 through the close of 
business day on June 2, 2027. After taking into account the changes in the Company’s ADS ratio, as the date of 
this report, the number of Warrants exercisable for one ADS are 656 at an exercise price of $1,238. In addition, 
the Company granted to the underwriter the Over-Allotment Option to purchase up to an additional 469,654 
ADSs at an exercise price of $4.129 or Pre-Funded Warrants and/or 469,654 Warrants exercisable for the same 
number of ADS at an exercise price of $0.001. In connection to offering closing, in June 2022, the underwriter 
partially exercised its Over-Allotment Option to purchase an additional 126,482 Warrants exercisable for the 
same number of ADSs for de minimis consideration. After taking into account the changes in the Company’s 
ADS ratio, as the date of this report, the number of Warrants exercisable for one ADS are 528. The remaining 
portion of Over-Allotment Option, consisting of up to 343,172 ADS and/or Pre-Funded Warrants and 343,172 
Warrants, expired unexercised.

Upon satisfaction of customary closing conditions, the Closing Date of the U.S. IPO was June 7, 2022.

As the exercise price of the Warrants is determined in foreign currency and as the Warrants might be exercisable 
to variable number of shares due to cashless exercise mechanism, the Warrants are accounted for as a derivative 
financial liability.

Moreover, the Company received substantially all of the Pre-Funded Warrant proceeds upfront (without any 
conditions) as part of the Pre-Funded Warrant’s purchase price and in return the Company was obligated to issue 
fixed number of ADSs to holders. Thus, Pre-Funded Warrants were accounted for and classified as additional 
paid-in capital as part of the Company’s shareholders’ equity. 

As the Representative’s Warrant were granted to the underwriter as compensation for its underwriting services 
rendered in respect to the U.S. IPO, they were accounted for under IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” in total 
amount of NIS 5, NIS 588 and NIS 463, respectively. These expenses were estimated at fair value by using 
Black-Scholes-Merton pricing model in which the assumptions that have been used were as follows: expected 
dividend yield of 0%; risk-free interest rate of 2.16%-3.11%; expected volatility of 52.92%, exercise period and 
exercise price based upon the stated terms, ADS price of $2.76 which represents the quoted market price of the 
average 4 business days following the Closing Date. These expenses were included as part of the incremental 
and direct issuance costs incurred through the U.S. IPO. 
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Note 13 - Share capital and reserves (Cont.)

C. Changes in the issued and outstanding capital (Cont.)

(1) (Cont.)

Pursuant to the above, at the initial recognition date the gross proceeds received was allocated to identified 
components as follows:

Fair value at 
Closing Date

Derivative warrant liability (*) 3,947
Pre-funded warrant and ADSs 39,494
Total gross consideration 43,441

(*) The fair value of the derivate warrant liability was determined and estimated at level 1 in the fair value hierarchy based on the 
price of the Warrants of $0.3508 which is an average quoted market trading price in the first four business days following the 
Closing Date.

The total incremental and direct issuance costs amounted to NIS 7,949 (of which NIS 6,893 were cash expense) 
were allocated to the Warrants (NIS 723) and the ADSs (including the Pre-Funded Warrants) (NIS 7,226), based 
on the relative value of such identified instruments at the Closing Date. The portion of issuance costs that was 
allocated to the Warrants was recognized immediately as finance expenses in profit or loss and the portion of 
issuance costs related to the ADSs (including the Pre-Funded Warrants) was deducted from additional paid-in 
capital.

The following tabular presentation reflects the reconciliation of the fair value of derivative warrant liability 
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023

Opening balance 274 1,151
Recognition of fair value of warrants issued at effective date - -
Warrants issued as result of partially exercised of over-allotment option - -
Revaluation of derivative warrant liability exercisable for ADSs (see Note 16B below) (*) (274) (877)
Closing balance - 274

(*) Due to lack of trading activity of the Warrant, as of December 31, 2024, the management estimated the fair value of the Warrant 
by using Black-Scholes-Merton pricing model in which the assumptions that have been used were as follows: expected dividend 
yield of 0%; risk-free interest rate of 4.3%; expected volatility of 87.26%, exercise period and exercise price based on stated terms 
and ordinary share price of NIS 0.042 which represents the quoted market price. 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the measurement of the aforesaid derivative warrant liability was classified 
at level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
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Note 13 - Share capital and reserves (Cont.)

C. Changes in the issued and outstanding capital (Cont.)

(2) On December 11, 2022, the Company entered into the PIPE Agreement with an accredited investor (the “PIPE 
Purchaser”), under which the Company sold to the PIPE Purchaser 4,045,305 Shares (represented by 3,372 
ADSs) for total net proceeds of approximately $1.5 million (approximately NIS 5,141) (the “Proceeds”).

Following to completion of customary conditions, the closing date of the PIPE was December 12, 2022 (the 
“PIPE Closing Date”).

In connection with the PIPE and pursuant to the PIPE Agreement, the Company granted registration rights (the 
“Registration Rights”) to the PIPE Purchaser, under which the Company agreed to file a registration statement 
(the “Resale Registration Statement”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) as soon as 
reasonably practicable to register the resale of the ADSs, and to cause such Resale Registration Statement to be 
declared effective within 45-days of the PIPE Closing Date (the “Resale Effectiveness Date”). On January 17, 
2023 the Company filed the Resale Registration Statement on Form F-1, which was declared effective by the 
SEC on January 24, 2023.

(3) On June 5, 2023, the Company entered into the SEPA with  Yorkville, under which the Company was granted 
the right, but not the obligation, to sell to Yorkville from time to time up to the Commitment Amount of the 
Company’s ADSs, during a limited period of 48-months following the execution of the SEPA, subject to the 
restrictions and satisfaction of the conditions in the SEPA. At the Company’s option, the ADSs would be 
purchased by Yorkville from time to time at a price equal to 95% of the lowest of the 3 daily Volume Weighted 
Average Price (“VWAPs”) of the Company’s ADSs for such trading day on the Nasdaq during regular trading 
hours as reported by Bloomberg L.P during a 3 consecutive trading day period commencing on the date that the 
Company, subject to certain limitations, delivers a notice to Yorkville that the Company is committing Yorkville 
to purchase such the Advance Shares.  As consideration for Yorkville’s irrevocable commitment to purchase the 
Company’s ADSs up to the Commitment Amount, the Company issued 340,760 ordinary shares (represented by 
284 ADSs) (the “Commitment Shares”) to Yorkville.

The Company incurred direct and incremental issuance costs amounted to $70 thousand (approximately NIS 
260).

Pursuant to the SEPA, Yorkville shall not be obligated to purchase or acquire any ADSs under the SEPA which, 
when aggregated with all other ADSs or ordinary shares beneficially owned by Yorkville and its affiliates, 
would result in the beneficial ownership of Yorkville and its affiliates (on an aggregated basis) to exceed 4.99% 
of the then outstanding voting power or number of the Company’s ordinary shares.
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C. Changes in the issued and outstanding capital (Cont.)

(3) (Cont.)

Upon the execution of the SEPA, Yorkville, upon the Company’s request, advanced to the Company $2,000 
thousand (approximately NIS 7,430 before issuance costs of NIS 260) of the Commitment Amount evidenced by 
the First Promissory Note. The First Promissory Note accrues interest at a rate of 8%, was issued with a 3% 
original issue discount and was required to be repaid in 10 monthly installments beginning on the 60th day 
following the execution date of the First Promissory Note either in cash or by issuance of Advance Shares. The 
First Promissory Note was fully repaid mostly through issuance of ADS. 

Yorkville’s obligation to purchase the Company’s ADSs pursuant to the SEPA was subject to a number of 
conditions, including that a registration statement (the “YA Resale Registration Statement”) be filed with the 
SEC. On June 7, 2023, the Company filed YA Resale Registration Statement on Form F-1, which was declared 
effective by the SEC on June 16, 2023 (the “YA Resale Effective Date”).

In accordance with IFRS and based on the overall contractual framework between the parties and the fact that 
the SEPA and the First Promissory Note were executed on the same date, both agreements were accounted for as 
one transaction as an issuance of a package that includes (1) Company right to sell Advance Shares (the “Put 
Options”), (2) First Promissory Note and (3) Commitment Shares.

At the initial date, the SEPA essentially constituted a series of Put Options held by the Company under which 
the Company may (but not obliged to) sell to Yorkville ordinary shares at a sale price representing a discount at 
a rate of 5% of the share market price at the exercise date of such put option. At subsequent date, upon exercise 
of each of the Put Options, a financial liability will be recognized at fair value through profits and loss over a 
limited period until the determination of the exercise price based on the aforesaid VWAP mechanism. 

At the initial date, the proceeds received by the Company were allocated to the First Promissory Note based on 
its fair value amount and the remaining amount was allocated to the Commitment Shares as a residual amount. 
At subsequent dates, the Company recognized a discount expense over the economic life of the First Promissory 
Note based on the effective interest rate method. 

Pursuant to the above, at the initial date the net proceeds received were allocated to identified components as 
follows:

Fair value at 
Closing Date

Put Options (*) -
First Promissory Note (**) 7,083
Commitment Shares 87
Total net consideration 7,170

(*) Management by using the assistance of third-party appraiser has determined that the fair value of the Put Options is zero as the 
exercise price of the Put Options is out of money at any exercise date.

(**) The fair value of the First Promissory Note was based on rating model using a discount rate of 17.51% which represented the 
Company’s applicable rate of risk, as determined by management using the assistance of third-party appraiser.
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C. Changes in the issued and outstanding capital (Cont.)

(3) (Cont.)

On December 11, 2023, the Company and Yorkville entered into a first amendment to the SEPA pursuant to 
which Yorkville, upon the Company’s request, agreed to advance to the Company $1,000 thousand 
(approximately NIS 3,708 before issuance costs) of the Commitment Amount, which is by the Second 
Promissory Note. The Second Promissory Note accrues interest at a rate of 8%, was issued with a 3% original 
issue discount and will be repaid in 5 equal monthly installments beginning on the 150th day following the 
execution date of the Second Promissory Note. The Second Promissory Note may be repaid with the proceeds of 
an Advance under the SEPA or repaid in cash.

Direct debt costs incurred amounted to $30 thousand (approximately NIS 111).

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023

Opening balance 7,139 -
Net amount  received (allocated to the first and second  Promissory Note) - 10,680
Net amount  received from the  Third Promissory Note 6,903 -
Repayment of First Promissory Note in cash - (754)
Repayment of Promissory Notes and accrued interest through issuance of ADSs resulted from partial 

exercise of Commitment Amount under equity line (12,581) (3,313)
Recognition of discount, interest expenses related to the First, Second and Fourth Promissory Notes (see 

Note 16A below) 439 592
Recognition of interest and revaluation expenses related to  the Third Promissory Note (see Note 16A 

below) 889 -
Net amount received from the Fourth Promissory Note 3,629 -
Expense (income) from exchange rate differentials (82) (66)
Closing balance 6,336 7,139
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(3) (Cont.)

The following tabular presentation reflects the reconciliation of the carrying amount of the Promissory Notes 
during the period commencing the Closing Date through December 31, 2024: 

During the period commencing the YA Effective Date through December 31, 2023, the Company sold 
33,034,240 Shares to Yorkville out of the Commitment Amount under the SEPA for a total aggregate purchase 
price of $3,394 thousand (approximately NIS 12,572 of which NIS 9,259 were received in cash and 3,313 as 
partial repayment of the first Promissory Note). The difference between the fair value of the ADSs issued of 
$145 thousand (approximately NIS 531) to the above aggregate purchase price was recorded as finance 
expenses. See Note 16A below.

During the period commencing the January 1 2024 until the consummation of the New SEPA (see below), the 
Company sold 17,375,000 Shares to Yorkville out of the Commitment Amount under the SEPA for a total 
aggregate purchase price of $2,744 thousand (approximately NIS 10,028 of which NIS 6,307 were received in 
cash and NIS 3,721 as repayment of the first Promissory Note). The difference between the fair value of the 
ADSs issued of $190 thousand (approximately NIS 696) to the above aggregate purchase price received was 
recorded as finance expenses. See Note 16A below. 

(4) On December 13, 2023, the Company entered into the Purchase Agreement with Yorkville under which the 
Company sold to Yorkville through the Registered Direct Offering 8,333,335 ordinary shares represented by 
6,945 ADSs for total gross proceeds of $1,000 thousand (approximately NIS 3,685), before deducting the 
offering expenses payable by the Company.

On June 25, 2024, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement pursuant to which the Company 
agreed to sell and issue to two institutional investors through a registered direct offering 12,555,555 ordinary 
shares represented by 10,466 ADSs for total gross proceeds of $1,130 thousand (approximately NIS 4,222).

The ADSs were issued pursuant to a prospectus supplement, dated as of December 13, 2023, which was filed 
with the SEC, in connection with a takedown from the Company’s shelf registration statement on Form F-3, 
which became effective on September 27, 2023. 

(5) On July 16, 2024 (the “Effective Date”), the Company entered into a second Standby Equity Purchase 
Agreement (the “New SEPA”) with Yorkville. Upon the effectiveness of the New SEPA, the previous SEPA 
was terminated.

Pursuant to the New SEPA, subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the agreement, the Company has 
the right, but not the obligation, to issue (each such issuance, an “Advance”) to Yorkville, and Yorkville has the 
obligation to subscribe for the Company’s ADSs”, each representing 5 ordinary shares of the Company (such 
number of shares was adjusted in October 2024 to 90 ordinary shares per ADS and in February 2025, to 1,200 
ordinary shares per ADS), par value NIS 0.01 per share for an aggregate subscription amount of up to 
$15 million (the “Commitment Amount”), at any time from Effective Date until July 16, 2027, unless earlier 
terminated pursuant to the New SEPA (the “Commitment Period”), by delivering written notice to Yorkville 
(each, an “Advance Notice”). The Company will not have the right to require Yorkville to subscribe for any 
ADSs under the New SEPA if a balance remains outstanding under a Promissory Note without Yorkville’s 
consent, unless an Amortization Event (if the daily WVAP will be less than the Floor Price, as defined in the 
agreement or if Yorkville cannot use the registration statement to sell ADSs) has occurred and the proceeds of 
any Advance is applied towards repayment of a balance under a Promissory Note. During an Amortization 
Event, the Company will be required to make monthly payments under the Promissory Notes of $500 thousand 
of principal, or the outstanding principal if less than such amount, plus 10%, plus all accrued and unpaid interest 
on the principal amount, unless waived by Yorkville. During late 2024, the daily VWAP was below the Floor 
Price as defined in the Promissory Notes and thus it was determined that an Amortization Event has occurred. 
However, on December 6, 2024, Yorkville waived through January 31, 2025, any Amortization Event under the 
SEPA as a result of a Floor Price Event (subsequent to the balance sheet date such waiver was extended until 
April 21, 2025).
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(5) (Cont.)

Under the New SEPA, Yorkville advanced to the Company the principal amount of $3,000 thousand (the “Pre-
Paid Advance” or the “Third Promissory Note”), which shall be evidenced by convertible three notes, which are 
convertible into Company’s ADSs. The Pre-Paid Advance was subject to a discount in the amount equal to 3% 
of the principal amount of the Pre-Paid Advance netted from the purchase price due and structured as an original 
issue discount (the “Original Issue Discount”) and in addition, the company was required to pay Structuring and 
Due Diligence Fee of $15 (the “Fee”). The first Pre-Paid Advance in a principal amount of $1,000 thousand was 
advanced on July 17, 2024, the second Pre-Paid Advance in a principal amount of $1,000 thousand was subject 
to filing of F-1 Registration Statement, the second Pre-Paid Advance in a principal amount of $1,000 
thousand and was advanced on July 26, 2024. The third Pre-Paid Advance in a principal amount of $1,000 
thousand was subject to the effectiveness of the F-1 Registration Statement, which effectiveness was declared on 
August 6, 2024. Following the effectiveness, Yorkville and the Company intend to utilize the New SEPA as the 
ongoing funding mechanism in lieu of previous SEPA.

Due to the 3% discount of the Promissory Notes and the Fee, the net amount received for the Promissory Notes 
amounted to $2,895 thousand (NIS 10,763) of which, $1,049 thousand was received as a settlement of the entire 
balance of the Second Promissory Note (plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon) and the remaining amount of 
$1,846 (approx. NIS 6,903) thousand was received in cash.

Principal, interest and any other payments due under the Third Promissory Notes shall be paid in cash on 
January 16, 2026 (the “Maturity Date”), unless converted by Yorkville or redeemed by the Company. Except as 
specifically permitted by the terms of the Promissory Notes, the Company may not prepay or redeem any portion 
of the outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid interest thereunder. Subject to the terms set forth in the 
Promissory Notes, at any time on or after the issuance date, Yorkville shall be entitled to convert any portion of 
the outstanding principal of the Promissory Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest on such outstanding principal 
(such amount, the “Conversion Amount”) into ADSs at the Conversion Price (as defined in the agreement). The 
number of Conversion Shares issuable upon conversion of the Conversion Amount will be determined by 
dividing (x) such Conversion Amount by (y) the Conversion Price. The “Conversion Price” means, as of any 
conversion date or other date of determination and subject to adjustments set forth in the Promissory Notes, the 
lower of (i) $126.78 per ADS, or (ii) 95% of the lowest daily VWAP during the 5 consecutive trading days 
immediately preceding the Conversion Date or other date of determination, but not lower than $20.83 per ADS. 
The Conversion Price will be adjusted from time to time pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Promissory 
Notes.

As the Promissory Notes entitle Yorkville to require settlement with variable number of ADS through the 
conversion mechanism described above, it was determined that the embedded conversion option is not eligible to 
equity classification, and thus the company elected to designate the entire liability amount at fair value thorough 
profit or loss measurement category.
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(5) (Cont.)

During the period commencing on the Effective Date of the New SEPA through December 31, 2024, the 
Company sold 74,793,290 ordinary shares represented by 62,328 ADSs to Yorkville at fair value of $2,382 
thousand (approximately NIS 8,860 thousand) as a partial repayment of the Promissory Notes in the amount of 
2,250 thousand (approximately NIS 8,373 thousand). Thus, as of December 31, 2024 the remaining outstanding 
balance of the Promissory Notes was 750 thousand (approximately NIS 2,735 thousand). 

In addition, during the period commencing on the Effective Date of the New SEPA through December 31, 2024, 
the Company sold 240,390,000 ordinary shares represented by 200,325 ADSs to Yorkville for a total purchase 
price of $2,734 thousand (approximately NIS 9,970 thousand) out of the Commitment Amount under SEPA. 
The difference between the fair value of the ADSs issued of $171 thousand (approximately NIS 622) to the 
above aggregate purchase price received was recorded as finance expenses. See Note 16A below.

On November 11, 2024, the Company issued to Yorkville, an unsecured non-convertible promissory note (the 
“Fourth Promissory Note”) in the original principal amount of $1,000 thousand (the “Principal Amount”) 
(approx. NIS 3,629). The Fourth Promissory Note will mature on November 11, 2025, bears an interest at a rate 
of 8%, and was issued with a 3% original issue discount. Pursuant to the terms of the Fourth Note, it will be 
repaid in 10 equal monthly installments beginning on the 90th day from the date of the issuance. The 
outstanding Principal Amount and the accrued interest may be repaid in cash or with the proceeds of an Advance 
under the New SEPA. Accordingly, the Fourth Promissory is accounted for similarly to the First and Second 
Promissory Notes (i.e. at amortized cost). As of December 31, 2024 the remaining outstanding balance of the 
Fourth Promissory Note was $987 thousand (approximately NIS 3,601 thousand). 

(6) In December 2024 and December 2023, 360,000 and 90,000 RSUs granted to the Company’s CEO have been 
exercised into the same number of ordinary shares of the Company, respectively.
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Note 14 - Share-based payment

A. Option plan

The Company has adopted the SaverOne 2014 Ltd. 2015 Share Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), under which the Company is 
entitled to grant options, restricted shares and restricted share units to designated participants to purchase ordinary shares 
of the Company. Under the Plan, options forfeited or cancelled prior to their expiration date, become available for future 
grants. Unless stipulated otherwise by the Company’s Board of Directors, the unexercised options will expire 10-years 
period following the grant date. The Plan is subject to article 102 of the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance (New Version) - 
1961 (the “Income Tax Ordinance”), as part of the equity track with a trustee. As of December 31, 2024, the Company 
has 3,299,270 options available for future grants.

B. Grants

2022

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Board of Directors (or the shareholders at a general meeting to the extent 
that such approval was required) approved a grant of 1,031,000 options exercisable into shares of the Company, to 
several grantees. Each option is exercisable into one ordinary share of the Company over a vesting terms as determined 
by the Board of Directors at an average exercise price in cash of NIS 1.639 per share (subject to standard adjustments). 
The fair value of the benefit in respect of the grant was estimated at an amount of NIS 876 which will be carried to profit 
and loss over the vesting period.

2023

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Board of Directors (or the shareholders at a general meeting to the extent 
that such approval was required) approved a grant of 291,000 options exercisable into shares of the Company, to several 
grantees. Each option exercisable into one ordinary share of the Company over a vesting terms as determined by the 
Board of Directors at an average exercise price in cash for each of the option of NIS 1.062 per share (subject to standard 
adjustments). The fair value of the benefit in respect of the grant was estimated at an amount of NIS 240 which will be 
carried to profit and loss over the vesting period.

In addition, on August 14, 2023, the Company’s shareholders approved grant of 900,000 RSUs to the Company’s CEO 
exercisable into the same number of ordinary shares, based on vesting schedule commencing September 1, 2023 over a 
period of 3 years (see Note 12A above). The fair value of the benefit in respect of the grant was estimated at an amount of 
NIS 822 which will be carried to profit and loss over the vesting period.

2024

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board of Directors (or the shareholders at a general meeting to the extent 
that such approval was required) approved a grant of 194,500 options exercisable into shares of the Company, to several 
grantees. Each option exercisable into one ordinary share of the Company over a vesting terms as determined by the 
Board of Directors at an average exercise price in cash for each of the option of NIS 0.258-0.837 per share (subject to 
standard adjustments). The fair value of the benefit in respect of the grant was estimated at an amount of NIS 106 which 
will be carried to profit and loss over the vesting period.
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Note 14 - Share-based payment (Cont.)

B. Grants (cont.)

The fair value of the options granted, as above, was estimated using the Black and Scholes model. The parameters used in 
calculating the model were as follows:

2024 grants 2023 grants 2022 grants

Price per share NIS 0.22-0.93  NIS 0.87 - 1.05 NIS 1.477 
Exercise price NIS 0.258-0.837 NIS 0.93 - 1.09 NIS 1.639 
Expected volatility (%) 119.85% 112.28 - 116.03 46
Expected term (in years) 6.25 6.25 10
Risk-free interest (%) 4.5 4.5 2.97
Expected dividend rate (%) - - -

The total compensation cost related to all of the Company’s equity-based awards recognized during the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was comprised as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Research and development 145 354 362
Sales and marketing - - -
General and administrative 453 624 795
Total 598 978 1,157

The following table presents additional information relating to the share-based payment under the Plan:

2024 2023 2022

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average of 

the exercise 
price

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average of 

the exercise 
price

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average of 

the exercise 
price

Outstanding at the beginning of the 
year 1,805,230 5.55 1,826,519 5.74 795,519 10.61

Granted (*) 194,500 0.47 291,000 1.021 1,031,000 1.639
Forfeited (235,876) 1.82 (312,289) 2.59 - -
Exercised (*) - - - - - -
Outstanding at the end of the year 1,763,854 5.54 1,805,230 5.55 1,826,519 5.74
Exercisable at the end of the year 1,227,722 7.43 982,967 7.98 651,277 8.81

(*) Excluding grant of 900,000 RSUs to the Company’s CEO during 2023, and exercise of 360,000 and 90,000 RSUs during 2024 and 
2023, respectively. See Notes 12A and 13C6 above.

As of December 31, 2024, there was NIS 306 of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested share options. 
The Company recognizes compensation expense over the requisite service periods, which results in a weighted average 
period of approximately 3 years over which the unrecognized compensation expense is expected to be recognized.
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Note 15 - Notes to the statements of comprehensive loss

A. Research and development expenses, net

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Salary and related expenses (1) 13,586 12,962 11,297
Consulting and professional services 2,422 4,153 6,498
Subcontractors 641 2,406 1,485
Computer maintenance 996 827 553
Car maintenance 561 754 300
Depreciation and amortization 417 523 507
Office maintenance 347 400 396
Miscellaneous 427 836 454
Total 19,397 22,861 21,490

145 354 362

(1) Including share-based payment

B. Selling and marketing expenses, net

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Investors relationship 2,477 2,108 -
Salary and related expenses 1,580 1,639 1,062
Miscellaneous 739 339 529
Less government grants (1) - (299) -
Total 4,796 3,787 1,591

(1) See Note 11B above.

C. General and administrative expenses

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Salaries and related expenses (1)(2) 3,440 2,632 2,292
Consulting and professional services 4,094 3,343 2,109
Directors fees 343 330 424
Office expenses 63 51 81
Insurance 693 1,141 908
Miscellaneous 1,040 830 678
Total 9,673 8,327 6,492
(1) Including share-based payment 453 624 795
(2) Including salary of related party (See Note 18B below) 2,260 1,926 1,984
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Note 16 - Financing income (expenses), net 

A. Components of the financing expenses

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Adjustment to liability in respect of government grants (1) - (74) (86)
Issuance costs allocated to warrant liability (2) - - (723)
Interest in respect of leasing liability (3) (95) (22) (43)
Interest and discount expenses in respect of promissory notes (4) (1,328) (592) -
Revaluation expenses incurred from partial exercise of Commitment Amount under 

equity line (4) (1,318) (531) -
Exchange rate differentials, bank commissions and miscellaneous (44) - -
Total (2,785) (1,219) (852)

B. Components of the financing income

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Revaluation income of derivative warrant liability (2) 274 877 2,954
Income from exchange rate differences 197 458 2,060
Interest in respect of bank deposits 404 272 85
Adjustment to liability in respect of government grants (1) 224 - -
Total 1,099 1,607 5,099

(1) See Note 11 above.

(2) See Note 13C1 above.

(3) See Note 9 above.

(4) See Note 13C3 above.
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Note 17 - Taxes on income

A. Taxation of the Company in Israel

General

The Company is taxed in Israel pursuant to the provisions of the Income Tax Ordinance.

The corporate tax rate applicable to the Company for all reported periods is 23%.

B. Losses and deductions for tax purposes - carried forward to future years

As of December 31, 2024, the carryforward net operating losses of the Company amounted to NIS 142 million. The 
Company did not record deferred taxes in respect of the loss carryforward since their utilization is not expected in the 
foreseeable future.

C. Final tax assessment

The Company has no final tax assessments since Inception Date. Notwithstanding, pursuant and subject to the provisions 
of article 145 of the Income Tax Ordinance, the reports filed with the tax authorities for the years up to and including 
2019 are considered as final.

D. The following tabular represents reconciliation between the amount of the “theoretical” tax that would have 
applied and the amount of the tax on ordinary operating income, as recorded in the statements of comprehensive 
loss:

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Pre-tax loss as reported in the statements of comprehensive loss 34,938 33,835 24,962
Corporate tax rate 23% 23% 23%

Theoretical tax savings 8,036 7,782 5,741
Non-deductible expenses (138) (225) (266)
Differences in measurement base (325) 10 493
Losses and timing differences in respect of which no deferred taxes were recorded (7,573) (7,567) (5,968)
Tax expenses in respect of the reported year - - -
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Note 18 - Related parties

A. Balances with related parties

As of December 31,
2024 2023

Trade payables 152 140
Other current liabilities - salaries and related expenses related parties (1) 125 -

(1) See also Notes 10 and 12A above.

B. Transactions with related parties

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

General and administrative expenses - salaries and related expenses (including share-
based payment) to related parties (1) 2,260 1,926 1,984

(1) See also Notes 12A and 15C above.
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Note 19 - Financial instruments and risk management

A. Financial risk management

1. General

The activities of the Company expose it to a range of financial risks: currency risks, market risks, credit risks 
and liquidity risks. During each period, the Company assesses the financial risks and makes decisions regarding 
them accordingly.

Risk management is conducted by management of the Company, which identifies, assesses and hedges the risks 
to the extent possible.

2. Financial risk factors

A. Exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates

The Company had certain assets and liabilities denominated in U.S. dollars whereby the financial 
statements are measured and presented in New Israeli Shekels. In such view, the Company had an 
exposure to changes in the exchange rate of the dollar, which were reflected as part of the financing 
expenses. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has significant balance of financial assets and 
financial liabilities amounted to NIS 12,468 and NIS 6,336, respectively, that are denominated in 
foreign currency which is different from Israeli Shekels. 

The Company does not use financial instruments, including derivative instruments in order to reduce 
exposure to these risks.

B. Credit risks

1. As of December 31, 2024, the balances of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted deposits 
were deposited in one banking institution in Israel. The Company’s management 
regularly assesses the financial strength of the financial institutions the Company works 
with. Accordingly, Company’s management believes that the credit risk in respect 
thereof is not significant.

2. The management regularly examines the quality of the customers, including an analysis of 
each new potential customer and accordingly determines the scope of the engagement with 
them. As of the reported periods, the balance of customers whose carrying amount was 
impaired by the management, and for whom the provision for credit losses was recognized, is 
based mainly on specific customers who did not meet the payment terms. The main factors 
taken into account in determining the provision for impairment of such customers are the 
Company’s familiarity with the customers and the history of activity with them, the depth of 
arrears, the financial condition of the customers as known to the Company and the quality of 
the collateral granted, if any. As of December 31, 2024, there are no significant amounts past 
due.

3. The following is a breakdown of the financial assets in respect of which the Company is 
exposed to credit risks:

As of December 31,
2024 2023

Cash and cash equivalents 13,298 17,112
Restricted deposits 216 211
Other current assets 225 855
Trade receivables, net 2,425 2,105
Total 16,164 20,283
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Note 19 - Financial instruments and risk management (Cont.)

A. Financial risk management (Cont.)

2. Financial risk factors (Cont.)

C. Exposure to changes in interest rates

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has outstanding promissory notes in an amount of 6,336 NIS 
which accrued an interest in a fixed rate and thus the Company has no material exposure to changes in 
interest rates. However, as described in Note 13C above, such liability is expected to be settled 
generally through issuance of ADS.

D. Price risks of Company’s ordinary share

As of December 31, 2024, the Company is exposed to risks arising from (i) changes in the price of the 
Warrant of the Company measured at fair value through profit or loss as resulted from issuance of 
warrants to investors through the U.S. IPO (see Note 13C1 above) or (ii) changes in the price of the 
ordinary shares of the Company, upon Yorkville right to require settlement of the remaining this 
settlement promissory note under the second SAPA with Company shares as the exercise will be 
determined based on VWAP mechanism over a limited period of during the five consecutive trade days 
before the settlement notice (ser Note 13C5 above). The fair value of such derivative financial liabilities 
subject the Company to recognize losses in case there will be change in the price of the Company’s 
ordinary share. However, the settlement of these liabilities will be through exercise of the Company’s 
ordinary shares.

E. Liquidity risks

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s working capital amounted to NIS 9,757.

The Company’s policy is to manage its liquidity by assessing current forecasts for purposes of 
managing its cash for operating purposes during the normal course of business. Depending on its 
current needs, the Company conducts, from time to time, additional rounds of fundraising.

As of December 31, 2024, the balance of the Company’s financial liabilities which is expected to be 
repaid in cash during the 12-month period following the balance sheet date, amounted to NIS 6,336. In 
addition, as of the same date, the Company has (i) liability in respect of grants received which will be 
repaid through payment of royalties of between 3% of the revenues deriving to the Company in the 
future from the know-how and technology developed as part of projects in respect of which such 
funding was received, (ii) leasing liability related to its premises, net, which will be repaid based on 
payments schedule as determined with the landlord and (iii) promissory notes, net received which will 
be repaid based on payments schedule as determined with the Yorkville. In addition the Company has 
an obligation to pay contingent future royalties which will required to be paid from revenues that will 
be derived from sales of products that incorporate IP acquired from Micronet (see Note 12B). Such 
obligation does not represent financial liability.
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Note 19 - Financial instruments and risk management (Cont.)

B. Fair value of financial instruments

Items, the carrying value of which approximates their fair value

The Company’s financial instruments which are part of its working capital, include cash and cash equivalents, short-term 
bank deposits, restricted deposits, trade receivables, net other current assets, trade payables and other current liabilities. 
As of the reported periods, the balances of these financial instruments in the statements of financial position constitute an 
approximation of their fair values. In addition, the Company has a liability in respect of government grants, a liability in 
respect of leasing and promissory notes, net that are measured at the initial recognition date at fair value and in 
subsequent periods at the amortized cost using the effective interest method. Taking into consideration that there has not 
been a significant change in the discount rate used for recognition of the liabilities and the current discount rate, the 
balance constitutes an approximation of fair value.

C. A summary of financial instruments broken down by group:

As of December 31,
2024 2023

Financial assets measured at depreciated cost
Cash and cash equivalents 13,298 17,112
Trade receivables, net 2,425 2,105
Other current assets 225 855
Restricted deposits 216 211

16,164 20,283

Financial liabilities measured at depreciated cost
Leasing liability (including current maturity) 1,075 1,332
Trade payables 1,826 4,303
Other current liabilities 2,991 2,042
Liability in respect of government grants (including current maturity) 960 1,328
Promissory notes, net 3,601 7,139

10,453 16,144

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Promissory notes, net 2,735 -
Derivative warrants liability (See D below) - 274

D. Disclosure regarding financial instruments periodically measured at fair value

For information regarding to warrants granted through the U.S IPO, see Note 13C1 above. 

E. Company capital risk management policy

The goals of the Company’s capital risk management policy are to preserve its ability to continue operating as a going 
concern with a goal of providing its shareholders with a yield on their investment and to maintain a beneficial equity 
structure with a goal of reducing the costs of equity.

The Company may take various steps with a goal of preserving or adapting its equity structure, including the issuance of 
new shares and warrants through equity fundraising for purposes of meeting its financial obligations and for purposes of 
continuing its development operations and commencing sales in commercial volumes. 
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Note 20 - Segment information and major customers

A. General information 

Since inception date, the operation of the Company is conducted through one operating segment, i.e., development of the 
technology necessary to create a life-saving system that prevents certain uses of cell phones while driving a motor 
vehicle.

B. Revenues by geographic region are as follows:

Year ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Israel 1,194 2,519 1,193
Europe 489 201 -
Total 1,683 2,720 1,193

Revenues were attributed to countries based on customer location.

C. Major external customers from total revenues

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company had several customers which accounted for 
44%, 38% and 37% of the Company’s total revenues, respectively. 

Note 21 - Subsequent events

The Company evaluated subsequent events and transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date up to the date that the 
financial statements were issued. Based upon this review, the Company did not identify any other subsequent events that would 
have required adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements, except as disclosed below.

A. Partial exercise of Commitment Amount

As noted in Note 13C5 above, during the period commencing on January 1, 2024 through the issuance date of these 
financial statements, the Company sold 130,620,000 ordinary shares to Yorkville out of the Commitment Amount under 
the NEW SEPA for a total purchase price of $812 thousand.
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Note 21 - Subsequent events (Cont.)

B. Shelf take down

On January 30, 2025, the Company entered into securities purchase agreements with certain institutional investors of 
selling through a registered direct offering an aggregate of 195,428,970 ordinary shares (represented by 162,899 ADSs) 
together with unregistered warrants to purchase ADSs up to an aggregate of 390,857,940 ordinary shares (exercisable up 
to 325,797 ADSs, with an exercise price of $10.66 per ADS) for gross amount of $1,520 thousand (approximately NIS 
5,448 thousand). In addition the Company issued to the Placement Agent, warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 
13,680,000 ordinary shares (exercisable up to 11,403 ADS’s, with an exercise price of $11.67 per ADS).

C. Increasing the Company authorized shares

On February 17, 2025, the general meeting of shareholders of the Company approved to increase the authorized shares of 
the Company to 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares.

D. ADS ratio change

On February 21, 2025, the Company effected a change in the ADS ratio from one (1) ADS representing ninety (90) 
Ordinary Shares, to one (1) ADS representing one thousand two hundred (1,200) Ordinary Shares. This change in the 
ADS has the effect of a reverse stock split on the existing ADSs on the basis of one (1) new ADS for every thirteen and 
one third (13.33) old ADSs held by the Company’s holders. 

E. Yorkville Waiver/Extension

On March 19, 2025, Yorkville agreed to modify the November 11, 2024 Note to postpone the remaining nine monthly 
payment thereunder by 30 days from the original payment schedule such that the maturity date is extended to December 
11, 2025. Additionally, on the same date Yorkville agreed to waive through April 21, 2025, any amortization event under 
the SEPA as a result of a Floor Price Event requiring the early repayment of approximately $132 thousand outstanding 
under the pre advances made by Yorkville under the SEPA.
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Interpretation

1. In these Articles, the following terms and expression shall bear the meaning ascribed to them below, unless the context requires 
otherwise:

“Person” - Including a corporation (unless otherwise stated in these Articles);

“Shareholder” - Any person registered and/or not registered as a shareholder. In the event that there is 
an effective date, as defined in section 182 of the Companies Law, the shareholder 
shall be deemed a shareholder as of the effective date for said matter;

“Registered Shareholder” - A shareholder registered as the holder of a share in the Company’s Shareholders’ 
Register.

“Non-Registered Shareholder” - A shareholder whose right to a share is registered with a TASE member and the same 
share is included in the shares are registered in the Company’s Shareholders’ Register 
on behalf of the listing company.

“TASE” - Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd.

The “Board of Directors” - A duly selected board of directors in accordance with the provisions of these Articles.

“Director” - A member of the Board of Directors and who actually serves as a director, 
irrespective of his title.

The “Companies Law” - The Companies Law, 5759 – 1999, as amended from time to time, and regulations 
promulgated and that may be promulgated by virtue thereof.

The “Securities Law” - The Securities Law, 5728 – 1968, as amended from time to time, and regulations 
promulgated and that may be promulgated by virtue thereof.

The “Law” - The Companies Law, the Securities Law, as amended from time to time, and 
regulations promulgated and that may be promulgated by virtue thereof, and any 
effective law in connection with companies applicable to the Company at such time.

The “Company” - The aforementioned company.

The “Register” - The Shareholders’ register that must be managed in accordance with section 127 of 
the Companies Law and also if the Company conducts any additional register outside 
of Israel – any additional register, in accordance with the circumstances.

The “Office” - The Company’s registered office, as shall be from time to time and which may be 
changed from time to time, as may be determined by the Company’s Board of 
Directors.

“In Writing” - Print, lithography, photographed, telegram, telex, facsimile, electronic mail and any 
other created or embedded visible form of words.
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“Securities” - Including, shares, debentures, capital notes, certificates and other documents 
affording a right to sell, convert or sell, etc.

The “Companies Ordinance” - The Companies Ordinance [New Version], 5743 – 1983.

The “Articles” - The Company’s Articles in its current form or as may be amended.

2. The provisions of sections 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10 of the Interpretation Law, 5741- 1981 shall also apply to the interpretation of these 
Articles, mutatis mutandis, and if there is no other provision in the subject matter in question or if there is nothing in the subject 
matter in question or its context, which will not be consistent with applying the foregoing.

3. Save for the provisions in this section, every word and expression in the Articles shall have the meaning assigned thereto in the 
Companies Law, unless there is a contradiction to the relevant provision or its content.

4. Provisions that may be stipulated upon shall apply to the Company, unless otherwise determined in these Articles and if there is 
any contradiction between the said provisions of the Companies Law and these Articles, the provisions of these Articles shall 
apply.

5. If these Articles have been subjected to a certain provision in the Company Law, and said provision has been modified or repealed, 
the said provision shall be deemed to be effective and constitute a portion of the Articles, unless otherwise prohibited by law.

6. If anywhere in these Articles there is no mention of the required majority for the adoption of a resolution by the General Meeting 
or the Board of Directors, it shall be deemed that the required majority is an ordinary majority.

The Company’s Name

7. The Company’s name is as follows:

In Hebrew: SAVERONE 2014 LTD. (written in Hebrew)

In English: SAVERONE2014 LTD.

The Company’s Purposes

8. The Company’s may engage in any legal business, subject to the Company’s goals specified in the Company’s memorandum of 
incorporation.

The Company’s Goal

9. The Company’s goal is to act according to business considerations to yield profits, however, the Company may contribute a 
reasonable amount for a worthy cause, even if the contribution is not within the scope of its foregoing business considerations, 
according to the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors.

The Registered Share Capital

10. (a) The Company’s registered share capital is NIS 1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.01 
each.

10.1. All the Ordinary Shares will be equal, for all intents and purposes, and every Ordinary Share, with respect to which 
every call for share has been paid in full, shall afford its holder:

10.1.1. The right to be invited and participate in all the Company’s General Meetings and each Ordinary Share 
in his possession, will grant him one vote, for each vote at the Company’s General Meeting in which he is 
participating;

10.1.2. The right to receive dividends, if and when distributed, and the right to receive bonus shares, if 
distributed;

10.1.3. the right to participate in the distribution of the Company’s surplus assets in the event of liquidation.

3



The Shareholders’ Liability

11. The liability of the Shareholders will be limited, as specified in the Company’s memorandum of association and the Companies 
Law. In this matter, every Shareholders will be responsible for the payment of the par value for his shares only. If the Company 
issued shares for a consideration which is below the par value, the liability of all the Shareholders will be limited to the payment of 
the reduced consideration for which each Share issued to him, as aforementioned.

Public Company

12. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, insofar as the Company’s Securities are listed for trade on the TASE or insofar as 
the Company’s Securities offered to the public are held by the public, it shall be a public company.

Shares

13. Without derogating from any special rights previously granted to the Company’s existing Shareholders, the Company may issue or 
allot other shares and securities with preferred rights or subsequent rights or issue from its equity, prior to the issuance of any 
Redeemable Securities or issue other special preferred rights or restrictions in connection with the distribution of dividends, voting 
rights, or in connection with other matters, as may be determined by the Company from time to time, by way of a resolution 
adopted by a majority of shareholders at the General Meeting.

14. If at any time, the share capital shall be divided into different classes of Shares, the Company, by way of a resolution adopted by 
an ordinary majority at the General Meeting, unless the issuance terms of the said class of shares stipulate otherwise, may convert, 
expand, add or otherwise modify the rights, surplus rights, advantages, restrictions and provisions that are related or not related at 
such time by one of the classes, or as shall be determined by way of an ordinary majority of the Shareholders of the same class at 
the General Meeting.

15. The special rights afforded to the holders of Shares or a certain class of Shares, that were issued, including shares with preferred 
rights or other special rights, shall not be deemed to have been modified by way of the creation or issuance of additional shares at 
an equal rank to them, unless the allotment terms have stipulated otherwise for those shares. The provisions of these Articles with 
respect to General Meetings shall apply, mutatis mutandis, as the case may be on all of the aforementioned class meetings.

16. The Company’s unissued shares shall be under the Board of Directors’ supervision, who may allocate them to the cap of the 
Company’s registered share capital, to the same people, in consideration of cash or in kind, with the same reservations and 
conditions, at a higher rate than their par value (in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law), in consideration for a 
price lower than their par value, and on the same dates that the Board of Directors shall deem appropriate, and the Board of 
Directors shall have the authority to submit a call on shares to any person for the payment of any of the aforementioned shares, at 
their par value, greater than their par value or in consideration that is lower than their par value, during the same period and the 
same consideration and terms that the Board of Directors shall deem appropriate.

17. Upon the allocation of Shares, the Board of Directors may impose differences between the Shareholders with respect to the 
amounts for the calls on shares and/or their payment dates.

18. If under any of the allotment terms of any Shares, the consideration for the Share, will be in installments, in whole or in part, every 
installment will be paid to the Company on the maturity date by the Person who is the registered owner of the Shares at such time 
or by his guardian.

19. The Company may pay at any time any commission to any Person for his role as an underwrite his consent to act as an underwrite, 
irrespective of whether it is contingent or not, for any Security, including a stock of the Company’s debentures or his consent to 
undersign, irrespective of whether it is contingent or not, any Security, debenture, or stock bond of the Company. In each case, the 
commission can be paid or paid off in cash or by the Company’s Securities, debentures, or stock bonds.
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Share Certificate/ Share Note

20. Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law, a share certificate attesting to the proprietary right of the 
Shares shall bear the Company’s stamp and printed name, together with the signature of a Director and the Secretary, or anyone 
else appointed by the Company’s Board of Directors from time to time.

21. Every Registered Shareholder (including the listing company) shall be entitled to receive from the Company, pursuant to its 
request, one share certificate for the Shares registered in his name, or if approved by the Board of Directors (after paying the 
amount to be determined by the Board of Directors from time to time), several share certificates, each for one or more Shares; 
every share certificate will note the number of shares with respect to which it was issued, the serial number of the shares, the par 
value of the shares, all subject to the provisions of the Companies Law.

22. A share certificate registered in the name of two or more people shall be delivered to the person whose name appears first in the 
Shareholders’ Register amongst the joint owners, with respect to the same Share, unless all the Registered Shareholders of the 
same Share will instruct the Company, In Writing, to deliver it to another registered owner.

23. (A) The Company may deliver a share note with respect to the Shares whose full consideration was paid to the Company, which 
shall grant the holder the rights to the noted shares and his right to transfer with the delivery of the shares and the provisions 
of these Articles with respect to the transfer of shares shall not apply to the shares noted in such share note;

(B) A Shareholder who duly holds a share note shall be entitled to return it to the Company for the purposes of cancelling and 
transferring the share registered in his name; and he shall be entitled, in consideration of the fees determined by the Board of 
Directors, that his name be registered in the Shareholders’ Register with respect to the shares noted in the share note, and a 
share certificate will be issued in his name;

(C) The holder of a share note may deposit the share note in the Office, and as long as deposited therein, the depositor shall have 
the right to demand that the Company convene a meeting, in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the Companies 
Law and these Articles, to be present and vote and use the other rights of Shareholders at any meeting convened according to 
his aforementioned demand, 48 hours after the deposit, as though is name was registered in the Shareholders’ Register as the 
owner of the Shares included in the share note. Only one person shall be deemed the depositor of the Share, and the Company 
must return the share note to the depositor if he so requested In Writing, at least two days in advance.

If the aforementioned share note was not deposited, the holder thereof shall not have the rights specified in this subclause (c), and 
subject to the provisions of these Articles, he shall have all other rights afforded to the Company’s Shareholders.

24. If the Share Certificate or share note shall be lost or defaced or damaged, the Board of Directors may issue a new Share Certificate 
or share note in their place, provided that the Share Certificate or share note was not cancelled by the Company, or it was proven 
to the satisfaction of the Board of Directors that the Share Certificate or share note was lost or defaced, and the Company received 
guarantees to the satisfaction of the Board of Directors, with respect to any possible damages, all in consideration for the payment, 
should the Board of Directors decide to impose it. The provisions of sections 20 – 23 above shall also apply with respect to the 
issuance of a new Share Certificate, mutatis mutandis.
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Calls on Shares

25. The Board of Directors may from time to time, according to its discretion, submit, calls on shares to the Shareholders for any 
proceeds not paid with respect to the Shares held by each of the Shareholders, and which according to the allocation terms of the 
Shares are not payable on fixed dates, and each Shareholder must pay the Company the amounts set forth in the calls on shares 
submitted to him, at such time and place that shall be determined by the Board of Directors. The calls on shares may be made in 
installments. The date for the calls on shares will be on the date so decided by the Board of Directors with respect to the calls on 
shares.

26. Fourteen (14) days prior notice shall be delivered for every call on shares which will note the payment amount and place of 
payment. Notwithstanding the aforementioned, prior to the payment date of any calls on shares, the Board of Directors may, by 
providing notice In Writing to the Shareholders, to cancel the calls on shares or extend its payment date, provided that the 
aforementioned decision was adopted before the payment date for the calls on shares.

27. Joint owners of a Share will be jointly liable for the payment of all amounts and installments for the calls on shares due for this 
Share.

28. If the allocation terms of any Share, or otherwise, require the payment of the entire amount on the fixed date or installments on 
fixed dates, the entire amount or installment shall be repaid, as though the calls on shares were duly submitted by the Board of 
Directors and with respect to which notice was duly delivered, and the provisions of these Articles with respect to the calls on 
shares shall also apply on such amount or such installment.

29. If the calls on shares or installment was not paid on or before the payment date, the person who, at such time, is the Shareholder 
with respect to which the call on shares was submitted or with respect to which a certain installment is due, must pay interest on 
the aforementioned interest, at such rate that shall be determined by the Board of Directors from time to time, or lawful 
permissible rate at such time, from the date set for payment until the actual date of payment, however, the Board of Directors may 
waive the interest payment, in whole or in part.

30. If deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors, it may receive from a Shareholder interested in advancing proceeds not yet called 
upon or whose payment date has not yet matured and not yet paid on account of his shares, or any part thereof. The Board of 
Directors may pay interest to the Shareholder the aforementioned proceeds that were advanced, or any part thereof, through the 
date the funds should have been paid had they not been proceeded, according to the rate agreed upon between the Board of 
Directors and the Shareholders.

Forfeiture and Lien on Shares

31. If a Shareholder did not pay the consideration, he committed to pay, in whole or in part, on the date and terms set determined, 
whether calls on shares were issued or not, the Board of Directors may at any time deliver notice to the Shareholders and demand 
that he pay the amount not yet paid, plus interest accrued and all expenses borne by the Company with respect to non-payment.

32. The notice will set a date, which will be at least fourteen (14) days after the date of the notice, the place, or places where the 
aforementioned calls on shares or installments, plus the aforementioned interest and expenses. The notice that in the event of non-
payment on the fixed date and the place noted in the notice, the Company may decide to forfeit the Shares with respect to which 
the calls on shares were made or the payment installment date.

33. If all the demands in the aforementioned notice were not met, then anytime therefore, prior to the payment for the calls on share or 
the installment, the interest, and the expenses due in connection with these Shares, the Board of Directors may, pursuant to a 
resolution with respect to the subject matter, to forfeit the Shares with respect to which the aforementioned notice was provided. 
Forfeiture shall also be applicable on declared dividends with respect to the forfeited Shares that were not actually paid in full 
before the forfeiture.
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34. Any forfeited share shall be deemed the Company’s property, and the Board of Directors may, while considering the provisions of 
these Articles, sell, reallocate, or otherwise transfer them as it shall deem appropriate, all subject to the provisions of the 
Companies Law.

35. Forfeited shares that have not yet been sold shall be dormant shares and shall not grant any rights insofar as they are owned by the 
Company.

36. The Board of Directors may at any time prior to the sale, reallocation or other transfer of any aforementioned forfeited share 
cancel the forfeiture according to the terms that the Board of Directors shall deem appropriate.

(A) A Shareholder whose Shares have been forfeited shall cease to be a Shareholder with respect to the forfeited Shares, however, 
shall still be required to pay all the calls on shares, the payment installments, interest and expense sue on account of or for 
these Shares prior to the forfeiture, plus interest on the amount due from the forfeiture date through the date of payment, at the 
maximum permissible rate according to the law, unless the forfeited Shares were sold and the Company received the full 
consideration due from the Shareholder, plus the ancillary expenses for the sale;

(B) If the consideration received from the sale of the forfeited Shares was greater than the consideration due by the Shareholder of 
the foregoing forfeited Shares, the Shareholder shall be entitled to a reimbursement of partial payment received with respect 
thereto, if any, subject to the provisions of the allocation agreement, provided that the consideration that the Company shall 
receive shall not be less than the full consideration amount which the Shareholder of the forfeited Shares committed to pay, 
plus the ancillary expenses to the sale.

37. The provisions of these Articles concerning the forfeiture of the Shares shall also be applicable in the event of non-payment of an 
amount known before the issuance terms of the Share with a fixed payment date, as though the amount due pursuant to the calls on 
shares was delivered and notified with respect thereto.

38. The Company shall have the right to a first-ranking lien on the Shares registered in the name of every Shareholder, save for the 
Shares paid in full, and every income from the sale and repayment of the debts and obligations of the same Shareholder to the 
Company, whether alone or together with anyone else, whether the repayment date for these debts matured or not or any 
performance date for these obligations, whether matured or not, irrespective of the sources of these debts, and no rights in equity 
shall not be created for the Share. The aforementioned delay and lien shall apply on all dividends declared from time to time on 
these Shares. Unless otherwise decided, the registration by the Company for the transfer of Shares shall be deemed a waive by the 
Company on the lien or delay (if any) of the Shares.

39. For the purposes of exercising the aforementioned lien, the Board of Directors may sell the pledged shares in a manner it shall 
deem appropriate, at its discretion; however, no Share shall be sold unless the period noted in section 32 above has lapsed, and 
notice In Writing was delivered to the Shareholder (or anyone entitled to this correspondence following his death or bankruptcy or 
liquidation or receivership) indicating that the Company’s intends to sell the Share, and the Shareholder or anyone entitled to such 
Share did not pay the aforementioned debts or did not meet or perform the aforementioned obligations during fourteen (14) days 
from the date the notice was sent.

40. Income from such sale, after the repayment of the expenses of the sale, shall be used for the repayment of the debts and 
performance of the obligations of such Shareholder (including, the debts, obligations, and engagements whose repayment date or 
performance date have not yet matured) and the provisions of section 36(b) shall apply, mutatis mutandis.

41. In the event of a sale following the forfeiture or for the purposes of executing the lien by use of the powers granted above, the 
Board of Directors may appoint a person to sign a transfer deed of the sold share and register the buyer in the Shareholders’ 
Register as the Shareholder of the sold Shares, and after his name was registered in the Shareholders’ Register with respect to 
these Shares, the effect of the sale shall not be appeal, and the remedy for any person injured by the sale shall solely be to seek 
damages from the Company only.
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Transfer and Delivery of Shares

42. Any transfer of Shares shall be registered in the Shareholders’ Register in the name of the Registered Shareholder, including any 
transfer to or from a listing company, which shall be made In Writing, provided that the transfer deed be signed by hand only, by 
the transferor and the transferee, alone or by a proxy, and signed by witnesses, and the transferor will continue to be deemed the 
Shareholder of the transferred Shares until the registration of the transferee as the Shareholder of the transferred Shares in the 
Shareholders’ Register. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, no transfer of Shares shall be registered unless the 
transfer deed shall be delivered to the Company’s Registered Office, as set forth below.

The share transfer deed shall be prepared and completed on the form below or similar manner, insofar as possible, or in an 
ordinary or customary manner that shall be approved by the Chairman of the Board of Directors:

“I,__________________, of ________________ (the “Transferor”), in consideration of NIS__________, paid to me 
by______________, of _____________ (the “Transferee”) do hereby transfer to the Transferee ______________ Shares, par 
value NIS ______, each, marked with the numbers ______ through _______, inclusive, of ________ Ltd., which shall be 
held by the Transferee, the executor of his estate, guardian, and agent, according to the terms held in my possession on the 
eve of the signing date of this deed, and I, the Transferee do hereby agree to receive the aforementioned Shares according 
to the aforementioned terms.”

IN WITNESS THEREOF, WE HAVE SET OUR HANDS HERETO ON______.

___________________ ___________________
The Transferor The Transferee

___________________ ___________________
Witness for the Transferor’s Signature Witness for the Transferee’s Signature

43. The Company may close the Shareholders’ Register for a period that will be determined by the Board of Directors, provided that it 
shall not exceed thirty (30) days in any given year. The Company shall notify the Shareholders that the Shareholders’ Register is 
closed, in accordance with the provisions of these Articles concerning the delivery of notices to the Shareholders.

44. (A) A transfer deed shall be submitted to the Office for the purposes of registration, together with the share certificates for the 
Shares being transferred, if issued, and any other proof that will be required by the Company’s Board of Directors. Registered 
transfer deeds shall remain with the Company, however, any transfer deed that the Board of Directors refuses to register, shall 
be returned upon demand to the person who submitted them, together with the share certificate (if submitted). If the Board of 
Directors refused to approve the transfer of shares, they shall notify the transferor no later than thirty (30) days from the 
receipt date of the transfer deed;

(B) The Company may demand the payment of fees for the registration of the transfer which shall be determined by the 
Company’s Board of Directors.

45. The guardians of executors of an estate of a sole Shareholder who is deceased, or if there are no executors of estate or guardians, 
the Persons who are entitled to be the deceased sole Shareholder’s successors, will be the individuals who the Company shall 
recognize as the holder of the rights of the Share registered in the decedent’s name
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46. If a Shares is registered in the name of two or more Shareholders of the Share, the Company shall recognize the surviving partner 
or partners as the Persons with the right or benefit in the Shares, however this shall not exempt the estate of the estate joint 
holder’s security from any debt with respect to the jointly held Security. If a Share was registered in the name of several joint 
holders, as aforementioned, they shall be each entitled to transfer the right.

47. Any Person who shall become the rights holder of Shares following the death of a Shareholder, will be eligible, after providing 
proof of a last will or the appointment of a guardian or provision of a probate order, attesting to such that he has the right to the 
Shares of the deceased Shareholder, to be registered as the Shareholder of these Shares, or may, subject to the provisions of these 
Articles, transfer these Shares.

48. The Company may recognize a receiver or liquidator of a Shareholder that is a corporation being dissolved or liquidated or a 
trustee in bankruptcy proceedings or any receive of a bankrupt Shareholder as the holder of the rights of Shares registered in the 
name of such Shareholder.

49. The receiver or liquidator of a Shareholder that is a corporation being dissolved or liquidated, or a trustee in bankruptcy 
proceedings or the receiver of a bankrupt Shareholder, may, after providing attestations that shall be requested by the Board of 
Directors that attest to the right of the dissolved or liquidated or bankrupt Shareholder, with the consent of the Board of Directors 
(and the Board of Directors may refuse to provide its consent without providing any reason for its refusal), to be registered as a 
Shareholder, with respect to theses Shares, or may, subject to the provisions of these Articles, transfer these Shares.

50. The foregoing provisions concerning the transfer of Shares shall also apply to the transfer of other Securities of the Company, 
mutatis mutandis.

Redeemable Securities

51. The Company may issue or allocate redeemable Securities, subject to the provisions of these Articles concerning the issuance of 
Securities.

52. If the Company issued redeemable Securities may redeem them, and the provisions of Article II Section G of the Companies Law 
shall not apply.

53. If the Company issued redeemable Securities, it may link their traits to Shares, including voting rights and the right to participate 
right in profits.

Alterations of Share Capital

54. The Company may, from time to time, by way of a resolution adopted by an ordinary majority in a General Meeting, increase its 
registered share capital with different classes of shares, as shall be determined.

55. Unless otherwise noted in the resolution approving the increase of the share capital, as aforementioned, the provisions of these 
Articles shall apply to the new Shares.

56. Pursuant to the resolution adopted by an ordinary majority in the General Meeting, the Company may:

A. Consolidate or redistribute its share capital into shares with a larger nominal value than the existing Shares, and if the Shares 
did not have any nominal value – to capital composed of a smaller number of shares, provided that it shall not be sufficient to 
modify the holdings of the Shareholders of the issued share capital.

For the purposes of executing the aforementioned resolution, the Board of Directors may at its discretion, settle any difficulty 
arising with respect thereto, inter alia, to issue certificates with fractional shares or certificates in the names of the number of 
Shareholders who will eb included and are eligible to receive the fractional shares due to them.
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Without derogating from the Board of Directors’ power, as aforementioned, in the event that as a result of the consolidation, 
there will be fractional shares following the consolidation of the Shares of the Shareholders, the Board of Directors, with the 
approval by an ordinary majority in the General Meeting:

(1) To sell all fractional shares and for this purpose, appoint a trustee and in his name share certificates that includes the 
fractional shares will be issued, and who will sell the fractional shares and the consideration received less the fees and 
expenses shall be distributed amongst the eligible parties; or –

(2) To allot to each Shareholder to whom following the consolidation had fractional shares, Shares from the class of shares 
prior to the consolidation, paid in full, said number whose consolidation together with the fractional share would create 
one whole Share and the allocation as aforementioned shall be deemed effective, prior to the consolidation; or –

(3) To determine that the Shareholders will not be entitled to receive a whole consolidated share with respect to the fractional 
shares from the consolidation, arising from the consolidation of half or less than the number of consolidated shares create 
one whole consolidated share, and they shall be eligible to receive one whole consolidated shares for the fractional shares 
from the consolidation, arising from the consolidation of more than half of the number of shares whose consolidation 
created one whole consolidated Share;

In the event of any activity according to paragraphs (2) or (3) above shall require issuing additional Shares, the repayment 
shall be made in such a manner permitting the repayment of bonus shares. Consolidation and division, as aforementioned, 
shall not be deemed a change of rights of the Shares, subject to the consolidation and division;

B. To redistribute the existing Shares of the share capital, in whole or in part, to shares with a lower nominal value of the 
nominal value of the existing Shares, and if the shares do not have a nominal value – to issued share capital comprised of a 
greater number of Shares, provided that is shall not be sufficient to modify the Shareholders’ holding in the issued share 
capital;

C. To cancel the registered share capital on the date the resolution was adopted, prior to the allocation, provided that the 
Company does not have any commitment, including any continent commitment, to allocate the Shares;

D. To reduce the Shares in the Company’s issued share capital so that these Shares shall be cancelled, and the consideration paid 
with respect to their nominal value shall be registered in the Company’s books, as a capital principal which shall be deemed 
for all intents and purposes, as a premium paid for the Shares remaining in the Company’s issued share capital;

E. To consolidate its share capital, in whole or in part, to one class of Shares, and the Company may decide to compensate the 
Company’s Shareholders, in whole or in part, with respect to the consolidation of the capital, by way of allocating the bonus 
shares for the same Shareholders.

F. To reduce the nominal value of the Company’s Shares, and the provisions of subclause d above shall apply, mutatis mutandis, 
also with respect to the reduce nominal value of the Company’s Shares, as aforementioned.

General Meetings

57. The Company shall convene an annual meeting every year no later than fifteen (15) months following the last annual meeting. A 
General Meeting that is not an annual meeting shall be referred to as a special meeting.
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58. The agenda for the annual meeting will include the following issues:

(A) A discussion of the Company’s periodic reports, including, inter alia, the Company’s audited financial statements and the 
Board of Directors’ report for the status of the Company’s affairs, submitted to the General Meeting;

(B) Appointment of Directors;

(C) Appointment of the Company’s auditor and receipt of a report to determine the auditor’s salary;

(D) Any issue that the Board of Directors decided to present to the General Meeting for a resolution.

59. Insofar as to the extent that it shall be deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors, it may convene a special meeting at its 
discretion, and special meetings shall convene according to the demand of two Directors or one quarter of the Directors in office at 
such time or according to the demand of one or more Shareholders, who hold at least five percent (5%) of the issued capital and at 
least one percent (1%) of the voting rights in the Company, or one or more Shareholders who have at least five percent (5%) of the 
voting rights in the Company.

If the Board of Directors has been requested to convene a special meeting, it shall convene the meeting within twenty one (21) 
days from the date the demand was submitted on such date that shall be fixed for the special meeting set in the notice, as set forth 
in section 62(b) below, provided that the date to convene the meeting shall not be more than thirty five (35) days from the date the 
notice was issued, subject to the provisions of the Law.

60. If the Board of Directors did not convene a special meeting, as noted in section 59 above, the demanding party is entitled, and with 
respect to Shareholders – also a part thereof holding more than half of their voting rights, to convene the meeting itself, provided 
that the meeting shall not take place following the lapse of 3 months from the date the said demand was made, and the meeting 
shall be convened, as closely as possible to the manner in which meetings are convened by the Board of Directors.

61. (A) The agenda of a General Meeting shall be determined by the Board of Directors and shall also include items due to which 
convening a special meeting was demanded under section 59 above, as well as an item as detailed in subclause (b) below;

(B) One or more Shareholder holdings at least one percent (1%) of the voting rights in the General Meeting may request the 
Board of Directors to include an item in a future General Meeting’s agenda, as long as it is an appropriate item to be discussed 
in a General Meeting, subject to the provisions of the Companies Law;

(C) A request as detailed in subclause (b) above, shall be submitted to the Company, In Writing, at least seven (7) days prior to 
the notice to convene a General Meeting, and the language of the resolution proposed by the Shareholder shall be attached 
thereto, unless otherwise determined by any applicable law.

62. (A) Notice of a General Meeting shall be published in at least two daily circulated newspapers published in Hebrew or on the 
Company’s website, as prescribed by law and on the dates prescribed under the law, and the Company shall not deliver any 
additional notice to the Registered Shareholders in the Company’s Shareholders’ Register, unless otherwise required by law;

(B) A notice to convene a General Meeting shall detail the type of meeting, the place, date, and time where the General Meeting 
shall be convened, it will include the agenda, a summary of the proposed resolutions, the majority required for adopting the 
resolutions, and the date determining all the Shareholders’ rights to vote in the General Meeting. If a date has been set for a 
postponed meeting, that is not on the same day of the week, time and place, the date shall be detailed in the notice.
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63. The General Meeting may assume the powers granted to any other organ, for a certain matter or for a certain period that shall not 
exceed the time required under the circumstances of the matter. If the General Meeting assumed the powers of the Company’s 
Board of Directors, the Shareholders will be responsible and liable for the obligations and responsibility of the Board of Directors, 
pertaining to the exercise of the powers, mutatis mutandis, and the provisions of Chapters Three, Four, and Five of Article Six of 
the Companies Law, shall be applicable upon them, while considering their holdings in the Company, their participation in the 
meeting and the manner of the vote.

64. A flaw made in good faith when convening or when conducting the General Meeting, including a flaw due to a failure to follow a 
provision or a condition provided by the Companies Law or by these Articles, including with regard to the manner for convening 
or conducting the General Meeting, will not lead to the dismissal of any resolution adopted by the General Meeting and shall not 
impair the discussions held during said meeting, subject to the provisions of any law.

Voting Rights

65. A Shareholder interested in voting in the General Meeting shall prove to the Company his ownership of the Share, as required by 
any applicable law.

66. (A) The Company may determine an effective date for the purposes of eligibility to participate and vote in the General Meeting, 
provided that this date shall not exceed 21 days from the date set to convene the General Meeting and shall not be less than 4 
days before the meeting is convened;

(B) Notwithstanding the provisions in subsection (a) above, a General Meeting whose agenda shall include mattes enumerated in 
Section 87(a) of the Companies Law, the Company shall set an effective date that shall not be greater than 40 days and no less 
than 28 days before the date the General Meeting is convened, unless the law permits setting an earlier effective date.

(C)

67. A Shareholder who is a minor and any Shareholder with respect to whom the courts have declared as legally incompetent, may 
vote by way of their guardians, and any guardian may vote by proxy.

68. Subject to the provisions of any applicable law, in the event of joint owners of a Share, each owner may vote in any Meeting, 
whether in person or through an agent, with regard to the said Share, as if he was the sole owner thereof. In the event that more 
than one of the joint owners in a Share participates in a Meeting, whether in person or through an agent, the owner whose name 
appears first in the Shareholders’ Register with regard to the said Share or in the certificate of ownership or any other document 
determined by the Board of Directors for such matters, shall vote, accordingly. Several guardians or several estate managers of a 
deceased Registered Shareholder will be deemed, for the purposes of this section, as joint owners of the said Shares.

69. Shareholders may vote in person or by way of a proxy, as stipulated below.

70. If a Shareholder of the Company is a corporation, according to a resolution made by its directors or any other managing body, it 
may appoint a Person that it deems appropriate to serve at its representative in every General Meeting. The aforementioned Person 
who is appointed to serve as the corporation’s representative may use the same voting rights that the corporation itself may use, as 
though it was a sole Shareholder. The Chairman of the Meeting may demand from every such appointed person reasonable proof 
that he is the corporation’s authorized representative, as a condition for the Person’s participation in the Meeting.

It is hereby clarified that the provisions of sections 71 – 75 below concerning the letter or appointment shall not apply to the 
authorized representative of the corporation, except for the voting agent on behalf of the corporation.
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71. Any document appointing a voting agent (“Appointment Letter”) shall be executed In Writing and signed by the appointing party 
or his agent who has power In Writing to do so, and if the appointing party is a corporation, the Appointment Letter shall be 
executed In Writing and signed by the corporation’s authorized signatories and the corporation’s stamp or signed by the authorized 
agent.

72. The Appointment Letter, or a certified copy thereof, which shall be to the satisfaction of the Board of Directors, shall be deposited 
at the Office or in another place designated to convene the General Meeting, at least 48 hours prior to the set date for the 
commencement of any Meeting in which the Person appointed in said Appointment Letter, intends to vote. Notwithstanding, the 
Chairman of the Meeting may waive this demand with respect to all participants in any given Meeting, and receive their 
Appointment Letter, or a copy thereof, to the satisfaction of the Chairman of the Meeting, upon the commencement of the 
Meeting.

73. A Shareholder who holds more than one Share, will be entitled to appoint more than one agent, subject the provisions below:

(A) The Appointment Letter will note the class and the number of Shares for which it has been issued, and in cases required 
according to the law, reference to the question of a personal matter of the Shareholder in the engagement of the General 
Meeting’s agenda;

(B) If the Appointment Letter was issued with regard to a larger number of Shares than the number of Shares registered to one 
Shareholder for the same class of Shares, he holds, all the Appointment Letter issued by the Shareholder for the surplus shares 
shall be cancelled, and it shall not derogate from the validity of the vote for the shares he holds;

(C) If the Shareholder appointed only a voting agent and the Appointment Letter did not state the number and class of Shares for 
which it has been issued, the Appointment Letter shall be considered as though issued only for the Shares held by the 
Shareholder on the date the Appointment Letter was deposited with the Company or on the date submitted to the Chairman of 
the Meeting, as the case may be. If the Appointment Letter was issued with regard to a smaller number of Shares held by the 
Shareholder, the Shareholder shall be deemed as being absent from the vote with regard to the remainder of his Shares and the 
Appointment Letter shall be in effect with regard to the number of Shares listed therein.

74. The Appointment Letter for the General Meeting shall be executed in the form below or similar form insofar as possible or 
ordinary or customary form approved by the Chairman of the Board of Directors:

“I,________________, of ________________, a shareholder of ___________ Ltd., (the “Company”), do hereby appoint 
________________, the holder of ID No. ________________, of ________________, or in his/her absence ____________, the 
holder of ID No. ________________, of ________________, or in his/her absence ________________, the holder of ID No. 
________________, of ________________, to vote on my behalf and in my name with respect to the class of _________ 
shares in my possession at the Annual/ Special General Meeting of the Company/ class meeting of the ___________ 
Shareholders, that shall convene on ___________, and any adjourned meeting thereof.”

In witness whereof signed by me this day of ________, _____

Signature

75. A vote made in accordance with an Appointment Letter shall be in effect even if prior to the voting the appointing party had died, 
or the Appointment Letter was cancelled or the Share for which the Appointment Letter had been issued was transferred, unless 
the Company’s Office had received a notice In Writing, prior to the meeting, of the death, cancellation, or transfer or by the 
Chairman of the Meeting prior to the vote.
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Discussions and Adopting Resolutions at General Meetings

76. A discussion in a General Meeting shall not begin unless the legal quorum is present within half an hour from the time scheduled 
to start the meeting. Save for cases otherwise stipulated upon in the Companies Law or these Articles, quorum shall exist when at 
least two (2) Shareholders, holding at least one quarter (1/4) of the voting rights in the Company, are present, whether in person or 
through an agent.

77. If by the end of half an hour from the time scheduled for starting the Meeting a quorum had not been present, the Meeting shall be 
postponed to the following week, on the same day, time and place, or to a later date if such date had been detailed in the notice of 
the Meeting, and the agenda for which the first meeting was called will be discussed at the postponed meeting. If there is no 
quorum at the postponed meeting by the end of half an hour from the date called for the Meeting, the postponed Meeting shall be 
held with the presence of any number of participants whatsoever.

If the General Meeting was convened according to the demand of a Shareholder, the postponed Meeting only if one or more 
Shareholders who hold at least five percent (5%) of the issued capital and one percent (1%) of the voting rights in the Company, 
are present, or one or more Shareholders who hold at least five percent (5%) of the voting rights in the Company.

78. At every General Meeting, a chairman shall be selected for the meeting. The chairman of the meeting shall be selected at the 
beginning of the convened meeting, subject to the presence of quorum, by the Company’s secretary or by the Shareholders so 
appointed for this matter by the Company’s secretary.

79. The Chairman of the General Meeting may, with the consent of the Meeting where quorum is present, to postpone the Meeting, 
discussion or the adoption of the resolution specified in the agenda, from time to time or from place to place, and shall be required 
to do so if the Meeting instructed so. In the postponed meeting, only matters on the agenda with respect to which the discussion as 
not concluded or was not commenced in the Meeting in which it was postponement was resolved.

80. Subject to the provisions of any applicable law, a resolution in the General Meeting shall be adopted by casting votes, so that 
every Share granting the voting right shall entitle one vote. If the votes were tied, the resolution shall be deemed rejected.

81. Resolutions in the General Meeting shall be adopted by an ordinary majority, unless another majority is required by Law or the 
Articles.

82. In addition to the resolutions, the authority to adopt resolutions is granted to the General Meeting, and specified in these Articles 
and/or the Companies Law, the Company’s resolutions for the following matters shall be adopted by an ordinary majority at the 
General Meeting:

(A) Amending these Articles or the Company’s memorandum of association;

(B) Exercising the powers of the Board of Directors by the General Meeting, if the Board of Directors was unable to operate the 
powers and operating any of the powers is essential to the proper management of the Company, as set forth in section 52(a) of 
the Companies Law;

(C) Appointing a certified accountant as the Company’s auditor or terminating his employment;

(D) Appointing and dismissing the Company’s Directors;

(E) Approval of actions and transactions that require the General Meeting’s approval;

(F) Increasing and cancelling the authorized share capital;

(G) Merger (unless it is a transaction requiring approval under Section 275(A) of the Companies Law);

83. The Chairman’s declaration that a resolution in the General Meeting had been adopted or rejected, whether unanimously or by any 
majority and the minutes of the meeting, signed by the Chairman of the Meeting shall serve as prima facie evidence of the 
contents thereof.
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84. The Board of Directors may determine, from time to time, the resolutions of the General Meeting that may also be adopted by way 
of a written ballot. Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors and subject to the provisions of the Companies Law and 
its regulations, resolutions of the General Meeting for the matters enumerated below shall also be adopted by way of a written 
ballot:

(A) Appointment and dismissal of Directors;

(B) Approving actions and transactions that require the approval of the General Meeting according to Sections 255 and 268 
through 275 of the Companies Law;

(C) Approving a merger as set forth in Section 320 of the Companies Law;

(D) Appointing the Chairman of the Board of Directors, or his relative, to serve as the Chief Executive Officer or exercise any 
powers granted to the Chief Executive Officer, or that his relative may function in the capacity of the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors or exercise any of his powers, according to Section 121(c) of the Companies Law;

(E) Matters determined by the Minister in the regulations promulgated or that may be promulgated by virtue of Section 89 of the 
Companies Law.

The Board of Directors

85. The number of Directors shall be determined from time to time by an ordinary majority of the Shareholders at the General 
Meeting, or by the Company’s Board of Directors, by an ordinary majority of the Directors, provided that the number of Directors 
shall not be less than three Directors and no more than twelve Directors, including External Directors. An individual only, and no 
corporation, may be appointed as a Director of the Company.

86. Election and Removal of Directors

86.1. The Directors, excluding the External Directors if any (who shall be elected and serve in office in strict accordance with 
the provisions of the Companies Law, if so required by resolution of the Companies Law), shall be classified, with 
respect to the term for which they each severally hold office, into three classes, as nearly equal in number as practicable, 
hereby designated as Class I, Class II and Class III.

86.1.1. The term of office of the initial Class I directors shall expire at the first Annual Meeting to be held in 2025, and 
when their successors are elected and qualified, and

86.1.2. The term of office of the initial Class II directors shall expire at the first Annual Meeting following the Annual 
Meeting referred to in clause 86.1.1 above and when their successors are elected and qualified, and

86.1.3. The term of office of the initial Class III directors shall expire at the first Annual Meeting following the Annual 
Meeting referred to in clause 86.1.2 above and when their successors are elected and qualified.

86.2. At each Annual Meeting, commencing with the Annual Meeting to be held in 2025, each of the successors elected to 
replace the Directors of a Class whose term shall have expired at such Annual General Meeting shall be elected to hold 
office until the third Annual General Meeting next succeeding his or her election and until his or her respective successor 
shall have been elected and qualified. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, each Director shall serve until his or her 
successor is elected and qualified or until such earlier time as such Director’s office is vacated.

86.3. The Directors (other than External Directors) shall be elected by a resolution adopted only at the Annual Meeting. 
Election of Board members as detailed above will be done by shareholders present at the Annual Meeting, personally or 
by attorney, or, subject to the provisions of Companies Law, by proxy, by simple majority of shareholder votes.

86.4. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, this Article 86 may only be amended, replaced or suspended by a 
resolution adopted at a General Meeting by a majority of 75% of the voting power represented at the General Meeting in 
person or by proxy and voting thereon, disregarding abstentions from the count of the voting power present and voting, 
provided that the quorum at such General Meeting is not less than 25% (and at an adjourned meeting, which shall be 
convened if applicable one day thereafter, not less than 20%) of the Company’s then issued and outstanding share capital.

86.5. Notwithstanding the aforesaid, Directors may not be dismissed from office by the company’s shareholders or by the 
General Meeting prior to expiration of their term of office pursuant to Articles above, and the provisions of Section 230
(a) of the Companies Law in this regard shall not apply.

87. (A) A Director shall be entitled, at any time, to appoint a Person (which is not a corporation) to server as an alternate director in 
his place on the Board of Directors (“Alternate Director”). A Person who is unfit to be appointed as a Director or anyone 
serving as a Director or as an Alternate Director to a Director shall not be appointed as an Alternate Director, unless otherwise 
permitted by law. An Alternate Director may be appointed as a member of the Board of Directors’ committee, who is 
presiding as a Director, provided that the candidate to be appointed as an Alternate Director to the committee member is not 
already presiding as a member on the same Board of Directors’ committee, and if is an Alternate Director to an External 
Director, the candidate shall be an External Director with accounting and financial expertise or professional competence, in 
accordance with the competence of the replaced Director. Notwithstanding, an Alternate Director shall be appointed as an 
External Director only according to this subclause (a), unless otherwise determined in the Law;
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(B) Insofar as to the extent that the appointment of the Alternate Director is in effect, he shall be entitled to receive invitations to 
every Board of Directors’ meeting (without negating the Appointing Director’s right to receive invitations), participate and 
vote in every Board of Directors’ meeting in which the appointing Director is absent;

(C) The Alternate Director, subject to the instructions in the appointment letter that appointed him, shall have all the powers of the 
Appointing Director he is replacing, and shall be deemed a Director for all intents and purposes;

(D) A Director who appointed the Alternate Director may cancel the appointment at any time. The Alternate Director shall cease 
his position as a Director if the Appointing Director (above and below: the “Appointing Director”) notified the Company, In 
Writing, that the appointment has been cancelled or of his resignation, or if the Appointing Director has ceased acting as a 
Director in any other manner;

(E) Any appointment of an Alternate Director and the cancellation of his appointment shall be made by notice In Writing to the 
Company.

88. A Director whose position was vacated may be reappointed.

89. The position of a Director will vacate in any of the following instances:

(A) If he resigned or was dismissed from his position according to Sections 229 – 231 of the Companies Law;

(B) If he was convicted of a felony according to Section 232 of the Companies Law;

(C) On the date of the provision that enforcement measures were imposed according to Section 232A of the Companies Law;

(D) If the court instructed upon the termination of his office according to Section 233 of the Companies Law;

(E) If declared bankrupt, and if a corporation – there was decision for voluntary liquidation, or a liquidation order was issued;

(F) In the event he died;

(G) If declared legally incompetent;

(H) On the date of a provision of notice according to Section 227A or 245A of the Companies Law.

90. In the event that a Director’s position had been vacated, the other Directors may continue to act in any matter whatsoever as long 
as the number of Directors is not smaller than the minimum number of Directors. In the event that the number of Directors was 
smaller than that number, the Board of Directors shall not be entitled to operate other than for the purposes of convening a General 
Meeting in order to appoint additional Directors.

91. The Director may appoint a Director or additional Directors, immediately or at a future date, that shall serve in office until the next 
Annual Meeting, provided that the number of Directors shall not exceed twelve (12) Directors.

92. The Directors shall be entitled to fees and compensation for presiding as Directors subject to receipt of the approvals required by 
any applicable law. A Director shall be entitled to receive reimbursements for reasonable travelling expenses and other expenses 
relating to his participation in the meetings of the Board of Directors and due to his activity as Director.

93. At least two External Director shall preside in the Company, and at least one of them will be a Director with accounting and 
finance expertise and the rest will have professional competence, as defined in the regulations promulgated by virtue of Section 
240 of the Companies Law, and the provisions set in the Companies Law with regard to their position, as well as the payments 
they shall be entitled due to their position shall apply. The overall term of an External Director of the Company shall not exceed 9 
years.
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The Board of Directors’ Powers and Positions

94. The Board of Directors shall outline the Company’s policies and oversee the performance of the duties of the Chief Executive 
Officer and his actions and shall have any of the Company’s powers noted granted by the Law or the Articles to any other organ.

95. The Board of Directors may delegate its powers to the Chief Executive Officer and any of the Board of Directors’ committees, 
subject to the restrictions according to any applicable law.

96. (A) The Board of Directors may decide that powers vested with the Chief Executive Officer shall be transferred to the Board of 
Directors, whether for a specific matter or a specific period of time, which shall not exceed the required period of time, under 
the circumstances of the matter, all according to the discretion of the Board of Directors, by way of a resolution adopted by a 
majority of the Directors votes;

(B) Without derogating from the foregoing, the Board of Directors may instruct the Chief Executive Officer how to operate in a 
specific matter. In the event that the Chief Executive Officer failed to comply with such instruction, the Board of Directors 
may exercise the required power in order to perform the instruction in his stead;

(C) In the event that the Chief Executive Officer is unable to exercise his powers, the Board of Directors may exercise these 
powers in his stead.

The Board of Directors’ Meetings

97. The Board of Directors shall convene in accordance with the Company’s needs and at least once every three (3) months.

98. The Chairman of the Board of Directors may convene the Board of Directors at any time. In addition, one Director may demand 
that a meeting of the Board of Directors be convened for a matter that will be detailed in his demand.

99. (A) Notice to convene a meeting of the Board of Directors may be verbally, by telephone, In Writing (including facsimile or 
electronic mail), or by telegram, provided that the notice shall be provided at least one business date before the date set for the 
meeting, unless majority of the Directors or the Alternate Directors (if any) decided in urgent cases for a shorter period of to 
convene without notice;

(B) A Director who is not in Israel (hereinafter: the “Absent Director”) who is interested in receiving notice during his absence, 
shall leave sufficient details with the Company’s secretary, so that he may be notified of the Board of Directors’ meetings in 
his absence (an Absent Director who left his details with the Company’s secretary, as noted above, together with the Directors 
located in Israel shall be referred to as “Directors Eligible to Receive Notice);

(C) An Absent Director who did not leave his details as noted in the clause above, shall not be entitled to receive notice during his 
stay outside of Israel, unless he requested that notice be provided to an Alternate Director serving on his behalf, who was 
appointed according to these Articles;

(D) Any record by the Company’s secretary shall be deemed decisive proof that notice was provided to the Absent Director who 
is Entitled to Receive Notice.

100. Notice to convene a Board of Directors’ meeting will include the date and the place on which the meeting shall take place as well 
as a reasonable details with respect to the matters on the agenda.

The agenda for the meetings of the Board of Directors shall be determined by the Chairman of the Board of Directors and shall 
include items which were determined by the Chairman of the Board of Directors as well as any item which a Director or the Chief 
Executive Officer had requested the Chairman of the Board of Directors to include in the agenda, a reasonable time prior to the 
convening of the Board of Directors’ meeting.
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101. The legal quorum for the opening of a Board of Directors’ meeting shall be a majority of the Members of the Directors Entitled 
whose do not have any impediment to participate and vote in the Board of Directors’ meeting. Quorum will be checked at the 
beginning of the meeting.

Notwithstanding the aforementioned, quorum with respect to a resolution by the Board of Directors or the termination of the 
internal auditor’s position shall not be less than the majority of the Directors.

102. The Board of Directors shall appoint one of its members as the Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Chairman shall head and 
conduct the Board of Directors’ meetings. In the event that the Chairman of the Board is absent from the Board of Directors’ 
meeting, or in the event that the Chairman of the Board does not want to preside over the meeting, the members of the Board of 
Directors who are present will select one of the Directors present to act as the Chairman of the meeting, wo will head and conduct 
the meeting and sign the minutes of the meeting.

103. Resolutions by the Board of Director shall be adopted by an ordinary majority. When voting in the Board of Directors, each 
Director will have one vote. The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall not have an additional vote or casting vote.

104. Whenever quorum is present at any meeting of the Board of Directors, it shall have the authority to exercise all powers, proxies 
and discretion granted at such time, according to the provisions of these Articles, by the Board of Directors or generally exercised 
by it.

105. The Board of Directors may hold meetings by means of using any communication device provided that all of the participating 
Directors can hear each other simultaneously.

106. The Board of Directors may adopt resolutions even without actually convening, provided that all of the Directors entitled to 
participate in the discussion and vote on the matter brought for decision had agreed not to convene for a discussion in that matter. 
A written resolution shall be prepared, including the resolutions not to convene, and will be signed by the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors or alternately the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall prepare a written protocol and all the Directors’ signatures 
shall be attached thereto.

For this purpose, a “Director’s Signature” can also be attached with his consent or rejection or noting that he abstained. Instead of 
the Director’s Signature, the Chairman of the Board of Directors or the Company’s secretary may attach records with their 
signature detailing the manner in which the Director voted.

107. A signed resolution by the Chairman of the Board of Directors to not actually convene a meeting, provided that all Directors 
Eligible to Receive Notice and eligible to participate and vote on the matter presented for a resolution agreed to such (provided 
that the number of Directors shall not be less than two) or a written resolution signed by all the Directors Eligible to Receive 
Notice and eligible to participate and vote on the matter presented for a resolution (provided that the number of Directors shall not 
be less than two), subject to the provisions of the Law, shall be valid and in effect to any duly adopted resolution at the Board of 
Directors that convened and transpired in accordance with the provisions of these Articles.

108. Subject to the provisions of any applicable law, any actions made by or according to the resolutions of the Board of Directors or a 
Board of Directors’ committee or by a Person (that is not a corporation) acting as a Director, shall be in effect even if any flaw was 
discovered in the selection of any Director or any Person acting in such capacity, whether one or all of them are invalid, as though 
they were duly selected and as though they had the requisite skills to be a member of the Board of Directors or a committee 
thereof.

The Board of Directors’ Committees

109. The Board of Directors may establish committees of the Board of Directors. A person who is not a Director shall not serve on any 
committee of the Board of Directors to whom the Board of Directors delegated any of its powers. A Person who is not a Director 
may serve on a committee of the Board of Directors whose function is to solely advise or recommend before the Board of 
Directors. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law and the provisions of these Articles, the Board of Directors may 
delegate its powers, or any part thereof, to any of the committees. At least two Director shall serve on a committee.

18



110. Any committee established pursuant to section 109 above, when using any of its powers must comply with all instructions that 
shall be determined by the Board of Directors. The meetings and actions of every committee shall be conducted according to the 
provisions included in these Articles with respect to the meetings and actions taken by the Board of Directors, insofar as 
appropriate and to the extent that they are not in the stead of the provisions provided by the Board of Directors.

111. A committee of the Board of Directors shall report to the Board of Directors, in an ongoing manner, of its decisions and 
recommendations according to the decisions made by the Board of Directors. Decisions or recommendations of the committee of 
the Board of Directors that require approval by the Board of Directors shall be presented to the Board of Directors in a reasonable 
time prior to any discussion at the Board of Directors.

112. The Board of Directors may cancel any decision of the committee that it appointed, nonetheless, such termination shall not affect 
the validity of a decision made by the committee when the Company acted pursuant thereto to any other Person, who was not 
aware of its termination.

Any action made in good faith in a meeting of the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors or by any Person 
acting as a Director shall be in effect, even if any flaw was discovered thereafter in the appointment of the Director or any other 
Person acting in such capacity or that one or any of the Directors were actually incapacitated as though such Person was duly 
appointed and competent to be a Director.

The Chief Executive Officer

113. The Chief Executive Officer shall be appointed and dismissed by the Board of Directors and the Board of Directors may appoint 
more than one Chief Executive Officer.

114. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the ongoing management of the Company’s activities, within the framework 
determined by the Board of Directors and subject to its instructions and he shall possess all management and execution powers not 
granted by the Companies Law or these Articles to any other organ of the Company and shall be subject to the Board of Directors’ 
oversight.

The Chief Executive Officer, with the approval of the Board of Directors, may delegate his powers to another person who is 
subordinate to him. The approval may be general and in advance.

115. (A) The Chief Executive Officer will immediately notify the Chairman of the Board of Directors of any extraordinary, material 
matter to the Company and shall submit reports to the Board of Directors with respect thereto, on the dates and in scope 
determined by the Board of Directors. If the Company did not have a Chairman of the Board of Directors or he was unable to 
fulfill his position, the Chief Executive Office shall notify all members of the Board of Directors;

(B) The Chairman of the Board of Directors may, at his initiative or according to a decision by the Board of Directors, to demand 
form the Chief Executive Officer reports about the Company’s business;

(C) If any notice or report was required for any action of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall 
immediately convent a meeting of the Board of Directors for a discussion concerning the notice or decision to adopt the 
necessary action.

Officers

116. The Chief Executive Officer may, from time to time appoint officers for the Company (excluding Directors and the Chief 
Executive Officer) for permanent, temporary, or special positions, as the Chief Executive Officer shall deem appropriate from time 
to time, and the Chief Executive Officer may terminate the services of one or more of the foregoing from time to time and at any 
time, according to his absolute discretion.
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117. The Chief Executive Officer may determine, subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, the powers, and positions of the 
officers he appointed as well as the terms of their tenure. The terms of the officers’ office shall be determined in accordance with 
the provisions of the Companies Law.

The Internal Auditor

118. The Board of Director shall appoint an internal auditor according to the audit committee’s recommendation.

119. The internal auditor shall check, inter alia, the integrity of the Company’s actions with respect to compliance with the Law and 
proper business protocol.

120. The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall be the organization’s supervisor of the internal auditor, unless otherwise determined 
by the Board of Directors and the Company, as shall be determined by the Company’s Board of Directors.

121. The internal auditor will submit a proposed annual or quarterly work plan to be approved by the Board of Directors and the Board 
of Directors will approve it with the changes it deems appropriate.

The Auditor

122. One auditor, or more, shall be appointed every Annual Meeting and shall serve in the capacity of this position through the end of 
the following Annual Meeting. Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the General Meeting may, by way of a resolution adopted by 
an ordinary majority, appoint an auditor who serve in this position, for a longer period, which shall not exceed the third Annual 
Meeting after the meeting in which he was appointed.

123. The General Meeting may terminate the tenure of the auditor subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Law.

124. The auditor’s fees for auditing activities shall be determined by the Board of Directors who will report the terms of the auditor’s 
engagement at the Annual Meeting. The audit committee or the committee appointed by the Company to review its financial 
statements according to the provisions of the Companies Law, shall examine the scope of the auditor’s work and salary and submit 
its recommendations to the Board of Directors.

125. The auditor’s fees for additional services to the Company, which are not auditing actions, will be determined by the Board of 
Directors who will report the terms of the auditor’s engagement for additional services, including payments and the Company’s 
obligations to him; for this purpose, “auditor” – including a partner, a relative of the auditor, including a corporation in his control.

Validity of Actions and Approval of Ordinary Transactions

126. Subject to the provisions of any applicable law, all actions made by the Board of Directors or by a committee of the Board of 
Directors or by a Person acting as a Director, or a member of a committee of the Board of Directors or by the Chief Executive 
Officer, as the case may be – will be in effect event if a flaw was later discovered in the appointment of the Board of Directors, a 
committee of the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer, as the case may be, or any of the aforementioned offices who 
is incompetent to server in this capacity.

127. An officer who has a personal interest in an action of the Company, will disclose to the Company, within a reasonable time before 
the date of the discussions for the approval of an action, the nature of his personal interest in the action, including any material fact 
or document.

128. An ordinary transaction of the Company with an officer of controlling holder, or an ordinary transaction of the Company with any 
other Person that an office of the Company or controlling holder of the Company has a personal interest, save for a transaction 
relating to the terms of office and employment of the offices or controlling holders of the Company, or their relatives, shall be 
approved by the audit committee (subject to the provisions of any applicable law). Approval by the audit committee may be given 
by providing a general approval for a certain type of transactions or approval for a certain transaction.
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129. Extraordinary transactions with an officer or controlling holder of the Company or with another Person whom an officer or 
controlling holder has a person interest for their approval and transactions relating to the terms of office of the officers and the 
terms of office of the controlling holders and their relatives shall be approved in the manner prescribed by law.

Distribution

130. The Company’s or distribution shall be adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors, subject to the restrictions prescribed by 
law.

Dividends and Bonus Shares

131. Subject to all special rights or restrictions granted to any Shares, dividends and bonus shares shall be distributed pro rata to the 
issued and paid capital of the nominal value of the Shares, without taking into consideration any premium paid on the Shares.

132. The Company may determine a fixed date for the purposes of the right to receive dividends, provided that this date shall not be 
later than the date of the resolution to distribute dividends.

133. The Board of Directors may withhold any dividend, benefit, rights or amounts due for payment for the Shares that the Company 
has withheld and/or pledged, and use any such amount or exercise any benefit and right to use the consideration for the exercise to 
repay any of the Shareholder’s debts with respect to which the Company has decided to withhold and/or pledge.

134. The transfer of any Share shall not grant the transferee the right to receive any dividend or any other declared distribution 
following the transfer and prior to the registration of the transfer. Notwithstanding the aforementioned, in the event that the 
transfer of the Shares require approval from the Board of Directors, the approval date shall be instead of the registration date of the 
transfer.

135. Any dividends whose payment was not demanded within a period of seven (7) years from the resolution date of its distribution, the 
person eligible to receive the dividend shall be deemed to have waived it and shall be returned to the ownership of the Company.

136. If no other instructions have been provided, dividends may be paid by check or payment order sent by post to the registered 
address of the Person entitled to receive it, or in the case of joint Registered Shareholders, to the same person whose name appears 
first in the Shareholders’ Register with respect to the joint ownership. A check shall be made payable to the order of the Person to 
whom it is sent, and its payment shall serve as a release with respect to all payments made in connection with that Share.

137. The Board of Directors may deduct from any dividend or other distribution, any amounts due in connection with the Shares held 
by the Shareholder, whether held by a single Shareholder or jointly held with another Shareholder, by the Shareholder and which 
must be repaid to the Company by the sole Shareholder or the joint Shareholder, on account of calls for shares, etc.

138. The Board of Director may, at its discretion, set aide any amount from the Company’s profits to special funds, or an evaluation of 
its assets, or any relative portion of the evaluated assets of its affiliated companies and determine the purpose of these funds.

Merger

139. Approval of a merger requires a majority of votes of the Shareholders, subject to the provisions of the Companies Law.
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Protocols

140. The Company shall maintain protocols of the General Meetings, class meetings, meetings of the Board of Directors and the 
committees of the Board of Directors and shall keep them in its Registered Office or any other address in Israel, which the 
Company provided notice to registrar, for a period of seven (7) years from the date of the meeting, as the case may me.

141. Every protocol will include the following details:

(A) The date and place where the meeting convened;

(B) The names of the participants, and if they had proxies or alternates, the names of the proxies or alternates, and for General 
Meetings, the number of Shares with respect to which they are voting, and the class of Shares;

(C) A summary of the discussions, the course of the discussions and the resolutions adopted;

(D) Instructions provided by the Board of Directors to the committees of the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer;

(E) Documents, reports, approvals, opinions, etc., that were presented, discussed and/or attached.

142. Protocols of the General Meetings signed by the Chairman of the Meeting shall serve as prima facia evidence of the contents 
thereof. Protocols of the meetings of the Board of Directors or committees of the Board of Directors approved and signed by the 
Director who conducted the meeting, shall serve as prima facie evidence of the contents thereof.

Shareholders’ Register

143. The Company shall manage the Shareholders’ Register and record the following details:

(A) Shares registered by name –

(1) The name, identification number and address of every Shareholder, all as submitted to the Company;

(2) The number of Shares and class of Shares owned by every Shareholder, while noting their nominal value, if any, and if 
any amount of the consideration amount determined for the Share has not yet been paid – the amount not yet paid;

(3) The allocation date of the Shares or the transfer dates to the Shareholders, as the case may be;

(4) If the Shares were marked with serial numbers, the Company shall note the serial numbers of the Shares registered in the 
Shareholder’s name alongside his name.

(B) For dormant shares – their number and the date they became dormant, all as known to the Company;

(C) Shares that do not grant any voting rights according to Section 309(b) of the Law or Section 333(b) of the Law – their number 
and the date the Shares were converted so that they do not grant any voting rights, all as known to the Company;

(D) Any other details which are required or permitted to be registered in the Shareholders’ Register or the Companies Law or 
these Articles.

144. The Company may manage an additional shareholders’ register outside of Israel.

145. The Shareholders’ Register shall be prima facie evidence of its contents thereof. If there is any conflict between any registration in 
the Shareholders’ Register and the share certificate, the evidentiary weight of the Shareholders’ Register shall be preferred over 
the evidentiary weight of the share certificate.

Notices

146. Notice to convene a General Meeting shall be provided according to section 62.
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147. (A) Notices under the law which the Company must furnish to the Registered Shareholders in the Shareholders’ Register, subject 
to section 62 above, may be by way of personal delivery to the Shareholders or may be sent to the last address that was 
provided to the Company. If a notice was delivered by mail, the notice shall be deemed delivered – if sent to an address in 
Israel within seventy-two (72) hours from its date of delivery, and if sent abroad – within ten (10) days from its date of 
delivery;

(B) The Company may deliver notices to Shareholders, whether they hold Shares in their name or bearer securities, through 
publishing the notice in two daily widespread newspapers published in Hebrew or the Company’s website, as prescribed by 
law.

The provisions of subclause (a) shall not apply when the Company selected to provide notice as set forth in this subclause (b), 
unless an express obligation by virtue of the law to publish the notice in a different manner applies;

(C) Nothing contained in sub-clauses (a) and (b) above, shall impose any obligation on the Company to provide notice to anyone 
who did not provide the Company with an address in Israel.

148. A Shareholder shall be deemed to have not provided the Company with an address in each of the following instances:

(A) When the Company sent a letter to the last known address provided by registered mail in which he was requested to approved 
that the address is still his address or inform the Company of a new address, and the Company did not receive any response 
within thirty (30) days from the date of delivery;

(B) When the Company sent a letter to the last known address provided by registered mail, and the Israeli Post Office – after 
returning the letter or did not do so – notified the Company that he is no longer present at said address or for any similar 
reason.

149. When there are joint holders of a Share, the Company may furnish notice to the partner whose name appears first in the 
Shareholders’ Register.

150. Any document or notice furnished by the Company in accordance with the provisions of these Articles shall be deemed to have 
been duly delivered even if the Shareholder dies, was bankrupt or liquidated (irrespective of whether the Company was aware of 
such or not) to the extent that no one else was registered as a Shareholder in his place, and furnishing and delivery it for any 
purpose shall be deemed sufficient for any Person interested in the Shares.

Liquidation of the Company

151. Upon the liquidation of the Company, whether by way of voluntarily liquidation or otherwise, and unless otherwise expressly 
determined in these Articles or issuance terms of any Share, the following provisions shall apply:

(A) The liquidator will first use all the Company’s assets for the repayment of its obligations (the Company’s assets after payment 
of the debts shall be referred to as the “Surplus Assets”);

(B) Subject to special rights attached to the Shares, the liquidator shall distribute the Surplus Assets among the Shareholders, pro 
rata, to the nominal value of the Shares;

(C) Upon the Company’s approval of a resolution adopted by a majority of the votes of the Shareholders at the General Meeting, 
the liquidator may divide the Surplus Assets of the Company, or any part thereof, between the Shareholders, in kind, and 
deliver any asset of the Surplus Assets deposited in trust to the trustee for the Shareholders, as the liquidator shall deem 
appropriate.

Exemption from Liability

152. (A) The Company may exempt ex ante any officer from any liability, in whole or in part, due to any damages following a duty of 
care owed to it:

(B) Notwithstanding the foregoing in subsection (a), the Company shall not be permitted to exempt ex ante a Director from 
liability owed to it due to any breach of duty of care towards it resulting from distribution, as defined in the Companies Law.
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Insuring Liability

153. The Company may be a party to an agreement for the insurance of the liability of an officer due to a liability imposed on him due 
to an action he had performed in his capacity as an Officer, in whole or in part, in any one of the following:

(A) A breach of the duty of care owed to the Company or any other Person;

(B) A breach of a fiduciary duty owed to it, provided that the officer acted in good faith and has reasonable basis to assume that 
such act would not prejudice the interests of the Company;

(C) A monetary obligation that will be imposed on him in favor of another Person;

(D) Any other action permitted by insurance according to any law.

154. Without derogating from the foregoing in section 153 above, the Company may engage in a contract for the insurance of the 
liability of an officer where the payments or expenses entailed therein shall be borne by the officer, as the case may be, as follows:

(A) Expenses incurred by the officer in connection with a “proceeding” conducted in his matter, including reasonable litigations 
costs, which include attorneys’ fees;

For the purposes of this section, “proceeding” – any proceeding according to Chapters H-3, H-4 and I-1of the Securities Law 
and a proceeding according to Article 4 , Chapter 7, Part 9 of the Companies Law.

(B) Payment to an injured party for a breach according to Section 52(54)(a)(1)(a) of the Securities Law and Chapter H-4 of the 
Securities Law.

Indemnification

155. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, the Company may indemnify an officer ex post facto for any liability or expense 
as set forth in paragraphs (a) – (f) below, imposed on him or that was spent due to an action he had performed within his capacity 
as an officer of the Company:

(A) A monetary obligation imposed on him in favor of another Person according to any judgment, included a judgment issued as a 
settlement or an arbitrator’s award approved by a court;

(B) Reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys’ fees, expended by the officer due to an investigation or proceeding 
instituted against him by an authority qualified to administrate such investigation or proceeding, and which concluded without 
filing an indictment and without imposing any financial obligation in lieu of a criminal proceeding, or that concluded without 
filing an indictment however a financial obligation was imposed in lieu of a criminal proceeding for a crime that does not 
require proof of mens rea or in connection a monetary sanction; in this section –

“Conclusion of proceedings without the filing of an indictment in a matter in which a criminal investigation has been opened” 
shall mean the file was closed according to Section 62 of the Criminal Procedure Law [Consolidated Version], 5742 – 1982 
(in this subclause – the Criminal Procedure Law) or a stay of proceedings by the attorney general according to Section 231 of 
the Criminal Procedure Law;

“Financial obligation in lieu of criminal proceedings” – a monetary duty imposed by the Law in lieu of criminal proceedings, 
including an administrative fine according to the Administrative Offenses Law, 5746 – 1986, a fine for an offense prescribed 
as an offensive fine according to the provisions of the Criminal Procedure Law, monetary sanction, or ransom;
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(C) Reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys’ fees, expended by the officer, or charged upon the officer by a court, in a 
proceeding instituted against the officer by the Company, or on its behalf or by another Person, or in any criminal proceedings 
in which the officer is acquitted, or in any criminal proceedings of a crime which does not require proof of mens rea.

(D) Expenses spent in connection with a “proceeding” as defined in section 154 (a) above, that was conducted in his mater, 
including reasonable litigation expenses and attorneys’ fees.

(E) Payment to an injured party for a breach according to Section 52(54)(a)(1)(a) of the Securities Law and Chapter H-4 of the 
Securities Law.

(F) Any other duty or expense that may be indemnified by law.

156. The Company may undertake to indemnify its officer, ex ante, resulting from any liability or expense as detailed in section 155(b) 
– 155(f) above. The Company may also undertake, ex ante, provided that the indemnification undertaking to indemnify its officer, 
ex ante, as detailed in section 155(a) above, provided that it shall be limited to events that the Board of Directors believes may be 
anticipated in light of the Company’s actual activities at such time when the indemnification undertaking is granted and according 
to such amount or criteria that the Board of Directors had determined as reasonable under the circumstances and that the 
indemnification undertaking will detail the events that the Board of Directors believes may be anticipated in light of the 
Company’s actual activities at such time that the indemnification undertaking is granted and according to such amount or criteria 
that the Board of Directors had determined as reasonable under the circumstances.

157. In any event, the total and cumulative indemnification amount that the Company shall be obligated to pay (in addition to amounts 
that shall be received from an insurance company, if such amounts shall be received, within the framework of D&O Insurance 
acquired and maintained by the Company, if so acquired) for all the Company’s officers, in aggregate, shall not exceed an amount 
that equals 25% percent of the Company’s capital, according to the Company’s last consolidated financial statements that were 
published prior to the actual grant of indemnification.

The Company’s Charges

158. (A) The signature of any Person appointed from time to time by the Board of Directors, whether in general or for a specific 
matter, alone or together with other Persons, together with the Company’s stamp or its printed name shall bind the Company;

(C) The Board of Directors may determine separate signature rights for the Company’s different businesses and for certain 
amounts which said Persons are authorized to sign.

Amending the Articles

159. The Company may amend these Articles by way of resolution adopted by an ordinary majority at the General Meeting.
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Exhibit 2.1

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
REGISTERED UNDER SECTION 12 OF THE EXCHANGE ACT

General

Our authorized share capital consists of 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.01 per share, of which 415,103,076 ordinary 
shares were issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024.

All of our outstanding ordinary shares are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. Our ordinary shares are not redeemable and do not 
have any preemptive rights.

Registration number and purposes of the company

Our registration number with the Israeli Registrar of Companies is 515154607. Our purpose as set forth in our articles of association is to 
engage in any lawful activity.

Voting rights and conversion

All ordinary shares will have identical voting and other rights in all respects.

Transfer of shares

Our fully-paid ordinary shares are issued in registered form and may be freely transferred under our articles of association, unless the 
transfer is restricted or prohibited by another instrument, applicable law or the rules of a stock exchange on which the shares are listed for 
trade. The ownership or voting of our ordinary shares by non-residents of Israel is not restricted in any way by our articles of association or 
the laws of the State of Israel, except for ownership by nationals of some countries that are, or have been, in a state of war with Israel.

Election of directors

On February 17, 2025, at the special meeting of shareholders, our shareholders approved an amendment of our Amended and Restated 
Articles of Association and the division of the Board of Directors of the Company into staggered three-year terms.

Our ordinary shares do not have cumulative voting rights for the election of directors. As a result, the holders of a majority of the voting 
power represented at a shareholders meeting have the power to elect the successors to the directors in the staggered class whose terms have 
expired., subject to the special approval requirements for external directors under the Israeli Companies Law 5759-1999, as amended, or the 
Companies Law, and all the regulation under the Companies Law described under “Management — External directors.”



Under our articles of association, our board of directors must consist of no less than three but no more than 12 directors, including external 
directors. Pursuant to our articles of association, other than the external directors, for whom special election requirements apply under the 
Companies Law, the vote required to appoint a director is a simple majority vote of holders of our voting shares participating and voting at 
the relevant meeting.

In addition, our articles of association allow our board of directors to appoint new directors to fill in vacancies which can occur for any 
reason or as additional directors, provided that the number of board members shall not exceed the maximum number of directors mentioned 
above. The appointment of a director by the board shall be in effect until the following annual general meeting of the shareholders or until 
the end of the director’s tenure in accordance with our articles of association.

Our external directors have a term of office of three years under Israeli law and may be elected for up to two additional three-year terms. 
Under certain circumstances, and pursuant to reliefs granted under regulations promulgated under Companies Law, they may be re-elected 
for additional three-year terms beyond this limit. External directors may be removed from office only under the limited circumstances set 
forth in the Companies Law. See “— External directors” for a description of the procedure for the election and dismissal of external 
directors.

Dividend and liquidation rights

We may declare a dividend to be paid to the holders of our ordinary shares in proportion to their respective shareholdings. Under the 
Companies Law, dividend distributions are determined by the board of directors and do not require the approval of the shareholders of a 
company unless the company’s articles of association provide otherwise. Our articles of association do not require shareholder approval of 
a dividend distribution and provide that dividend distributions may be determined by our board of directors.

Pursuant to the Companies Law, the distribution amount is limited to the greater of retained earnings or earnings generated over the 
previous two years, according to our then last reviewed or audited financial statements, provided that the date of the financial statements is 
not more than six months prior to the date of the distribution, or we may distribute dividends that do not meet such criteria only with court 
approval. In each case, we are only permitted to distribute a dividend if our board of directors and the court, if applicable, determines that 
there is no reasonable concern that payment of the dividend will prevent us from satisfying our existing and foreseeable obligations as they 
become due. As of December 31, 2024, we did not have distributable earnings pursuant to the Companies Law.

In the event of our liquidation, after satisfaction of liabilities to creditors, our assets will be distributed to the holders of our ordinary shares 
in proportion to their shareholdings. This right, as well as the right to receive dividends, may be affected by the grant of preferential 
dividend or distribution rights to the holders of a class of shares with preferential rights that may be authorized in the future. For more 
information, see “Dividend Policy.”
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Exchange controls

There are currently no Israeli currency control restrictions on remittances of dividends on our ordinary shares, proceeds from the sale of the 
shares or interest or other payments to non-residents of Israel.

Shareholder meetings

Under Israeli law, we are required to hold an annual general meeting of our shareholders once each calendar year that must be held no later 
than 15 months after the date of the previous annual general meeting. All general meetings other than the annual meeting of shareholders 
are referred to in our articles of association as special meetings. Our board of directors may call special meetings whenever it sees fit, at 
such time and place, within or outside of Israel, as it may determine. In addition, the Companies Law provides that our board of directors is 
required to convene a special meeting upon the written request of (i) any two of our directors or one-quarter of the members of our board of 
directors or (ii) one or more shareholders holding, in the aggregate, either (a) 5% or more of our outstanding issued shares and 1% or more 
of our outstanding voting power or (b) 5% or more of our outstanding voting power.

Under Israeli law, one or more shareholders holding at least 1% of the voting rights at the general meeting may request that the board of 
directors include a matter in the agenda of a general meeting to be convened in the future, provided that it is appropriate to discuss such a 
matter at the general meeting. Also, one or more shareholders holding at least 5% of our voting rights may request that we convene an 
extraordinary general meeting of shareholders.

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law and the regulations promulgated thereunder, shareholders entitled to participate and vote at 
general meetings are the shareholders of record on a date to be decided by the board of directors, which may be between no less than 4 days 
and no more than 60 days prior to the date of the meeting. Furthermore, the Companies Law requires that resolutions regarding the 
following matters must be passed at a general meeting of our shareholders:

● amendments to our articles of association;

● appointment or termination of our auditors;

● appointment of external directors;

● approval of certain related party transactions;

● increases or reductions of our authorized share capital;

● mergers; and

● the exercise of our board of director’s powers by a general meeting, if our board of directors is unable to exercise its powers and 
the exercise of any of its powers is required for our proper management.

Under our articles of association, we are required to publish notice of any annual or special general meeting in two widely-published, 
Hebrew-language daily newspapers, or on our website and are not required to give notice of any annual general meeting or special general 
meeting to our registered shareholders, unless otherwise required by law. The Companies Law requires that a notice of any annual general 
meeting or special general meeting be provided to our shareholders at least 21 days prior to the meeting and if the agenda of the meeting 
includes the appointment or removal of directors, the approval of transactions with office holders or interested or related parties, or an 
approval of a merger, or as otherwise required under applicable law, notice must be provided at least 35 days prior to the meeting. Under 
the Companies Law, shareholders are not permitted to take action by written consent in lieu of a meeting.
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Voting rights

Quorum requirements

Pursuant to our articles of association, holders of our ordinary shares have one vote for each ordinary share held on all matters submitted to 
a vote before the shareholders at a general meeting. The quorum required for our general meetings of shareholders consists of at least two 
shareholders present in person, by proxy or written ballot who hold or represent between them at least 25% of the total outstanding voting 
rights. A meeting adjourned for lack of a quorum is generally adjourned to the next week at the same time and place or to a different time 
or date if so specified in the notice of the meeting. At the reconvened meeting, any number of shareholders present in person or by proxy 
shall constitute a lawful quorum, instead of 25% otherwise required by the Companies Law.

Vote requirements

Our articles of association provide that all resolutions of our shareholders require a simple majority vote, unless otherwise required by the 
Companies Law or by our articles of association. In addition, an affirmative vote of 75% of the voting power represented at a general 
meeting and voting thereon, disregarding abstentions from the count of the voting power present and voting, provided that the quorum is 
not less than 25% (and at an adjourned meeting, which shall be convened if applicable one day thereafter, not less than 20%) of the 
Company’s then issued and outstanding share capital, is required to amend our Article 86 of our Articles of Association, which governs the 
election and removal of directors within the framework of a staggered board structure.. Under the Companies Law, each of (i) the approval 
of an extraordinary transaction with a controlling shareholder and (ii) the terms of employment or other engagement of the controlling 
shareholder of the company or such controlling shareholder’s relative (even if not extraordinary) requires the approval described above 
under “Management — Fiduciary duties and approval of related-party transactions — Approval of related-party transactions.” Certain 
transactions with respect to remuneration of our office holders and directors require further approvals described above under “Management 
— Fiduciary duties and approval of related-party transactions — Director and officer compensation.” Under our articles of association, any 
change to the rights and privileges of the holders of any class of our shares requires a simple majority of the class so affected (or such other 
percentage of the relevant class that may be set forth in the governing documents relevant to such class), in addition to the ordinary 
majority vote of all classes of shares voting together as a single class at a shareholder meeting. Another exception to the simple majority 
vote requirement is a resolution for the voluntary winding up, or an approval of a scheme of arrangement or reorganization, of the company 
pursuant to Section 350 of the Companies Law, which requires the approval of holders of 75% of the voting rights represented at the 
meeting, in person, by proxy or by voting deed and voting on the resolution.
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Access to corporate records

Under the Companies Law, shareholders are entitled to access to minutes of our general meetings, our shareholders register and principal 
shareholders register, our articles of association, our financial statements and any document that we are required by law to file publicly with 
the Israel Securities Authority. In addition, shareholders may request any document related to an action or transaction requiring shareholder 
approval under the related-party transaction provisions of the Companies Law. We may deny this request if we believe it has not been made 
in good faith or if such denial is necessary to protect our interest or protect a trade secret or patent.

Shareholder duties

Under the Companies Law, a shareholder has a duty to act in good faith and customary manner toward the company and other shareholders 
and to refrain from abusing its power in the company. This duty applies, among other things, when voting at a meeting of shareholders on 
an amendment to the articles of association, an increase of the authorized share capital, a merger or certain related-party transactions.

In addition, certain shareholders have a duty of fairness toward the company. These shareholders include any controlling shareholder, any 
shareholder that knows that it possesses the power to determine the outcome of a shareholder vote and any shareholder who, under our 
articles of association, has the power to appoint or to prevent the appointment of a director or officer of the company or to exercise another 
power with respect to the company. The Companies Law does not define the substance of this duty of fairness. However, a shareholder’s 
breach of the duty of fairness is subject to laws regarding breaches of contracts and takes into account the status of such shareholder with 
respect to the company.

Acquisitions under Israeli law

Full tender offer

A person wishing to acquire shares of a publicly-traded company incorporated in Israel, and who would, as a result, hold over 90% of the 
target company’s issued and outstanding share capital is required by the Companies Law to make a tender offer to all of the company’s 
shareholders for the purchase of all of the issued and outstanding shares of the company. If the shareholders who do not accept the offer 
hold less than 5% of the issued and outstanding share capital of the company, and more than half of the shareholders who do not have a 
personal interest in the offer accept the offer, all of the shares that the acquirer offered to purchase will be transferred to the acquirer by 
operation of law. However, a tender offer will also be accepted if the shareholders who do not accept the offer hold less than 2% of the 
issued and outstanding share capital of the company or of the applicable class of shares.

Upon a successful completion of such a full tender offer, any shareholder that was an offeree in such tender offer, whether or not such 
shareholder accepted the tender offer, may, within six months from the date of acceptance of the tender offer, petition an Israeli court to 
determine whether the tender offer was for less than fair value and that the fair value should be paid as determined by the court. However, 
under certain conditions, the offeror may include in the terms of the tender offer that an offeree who accepted the offer will not be entitled 
to petition the Israeli court as described above.

If a tender offer is not accepted in accordance with the requirements set forth above, the acquirer may not acquire shares from shareholders 
who accepted the tender offer that will increase its holdings to more than 90% of the company’s issued and outstanding share capital or of 
the applicable class.
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Special tender offer

The Companies Law provides that an acquisition of shares in a public company must be made by means of a tender offer if, as a result of 
the acquisition, the purchaser would become a holder of 25% of the voting rights in the company, unless there is already a person holding 
25% of the voting rights in the company. Similarly, the Companies Law provides that an acquisition of shares in a public company must be 
made by means of a tender offer if, as a result of the acquisition, the purchaser would become a holder of more than 45% of the voting 
rights in the company, unless there is already a person holding more than 45% of the voting rights in the company. These requirements do 
not apply if the acquisition (i) occurs in the context of a private placement by the company that received shareholder approval or (ii) was 
from a 25% or 45% shareholder, as the case may be. The tender offer must be extended to all shareholders, but the offeror is not required to 
purchase more than 5% of the company’s outstanding shares, regardless of how many shares are tendered by shareholders. The tender offer 
generally may be consummated only if (i) at least 5% of the voting rights in the company will be acquired by the offeror and (ii) the 
number of shares tendered in the offer exceeds the number of shares whose holders objected to the offer.

Merger

The Companies Law permits merger transactions if approved by each party’s board of directors and, unless certain requirements described 
under the Companies Law are met, by a majority vote of each party’s shares.

Special rules govern a merger with an acquiror that is already affiliated with the target. Unless a court rules otherwise, the merger must also 
be approved by at least 50% of the votes of the shares of the target that are held by the shareholders other than (i) the acquiror and (ii) any 
person (or group of persons acting in concert) who holds 25% or more of the voting rights of the acquiror, or the right to appoint 25% or 
more of the directors of the acquiror. If, however, the merger involves a merger with a company’s own controlling shareholder or if the 
controlling shareholder has a personal interest in the merger, then the merger is instead subject to the same special majority approval that 
governs all extraordinary transactions with controlling shareholders (as described under “Management — Fiduciary duties and approval of 
related-party transactions— Approval of related-party transactions”). If the transaction would have been approved by the shareholders of a 
merging company but for the exclusion of the votes of certain shareholders as provided above, a court may still approve the merger upon 
the request of holders of at least 25% of the voting rights of a company, if the court holds that the merger is fair and reasonable, taking into 
account the value to the parties to the merger and the consideration offered to the shareholders of the company.

Upon the request of a creditor of either party to the proposed merger, the court may delay or prevent the merger if it concludes that there 
exists a reasonable concern that, as a result of the merger, the surviving company will be unable to satisfy the obligations of the merging 
entities, and may further give instructions to secure the rights of creditors.
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In addition, a merger may not be consummated unless at least 50 days have passed from the date on which a proposal for approval of the 
merger was filed by each party with the Israeli Registrar of Companies and at least 30 days have passed from the date on which the merger 
was approved by the shareholders of each party.

Borrowing powers

Pursuant to the Companies Law and our articles of association, our board of directors may exercise all powers and take all actions that are 
not required under law or under our articles of association to be exercised or taken by our shareholders, including the power to borrow 
money for company purposes.

Changes in capital

Our articles of association enable us to increase or reduce our share capital. Any such changes are subject to the provisions of the 
Companies Law and must be approved by a resolution duly passed by our shareholders at a general meeting. In addition, transactions that 
have the effect of reducing capital, such as the declaration and payment of dividends in the absence of sufficient retained earnings or 
profits, require the approval of both our board of directors and an Israeli court.

American Depositary Shares

Name of the Depositary

The Bank of New York Mellon, as depositary, will register and deliver our ADSs. Each ADS will represent five ordinary shares (or a right 
to receive three ordinary shares) deposited with Bank Leumi, as custodian for the depositary in Israel. Each ADS will also represent any 
other securities, cash or other property which may be held by the depositary. The depositary’s office at which our ADSs will be 
administered is located at the depositary’s principal executive office, at 240 Greenwich Street, New York, N.Y. 10286.

The form of the deposit agreement for our ADSs and the form of American Depositary Receipt that represents an ADS have been 
incorporated by reference as exhibits in our most recent Annual Report on Form 20-F.

Fees and Expenses

Persons depositing or withdrawing ordinary
shares or ADS holders must pay For

$5.00 (or less) per 100 ADSs (or portion of 100 ADSs) Issuance of ADSs, including issuances resulting from a distribution 
of ordinary shares or rights or other property Cancellation of ADSs 
for the purpose of withdrawal, including if the deposit agreement 
terminates

$.05 (or less) per ADS Any cash distribution to ADS holders
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Persons depositing or withdrawing ordinary 
shares or ADS holders must pay For

A fee equivalent to the fee that would be payable if securities 
distributed to you had been ordinary shares and the ordinary shares 
had been deposited for issuance of ADSs

Distribution of securities distributed to holders of deposited 
securities (including rights) that are distributed by the depositary to 
ADS holders

$.05 (or less) per ADS per calendar year Depositary services

Registration or transfer fees Transfer and registration of ordinary shares on our share register to 
or from the name of the depositary or its agent when you deposit or 
withdraw ordinary shares

Expenses of the depositary Cable, telex and facsimile transmissions (when expressly provided 
in the deposit agreement) converting foreign currency to U.S. 
dollars

Taxes and other governmental charges the depositary or the 
custodian has to pay on any ADSs or ordinary shares underlying 
ADSs, such as stock transfer taxes, stamp duty or withholding taxes

As necessary

Any charges incurred by the depositary or its agents for servicing 
the deposited securities

As necessary

The depositary collects its fees for delivery and surrender of ADSs directly from investors depositing ordinary shares or surrendering ADSs 
for the purpose of withdrawal or from intermediaries acting for them. The depositary collects fees for making distributions to investors by 
deducting those fees from the amounts distributed or by selling a portion of distributable property to pay the fees. The depositary may 
collect its annual fee for depositary services by deduction from cash distributions or by directly billing investors or by charging the book-
entry system accounts of participants acting for them. The depositary may collect any of its fees by deduction from any cash distribution 
payable (or by selling a portion of securities or other property distributable) to ADS holders that are obligated to pay those fees. The 
depositary may generally refuse to provide fee-attracting services until its fees for those services are paid.

From time to time, the depositary may make payments to us to reimburse us for costs and expenses generally arising out of establishment 
and maintenance of the ADS program, waive fees and expenses for services provided to us by the depositary or share revenue from the fees 
collected from ADS holders. In performing its duties under the deposit agreement, the depositary may use brokers, dealers, foreign 
currency or other service providers that are owned by or affiliated with the depositary and that may earn or share fees, spreads or 
commissions.
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IPO Warrants

On June 7, 2022, we closed our initial public offering in the United States of 2,941,918 units, each consisting of one ADS and one warrant 
to purchase one ADS, and 208,282 pre-funded units, each consisting of one pre-funded warrant to purchase one ADS and one warrant to 
purchase one ADS, at a price to the public of $4.13 per unit ($4.129 per pre-funded unit), for gross proceeds of approximately $13 million, 
before deducting underwriting discounts and offering expenses. As of December 31, 2024, after taking into account the changes in the 
Company’s ADS ratio, the number of Warrants exercisable for one ADS are 12,258 at an exercise price of $1,200.

The following summary of certain terms and provisions of the warrants offered in our initial public offering in the United States is not 
complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by, the provisions of the warrant agent agreement between us and , as warrant agent, 
and the form of warrant, both of which are filed as exhibits 10.3 and 10.4, respectively, to our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal 
year ended December 31, 2024.

Exercisability. The warrants are exercisable at any time after June 7, 2022 until the close of business on June 7, 2027. The warrants will be 
exercisable, at the option of each holder, in whole or in part by delivering to us a duly executed exercise notice and, at any time a 
registration statement registering the issuance of the ordinary shares underlying the warrants under the Securities Act is effective and 
available for the issuance of such shares, by payment in full in immediately available funds for the number of ordinary shares purchased 
upon such exercise. If a registration statement registering the issuance of the ordinary shares underlying the warrants under the Securities 
Act is not effective or available the holder may, in its sole discretion, elect to exercise the warrant through a cashless exercise, in which 
case the holder would receive upon such exercise the net number of ordinary shares determined according to the formula set forth in the 
warrant. No fractional shares will be issued in connection with the exercise of a warrant. In lieu of fractional shares, we will pay the holder 
an amount in cash equal to the fractional amount multiplied by the exercise price.

Exercise Limitation. A holder will not have the right to exercise any portion of the warrant if the holder (together with its affiliates) would 
beneficially own in excess of 4.99% of the number of ordinary shares outstanding immediately after giving effect to the exercise, as such 
percentage ownership is determined in accordance with the terms of the warrants. However, any holder may increase or decrease such 
percentage to any other percentage not in excess of 9.99%, provided that any increase in such percentage shall not be effective until 61 days 
following notice from the holder to us.

Exercise Price. The original exercise price per whole ADS purchasable upon exercise of the warrants was $5.00 per ADS. After taking into 
account the changes in the Company’s ADS ratio, the exercise price per whole ADS purchasable upon exercise of the warrants is $1,200. 
The exercise price is subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of certain stock dividends and distributions, stock splits, stock 
combinations, reclassifications or similar events affecting our ordinary shares and also upon any distributions of assets, including cash, 
stock or other property to our stockholders.

Transferability. Subject to applicable laws, the warrants may be offered for sale, sold, transferred or assigned without our consent.

Exchange Listing. Our warrants are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market, under the symbol “SVREW”.
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Warrant Agent. The warrants will be issued in registered form under a warrant agent agreement between Computershare Limited, as 
warrant agent, and us. The warrants shall initially be represented only by one or more global warrants deposited with the warrant agent, as 
custodian on behalf of The Depository Trust Company, or DTC, and registered in the name of Cede & Co., a nominee of DTC, or as 
otherwise directed by DTC.

Fundamental Transactions. In the event of a fundamental transaction, as described in the warrants and generally including any 
reorganization, recapitalization or reclassification of our ordinary shares, the sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of 
our properties or assets, our consolidation or merger with or into another person, the acquisition of more than 50% of our outstanding 
ordinary shares, or any person or group becoming the beneficial owner of 50% of the voting power represented by our outstanding ordinary 
shares, the holders of the warrants will be entitled to receive upon exercise of the warrants the kind and amount of securities, cash or other 
property that the holders would have received had they exercised the warrants immediately prior to such fundamental transaction without 
regard to any limitations on exercised contained in the warrants.

Rights as a Stockholder. Except as otherwise provided in the warrants or by virtue of such holder’s ownership of our ordinary shares, the 
holder of a warrant does not have the rights or privileges of a holder of our ordinary shares, including any voting rights, until the holder 
exercises the warrant.

Governing Law. The warrants are governed by New York law.

IPO Representative’s Warrants

As part of our IPO, we issued to the representative as compensation warrants to purchase up to 157,510 ADSs representing 787,550 
ordinary shares, which were equal to 5% of the total number of ADSs (including any ADSs underlying the pre-funded warrants) sold in our 
IPO. After taking into account the changes in the Company’s ADS ratio, there are 657 Representative’s Warrants, which are exercisable at 
a per ADS exercise price of $1,239.29. The Representative’s Warrants are exercisable at any time after December 2, 2022 until the close of 
business on June 2, 2027.

January 2025 Funding

On January 30, 2025, we entered into securities purchase agreements (the “Purchase Agreements”) with certain institutional investors 
(collectively, the “Investors”), pursuant to which on January 31, 2025, at the closing, the Company sold to the Investors in the registered 
direct offering an aggregate of 195,428,970 ordinary shares, represented by 162,899 American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”), at an offering 
price of $9.331 per ADS. The ADSs were sold pursuant to a prospectus supplement dated January 30, 2025, filed by the Company on 
January 31, 2025 with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), in connection with a takedown from the Company’s shelf 
registration statement on Form F-3 (File No. 333-274458), which became effective by the SEC on September 27, 2023, and the base 
prospectus dated as of September 27, 2023 contained in such registration statement.

In addition, at the losing, the Company offered and sold to the Investors in a concurrent private placement pursuant to the Purchase 
Agreements (the “Private Placement”), unregistered warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 390,857,940 ordinary shares represented by 
325,797 ADS with each Private Placement Warrant having the right to purchase 1 Ordinary Share.

Exercisability: The Private Placement Warrants became exercisable on February 16, 2025, and continue to be exercisable through February 
16, 2027. The warrants will be exercisable, at the option of each holder, in whole or in part by delivering to us a duly executed exercise 
notice and, at any time a registration statement registering the issuance of the ordinary shares underlying the warrants under the Securities 
Act is effective and available for the issuance of such shares, by payment in full in immediately available funds for the number of ordinary 
shares purchased upon such exercise. If a registration statement registering the issuance of the ordinary shares underlying the warrants 
under the Securities Act is not effective or available the holder may, in its sole discretion, elect to exercise the warrant through a cashless 
exercise, in which case the holder would receive upon such exercise the net number of ordinary shares determined according to the formula 
set forth in the warrant. No fractional shares will be issued in connection with the exercise of a warrant. In lieu of fractional shares, we will 
pay the holder an amount in cash equal to the fractional amount multiplied by the exercise price
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Exercise Price. The exercise price of the Warrants is $10.664 per ADS, subject to customary adjustment in the event of certain stock 
dividends and distributions, stock splits, stock combinations, reclassifications or similar events affecting the Ordinary Shares and also upon 
any distributions of assets, including cash, stock or other property to the stockholders of the Company.

Exercise Limitation. A holder will not have the right to exercise any portion of the warrant if the holder (together with its affiliates) would 
beneficially own in excess of 4.99% of the number of ordinary shares outstanding immediately after giving effect to the exercise, as such 
percentage ownership is determined in accordance with the terms of the warrants. However, any holder may increase or decrease such 
percentage to any other percentage not in excess of 9.99%, provided that any increase in such percentage shall not be effective until 61 days 
following notice from the holder to us.

Transferability. Subject to applicable laws, the warrants may be offered for sale, sold, transferred or assigned without our consent.

January 2025 Funding Representative Warrants

At the Closing, the Company issued to the Placement Agent warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 13,680,000 ordinary shares, 
represented by 11,403 ADSs at an exercise price of $11.66375 per ADS (the “Placement Agent Warrants”). Otherwise, the Placement 
Agent Warrants have the same terms as the Private Placement Warrants, except that the term of the Placement Agent Warrants will not be 
longer than five (5) years following the commencement of the sales in the Registered Direct Offering.
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Exhibit 11.1

SAVERONE 2014 LTD.

INSIDER TRADING POLICY

This Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) sets forth the policy for directors, officers, employees, consultants and contractors of SaverOne 
2014 Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) with respect to transactions in the Company’s securities or securities of certain other 
publicly traded companies while in possession of confidential information.

Applicability of Policy

This Policy applies to all transactions in the Company’s Securities, including common shares, preferred shares, restricted shares or units, 
options and warrants for common shares, bonds and any other securities the Company may issue from time to time, such as convertible 
debentures and other derivative securities relating to the Company’s shares, whether or not issued by the Company, such as exchange-
traded options (the “Company’s Securities”). It applies to all directors, officers, employees, consultants and contractors of the Company as 
well as members of their immediate families, members of their households and corporations under their control (collectively, “Insiders”). 
Directors, officers, employees, consultants and contractors of the Company are responsible for ensuring that members of their immediate 
families and members of their households comply with this Policy. This Policy also applies to any person who receives Material Non-
Public Information (as defined below) from any Insider.

General Policy

It is against Company policy for any Insider to make an unauthorized disclosure of any nonpublic information acquired in the work-place 
or as a result of their position with the Company. It is also against Company policy for any Insider to misuse Material Nonpublic 
Information in securities trading. The Company has established procedures for releasing material information in a manner that is designed 
to achieve broad public dissemination of the information to the public immediately upon its release. As a director, officer, employee, 
consultant or contractor of the Company, you may not, therefore, disclose information to anyone outside the Company, including family 
members and friends. You also may not discuss the Company or its business in an internet “chat room” or similar internet-based forum.

Specific Policies

1. Trading on Material Nonpublic Information

No Insider shall engage in any transaction involving a purchase or sale of the Company’s Securities, including any offer to purchase or 
offer to sell, during any period commencing with the date that he or she possesses Material Nonpublic Information concerning the 
Company, and ending at the commencement of trading on the next Trading day following two full Trading days following the date of 
public disclosure of that information, or at such time as such nonpublic information is no longer material. As used herein, the term “Trading 
Day” shall mean a day on which the Nasdaq stock market is open for trading.

Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an emergency expenditure) 
are not excepted from the Policy. The securities laws do not recognize such mitigating circumstances, and, in any event, even the 
appearance of an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve the Company’s reputation for adhering to the highest standards of 
conduct.



2. Short Sales

No Insider shall engage in a short sale of the Company’s Securities. A short sale is in general a sale of securities not owned by the seller. 
Transactions in certain put and call options for the Company’s Securities may in some instances constitute a short sale. Short sales may 
evidence an expectation on the part of the seller that the securities will decline in value, and therefore have the potential to signal to the 
market that the seller lacks confidence in the Company’s prospects. In addition, short sales may reduce a seller’s incentive to seek to 
improve the Company’s performance.

3. Publicly Traded Options

A transaction in publicly-traded options to purchase or sell the Company’s Securities is, in effect, a bet on the short-term movement of the 
Company’s Securities and therefore may create the appearance that the director, officer, employee, consultant or contractor of the Company 
is trading based on inside information. Transactions in options also may focus the Insider’s attention on short-term performance at the 
expense of the Company’s long-term objectives. Accordingly, transactions in puts, calls or other derivative securities, on an exchange or in 
any other organized market, by any Insider are prohibited by this Policy. Option positions arising from certain types of hedging transactions 
are governed by the section below captioned “Hedging Transactions.

4. Standing Orders

Standing orders should be used only for a very brief period of time. A standing order placed with a broker to sell or purchase securities at a 
specified price leaves you with no control over the timing of the transaction. A standing order transaction executed by the broker when you 
are aware of Material Nonpublic Information may result in unlawful insider trading. Transactions pursuant to a plan adopted in accordance 
with Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), discussed below, may be excepted from this 
prohibition against standing orders.

5. Hedging Transactions

Certain forms of hedging or monetization transactions, such as zero-cost collars and forward sale contracts, allow an employee to lock in 
much of the value of his or her share holdings, often in exchange for all or part of the potential for upside appreciation in the shares. These 
transactions allow the Insider to continue to own the securities, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, 
Insider may no longer have the same objectives as the Company’s other shareholders. Any person wishing to enter into such an 
arrangement must first pre-clear the proposed transaction with the Chief Financial Officer. Any request for pre-clearance of a hedging or 
similar arrangement must be submitted to the Chief Financial Officer at least two weeks prior to the proposed execution of documents 
evidencing the proposed transaction and must set forth a justification for the proposed transaction. The Chief Financial Officer may decline 
any request in his or her sole discretion.

6. Margin Accounts and Pledges

Securities held in a margin account may be sold by the broker without the customer’s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. 
Similarly, securities pledged (or hypothecated) as collateral for a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. A 
margin or foreclosure sale that occurs when the pledgor is aware of Material Nonpublic Information may, under some circumstances, result 
in unlawful insider trading. Because of this danger, Insiders should exercise caution in holding the Company’s Securities in a margin 
account or pledging the Company’s Securities as collateral for a loan. In addition, certain directors and executive officers may be required 
to publicly disclose the amount of the Company’s Securities pledged as collateral for a loan.
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7. Short-Term Trading

Short-term trading of the Company’s Securities may be distracting to the person and may unduly focus the person on the Company’s short-
term stock market performance instead of the Company’s long-term business objectives. For these reasons, if you purchase or sell 
Company Securities, you may not conduct an opposite way transaction in any Company Securities of the same class for at least six (6) 
months after the purchase or sale, unless you first pre-clear the proposed transaction with the Chief Financial Officer.

8. Tipping

No Insider shall disclose (commonly known as a “tip”) Material Nonpublic Information to any other person (including family members) 
where such information may be used, or there is a reasonable basis to believe that such information may be used, by such person to his or 
her profit by trading (buying or selling) in the securities of companies to which such information relates, nor shall such person or related 
person make recommendations or express opinions on the basis of Material Nonpublic Information as to trading in the Company’s 
Securities.

9. Advice Concerning Trading

No Insider may give trading advice of any kind about the Company or the Company’s Securities to anyone while possessing Material 
Nonpublic information about the Company. An Insider should always advise others, preferably in writing or electronically, not to trade in 
the Company’s Securities if doing so might violate the law or this policy. The Company strongly discourages any Insider from giving 
trading advice concerning the Company’s Securities or the Company to third parties even when such persons do not possess Material 
Nonpublic information about the Company or the Company’s Securities.

10. Confidentiality of Nonpublic Information

Nonpublic information relating to the Company is the property of the Company and the unauthorized disclosure of such information is 
forbidden. In the event any Insider receives any inquiry for information from outside the Company, such as from a journalist, stock analyst 
or investor, the inquiry should be referred to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer or any designee of the Chief Executive Officer who is 
responsible for coordinating and overseeing the release of such information to the investing public, analysts and others in compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations.

11. Post-Termination Transactions

The Policy continues to apply to your transactions in the Company’s Securities even after you have terminated employment or cease to 
serve as an officer, director, consultant or contractor. If you are in possession of Material Nonpublic Information when your employment or 
other service to the Company terminates or ceases, you may not trade in the Company’s Securities until that information has become public 
or is no longer material.

Potential Criminal and Civil Liability and/or Disciplinary Action

1. Liability for Insider Trading

Pursuant to federal and state securities laws, any person violating U.S. insider trading laws may be subject to penalties of up to $5,000,000 
and up to 20 years in jail, or up to NIS 1,130,000 and up to 5 years under The Israeli Securities Law, 5728-1968 for engaging in 
transactions in the Company’s Securities at a time when they have knowledge of Material Nonpublic Information regarding the Company.
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Liability for Tipping

Insiders may also be liable for improper transactions by any person (commonly referred to as a “tippee”) to whom they have disclosed 
Material Nonpublic Information regarding the Company or to whom they have made recommendations or expressed opinions on the basis 
of such information as to trading in the Company’s Securities. The Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) has imposed large 
penalties even when the disclosing person did not profit from the trading. The SEC, the stock exchanges, and the Financial Industry 
Regulatory Authority use sophisticated electronic surveillance techniques to uncover insider trading. In recent years, criminal prosecution 
of insiders has become much more common, particularly when such persons were aware of their obligations under the securities laws and 
elected to ignore those obligations in acting on, or in tipping others concerning, Material Nonpublic Information.

2. Liability of Control Persons

If the Company or its supervisory personnel fail to take appropriate steps to prevent illegal insider trading, they may be subject to the 
following penalties:

(a) A civil penalty of up to $1,425,000 or, if greater, three times the profit gained or loss avoided as a result of the 
employee’s violation; and

(b) A criminal penalty of up to $5,000,000 and up to 20 years in jail for individuals and/or a fine of $25,000,000 for the 
Company.

3. Possible Disciplinary Actions

Insiders who violate this Policy may also be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, which may include ineligibility for future 
participation in the Company’s equity incentive plans or termination of employment.

Trading Guidelines and Requirements

1. Black-Out Periods and Trading Window

a. Financial Black-Out Period. The period beginning at the close of market on the 14th day of the last month of a fiscal quarter and 
ending at the commencement of trading on the next Trading Day following two full Trading Days after the date of public 
disclosure of the financial results for that fiscal quarter is a particularly sensitive period of time for transactions in the Company’s 
Securities from the perspective of compliance with applicable securities laws. This sensitivity arises because directors, officers and 
certain employees involved in the preparation of the financial results will often possess Material Nonpublic Information about the 
expected financial results for the quarter during that period. Accordingly, this period of time is referred to as a “financial black-
out” period. Accordingly, all officers, directors and employees are prohibited from trading during such period.

b. Clinical Information Black-Out Period. It is common for life science companies to come into possession of information 
concerning (i) the early results of clinical trials of product candidates, (ii) reported results of clinical trials of product candidates 
from Company personnel or from contractors, and/or (iii) information that results from the analyses of clinical trial results 
pertaining to product candidates. This information is highly sensitive due to the fact that certain Insiders may possess Material 
Nonpublic Information concerning the early results of the clinical trials, the yet-unreported results of the clinical trials, or the 
scientific or medical inferences or conclusions that can be drawn from the early results or yet-unreported results of clinical trials. 
The periods of time during which the Company has received (i) information concerning the early results of clinical trials of 
product candidates, (ii) reported results of clinical trials of product candidates from Company personnel or contractors, and/or (iii) 
information that results from the analyses of clinical trial results pertaining to product candidates, are referred to as “clinical 
information black-out periods.” All directors and officers (and those other Insiders identified by the Company from time to time 
and who have been notified that they have been so identified) are prohibited from trading in the Company’s Securities during 
clinical information black-out periods and should not disclose to others the fact of such suspension of trading. 
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c. Special Black-Out Periods. In addition, from time to time Material Nonpublic Information regarding the Company may be 
pending or there may be material developments known to the Company and not yet disclosed to the public. The Company may 
impose a special “black-out” period on all directors and officers (and those other Insiders identified by the Company from time to 
time and who have been notified that they have been so identified) prohibiting them from trading in the Company’s Securities 
during a special black-out period and such persons should not disclose to others the fact of such suspension of trading.

d. Mandatory Trading Window Related to Financial Information. To ensure compliance with this Policy and applicable federal and 
state securities laws, the Company requires that all Insiders refrain from conducting transactions involving the purchase or sale of 
the Company’s Securities other than during the period (the “Trading Window”) commencing at the open of market on the third 
Trading Day following the date of public disclosure of the financial results for a particular fiscal quarter or year and continuing 
until the close of market on the 14th day prior to the end of the third calendar month of the next fiscal quarter. During the Trading 
Window, if the Company is in a clinical information black-out period or special black-out period, the Company requires that all 
directors and officers and those certain identified Insiders refrain from conducting transactions involving the purchase or sale of 
the Company’s Securities even though the Trading Window may otherwise be open. The prohibition against trading during the 
financial black-out period, clinical information black-out period and special black-out period encompasses the fulfillment of “limit 
orders” by any broker for an Insider and the brokers with whom any such limit order is placed must be so instructed at the time it 
is placed.

It should be noted, however, that even during a Trading Window, any person possessing Material Nonpublic Information 
concerning the Company, whether or not subject to the financial, clinical information or special black-out periods, should not 
engage in any transactions in the Company’s Securities (except for transactions specifically described in the “Certain Exceptions” 
section below) until such information has been known publicly for at least two full Trading Days, whether or not the Company has 
recommended a suspension of trading to that person. Trading in the Company’s Securities during the Trading Window is not a 
“safe harbor,” and all Insiders should use good judgment at all times and pre-clear all trades in accordance with the following 
paragraph.

2. Pre-Clearance of Trades

All Insiders must refrain from trading in the Company’s Securities without first complying with the Company’s “pre-clearance” process, 
even if the trade would take place in a Trading Window. Each Insider must contact the Chief Financial Officer prior to commencing any 
trade in the Company’s Securities. The Chief Financial Officer will consult as necessary with senior management of the Company before 
clearing any proposed trade.

3. Individual Responsibility

Every Insider has the individual responsibility to comply with this Policy. He or she may, from time to time, have to forego a proposed 
transaction in the Company’s Securities even if he or she planned to make the transaction before learning of the Material Nonpublic 
Information and even though he or she believes he or she may suffer an economic loss or forego anticipated profit by waiting.
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As part of your individual responsibility, you should take every practicable step to preserve the confidentiality of information. For example:

(a) Don’t discuss material information in elevators, hallways, restaurants, airplanes, taxicabs or any place where you can be 
overheard;

(b) Don’t gossip about confidential information;

(c) Don’t read confidential documents in public places or discard them where they can be retrieved by others;

(d) Don’t carry confidential documents in elevators, hallways, etc. in an exposed manner;

(e) Beware of the carrying quality of conversations conducted on speaker telephones in offices, and the potential for 
eavesdropping on conversations conducted on car or airplane telephones, on marine radios etc;

(f) Don’t leave confidential documents in unattended conference rooms; don’t leave confidential documents behind when the 
conference is over;

(g) Cover confidential documents on your desk before you leave your room; don’t leave confidential papers lying where visitors 
can see them;

(h) Be careful when giving out the whereabouts of personnel not in the office or revealing the presence of specific visitors to the 
office. The mere fact of a meeting or the destination of a trip may reveal something confidential; and

(i) Under no circumstances are employees to provide confidential Company documents or other information to third parties, 
without express consent of the supervisor. This includes, but is not limited to, any confidential Company documents or information relating 
to customers, competitors or suppliers of the Company.

(j) Obviously, a list such as this can only be suggestive. It is the responsibility of each employee to take whatever practicable steps 
are appropriate to preserve the confidentiality of information.

Applicability of Policy to Inside Information Regarding Other Companies

This Policy also applies to Material Nonpublic Information relating to other companies with which the Company conducts business, 
including proposed business combinations (“Business Partners”), when that information is obtained in the course of employment with, or 
other services performed on behalf of, the Company. Civil and criminal penalties, and termination of employment, may result from trading 
on inside information regarding the Company’s Business Partners. All Insiders should treat Material Nonpublic Information about the 
Company’s Business Partners with the same care required with respect to information related directly to the Company. Similarly, you must 
not discuss Material Nonpublic Information relating to the Company’s Business Partners in an internet “chat room” or similar internet-
based forum.
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Definition of “Material Nonpublic Information”

It is not possible to define all categories of Material Nonpublic Information. However, information should be regarded as material if there is 
a reasonable likelihood that it would be considered important (within the total mix of information) to an investor in making an investment 
decision regarding the purchase or sale of the Company’s Securities. Either positive or negative information may be material.

While it may be difficult under this standard to determine whether particular information is material, there are various categories of 
information that are particularly sensitive and, as a general rule, should always be considered material. Examples of such information may 
include:

(a) financial results;

(b) news of major clinical or development milestones;

(c) early indications of clinical trial results;

(d) known but unannounced clinical trial results;

(e) known but unannounced analyses of clinical trial results;

(f) significant communications to or from regulatory agencies, or other significant regulatory developments;

(g) significant developments related to intellectual property;

(h) significant developments related to collaboration relationships;

(i) proposals, plans or agreements, even if preliminary in nature, involving mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, recapitalizations, 
strategic alliances, licensing arrangements, or purchases or sales of substantial assets;

(j) impending bankruptcy or financial liquidity problems;

(k) share splits;

(l) new equity or debt offerings;

(m) positive or negative developments in outstanding litigation;

(n) significant litigation exposure due to actual or threatened litigation; and

(1) changes in senior management, the Company’s auditors or the board of directors.

Nonpublic information is information that has not been previously disclosed to the general public and is otherwise not available to the 
general public. To be “public” the information must have been disseminated in a manner designed to reach investors generally, and the 
investors must be given the opportunity to absorb the information.
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Certain Exceptions

1. Share Option Exercises

The Company’s Policy does not apply to the exercise of an Insider share option if the shares acquired upon exercise are held rather than 
sold, or to the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to the option holder elects to have the Company withhold shares subject to an 
option to satisfy tax withholding requirements. The Policy does apply, however, to any sale of shares as part of a broker-assisted cashless 
exercise of an option, or any other sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price of an option.

2. Restricted Share Awards

This Policy does not apply to the vesting of restricted shares, or the forfeiture of shares to pay for taxes incident to such vesting.

3. Gifts

Bona fide gifts of the Company’s Securities generally may be exempt from this Policy. However, all such gifts by Insiders must be pre-
cleared by the Chief Financial Officer if a Black-Out Period is in effect at the time of the gift. The Chief Financial Officer may prohibit any 
gift that is subject to pre-clearance in his or her sole discretion.

4. Blind Trusts and Pre-Arranged Trading Programs

Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act provides an affirmative defense against insider trading liability for a transaction done pursuant to “blind 
trusts” (trusts in which investment control has been delegated to a third party, such as an institutional or professional trustee) or pursuant to 
a written plan, or a binding contract or instruction, entered into in good faith at a time when the Insider was not aware of Material 
Nonpublic Information, even though the transaction in question may occur at a time when such person is aware of Material Nonpublic 
Information.

The Company may, in appropriate circumstances, permit Insiders to enter into a blind trust or a trading program that complies with Rule 
10b5-1, in which case, unless otherwise determined as provided below, the pre-clearance procedures or the Black-Out Periods of this Policy 
shall not apply to transactions executed pursuant to such blind trust or trading program. All blind trusts and trading programs, must be pre-
cleared with the Chief Financial Officer. With respect to arrangements that result or may result in transactions taking place during Black-
Out Periods, the Chief Financial Officer will review such arrangements in light of guidelines that it from time to time establishes, with 
input, if appropriate, from the Board of Directors and Company legal counsel. The Company reserves the right to bar any transactions in 
the Company’s Securities, including transactions pursuant to arrangements previously approved, if the Chief Financial Officer determines 
that such a bar is in the best interests of the Company. In addition, the Company does not permit any trades in such a blind trust or a Rule 
10b5-1 trading program to consist of any hedging transactions (as described above).

Additional Guidance and Information – Directors and Officers

Directors and officers of the Company and certain other persons identified by the Company from time to time must also comply with the 
reporting obligations and limitations on short-swing transactions set forth in Section 16 of the Exchange Act, to the extent applicable. The 
practical effect of these provisions is that officers, directors and such other persons who purchase and sell the Company’s Securities within 
a six-month period must disgorge all profits to the Company whether or not they had knowledge of any Material Nonpublic Information. 
Under these provisions, and so long as certain other criteria are met, neither the receipt of an option under the Company’s option plans, nor 
the exercise of that option is deemed a purchase under Section 16; however, the sale of any such shares is a sale under Section 16. Section 
16 prohibits executive officers and directors from ever making a short sale of the Company’s stock. A short sale is a sale of securities not 
owned by the seller or, if owned, not delivered. Transactions in put and call options for the Company’s Securities may in some instances 
constitute a short sale or may otherwise result in liability for short swing profits. All executive officers and directors of the Company and 
such other identified persons must confer with the Chief Financial Officer before effecting any such transaction. The Company does not 
permit short-swing and short sale transactions by executive officers or directors.

Priority of Statutory or Regulatory Trading Restrictions

The trading prohibitions and restrictions set forth in this Policy will be superseded by any greater prohibitions or restrictions prescribed by 
federal or state securities laws and regulations, e.g., contractual restrictions on the sale of securities (e.g. under lock-up agreements), short-
swing trading by Section 16 parties or restrictions on the sale of securities subject to Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Any person who is 
uncertain whether other prohibitions or restrictions apply should ask the Chief Financial Officer.

Inquiries

Any person who has a question about this Policy or its application to any proposed transaction may obtain additional guidance from the 
Chief Financial Officer. Ultimately, however, the responsibility for adhering to this Policy and avoiding unlawful transactions rests with the 
individual Insider.

Certifications

All directors, officers, employees, consultants and contractors must certify their understanding of, and intent to comply with, this Policy. 
Please sign the certification attached hereto as Attachment 1.

8 



Last Updated: _________, 2022

ATTACHMENT 1

CERTIFICATIONS

I certify that:

1. I have read and understand the Company’s Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”). I understand that the Chief Financial Officer is 
available to answer any questions I have regarding the Policy.

2. Since the date this Policy became effective, or such shorter period of time that I have been a director, officer or other employee 
of the Company, I have complied with the Policy.

3. I will continue to comply with the Policy for as long as I am subject to the Policy.

Signature:
Date:
Print Name:
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Exhibit 12.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a)

 I, Ori Gilboa, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20–F of SaverOne 2014 Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period 
covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

5. The company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors:

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

March 21, 2025 /s/ Ori Gilboa
Ori Gilboa
Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 12.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a)

 I, Omri Hagai, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20–F of SaverOne 2014 Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this report;

4. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period 
covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

5. The company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors:

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

March 21, 2025 /s/ Omri Hagai
Omri Hagai
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and 
Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 13.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. Section 1350

In connection with the filing of the Annual Report on Form 20-F for the period ended December 31, 2024 (the “Report”) by SaverOne 2014 
Ltd. (the “Company”), the undersigned, as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 
1350, that, to my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 21, 2025 /s/ Ori Gilboa
Ori Gilboa
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 13.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. Section 1350

In connection with the filing of the Annual Report on Form 20-F for the period ended December 31, 2024 (the “Report”) by SaverOne 2014 
Ltd. (the “Company”), the undersigned, as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 
1350, that, to my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.

Date: March 21, 2025 /s/ Omri Hagai
Omri Hagai
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and 
Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 15.1

Fahn Kanne & Co.
Head Office
32 Hamasger Street
Tel-Aviv 6721118, ISRAEL
PO Box 36172, 6136101

T +972 3 7106666
F +972 3 7106660
www.gtfk.co.il

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our report dated March 21, 2025, with respect to the financial statements of Saverone 2014 Ltd., included in the Annual 
Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2024. We consent to the incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration 
Statements of Saverone 2014 Ltd. on Form F-3 (File Nos. 333-274458, 333-269260 and 333-263338) and Form S-8 (File No. 333-274455).

/s/ FAHN KANNE & CO. GRANT THORNTON ISRAEL

FAHN KANNE & CO. GRANT THORNTON ISRAEL

Tel-Aviv, Israel

March 21, 2025

Certified Public Accountants
Fahn Kanne & Co. is the Israeli member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd.


		2025-03-23T07:13:47+0000
	Not specified




